
Health and Wellbeing Board 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be held as 
follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 12 November 2019

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

2.00PM 

1  Welcome (Chair) 

2  QUESTIONS - From Members of the Public (Chair) 

3  Introduction and Apologies for Absence (Chair) 

4  Declarations of Interest (Chair) 

5  To approve the Minutes of meeting held on Tuesday 10 
September 2019. (Chair) 

(Pages 1 - 10)

6  Matters Arising. (Chair) 

2.10PM 

7  Salford Locality Plan Refresh: Receive, amend 1st draft & 
distribute for comments (Peter Brambleby) 

(Pages 11 - 138)

2.40PM 

8  Latest Indices of Multiple Deprivation (Peter Brambleby) (Pages 139 - 156)

3.00PM 

9  SEND strategy (Cathy Starbuck / Geoff Catterall) (Pages 157 - 178)

3.15PM 

Public Document Pack



10  Real living wage (Chris Dabbs) (Pages 179 - 198)

3.30PM 

11  Health and Justice Strategy for Greater Manchester (Hannah 
Dobrowolska) 

(Pages 199 - 240)

3.40PM 

12  Salford HWB statement on E-cigarettes (Gillian Mclauchlan) (Pages 241 - 244)

3.45PM 

13  Letter regarding Salfordian Hotel (Councillor Gina Reynolds) (Pages 245 - 246)

3.55PM 

14  Any Other Business (Chair) 

4.00PM 

15  Date and Time of Next Meeting - Tuesday 9 February 2020 (2pm - 
4pm) 

Future meetings of the Board have been scheduled as follows:

 Tuesday 12 May 2020, 2:00-4:00pm
 Tuesday 8 September 2020, 2:00-4:00pm
 Tuesday 10 November 2020, 2:00-4:00pm
 Tuesday 9 February 2021, 2:00-4:00pm

All meetings are held in the Salford Suite at Salford City Council, 
Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5AW (unless 
otherwise stated).

16  Update Papers (Provided for Information and Assurance 
Purposes Only) (Chair) 

16a Locality Plan Highlight Update (Pages 247 - 260)

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk



1 | P a g e

SALFORD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

10 September 2019

Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m.
“                 ended: 4.14 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Gina Reynolds - in the Chair

Members:

Tom Tasker Salford CCG
Delana Lawson Healthwatch Salford
Peter Brambleby Interim Director of Public Health
Lee Sugden Salford Strategic Housing Partnership
Lynne Stafford VCSE Sector
Anthony Hassall Salford CCG
Councillor Tracy Kelly LA Representative
Chris Dabbs Greater Manchester Chambers of Commerce
Margaret Rowe University of Salford

Invitees:

Stephen Pugh Independent Chair of the Salford Safeguarding Adults
Board

Michelle Hulme Safeguarding Adults Development Office

Officers:

Bev Wasp Public Health Strategic Manager Health Protection
Mike McHugh Senior Democratic Services Advisor

ITEM ACTION BY
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

Councillor Gina Reynolds welcomed those present to the meeting of 
the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board.

-

2. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

There were no questions from members of the public. -

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Alison Page, Paul 
Duggan, Tara Kearney, Councillor Jane Hamilton, Neil Thwaite, Ben 
Ewart, Councillor John Walsh, Councillor John Merry, Cath Gormally 
and Gill Green.

-

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

2 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest. -

5. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 May 2019 were approved as a 
correct record; subject to the title of ‘Councillor being removed from the 
name of Doctor Tom Tasker.

-

6. MATTERS ARISING - REVIEW OF ACTION LOG

An update was provided in respect of issues contained within the 
Action Log.

-

7. SALFORD SAFEGUARDING ADULTS PEER REVIEW AND 
RESPONSE REPORT

Stephen Pugh, presented the Adults Safeguarding Peer Challenge 
Report April 2019

The Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) was seeking an external view 
on the work around partnership working and governance in their 
integrated organisation.

The review undertaken examined a number of issues, which included - 

- Performance and Quality,
- Effective Communication
- Multi-agency training
- The application of Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) and 

how the Board is assured of this
- Collaborative working - supporting, communicating and holding 

partners to account
- Leadership
- Integrated systems

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the presentation be noted.

(2) THAT the Annual Report of the Safeguarding Adults 
Board be presented at this Board in due course.

-

Stephen Pugh

8. SALFORD LOCALITY PLAN - PROGRESS UPDATE

Anthony Hassall gave a presentation providing an update relating to 
‘Refreshing Salford’s Locality Plan’. Details included -

Page 2



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

3 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY

- What is the Salford Locality Plan?

- explains how we’ll build on what is already in place so 
services work better and cost less

- gives local people have a bigger role in looking after their 
own health

- looks at how people’s lives in Salford can change for the 
better if we have better housing, more jobs, more money 
and a nicer environment to live in

- The five year ambition?

• Joined up health and social care services
• More health services nearer to home
• Hospitals with specialisms
• Better quality housing and good job opportunities
• Better health outcomes
• Reduction in health inequalities

- What we have achieved so far?

• Children in poverty
• Alcohol related admissions
• Employment rates
• Life expectancy at birth
• Reduction in number of smokers

- Why do we need a refresh?

• Ensure alignment with all new national, regional and local 
strategies / plans and priorities

• Monitor and review progress to date
• Review our approach and overall objectives
• Move towards more prevention

- How will the refresh be done?

• Robust data analysis of outcomes / achievements
• Analysing lessons learnt
• Extensive programme of public and stakeholder 

engagement to provide insight and approval
• Co-production session with Health and Wellbeing Board 

members

Page 3



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

4 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY

- National and GM timescales

• National timescales to produce the Greater Manchester
implementation plan at system level are:
- 27 September - initial system planning 

submission;
- 15 November - system plans agreed with regions.

• Over the next few months GM will need to develop:
- 10 refreshed Locality Plans - with a target for

completion by the end of November;
- Locality returns on finance and activity - exact

timetable to be confirmed once national templates
released;

- Returns from GM leads that cover the areas of the
Long Term Implementation Framework.

• All of this content will contribute to an overarching 
Greater Manchester Implementation Plan for the 
Prospectus; including how Greater Manchester will 
deliver on the requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan.

- What have we done so far?

• Coordination group established, project timeline (task 
and finish)

• Engagement - Citizens panel, online survey, 
Healthwatch, co-production workshop, City Leaders

• Data - Collating evidence of progress / outcomes since 
last plan and new / emerging trends for consideration

• Benchmarking - Right Care support offer
• Draft plan in progress. Localities are asked to:

- Reaffirm the outcomes they are seeking to 
influence;

- Describe progress against those outcomes since 
2016;

- Outline plans for the local system - in terms of 
integrated neighbourhood delivery and place-
based commissioning - particularly in the context 
of the Prospectus’s core aim of creating a 
population health system in Greater Manchester 
and the approach to public service reform set out 
in the White Paper.

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted. -

Page 4



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

5 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
9. CO-PRODUCTION WHAT, WHO AND HOW?

Chris Dabbs submitted a report and gave a presentation relating to the 
development of Co-Production.

He noted that the The Locality Plan for Salford has a focus on 
“expanding co-production”, commits to “explor[ing] and us[ing] 
coproduction”, and has as a transformation priority “to include a
focus on collaboration and co-production.”

The report identified six recommendations for the Board to consider, as 
follows - 

1. Incorporate co-production within the refreshed Locality Plan for 
Salford.

2. Incorporate co-production into each of the Board’s priority areas 
for 2019-2020 and 2020-2021.

3. Identify a lead at executive level for co-production across the 
health and well-being system. 

4. Established a task and finish group to produce specific 
proposals for co-production in Salford.

5. Each Board member considers and reports back on co-
production by their organisation.

6. Request a report to the Board on progress with co-production 
yearly. 

RESOLVED: THAT the recommendations, as detailed above, be 
supported by the Board; subject to recommendation 6 being amended 
to six-monthly, rather than yearly reports. 

Chris Dabbs / All 
Board Members

10. DRAFT SALFORD LOCALITY PLAN REFRESH PROPOSALS / 
OUTLINE

Peter Brambleby gave a presentation on the refreshing the Salford 
Locality Plan which included details, as follows - 

a) Refreshing the Salford Locality Plan

Starting well
Living well
Ageing well

b) Chapter on stages of life
• Greater detail:

- Starting well 0-4 and 5-18
- Living well 19-64
- Ageing well 65-84 and 85+

Page 5



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

6 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
• What’s improved at each stage since last plan
• What still needs doing
• Main inequalities to address
• Enablers and constraints

c) Life expectancy / healthy life expectancy 
• Typical duration in Salford is 77 years for men, 81 years 

for women…
• Complications are common … healthy life expectancy in 

Salford is 58 years for men, 59 years for women
• Most of “life” is managed at home, not hospital

d) “Determinants” of healthy life (based on Dalhgren and 
Whitehead)
- genes
- personal choices
- close social networks
- politics, culture, environment and caring services

e) The new “deficiency diseases”
• Deficiency of physical activity
• Deficiency of social interaction
• Deficiency of positive role models
• Deficiency of opportunity
• Deficiency of hope 

f) These manifest as clinical demand
• Obesity-related conditions like type 2 diabetes
• Depression
• Addictive behaviours and their consequences, eg 

nicotine, alcohol, gambling, social media

g) And so we resort to a medical model
• Hypoglycaemic medicines and insulin
• Statins
• Anti-hypertensives
• Anti-depressants
• Treatments for addictions

h) But: a prescription is not a treatment
• Good medicine, and good social care, addresses the 

underlying determinants and supports the individual 
through life-long behavioural change

• This is the place of the “social prescription”
• It is never too late: primary prevention, GP referrals, 

Hospital referrals.

Page 6



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

7 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
i) Chapter on neighbourhoods and community strengths

• Greater emphasis on “place” and determinants of health 
and wellbeing

• Enhanced role for voluntary, community and social 
enterprise sector

• Includes CCGs five primary care networks and 
“community connectors”

• Changing expectations and offers

j) NHS long term plan
• “Action by the NHS is a complement to, not a substitute 

for, the important role of individuals, communities, 
government and businesses in shaping the health of the 
nation.”

k) Other chapters
• Strategic alignment and finance

- NHS: CCG and providers
- Council’s “great eight” priorities
- Plans of providers, including VCSE
- Plans of Salford University

• Risks and governance
• Appendices and links

l) Process issues
• Wide co-production and engagement
• Input sought by: stage of life, neighbourhood-specific 

issues, emphasis on prevention and empowerment
• Draft by September 10th (Health and Wellbeing Board)
• Full version by November (for GM/NHS)

m) What it means for readership
• Where do I fit in this plan (everyone can see their age 

group in the plan)
• Where does my locality and/or organisation fit in this 

plan?
• What is my role in the plan?

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the presentation be noted.

(2) THAT a final draft version of the refreshed Locality 
Plan be presented at the meeting of this Board on 12 November 2019, 
prior to formal submission to the GMCA.

-

Peter Brambleby

Page 7



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

8 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
11. SALFORD'S VCSE STRATEGIES AND AGREEMENTS UPDATE

RESOLVED: THAT this item be deferred for consideration at the 
meeting of this Board scheduled to be held on 12 November 2019.

Alison Page

12. SALFORD INTER-BOARD PROTOCOL AND BOARD SUB-GROUPS

Peter Brambleby submitted the revised draft version of the Salford 
Inter-Board Protocol.

Discussion took place relating to a number of issues, including -

- the need to amend the ‘reporting overview’ section to reflect 
changes in the Salford Integrated Commissioning Governance 
Structure. 

RESOLVED: THAT, subject to amend the ‘reporting overview’ section 
being amended to reflect changes in the Salford Integrated 
Commissioning Governance Structure, the Salford Inter-Board 
Protocol be noted.

13. SALFORD HEALTH PROTECTION ANNUAL REPORT

Bev Wasp submitted the Salford Health Care Associated Infections 
and Health Protection Annual Report 2018/19. The report provided an 
update on health care associated infections and health protection 
issues within the Salford health economy.

Key points contained within the report were as follows -

- Last year there was 64 cases of C. diff infections. Following the 
root cause analysis two cases were avoidable (may have been 
preventable) due to prescribing practice.

- Gram Negative bloodstream infections (GNBSI) need to be 
reduced by 25% by the year 2021. Our data (as well as national 
data) shows the highest proportion of these infections are 
caused by the bacteria E. coli. Urosepsis is responsible for a 
large proportion of both pre 48 hour and post 48 hour cases, the 
majority of the pre 48 hour cases being diagnosed in A&E. 
Reducing incidents of urinary tract infections in older people 
living in the community will reduce the incidents of GNBSI.

- Overall there is a high standard of infection control GP practices 
in Salford.

Page 8



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

9 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY

- Overall Infection control standards have improved in Salford 
care homes. However the Health Protection Team need to 
continue to work closely with homes to ensure standards are 
maintained. A small number of homes are rated amber and the 
team will continue to work with these homes to raise standards.

- The flu vaccination uptake has increase amongst care home 
staff this year, the team need to work with home owners next 
year as well as the manager to increase uptake further. 5 
homes improved uptake significantly to meet the target of 75% 
or above. This seemed to be homes where home owners were 
involved in promoting the vaccination.

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted. -

14. DRAFT SALFORD E-CIGARETTE STATEMENT

Peter Brambleby presented details of a draft Salford e-cigarette 
statement.

It provided background details, evidence and Salford’s Position.

RESOLVED: THAT the statement be noted. -

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

There were no items of any other business. -

16. UPDATE PAPERS

The following papers were submitted for the information of the Board -

(a) 2019/20 Salford Health and Well-being Board Forward Plan.

-

Page 9



Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

10 September 2019

10 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
17. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the next meeting of the Board be held on 
Tuesday 12 November 2019 (2.00pm to 4.00pm).

(2) THAT the scheduling for meetings of this Board, as 
detailed below, be noted -

Tuesday 11 February 2020 (2.00pm to 4.00pm)
Tuesday 12 May 2020  (2.00pm to 4.00pm)
Tuesday 8 September 2020 (2.00pm to 4.00pm)
Tuesday 10 November 2020 (2.00pm to 4.00pm)
Tuesday 9 February 2021 (2.00pm to 4.00pm)

-

-

Page 10



1

Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Locality Plan Refresh – first draft
Date 12 November 2019
Contact Officer Dr Peter Brambleby

1.     Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? - Relevance of this report to 
the priorities of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated 
working

Core business

Health and Wellbeing Board’s duties 
or responsibilities in this area

Statutory and Greater Manchester requirement

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address - what 
action is needed from the Board and 
its members?

To steer the development of this plan and to add to 
or amend the content.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around 
this issue?

This draft was developed in co-production and will 
continue to be circulated and discussed widely, 
including Cabinet Briefing and CCG Governing body,  
before being sent to GM by 30 November in draft 
and return to HWB for its 11 February 2020 meeting.

2.     Introduction 

This is the first 3-yearly refresh of the Locality Plan for Salford.

It looks at progress in the last three years, the new and continuing challenges, and ways to address 
them.  It follows the familiar “stages of life approach” and adds a stronger element of neighbourhood 
and “place” and system reform.

3.     Key issues for the Board to consider

Areas for addition, deletion and clarification.

4.     Recommendations for action 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



2

To consult more widely and produce a next draft for GM by 30 November 2019, and for HWB again 
on 11 February 2019.

5.     Contextual information 

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Dr Peter Brambleby

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Nil extra

STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED: Contained in Plan

THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY: In early draft by wide number of 
consultees representing the public, VCSE, providers of health and social care and others.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  Included in the draft, especially chapter 
1.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Included in the draft, especially chapter 4

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Nil specific

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Included in the draft, see section 3.  No additional finance per se – 
gives a steer to deployment of Council and NHS resources

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS:  Nil specific

HR IMPLICATIONS: Nil specific, but see chapter 3 on “workforce”

Page 12



Contents
Foreword 

By Councillor Gina Reynolds and Dr Tom Tasker, Joint Chairs of Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Executive summary
Why have we refreshed the Salford Locality Plan?

Who is it for?

How did we go about it?

What are main findings and new features?

How will it be monitored, reported and kept up to date?

A footnote on transformation and change

1 Stages of life
1.1 General overview

1.1.1 Why “stages of life”?
1.1.2 Population trends
1.1.3 Determinants of health, wellbeing and inequality
1.1.4 Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy

1.2 Best early start 
1.3 Developing well: best transition to adulthood
1.4 Living well: special focus on mental health, learning disability, cancer early diagnosis and 

diabetes prevention
1.5 Active older age
1.6 Later older age and dying well

2 Neighbourhoods, communities and environment
2.1 General introduction 
2.2 Benefits of green space to health
2.3 VCSE highlights
2.4 Wellbeing matters 
2.5 Salford Community Leisure
2.6 Transforming social care
2.7 Transforming primary care
2.8 Transforming secondary care
2.9 Transforming community-based care

Page 13



3  Improvement and enablers
3.1 Innovation, research and evaluation 
3.2 Carers – the great enablers
3.3 Workforce 
3.4 Salford Together 
3.5 Better care, value for money and social return
3.6 Integrated care update
3.7 Salford Council’s Financial Summary
3.8 Salford CCG’s Financial Summary

4  Improving quality, managing risks
4.1 Quality and continuous improvement
4.2 Quality assurance framework
4.3 Risks and mitigation
4.4 Governance

5 “Plan on a page” summaries, strategic alignments and milestones
5.1 The City Mayor’s “great eight” priorities
5.2 The NHS long term plan priorities
5.3 Starting well – milestones
5.4 Living well – milestones
5.5 Ageing well – milestones
5.6 Neighbourhoods, communities and environment – milestones
5.7 Improvement and enablers – milestones
5.8 Summary of main commissioning intentions
5.9 Summary of main provider intentions

Appendices and links

Page 14



Foreword
Councillor Gina Reynolds and Dr Tom Tasker, Joint Chairs of Salford Health and Wellbeing Board 

Photos
It is our pleasure and privilege, as joint chairs of Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board, to introduce this 
latest “refresh” of the Salford Locality Plan.

The Locality Plan is the link between our understanding of needs and opportunities in health and 
wellbeing, and our coordinated response to them.

We have produced this update for three main reasons: 

 first because we promised we would in the earlier version; 
 second because it is timely to look at how far we have come and what remains to be done; 
 and third because there is a requirement on all Health and Wellbeing Boards in Greater 

Manchester to produce and publish such a plan, complementing the plans at Greater 
Manchester level.

This document is to inform, to challenge, to inspire and to energise.  We hope that all readers will see 
that this Plan relates to themselves and those they love at their particular stage of life, that it relates to 
the neighbourhood in which they live and, just as importantly, that it shows where they can make a 
contribution.

You will see from the content that this has been a “co-production” from the outset, involving the public, 
providers, commissioners, and policy-makers.  The next steps are, therefore, “co-delivery” and “co-
responsibility” for the outcomes.  You will find reference to the finances of the local health and care 
system, but our greatest resource is the people of Salford.  Our ambition is for their best possible health 
and wellbeing.  To that end, you will find mention of many other resources and enablers, such as 
community activities, green spaces, housing, employment, transport, digital connectivity, training and 
skills, as well as high quality health and care services.

Enjoy reading this Plan, and as you do, reflect not only what Salford will do for you, but what you will do 
for Salford. 

Page 15



Executive summary
Why have we refreshed the Salford Locality Plan?

This document is a refresh of the Salford Locality Plan published in March 2016.  Much of the original 
structure and direction of travel remain the same but the content is updated and the ambition has been 
raised.  

This is a plan for health and wellbeing, not only for illness and dependency; for strengths and not just for 
frailties; for opportunities and not only for needs; and for ideas not just for certainties.

It takes a look at progress, which is considerable, and at the remaining challenges, which are also 
considerable.  It brings a renewed emphasis on prevention, personal involvement and care closer to 
home, and explores what people in Salford have told us these phrases mean to them.  

It is clear from the long list of links in the appendix that many plans and strategies already exist.  So why 
have a Locality Plan as well?  The answer is to pull those plans together into an integrated whole that 
coordinates rather than competes and makes health and wellbeing, with reduced inequalities, at the 
heart of all effort.

No plan can cover all eventualities.  There are limits to what we can predict or control.  The future is not 
what it used to be!  Some paths are made by walking!  Each day brings fresh challenges and also fresh 
solutions.  To some degree we have to plan for the unknown, guided by values rather than certainties, 
sensitive and responsive to changing circumstances, but in this document we have set out several 
milestones so that our intentions are clear, so that we focus our energies and so that we reflect on 
progress.  

To paraphrase Eleanor Roosevelt: 

“The past is history, yet we can learn from it; 

the future is a mystery, yet we can prepare for it; 

but today is a gift, and that is why we call it the present.”

Innovation needs to be accompanied by evaluation.  This is a recurring theme as we reflect, learn and 
share experience with others.

A recent patient story illustrates the need for flexibility when it comes to measuring success.  A man was 
referred to a horticultural project for his mental wellbeing.  Over coffee he discovered a fellow attendee 
was engaged with reading and theatre groups.  As the friendship grew, he was more drawn to the 
cultural offer and switched to that.  Is this therefore a failure of the horticultural project because he 
failed to finish the programme?  Or is a success because it got him out, meeting others, and finding the 
right niche for him?  Similarly, we want the aspirations of this plan to be reflected in defined objectives, 
but not be constrained by them, not to miss the point, and not to lose the personal touch.

Page 16



Who is this Plan for?

First and foremost, this Plan is for the people of Salford.  Its intention is that every resident can see its 
relevance to them, to their community and to their contribution to its success. The plan addresses each 
of the following questions which came out of the public engagement and co-production:

Will this plan be relevant to me as an individual and those I love?  Yes.  Chapter 1 covers all the 
stages of life, and in more detail than the previous version, especially at the extremes of life – 
birth and death – when people are generally at their most vulnerable.  It also covers some of the 
underlying causes of ill health and points to inequalities in these across the city.  It also profiles 
some of the major illnesses – those that shorten life and those that impact on quality of life.

Will this plan be relevant to where I live or the group to which I identify?  Yes.  Chapter 2 
covers neighbourhoods and networks, and how they relate to opportunities and services at local 
level and communities of interest that span geographical boundaries.  It also looks at 
environmental issues and sustainability, and the importance of the big “anchor” organisations, 
including those of Council and NHS but also other public sector bodies, private and the 
voluntary, community and social enterprise sectors.

Does this plan reflect learning from the past three years?  Yes.  For example, social prescribing 
is well established and has been expanding since the last plan was written and we are already 
exploring next steps.  For instance: where can people move on to after completing a social 
prescription programme; how can we promote intergenerational activities, and how we can 
develop “pre-hab” as well as “re-hab” to build fitness and resilience before and after major 
surgery or cancer chemotherapy?  Arguably, every one of Salford’s 250,000 residents should 
have a personal offer for resilience and wellbeing - not just for recovery.  That is the scale of 
ambition.  Social prescription doesn’t imply that everyone has to be referred by a health 
professional and link worker, though that is an important route. Most will find their own way 
there if plenty of opportunities exist and are well publicised, becoming the norm in Salford.

Will this plan show how I can make a personal contribution?  Yes.  Another theme that 
emerged strongly from consultation was that of focussing on strengths rather than 
dependencies, for individuals and communities.  There is therefore a stronger emphasis than 
before on prevention and maintaining health and wellbeing, as well as the provision of services 
for those in need, drawing more deeply than ever on tackling the underlying causes of need and 
inequality, and helping address these at source.  This comes through in every chapter.  “Making 
a contribution” is one of the five “ways to wellbeing”.  The others are: taking notice 
(mindfulness), learning, connecting with others, and being active.  

Second, this plan exists to give a steer to providers of health and social care, education, housing and 
jobs.  New buildings and services are addressed in the chapter 2 on neighbourhoods and environment.  
Chapter 3 looks at “enablers” such as innovation, carers (“the great enablers”), our paid workforce, 
better value care, integrated care, and finance.  Such providers include the NHS in all its facets; Council-
provided and commissioned services; voluntary sector, community groups and social enterprises (VCSE); 
schools, colleges and universities; local businesses and others.

Page 17



Third, this plan recognises the importance of the environment, climate change and sustainability: how 
they affect us and how we protect them.

Fourth, this plan will be of interest to local leaders, policy-makers, scrutineers and regulators.  Chapter 4 
looks at how quality will be improved, how risks to the Plan will be recognised and mitigated, and how 
overall governance will be arranged.  Chapter 5 summarises our intended milestones from each 
preceding chapter, helping ensure we are held to account for delivery, and our strategic alignments with 
local and national policies.

How did we go about it?

From the outset, this refresh has been a co-production.  This has meant the involvement, as equals, of 
members of the public, voluntary, community and social enterprises (VCSE), elected members, 
employees and leaders of statutory agencies like NHS and Council, and experts from the fields of 
education and business.   

Under the auspices of the Health and Wellbeing Board a learning event was conducted in July 2019 on 
the theme of co-production: what it meant, who was involved and what difference it could make.  There 
have also been well-attended public meetings – one in particular was live-streamed on Facebook and 
Twitter with contributions coming in from those following remotely.  A large on-line survey brought in 
further insights.   Systematic feedback has been gleaned from Healthwatch over the past three years 
and that was fed in.  We have asked specific questions about values and aims, and invited ideas for 
innovation and improvement.  In addition to this ground-level local feedback we have taken note of 
guidance and expectations of Greater Manchester and its partnerships, of the NHS, of national policies 
and legislation, and of published evidence of effectiveness from the professional and scientific literature.  

All three strands of Council activity are covered in the first three chapters respectively: People (Stages of 
Life), Place (Neighbourhoods and Environment) and System Reform (Improvement and Enablers).  The 
vision for the City Mayor’s “Great Eight” priorities are all here: tackling poverty and inequality; 
education and skills; health and social care; economic development; housing, transport; transparent and 
effective organisation and social impact.

All sectors of the NHS were consulted: primary care, community care, mental health and hospitals, with 
especially large contribution from primary care and the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group, as is 
appropriate in their role as planners and providers.  The major elements of the NHS Long Term Plan, and 
the priorities of Greater Manchester have been included.  Our special focus this time is mental health.

The word “commissioning” has “mission” at its heart.  It is the shared mission of this plan that matters, 
rather than who is “payer” or “provider”.  No hospital, general practice or social care provider can 
succeed unless the others are engaged, effective and efficient; nor can they succeed unless they are 
adequately resourced.  Pooling of the great majority of the health and social care budget, and greater 
transparency on the rest, is a major development of the past year.  Salford’s experience is that 
collaboration carries greater force than competition.

Above all, thought has been given to a new understanding of resources and value for money, including 
not only individual outcomes for health and wellbeing, of efficiency in use of resources and fair 
distribution, but also adding social value via all our activities.

Page 18



What are the main findings and new features?

In chapter 1 we look at changes in the population numbers and mix: a younger population than the 
England average, and growing steadily.  It shows movement on the determinants of health and 
wellbeing, with encouraging trends in health and employment but adverse trends in crime.  It portrays 
the diseases driving premature mortality and life expectancy, but this time we focus even more 
attention on diseases like mental health that impair quality of life.  We look in greater depth than before 
at the extremes of life – birth and death.  These are the two greatest transitions that we all undergo in 
our life journey.  They are the times of peak demand on the caring services, and a huge opportunity to 
improve outcomes from birth and experience of death.  

In chapter 2 we look at neighbourhoods and environments; green spaces as well as new infrastructure 
at local level.  We explain the new networks of primary care (general practice) and the intention to 
further promote social prescribing, extended hours and increased services closer to home.  This is also 
the chapter where we greatly increase the profile of prevention and the role of individuals and 
communities in helping themselves.  Through initiatives like “Wellness Matters” and all the work of the 
voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector, Salford Community Leisure, and the Health 
Improvement Service we look at community strengths and adding to social return on investment.  This is 
also where we mention the importance of the environment, air and water quality, climate change and 
sustainability, and the interdependence between people and the living environment. 

In chapter 3 we look at innovation and enablers, including the research and evaluation role of our 
Universities.  Carers get a significant mention here, as well as our paid workforce, the “better care” 
initiative, and integrated care.  Funding is the greater enabler, so the finance plans of NHS Salford 
Clinical Commissioning Group and Council are profiled in this section.  Patterns of spending are of 
interest: it is not widely known that one pound in every six invested by the local NHS goes on mental 
health alone.  And that more was invested in mental health care than was on cancer, circulatory 
diseases and respiratory diseases put together.

Chapter 4 explains how we will monitor and improve quality of services arising from this plan, and how 
we will identify and mitigate risks to this plan.  

Chapter 5 is a series of brief summaries of each chapter, with milestones and indicators where relevant.  
It also shows the strategic alignment of this Locality Plan with other local plans, and the policies and 
requirements of partners and regulators.

How will the Locality Plan be monitored, reported and kept up to date?

Monitoring the locality plan since its inception in 2016 has been a standing agenda item for the Health 
and Wellbeing Board.  This role will continue.  Progress will also be reported via the network of Boards, 
Governing Bodies and Commissioning Committees that make up the partnerships in Salford.  Beyond 
that, there are lines of formal and informal accountability to Greater Manchester, regulators such as 
Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission, and Government Departments.  

Monitoring is a means by which the report remains alive: sensitive and responsive to emerging trends 
and changing circumstances.  Transparency in monitoring also ensures the local system remains 
accountable to local people.

Page 19



Some of the milestones contained in this plan can be seen as “targets” which we are committing to 
achieve.  Others are “indicators” where no specific threshold is set but nevertheless are “a challenge to 
explain, to learn and to adapt”.  Many of the indicators are comparative: we want to benchmark 
ourselves against places similar to Salford as well as our GM neighbours and the rest of England.  The 
topics for indicators are drawn from engagement with local people, the City Mayor’s “Great eight” and 
the ones set out in the NHS Long Term Plan.

[SUMMARY OF MILESTONES TO FOLLOW]

We anticipate an annual progress report on this Plan, with full refresh in a further three to five years.

A footnote on transformation and change

Change, innovation, experimentation and transformation are words that recur throughout this 
document.  No matter how strong our wish to cling to what is familiar and certain, change is an 
inevitable consequence of complex human endeavour.  

Here is a relevant poem, part of an initiative in Salford for poetry as a means to health and wellbeing, by 
Health and Social Care Scrutiny Panel member “J” Ahmed.

‘TRANSITION’

Change that’s forced upon us, or change the chosen Path;

Change, the only way to move to futures from the past.

Change, the blessing cursed; by those who can’t embrace it.

Change, the challenge that we face if we choose to make it.

Wherever whence we’re coming from, wherever forth we go;

Change is the transition that keeps the natural flow.

Some see change as an enemy, some see change as a friend,

Some see change as a consequence of inevitable ends.

To some its new beginnings, to others just more work –

Change is often evidence that we are alert.

For all it is and represents, change is changing you;

Revising how you see the things you would and wouldn’t do.

This poem sums up the key message of this refreshed Locality Plan.   It is not just about our outputs and 
how much is done or how efficiently, nor is it just about out outcomes and how we are shifting the 
indicators of health, wellbeing and inequality.  It is about our outlooks – “revising how you see the 
things you would and wouldn’t do.”

Page 20



Chapter 1: Stages of life
1.1 General overview

Why “stages of life”?

This update of the Locality Plan adopts and enhances the “stages of life” approach of the previous 
version.  It expands on all stages, especially at the extremes of life.  There are several reasons for 
adopting the life course, including the following.

It is inclusive.  Everyone in Salford has an age, so everyone can see their place in the scheme of things.

It is comprehensive and systematic.  It covers every stage of life, with the challenges and opportunities, 
from coming safely into the world, to maximising life chances and quality and length of life, through to a 
dignified and celebratory passing.  By focussing on each stage of life in turn this Plan ensures that no 
aspect is overlooked.  It recognises that the causes and consequences of ill health or missed opportunity 
are different at each successive stage of life.  For example, the dominant issues in mental health vary 
considerably at different stages of life.

It relates to funding.  For the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the dominant factor in resource 
allocation from the NHS is the age profile of the population (“weighted capitation”).  

In the context of pooled budgets and transparency between Council and CCG for delivery of services, in 
the “starting well” age group the Council brings more resources to the table, whereas in “living well” 
and “ageing well” it is the CCG that brings more resource.  A major thrust of this refreshed Locality Plan 
is not the source of funding so much as how the totality can be deployed to better effect, with better 
outcomes, better value for money and better social return on investment at each step in the life 
journey.  Funding is discussed further in chapter 3.

It reminds us of the importance of prevention.  Repeated iterations of NHS and Council planning over 
decades have stressed prevention but failed to deliver the full potential.  The previous version of this 
Plan quoted the 2014 NHS five year plan (the NHS Forward View): “The future health of millions of 
children, the sustainability of the NHS, and the economic prosperity of Britain all now depend on a 
radical upgrade in prevention and public health.  That warning has not been heeded and we are on the 
hook for the consequences.”  

We can now also quote from the NHS Long Term Plan, published in 2018: “Wider action on prevention 
will help people stay healthy and also moderate demand on the NHS.  Action by the NHS is a 
complement to – not a substitute for – the important role of individuals, communities, government and 
business in shaping the health of the nation.”

If we focus attention on the early years, with protection of good health and wellbeing, and prevention of 
ill health or disadvantage, there is a dividend in terms of healthier populations, economic prosperity and 
reduced demand on services.  It is never too late in the life course to think of prevention or to mitigate 
the handicapping effects of disability by adapting the indoor and outdoor environment.

Page 21



It relates closely to patterns of need and service delivery.  Vulnerabilities, capabilities, needs and 
responses, change radically as individuals travel their life journey from highly dependent infancy and 
pre-school years, through the rapid development whilst young, into childbearing age and peak 
employment years, to active older age and possible retirement, and then into vulnerability again in frail 
old age, and then on to that final transition that we all have to make at the end of life. It is also true that 
we cannot generalise: each person’s journey and experience is unique.

It reminds us of key stages and transitions.  Progression along the life course can be summarised as a 
series of milestones and transitions.  Hence we could describe: “ready to be born”, “ready for school”, 
“ready for adult life, employment and parenthood (where desired)”, “ready for active retirement”, 
“ready for a fulfilled old age and well-managed passing.”  One of the themes arising from consultation 
was for a more open and frank exploration of “dying well”.

It is dynamic and constantly changing.  Salford’s population is growing and changing rapidly, not just in 
its age profile but also in ethnicity, skills, mobility and related determinants of opportunity and need.   
These profiles vary considerably between neighbourhoods and electoral wards and the main 
characteristics are shown below.  Some of this variation can be predicted and therefore built into plans.  
A healthier, more engaged, population is itself a driver of economic prosperity, health and wellbeing.   

1.1.2 Population trends

The people of Salford

After decades of decline the population of Salford began to rise again in 2002. The latest population 
estimate for the city is just over quarter of a million at 254,408 (2018). Projections show this trend is 
expected to continue adding a further 11,000 residents over the next five years. Much of the population 
growth in the city has occurred in the East, around Salford Quays and Blackfriars.

Population of Salford 2008-2018, with Projection to 2023

Population Pyramid for Salford, with England Comparator (2018)

Page 22



Salford has a younger population than the average for England. The population pyramid above, in five 
year age bands, shows a much higher proportion of the local population in their 20s and 30s (33%) 
compared to England (26%) and consequently a lower proportion in older age groups. Salford also has 
proportionately more young children.

Page 23



Ethnicity 

The 2011 Census provides a detailed breakdown of ethnicity across Salford. As shown in the map below 
the most diverse parts of the city are found in the eastern half, from Eccles town centre to Chapel Street 
and north to Higher Broughton. Overall, at the time of the census 14.4% of Salford population were from 
BME communities, lower than the national rate of 19.3%.

BME Population (%), 2011

 

Page 24



1.1.3 Determinants of health, wellbeing and inequality (indices of deprivation)

The Indices of Deprivation 2019 (IoD2019) are a suite of outputs based on 39 separate indicators at a small 
area level. These are combined into a single measure called the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 
(IMD2019).  For a significant proportion of indicators the latest data is still several years old.  Whilst these 
cannot be used to determine the absolute level of deprivation in an area, they can be used to compare 
relative deprivation across small areas or local authorities, or to compare relative deprivation over time. 

 Salford is currently the 18th most deprived local authority area in England (out of 317).   Like most 
parts of Greater Manchester, this is a slight worsening of ranking since 2015, and Salford remains 
the third most deprived district in the city region.

 The IMD is made up from 7 domains of deprivation.  The biggest decline for Salford has been in 
the Crime domain and the greatest improvements have been in the Health domain and the 
Employment domain, relative to other local authorities.

 There are 76,400 people (30.4%) who reside in a highly deprived area of Salford, compared to 
71,200 people (29%) in 2015. These are averages, so not everyone living in an area of high 
deprivation will themselves be highly deprived.

 Further, 10,500 residents of Salford live in areas of extreme deprivation. These areas are mainly 
concentrated around Langworthy, Irwell Riverside, and Broughton in Central Salford with smaller 
pockets in Little Hulton and Winton wards. 

 The areas with the biggest relative decline in deprivation are Parr Fold in Walkden South, the 
western part of Worsley and the area around Adelphi Street in central Salford.

 Some parts of the city have seen a positive change in deprivation with the biggest relative 
improvement in the areas around Salford Quays, Trinity Way to Salford Central Station and the 
eastern end of Regent Road.

Figure 4 Rank and Change by Domain of IoD2019

The size of each box is proportionate to 
the weighting given to each domain in the 
overall IMD score

Page 25



Social disadvantage

The map below (fig 6) shows the distribution of deprivation across Salford. Areas of high deprivation (most 
deprived 10%) and extreme deprivation (most deprived 1%) are also shown. The most deprived parts of 
the city are mainly concentrated around Langworthy, Irwell Riverside, and Broughton in Central Salford 
with smaller pockets in Little Hulton and Winton.

Areas of Salford within the most 
deprived 10% nationally

 
Areas of Salford within the most  
deprived 1% nationally

Page 26



Crime

The Crime domain measures the risk of personal and material victimisation at a local level. It accounts for 
9.3% of the overall deprivation score. Violence and criminal damage were weighted higher than burglary 
and theft. This domain does not record hate crime, which is an important omission in interpreting the 
figures.

Every Local Authority within Greater Manchester was ranked as more deprived on the Crime domain in 
2019 than it was in 2015. Salford was 57 places worse at 16th most deprived in England. 

On a positive note, monthly crime data supplied to GMCA by Greater Manchester Police indicates that 
historic rises in recorded crime have slowed, with rates stabilising and beginning to fall over the last year, 
which would not be reflected in the 2019 indicators.  Greater Manchester is now one of only four police 
forces in England & Wales that have seen a fall in recorded crime rates according to Home Office statistics 
and has closed the gap with the national average by 23%.  

The maps below (Fig 8) shows deprivation for the Crime domain in Salford and the change since 2015. 
Parts of Walkden South, Worsley and Pendlebury have seen the biggest changes however the largest area 
with high crime scores is in central Salford, with smaller areas in Barton, Weaste, Walkden North and Little 
Hulton. 

Tackling crime, especially its causes and consequences, in a matter for Salford’s Community Partnership, 
as well as the Safeguarding Boards.  It is likely that much of the acquisitive and violent crime is linked to 
drug dependency, and will be a focus of intensified collaborative activity.

Fig 8: Index of Deprivation Crime Domain at LSOA level in Salford, Rank and Change
Rank (2019) Change (2015 to 2019)

Page 27



Education, Skills and Training

The Education, Skills and Training domain measures the lack of attainment and skills in the local 
population.  The Adult Skills element is based on 2011 Census data, and is therefore unchanged since the 
previous IoD in 2015, so any change will be due to those indicators in the Children’s sub-domain. 

The Merlin Road area in North West Irlam is the most deprived part of Salford by the Education domain. 
Areas around Pendleton, Little Hulton and Higher Broughton are also deprived under this measure. The 
biggest change has been in Ordsall where 2 LSOAs (around Trafford Road and South Langworthy Road) 
have seen a sizeable decline. Conversely 3 areas saw a big improvement, Blackfriars / Trinity Way, the 
area around Patricroft Recreation Ground and Folly Lane. 

Fig 9: Index of Deprivation Education, Skills and Training Domain at LSOA level in Salford, Rank and 
Change

Rank (2019) Change (2015 to 2019)

Page 28



Other indices of disadvantage

Detailed analysis of the remaining five domains of deprivation is underway. A summary of initial findings 
is given below.

A decline in rank for the Living Environment domain (14 places worse to 94th most deprived) is due to the 
indicator measuring rented property (both socially rented and privately rented) meeting the Decent 
Homes Standard. 

Salford’s best performance out of all seven domains of deprivation is on the Barriers to Housing and 
Services domain, despite a 7 place decline to 218th most deprived. This domain includes indicators 
measuring distance to key services as well as homelessness and housing affordability measures.

The Health domain is one of two domains that has seen Salford improve its ranking. The improvement of 
5 places to 12th most deprived is welcome given the level of health deprivation across the city, however it 
remains the domain where Salford ranks worst. All indicators within this domain improved, with the 
biggest change in the mental health indicator measuring ‘Mood and Anxiety Disorder’, derived from 
prescribing data, in-patient hospital episodes and suicide data (but no longer benefits data). Without the 
improvement in the Health domain Salford could have ranked as low as 13th most deprived local authority.

The other positive change in rank occurred in the Employment domain. Salford improved by 4 places to 
30th most deprived local authority area. This domain contributes 22.5% to the overall IMD, the highest 
share, along with Income. Due to the staged introduction in Universal Credit, data for the Employment 
domain is taken from 2015-16. It is based on recipients of out-of-work benefits during this period.

Income deprivation is measured using uptake of income related benefits. There was no change in rank 
(from 24th most deprived) in this domain.

Next Steps
 We will work with colleagues within Salford and across GM to better understand the findings of 

the IoD2019 in more detail and how they relate to other analysis, data and trends.
 The IoD2019 will be considered as part of needs analysis, including the review of Salford’s Tackling 

Poverty Strategy.
 The data and context from the IoD2019 will be shared widely, including through Ward Profiles 

and Primary Care Network Profiles.

Page 29



1.1.4 Life expectancy (length of life) and healthy life expectancy (quality of life)

“Life expectancy” is an estimate of the average number of years that a baby born in a particular place 
would expect to live based on the current mortality rates in that place.  To smooth out variations we look 
at three-year averages.  Between the periods 2001-03 and 2015-17 average life expectancy in the city rose 
by 3.6 years to 76.8 years for males and by 3.0 years to 81.0 years for females.  Whilst these figures are 
the highest they’ve ever been, the growth in life expectancy has slowed in recent years.  This is not unique 
to Salford.  The levelling off in life expectancy began a few years earlier elsewhere, with some parts of the 
country showing signs of a fall.  There still remains a gap of around 3 years for males and 2 years for 
females between life expectancy here and average life expectancy across England.  The main diseases 
driving mortality are cancer, circulatory disease and respiratory disease.

But someone can live a long time and not enjoy good health.  A further measure, “healthy life expectancy”, 
estimates the number of years a new born baby could expect to spend in good health. As such it can be 
used as a summary measure of overall health in an area. In Salford the length of healthy life expectancy 
is around 5.5 years lower than the national average and has remained little changed since first measured 
in 2009-11. This means Salford residents spend a higher proportion of their lives in poor health than 
average, and typically affects more deprived parts of the city to a greater extent than less deprived ones.  
Diseases driving poor health include those relating to mental health, mobility and sensory loss, and while 
they may not lead directly to death they represent a very substantial burden of disability, distress and 
missed life chances.  Later in this chapter we look at mental health in much greater detail.

Inequality in life expectancy exists within the city. Residents living in the least deprived areas can expect 
to live for 11.2 years longer for males and 7.2 years longer for females compared to those in the most 
deprived areas. The level of inequality for males has remained constant over the last 5 years and above 
the national average of 9.4 years, whilst inequalities for females has shown signs of falling in recent years.

Male Life Expectancy within Salford (2011-15) Female Life Expectancy within Salford (2011-15)

Page 30



Mortality (deaths)

The set of maps below shows the variation in mortality at ward level within Salford. Those wards with 
higher rates of under 75 mortality are typically those with highest levels of deprivation shown above. 
However there is still some variation between the different causes of death.

Diseases driving shorter length of life

These are the “killer” diseases of cancer, cardiovascular and respiratory disease.

Under75s Mortality Rate from Range of Causes (2015-17)

All Causes All cancers

Cardiovascular Disease Respiratory Disease

Page 31



Diseases driving poorer quality of life

These are the disabling conditions such as musculoskeletal pain, mental ill health and chronic illness.

Back pain prevalence in people of all ages 
(2012)

Severe back pain prevalence in people of all 
ages (2012)

Hospital admissions for intentional self harm, 
standardised admission ratio 2013/14 – 

2017/18

Percentage of people who reported  having  a 
limiting long-term illness or disability (2011)

 

Page 32



Future trends and projections

It is projected that there will be a 252% increase in people aged over 65 with one or more disabling 
conditions by 2050.  Salford’s older population is likely to grow substantially - the over 50s’ population in 
Salford could increase from 75,600 in 2014 to 97,100 in 2035.  Approximately 21% of the Salford 
population currently have a limiting long-term illness.  If this proportion stays the same, the numbers of 
people with a long term limiting illness will increase due to population growth alone.

More people with chronic illness and disability puts pressure on carers.  In 2034 Salford’s population is 
projected to be 284,000 which suggests there will be 35,000 adult carers, aged over 16 in Salford, an 
increase in more than 10,000 from 2011.  Our evolving strategy for carers is covered in chapter 3.

1.2 Best early start 

In Salford we want Every Child and young person to achieve their potential

We want children to be 

 Safe in the womb.  Many causes of health and wellbeing and future inequalities are established 
in the womb.  Important parental decisions about smoking, breast feeding and parentcraft after 
delivery are set before the baby is born.  The role of midwives is therefore crucial.  Debt and 
housing issues can impact on mothers’ and babies’ wellbeing.  

 Safe around birth.  This relates to midwifery, obstetrics and neonatal paediatrics, plus the social 
welfare wrap-around.  Population-level indicators at this stage of life include infant mortality, 
low birth weight and initiation of breast feeding.  Neonatal screening should identify problems 
early and get them treated.

 Welcomed into a safe and nurturing home environment.  Every child needs to feel they belong 
and are valued, and to be protected from the “toxic stress” of adverse childhood experiences 
(ACEs).  A full immunisation schedule is every child’s right, to keep themselves and others safe 
from infectious diseases, and developmental screening to prevent avoidable disability and 
handicap.

 Set the early foundations for acquisition of speech and language, and for literacy and numeracy 
before school entry.  The BBC’s recently launched resources on “Tiny happy people” 
https://www.bbc.co.uk/tiny-happy-people?dm_i=3YNL,UXS7,5T67JH,35GUY,1  will be useful to 
early years nursing services and families to encourage appropriate stimulation of infants.

Strengths Based working 

The aim of the caring services is to work in partnership with families to increase safety and reduce risk 
by focussing on the family's strengths, resources and support networks. 

We have a number of work streams which help us to achieve our shared system outcomes 

Page 33

https://www.bbc.co.uk/tiny-happy-people?dm_i=3YNL,UXS7,5T67JH,35GUY,1


http://implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/THRIVE-Framework-for-system-change-
2019.pdf

This approach is helping us to commission and deliver services in a very different way and ensure the 
child and family are at the centre of decisions made about them and with them. 

In social care we will use the Signs of Safety Model within our Child Protection Initial Case Conferences, 
Review Child Protection Conferences, Young Persons Plans, Child in Need Meetings, Early Help 
Escalation meetings and Exploration Assessment in Early Help.  We plan to expand this to our Early Help 
Assessments, Looked after Children reviews, Worried about a child referral, Audits, Fostering Panel and 
Children and Families Assessment. 

Our approach and principles include 

 Moving from a deficit approach that considers what families and parents can’t do to a strengths 
based conversation about what they can do.

 Moving from rigid  structured assessments to a more open conversation with families and 
children

 Stopping trying to “fix things” and support diversity and change

We will assess: 

 What skills and knowledge are already present in the home
 What support networks are in place (Family, Friends and Community)
 Are other organisations involved with the family
 Who families see as supportive

In the Early Years and Early Help Service we have adopted the Family Partnership Model to engage 
families in becoming agents of their own change.  The approach empowers families to build on their 
strengths and be solution focused and gives the necessary tools to enable staff to support this process. 

Shaping Our City 0-25 Transformation Projects

The Transformation projects which are likely to have the greatest impact on young people are:

• The Bridge – A single front door for all concerns and information requests about families in
Salford, including information and referrals for young carer and parent carer assessments
• Early Help – Four locality teams made up of staff from different organisations to work together to 
provide early help to families, ensuring that young carers and their families receive the advice, help and 
services they need, on the basis of an assessment
• Integrated Working Test Cases - Closer working between the City Council and NHS Salford
Clinical Commissioning Group, in three specific areas working together to develop and deliver more 
streamlined services in a more cost effective way. Test cases will focus on emotional health and 
wellbeing, and children with disabilities and children with speech, language and communication needs.

Page 34

http://implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/THRIVE-Framework-for-system-change-2019.pdf
http://implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/THRIVE-Framework-for-system-change-2019.pdf


Co-Production and the Voice of the Child and Family 

Salford has a strong tradition of engaging local people in decisions about the services that are 
commissioned or delivered, we recognise the legal statute and guidance on our role to ensure the voice 
of the child is included in decision making about themselves or their situation

 UN Rights of the Child – “Every child has the right to express their views, feelings and wishes in 
all matters that affect them and the best interests of the child must be the primary 
consideration in all actions and decisions”

 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary assess how well officers talk to children, listen to the 
and understand their fears and concerns

1001 Critical Days 

In Salford we recognise the “1001 Critical Days” between conception and a child’s third birthday.  During 
this time of rapid growth, babies’ brains are shaped by their experiences, particularly the interactions 
they have with their parents and other caregivers. What happens during this time lays the foundations 
for future development. Healthy development in the first 1001 days is linked to improved mental and 
physical health, reductions in risk and antisocial behaviour, and higher achievement at school and 
beyond.  We will build on initiatives which help parents to become the best they can be.

Salford Early Years Strategy 

In Salford we are ensuring that children are ready to start school by prioritising prevention and early 
intervention to address health and social inequalities. This is the Early Years Delivery Model.

1 A ‘place-based’ and integrated approach to commissioning and service delivery: minimising 
variation in standards and maximising responsiveness to specific local needs.

2 Building the capacity of families and communities to take charge of, and responsibility for, 
managing their own health and wellbeing.

3 Breaking cycles of poverty, inequality and poor outcomes in the early years: We will be helping 
parents who are out of work to access education and training to help them towards work. We will 
address health and social inequalities by improving the physical and emotional health and 
wellbeing of the 0-4 population and their families.

4 Recognising the significance of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) where cumulative toxic 
stress leads to potentially life-long adverse effects on emotional and physical development.

5 Improving the quality of and access to early education: This will include making best use of the 
Early Years Pupil Premium and supporting effective transition to primary school.

6 Putting quality at the heart of service delivery: Self-evaluation and peer challenge will focus on 
quality and outcomes and will inform future planning. We will implement a GM outcomes 
framework and an information and data strategy.

7 All early years settings now utilise the Ages and Stages Questionnaire and this allows Early Years 
outcomes to be measured consistently across settings and with families undertaking the 
assessment in collaboration with families

Progress on implementing this model has been enhanced using population health monies to commission 
the development of midwifery support to enhance integration across Maternity and Early Years. 

Page 35



Strengthening Families  

Salford Strengthening Families work has been running for over five years and has seen significant 
outcomes for families who are at risk of or who have had children taken into care previously, building on 
the strengths based approach. 

Universal Antenatal Parenting 

Population Health funding has allowed us to test an internationally unique approach to a Universal 
Antenatal Parenting offer in two localities in the City.  Currently being evaluated by The University of 
Manchester, the pilot is providing evidence to demonstrate impact and improve outcomes and a 
business case will be developed based on outcomes from the pilot .

Perinatal and Parent and Infant Mental Health support 

In Salford we are working towards a Salford maternal and perinatal mental health pathway that 
incorporates primary care and links to adult mental health services.

We will develop a system which identifies parents at risk of mental ill health and substance misuse and 
wrap support around them to ensure they are able to be the best parents they can be.  Additional 
support may not require clinical intervention, but will require workforce training in mental health first 
aid and attachment for Health Visiting, Children Services, Primary Care and Maternity staff across the 
different hospital trusts.

Maternity 

Maternity services in Salford are provided to Salford families by a number of providers across Greater 
Manchester, this includes Bolton NHS Foundation Trust, St Mary’s Hospital at Manchester Foundation 
Trust, North Manchester General Hospital at Northern Care Alliance and Warrington District General 
Hospital. Work has been underway to standardise provision of care across Greater Manchester with the 
development of a GM Maternity specification and  The NHS Planning & Contracting Guidance: 10 Year 
Forward Plan, published in January 2019, highlights the importance of ensuring full implementation of 
the Saving Babies’ Lives Care Bundle by 31st March 2020. This will increase the number of women 
receiving continuity of the person caring for them during pregnancy, birth and postnatally to 35% of 
women booked on to a continuity of carer pathway by March 2020 and deliver improvements in choice 
and personalisation so that by March 2021 all women have a personalised care plan and more women 
can give birth in midwifery settings. All maternity providers are working to achieve the standards set out 
in the report and work to support this is provided by the Local Maternity System at Greater Manchester. 

Ingleside Birth and Community Centre, located centrally within Salford, became operational on the 6th 
April 2018, provided by Bolton NHSFT. Ingleside is a free-standing midwifery-led unit offering maternity 
services to women in Salford, Bolton and Wigan as part of the Maternity Pioneer.  As a community hub 
the Birth Centre hosts a variety of early year’s services such as: antenatal and postnatal groups, 
breastfeeding support and perinatal mental health support.  Despite recent above-average falls, 
smoking in pregnancy is still too high in parts of Salford and work to reduce that is underway at Greater 
Manchester.  As part of the Baby Clear programme, NHS Salford CCG continue to commission smoking 
cessation by midwives as part of that support. The aim of this provision is to reduce infant mortality and 
childhood respiratory illness. Population health funding has allowed services to develop an approach to 

Page 36



safe sleep which focuses on the risk assessment of families most at risk of sudden infant death 
syndrome. 

School Readiness 

School readiness, as measured by child development at five years, is lower than England but higher than 
other areas similar to Salford.  Some catch-up is happening because at the end of primary school 
children are making the expected level of progress and results are good for both disadvantaged and 
non-disadvantaged children. Work has been underway to progress the school readiness agenda 
including implementation of the WellComm screening tool across Salford; all Early Years providers are 
trained to identify speech and language and communication needs and a re-specified Speech and 
Language service now has a whole system approach. Universal 18 month check has been introduced 
from September 2019, carried out by 0-5 Early Help Practitioners, supporting earlier identification of 
need.    

0-19 Service 

The 0-19 service, formerly the Health Visiting, School Nursing and Family Nurse Partnership Model, are 
commissioned to allow more flexibility and staffing capacity to meet the needs of families across the life 
course. This allows provision to ‘flex’ so that staff from all services can manage need and support 
families as a Universal Provision in the City. 

Early Help Service 

Our Early Help Offer is described in our Early Help Strategy, as a partnership approach for the City. 

The Local Authority’s Early Help Service went through a full redesign in November 2017, with the new 
staffing structure in place in March 2018.  Redesign saw the amalgamation of two key services within 
Children’s Services into one Early Help Service. Our Early Help service has both a universal and a 
targeted offer which provides a range of services for children aged 0-25 and their families. The service is 
now fully embedded including our Helping Families (Troubled Families) programme offer in the City.  We 
have acknowledged the principles of earlier identification of Adverse Childhood Experiences and are 
working to develop an approach across the City which seeks to identify and prevent the cumulative 
effects of those experiences including training staff to recognise them, support communities to 
understand the impact, support services to respond in a more proactive way and improve our approach 
to a trauma-informed system. 

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 

Work is underway across the City to build on the responsive integrated approach to the early 
identification, support and assessment of children with a special educational need or disability, and the 
reassurances and suggestions of a peer review conducted in 2019.  Work in the South Locality tested 
approaches to multi-agency meetings with the family at the centre of the planning, building on our 
strengths-based approach to help families to solve their own problems with support from professionals 
but where required ensuring the development of an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) early on in 
the process. This is under evaluation at the moment with extremely positive outcomes for families and 
children, but it will need to be adapted to ensure capacity demands on staff and services can be met. 

Page 37

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1252/early-help-strategy-for-children-young-people-and-families-2018-21.pdf


Work is underway to review the health, social care and education support available to families who 
require support and an approach around personalisation is being developed.  

Speech Language and Communication Needs 

As part of an extensive 0-25 test for change, a review of work has been carried out for Speech and 
Language Communication needs and as such forms part of a co-ordinated approach to the Start well 
element of the Salford Locality and Population Health plans.  The CCG and Council have invested in a 
web-based tool called the Balanced System. As part of population funded work Salford has been 
working to develop:

• A new speech and language pathway
• Early identification of speech, language and communication needs
• Targeting vulnerable families
• Delivering evidence based intervention
• Improved school readiness and improved EYFSP scores at the end of reception
• Development of a well informed and appropriately trained workforce
• Promotion of communication supportive environments
• Developing the skills of parents and carers
• Integrated working with partner agencies

Outcomes are already starting to improve for children to enable them to become school ready.

Infant Mortality 

Salford’s infant mortality rate for the period 2015-17 was 4.7 per 1,000 live births.  This is higher than 
for the North West Region (4.6) and England (3.9).

Salford took part in a sector-led improvement approach to reducing infant mortality in 2015 with Bolton 
and Wigan.  Since then we have been implementing a comprehensive action plan which has been 
overseen by the Children’s Safeguarding Board and working with partners in our tripartite Child Death 
Overview Panel to develop an integrated approach to reducing infant mortality. 

Oral Health 

Salford has the second worst levels of decayed, missing or filled teeth in the country.  A great deal of 
work is underway to support this agenda, actively followed by the Health and Social Care Scrutiny 
Committee who have held special sessions on the issue. The GM investment into Salford is testing an 
approach around supervised brushing and fluoride application in schools and early years’ settings. 
Evaluation from this work will inform future commissioning.  

Reducing Avoidable Admissions 

As part of the GM Children and Young People Health and Wellbeing framework, Salford has been testing 
approaches to reducing avoidable admissions.  The PANDA Unit (Paediatric Assessment and Decision 
Area) provides dedicated emergency and short stay care for children less than 16 years of age. This is a 
consultant-led service within which children can be assessed, investigated, observed and treated within 
24 hours though without recourse to inpatient areas. The unit also provides a Tier 2 Paediatric referral 

Page 38



service for residents of Salford, or those patients with a Salford GP. The focus of the work is to 
implement the GM Avoidable Admissions Bundle to: 

 Optimise the management pathways for children with asthma diabetes and epilepsy in order to 
reduce avoidable admissions 

 Improve the assessment of unwell children and provide timely assessments in the right settings 
with the aim of reducing inappropriate admissions

 In order to implement the bundle in Salford the following were established: 
o Paediatric Rapid Access Virtual Clinic 
o Consultant -Led Asthma Clinic 
o Gastro pathway with a particular focus associated with reflux & allergy 
o Development of Paediatric Dietician Review Clinic 
o Epilepsy pathway (Consolidation and Implementation) 
o Work is also underway to tackle the social determinants of admissions and seeks to 

explore some of the qualitative data to support revised pathways. 

Third sector and voluntary work 

Salford has a strong reputation of partnership working with our dynamic and growing third sector 
system, we are exploring opportunities around social prescribing for children, young people and 
families. Work has been undertaken to map current sector provision in 48 providers against three key 
areas of need: speech language and communication; emotional health and wellbeing; and special 
educational needs and disability (SEND).  

Safeguarding and Social Care 

Domestic Abuse 

Work continues to identify and support victims and perpetrators, and prevent violence.  In the last two 
years, both the Early Help and Social Care services have changed the way that they work with families 
experiencing domestic abuse.  The development of services for young people who harm, including child-
parent violence, and for young people who experience abuse in their intimate relationships, has been 
well received. Operation Encompass and the emotionally healthy schools programme, provide an 
important point of early intervention. These changes are yet to become embedded and are subject to 
ongoing evaluation.  Domestic violence is one of the “toxic trio” along with substance misuse and 
mental health problems, and it is the norm rather than exception for these three to co-exist.

Domestic violence, whether witnessed by the child or directly experienced by the child, is one of the 
commonest “adverse childhood experiences” (ACEs) referred to above.  It can cause lasting damage to a 
child’s physical, mental and emotional health.

Neglect 

Salford is currently undertaking a neglect needs assessment and strategy refresh, this work is significant 
and aims to develop a public health approach to prevention, early identification and support at an early 
stage to enable a strengths based approach to neglect. 

Page 39



Protecting health through screening

Antenatal sickle cell and thalassaemia screening - It offers screening to:

 all pregnant women
 fathers-to-be, where antenatal screening shows the mother is a genetic carrier
 all newborn babies, as part of the newborn blood spot screening programme 

Antenatal infectious disease screening - HIV & hepatitis B screening - Midwives and healthcare 
professionals should offer and recommend testing to all pregnant women as part of their antenatal care. 

Fetal anomaly screening - The NHS fetal anomaly screening programme (FASP) is one of the antenatal 
and newborn NHS population screening programmes.  FASP offers screening for pregnant women to 
check the baby for fetal anomalies, Down’s, Edwards’ and Patau’s syndromes.

Newborn and infant physical examination screening -NIPE screens newborn babies within 72 hours of 
birth, and then once again between 6 to 8 weeks for conditions relating to their heart, hips, eyes and 
testes.

Newborn blood spot screening – All babies up to but not including their first birthday are eligible for 
NBS screening for the 9 rare but serious conditions listed below. This excludes testing for one of the 
conditions, cystic fibrosis (CF), which is unreliable after 8 weeks of age.

 sickle cell disease (SCD)
 cystic fibrosis (CF)
 congenital hypothyroidism (CHT)
 phenylketonuria (PKU)
 medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase deficiency (MCADD)
 maple syrup urine disease (MSUD)
 isovaleric acidaemia (IVA)
 glutaric aciduria type 1 (GA1)
 homocystinuria (HCU)

Childhood immunisations 

In Salford we have a community childhood immunisation team that identifies children that miss their 
vaccinations and visit them at home to vaccinate. This service is under the management of SRFT.  No 
other area in Greater Manchester has this particular service. 

Page 40

http://newbornbloodspot.screening.nhs.uk/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/screening-blood-test-infectious-diseases-pregnant/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-population-screening-explained
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/fetal-anomaly-screening-programme-overview#fetal-anomalies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/fetal-anomaly-screening-programme-overview#Downs-syndrome
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/2-screening-pathway#eligibility
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#cystic-fibrosis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#sickle-cell-disease
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#cystic-fibrosis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#congenital-hypothyroidism
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#inherited-metabolic-diseases
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#inherited-metabolic-diseases
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#inherited-metabolic-diseases
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#inherited-metabolic-diseases
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#inherited-metabolic-diseases
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-professional-handbook-newborn-blood-spot-screening/7-conditions#inherited-metabolic-diseases


1.3 Developing well 
Education Strategy

Educational attainment is one of the strongest predictors of how long and well an individual will live, 
and helps break the cycle of inequality.  Whilst we have some excellent schools working with parents 
and communities to achieve strong results, educational performance varies greatly across Salford.   A 
high proportion of children in the city are eligible for free school meals and a high number have Special 
Educational Needs.  Success rates at GCSE are amongst the lowest in England with fewer children 
making expected progress between primary and secondary. The gap between disadvantaged and other 
pupils widens at secondary schools and there are too many pupils at schools that are not good or 
outstanding. Outcomes for children in care are better than the national average for this group.  A-level 
results have remained static but the number of young adults not in education, employment or training is 
too high.

 There are 55,657 children and young people in Salford under the age of 18
 We have 99 maintained schools and academies in Salford, attended by over 35,873 children and 

young people; 76 primary schools, 15 secondary schools, 4 special schools and 4 Pupil Referral 
Units

 There are 24 independent schools; 3 non faith and 21 Jewish schools
 In Salford, 73% of secondary schools and 8% of primary schools have converted to academy 

status 

The quality of our education settings is a strength for early years, primary and special provision and 
some secondary schools; 78 % of early years and 86% of primary schools are judged by Ofsted as good 
or better. Our main provider for over-16s is judged as good. The Council provides a wide range of valued 
services with a high level of buy-in from schools; this includes school improvement advice and expertise. 
Our Emotionally Friendly Schools programme is established in a growing number of schools. All in-year 
admissions for vulnerable children are overseen by a head teacher panel which takes place every 4 
weeks. Offers of alternative provision are comprehensive and aligned to need in the city. Rigorous, 
systematic and timely analysis of data provides insights into performance to ensure that the needs of 
schools are understood. We have worked closely with schools to meet the increase in demand for 
school places.

Emotional Health and Wellbeing 

As part of our “Thrive” approach to EHWB and as part of our 0-25 and population health investment we 
have developed an evidence-based system for earlier identification of emotional health and wellbeing 
needs and to support children and their families. Our Emotional Friendly Schools Programme has been 
rolled out to complement the schools link work provided by Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS).  This means teaching staff are supported with their own wellbeing and resilience, and 
be better able to identify needs in others.  The school link workers provide a named contact for school 
staff before referrals to CAMHS take place.  This is allowing a multi-agency response to be developed for 
behavioural problems. Earlier identification of need from attachment disorders, building resilience in 

Page 41



schools, tackling ACEs and developing an approach around peer and parent support means we hope to 
improve outcomes and reduce incidence of mental health needs.  

Obesity and Physical Activity 

Salford’s Childhood Obesity levels continue to rise and the increased numbers of children who are 
overweight and obese between reception when children start school and when they transition to 
secondary school remains constant and is too high. Every child is offered the National Child 
Measurement Programme and year on year the percentage of children who are overweight and obese 
rises.  We are developing an all age strategy to reduce obesity which includes an approach to supporting 
parents to engage in healthy eating and physical activity with their children and take an active role in 
reducing calorie intake with reducing sugar based snacks and drinks. We also include obesity in our 
considerations around the neglect strategy. 

Immunisation

School age immunisations are delivered by school nursing, under the management of Salford Royal 
Foundation NHS Trust.  In regards to the school age immunisation programme (HPV & MENacwy) GM 
HSCP are responsible for commissioning this and the local authority are responsible for commissioning 
the adolescent booster which is part of their school nursing contract.

Criminal justice

In 2016 there were 543 first time offenders and 75 first time entrants to the youth justice system. The 
crude rates are similar or lower to Salford’s three comparators. People in contact with the criminal 
justice system have substantially more risk factors for suicide (increased prevalence of mental health 
conditions, substance misuse and socioeconomic deprivation) and are recognised as a priority group in 
the cross-government suicide prevention strategy. Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information 
(PANSI) estimates that within Salford in 2017 there are 18,100 people aged 18 to 64 who are survivors of 
childhood sexual abuse. Being a victim of crime, or exposure to violent or unsafe environments can 
increase the risk of developing a mental health problem. The most serious example at a young age is 
child abuse, which can have a sustained detrimental impact on mental health through to adulthood. 
There is a Category B male prison with Salford’s boundary, HMP Forest Bank, which had an average 
capacity of 135% in 2016-17. An unannounced inspection at Forest Bank by HM Chief Inspector of 
Prisons in February 2016 found: “Primary mental health services were unsatisfactory and did not meet 
prisoners’ needs. Conditions on the inpatient unit for those with mental health issues were poor. Their 
basic needs were not met and they had little time unlocked or access to therapeutic activities.” 16% of 
prisoners report symptoms indicative of psychosis, a much higher proportion than people with psychosis 
in the general population. These disorders are more severe and complex, and are often combined with 
poor physical health and substance misuse.

Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 

In Salford, there are proportionately more young people who are NEET than in most other areas of the 
country, and between November 2017 and January 2018, an average of 5.8% of 16 and 17 year olds 
were categorised as NEET each month, compared to just 2.6% nationally. In addition to this, local 
estimates suggest that more than 15% of the same age group spent some time NEET over the past 
academic year, nearly one young person spending time NEET for six months or more. Young people who 

Page 42



are NEET are a diverse group who vary in their distance from the labour market; some are unemployed 
are actively looking for work, others are ‘inactive’ and not seeking work for a range of reasons including 
caring responsibilities, long-term disabilities or health conditions. Young people’s exclusion from 
employment, education and training opportunities represents a substantial social and economic cost 
which is experienced by individuals, the economy and wider society. Our NEET reduction strategy and 
action plan sets out our ambitions to reduce these adverse indicators and missed life opportunities.

Learning City 

Salford is part of the Learning City programme.  This is a new approach for activating a grassroots, city-
based, mass-engagement movement around learning and skills. It seeks to close gaps in opportunity and 
empower places to promote lifelong learning as core to their cultural and civic identity.  Salford was the 
first place in England to establish a public library.  In contrast to many other areas, Salford’s library 
service remains vibrant (see next chapter).  We want to make sure that lived and learned experience is 
valued and that where people need or want to develop new skills or learn something new we can create 
opportunities to support that.  

Learning takes many forms but all learning is valuable and we want to hear how we can support people 
to continue to make Salford the great city it is.  Salford City Council supports early years and schools 
delivery, commissions services to improve outcomes for work and skills, supports Fuelling Ambitions 
Creatively Together (FACT) and Learning for Life (Curriculum for Life) and promotes citizenship, 
volunteering, employment of local people.  Partners such as: residents, Media City, The University of 
Salford, Salford City College, The Lowry, Salford CVS, The Royal Society of Arts, the Local Cultural 
Education Partnership and Salford’s Culture and Place Partnership are involved in shaping what a 
Learning City will look like and innovations will include a Community University, resources available to 
residents and community groups, digital badging and skills development. 

See appendix for: Learning for Life and FACT:  https://www.partnersinsalford.org/learning-city/ 

THRIVE 

Salford is working with Greater Manchester’s THRIVE Framework for system change. THRIVE is an 
integrated, person centred and needs led approach to delivering mental health services for children, 
young people and their families that was developed by a collaboration of authors from the Anna Freud 
National Centre for Children and Families and the Tavistock and Portman NHS Foundation Trust.

It conceptualises need in five categories; Thriving, Getting Advice and Signposting, Getting Help, Getting 
More Help and Getting Risk Support. Emphasis is placed on prevention and also the promotion of 
mental health and wellbeing across the whole population. Children, young people and their families are 
empowered through active involvement in decisions about their care through shared decision making, 
which is fundamental to the approach. 

No Wrong Door (NWD)

Salford is implementing a version of the North Yorkshire Model. NWD is an integrated service for 
adolescents with complex needs that brings together a team of specialists working together through a 
shared practice framework. The model operates as an edge of care/outreach service, focused around a 

Page 43

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/learning-for-life-and-fact/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/learning-city/


re-purposed children’s home that acts as a hub to bring together a multi-disciplinary team: including a 
clinical psychologist, police, speech & language therapist and other specialist social workers.

The model is aimed at young people aged 12 to 17 on the edge of care, edging to care, and in care – 
though in some instances may stay in contact with young people up to the age of 25. 

A NWD service may have a live caseload of around 40 at any one time, and work in some way with more 
than 200 young people in a given year.

Transitions 

Work on transitions began at the beginning of 2019 with the aim of improving the experience of children 
and young people in transition from and to a number of settings including 

o Transition between settings such as primary to secondary school and on to post 16 
provision

o Transition into Mental health adult care
o Transition into Disabilities services adult care (to include neurodevelopmental and 

attachment disorders) 
o Transition for Looked After Children 
o Young carers transitioning into adulthood
o Transition back in to the city 
o late entrants to services at 17.5 yrs+

Development of a policy is under way to describe the pathway for all elements described and audit of 
current practices underway to enable us to have a seamless approach to supporting young people. This 
will be based on the Thrive model of delivery. 

Key findings for perinatal mental health

Perinatal mental health is a key requirement in the 5 Year Forward View. The recommendation in 
England is for 30,000 more women each year to access evidence-based specialist mental health care 
during the perinatal period by 2020-21. This should include access to psychological therapies and the 
right range of specialist community or inpatient care so that comprehensive, high-quality services are in 
place.

 Approximately 3,000 women in Salford give birth every year. An estimated 10% to 15% suffer 
from postpartum depression. Between 500 and 1,000 women are estimated to experience adjustment 
disorders in the perinatal period. 3.3% are expected to report a long standing mental health problem. 

 8.2% of women with a Salford GP and attending an antenatal appointment in 2016 were 
considered to have one or more complex social factors.

 6.5% of Salford births are registered with only one parent on the birth certificate which is 
significantly higher than the England rate (5.1%). This is used as a proxy for new parents who may not 
have adequate support during the perinatal period. However at antenatal appointment 88.6% of Salford 
women felt adequately supported; significantly higher than England (81.6%) but significantly lower than 
Greater Manchester (98.2%).

 27.8% of all live births in Salford in 2016 were born to mothers who themselves were born 
outside the UK. Migration is associated with an increased risk of postpartum depression primarily due to 

Page 44



lack of social support and cultural factors. In the same way 4.9% of women at a 2016 antenatal booking 
reported that English was not their first language. This rate was significantly lower than Greater 
Manchester (13.5%) and England (17.6%).

 46.6% of Salford women have their first formal antenatal booking before 70 days gestation 
thereby the opportunity for earliest possible detection of mental health problems is missed in over half 
the women. This figure is significantly lower than Greater Manchester (46.4%), England (51.6%) and its 
similar CCG comparators (58.9%). However 99.1% of new born babies in Salford had a new birth visit 
regardless of whether it was within 14 days or not meaning that postnatally women should have the 
opportunity to discuss their mental health with a health visitor at the earliest chance.

 12.8% of Salford women were smoking at the time of delivery in 2016-17, significantly higher 
than the England average (10.7%) but lower than nearest neighbour average (15.7%). Smoking in 
pregnancy has been linked to harmful consequences for the growth and development of the baby. 
Smoking in pregnancy can also cause serious pregnancy-related health problems, including 
complications during labour and an increased risk of miscarriage, premature birth, stillbirth, low birth-
weight and sudden unexpected death in infancy which increase the risk of mental health problems in 
new mothers.

 Salford (74.2) has a higher rate of under 5 looked after children per 10,000 than England, where 
the figure is less than half, (36.9) and Greater Manchester (56.4). The rate in Salford is similar to its 
nearest neighbour comparators (70.3). Children are usually placed into care as a result of maltreatment, 
which can take many forms (for example physical, sexual and emotional abuse, neglect, exposure to 
domestic violence and abuse) all of which are likely to have affected their wellbeing. Many children 
suffer combinations of different forms of abuse and neglect and, as a result, experience the kind of care-
giving in which key nurturing experiences are missing. Around 16% of children taken into care in Salford 
are placed before their first birthday. 

Key findings for children and young people’s mental health in Salford

The Five Year Forward View states that half of all mental health problems have been established by the 
age of 14, rising to 75 per cent by age 24. One in ten children aged 5 – 16 has a diagnosable problem.

 There are an estimated 3,363 children aged 5 to 16 in Salford with mental health disorders. This 
is in line with the 10% figure quoted in the Five Year Forward View. There are also an estimated 1,287 
children aged 5 to 16 with an emotional disorder in Salford.

 In quarter 1 of 2016-17 there were 95 under 18s with at least two contacts within mental health 
services within a six week period for the same referral. Expressed as a rate per 100,000 the Salford rate 
(176.5) which is similar to England (139.4) and Greater Manchester (179.7).

 In 2016-17 the Salford directly standardised rate per 100,000 for self-harm in ages 10 to 24 
(571.2) was 41% higher than the England rate (404.6). There were 259 hospital admission episodes from 
Salford residents (note that these are admission episodes and not number of people admitted).

 In addition to admissions, there were 262 attendances at Salford Royal Emergency Department 
where self-harm was reported by 10 to 24 year olds in 2016-17. These attendances came from 188 
individuals.

Page 45



 There are 1,248 children of school age identified with social, emotional and mental health needs 
in Salford according to 2017 Department for Education special educational needs statistics. The 
percentage of children in Salford (3.55% for all school children) is higher than national, regional and 
nearest neighbours across each school stage.

 In quarter 2 of 2017-18 there were 540 looked after children in Salford and 348 children on a 
child protection plan.

 42nd Street, the principal commissioned mental health services for children and young people in 
Salford reported 304 referrals in 2016-17 of which 191 were offered an initial assessment. 130 children 
and young people were engaged in follow on work.

 The most common presenting factors identified by young people as affecting their mental 
health and emotional wellbeing in 2016-17 were bullying (25%), money management (12%), running 
away from home (12%), general anxiety and stress (10%) and threats of violence (10%).

 Salford Core CAMHS, delivered by Manchester University Foundation Trust, had 1,743 cases 
open at the end of the 2016-17 period. In the same period there were 1,819 referrals, 1,269 new 
appointments and 8,635 follow up appointments.  There was a reduction in the number of new and 
follow-up appointments with respect to the previous two years which reflects staffing issues within the 
team in 2016-17 that have been rectified this year.

 The top five primary diagnoses to the core CAMHS service in the three years were ADHD / 
hyperkinetic disorder, autistic spectrum disorder (ASD), depression, attachment problems and 
generalised anxiety disorder. The average waiting time to first appointment was 12 weeks in 2016-17.

 There are a series of targeted CAMHS that are funded by the CCG and local authority in Salford. 
There was a total of 307 open cases at the end of 2016-17 at these targeted services, 551 referrals, 749 
new appointments and 2,387 follow up appointments. The most widely used services were STARLAC, 
who provide a direct CAMH service for children in care; the Learning Disability service, who ensure that 
the mental health needs of children and young people with learning disabilities are identified, assessed 
and treated; and the Emerge team who offer community based mental health services to young people 
aged 16-17 years. The average waiting time across all targeted services in 2016-17 was approximately 6 
and a half weeks.

 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) Step 2 services are available for those in 
Salford aged 16 and upwards, consisting of Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners delivering low intensity 
cognitive behavioural therapy. The service receives over 8,000 referrals a year. At the end of 2016-17 20 
people aged 16-17 entered a treatment programme with the service but the number of people 
reporting recovery was low at 6. The service also has a relatively high number of people who do not 
attend and are therefore not seen.

Page 46



1.4 Living well
Rather than attempt to cover all possible diseases, this section focuses in depth on mental health which, 
from public engagement, was foremost as a priority.  In addition, we look at cancer (because of its 
impact on length of life) and diabetes (because of its impact on quality of life).  In all three examples 
there is greater emphasis on prevention and early intervention, again because of feedback we have 
received. 

1.4.1 Mental Health and Wellbeing in Salford

Around 20,000 adults (2017/18) registered with a Salford GP are known to have depression1. This accounts 
for 9.3% of the registered adult population, slightly below the national rate of 9.9%. There were 2,620 
adult patients in Salford who had depression recorded for the first time in 2017/18.  These figures are 
likely to be an underestimate because not everyone who could benefit has sought help.

Severe mental illness2 (schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other psychoses) is recorded for 
2,948 people in Salford, which is just over 1% of patients, slightly above the national rate.

Around 10% of 5-16 year olds in Salford have sought help for mental health problems. The most 
common presenting factors identified by young people as affecting their mental health and emotional 
wellbeing in 2016-17 were bullying (25%), money management (12%), running away from home (12%), 
general anxiety and stress (10%) and threats of violence (10%). 

Many of the risk factors associated with mental ill health are high in Salford. These include lifestyle 
factors such as smoking or excess alcohol consumption, material deprivation and poor physical health; 
place-based determinants such as deprivation, housing, education, employment and crime; and 
demographic factors such as ethnicity. Salford has an increasingly diverse population, with high levels of 
deprivation and a high prevalence of the social and environmental determinants that are associated 
with increased incidence of mental ill-health and high levels of need for mental health services.

Protective factors include having a job and higher level of educational attainment.  

There are an estimated 25,000 unpaid carers in Salford with 1,000 of these likely to be aged under 18. 
Nationally 6 in 10 have reported that in the last 12 months their caring role has left them feeling 
stressed and 4 in ten have felt depressed. The rates in Salford are reported to be slightly lower with 5 in 
ten feeling stressed and 3.5 in ten feeling depressed.  (See chapter 3 for more on carers.)

48.7% of people registered with a Salford GP with a recorded diagnosis of serious mental illness are 
reported to smoke. This high prevalence of smoking is likely to be responsible for much of the reduction 
in life expectancy among people with serious mental illness.

 Regular consumption of alcohol has been shown to affect the chemistry of the brain, increasing the risk 
of depression. Mental health problems can also cause people to self-medicate with alcohol increasing 
their consumption. This leads to a destructive cycle as the increased drinking leads to decreased mental 

Page 47



health. Increased consumption of alcohol is also often liked to wider physical health and social needs 
such as self-harm, unemployment, deprivation and poverty, housing issues, crime and family 
breakdown.

There an estimated 1,200 opiate users in Salford whilst there were 806 people in treatment for opiate 
use in 2016. 24.7% of users in specialist drug misuse services were concurrently receiving treatment for 
mental health services for reasons other than substance misuse.

 Approximately 3,000 women in Salford give birth every year. An estimated 10% to 15% suffer from 
postpartum depression. Between 500 and 1,000 women are estimated to experience adjustment 
disorders in the perinatal period. 3.3% are expected to report a long standing mental health problem. 
Aside from this the likelihood of a women experiencing mental health problems in the perinatal period 
is the same as women at any other time in their life.

Salford (74.2) has a higher rate of under 5 looked after children per 10,000 than England, where the 
figure is less than half.  Children are usually placed into care as a result of maltreatment, which can take 
many forms and are likely to affect their wellbeing. 

There are an estimated 32,000 to 40,000 adults aged 16 to 64 in the Salford population who report 
being lonely often or some of the time. This represents between 20% and 24% of the Salford 16 to 64 
year population.

Between April 2016 and October 2017 Salford has consistently met the NHS England target of more than 
50% of people experiencing their first episode of psychosis being treated with a NICE recommended 
package of care within two weeks of referral. The 2016-17 rate was 85% completed within 2 weeks and 
the 2017-18 (up to October) stands at 78%.

The number of people with a recorded diagnosis of dementia aged 65 and over in Salford has remained 
around 1,900 in 2017-18. This represents just over 5% of the Salford GP practice population aged 65 and 
over. Although a higher than average value can be representative of better detection within a CCG, 
Salford has a significantly higher concentration than Greater Manchester (4.7%), similar CCGs (4.7%) and 
England (4.3%).

There are approximately 1,500 community organisations operating across the City, many of them 
operating with a turnover of less than £100,000 per annum.  Over half (54%) indicated that they were 
working in mental health. People with mental health problems comprised the main client group for 10% 
of organisations.  Key issues highlighted from VCSE engagement include supporting people who are 
homeless, reviewing crisis support, holistic approaches to care, reviewing IAPT provision and increasing 
choice, social prescribing and equal access to services.

Analysis of ePact GP prescribing data suggests that there were at least 40,000 people registered with a 
Salford GP in receipt of a prescription for anti-depressants in 2017-18. This would suggest 22,000 people 
are prescribed anti-depressants for something other than clinically diagnosed depression, or that 
depression is being under-recorded.

Page 48



An estimate from the NHS England GP Survey suggests that 7.8% of the Salford adult population is 
suffering with a long term mental health condition. This equates to around 15,200 adults in Salford. The 
rate is higher than England (5.7%) and Greater Manchester (6.6%) but similar to Salford CCG 
comparators (7.1%).

There are 2,851 individuals registered with a Salford GP who have a diagnosis of severe mental illness. 
This represents a prevalence of 1.1% of the Salford practice size which is higher than England (0.9%), 
Greater Manchester (1.0%) and similar CCGs (0.9%). 

Applying the general estimates from the 2014 Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey data shows that there 
are potentially almost 31,000 people in Salford with a common mental disorder. Women between the 
ages of 16 and 34 seem to be at most risk.

Admissions with a primary diagnosis of a mental and behavioural disorder at Salford Royal Hospital have 
been increasing over the last 5 years. There were 445 admissions in 2016-17 with the most common 
sub-set being mental and behavioural issues due to alcohol. However mental and behavioural 
admissions due to alcohol have been falling since 2012-13 as a proportion of total mental and 
behavioural admissions. This fall has been more than offset by a rise in admissions due to anxiety 
disorders and depressive episodes. This does however only cover Salford Royal and therefore does not 
include data from other local hospitals such as Royal Bolton, North Manchester and most importantly 
Greater Manchester Mental Health Trust.

The national stretch target (mental health five year forward view) for all CCG areas is to have 25% of 
their population prevalence entering psychological therapy via IAPT Services by 2020-21. This equates to 
9,089 people having access. Salford is currently delivering to around 22-23%. It is expected that the 25% 
target will be delivered by delivering much better access rates for vulnerable groups, particularly those 
with long-term conditions and perinatal women. Additional monies are being made available for this, 
and there is a strong steer from both NHS England and the GMCA. Salford is currently planning its LTC 
IAPT and Perinatal developments in line with this.

As of January 2018 the recovery rate of people using IAPT services in Salford was 49.5%, marginally 
under the 50% target set by NHS England. However the target that IAPT services will achieve a minimum 
of 16.8 % access rate at the end of 2017-18 has already been met as of January 2018 it was 18.9%. Other 
targets around 6 week and 18 week waiting times were on track with the figure being 78.8% and 97.0% 
respectively on targets of 75.0% and 95.0%.

Between April 2016 and October 2017 Salford has consistently met the NHS England target of more than 
50% of people experiencing their first episode of psychosis being treated with a NICE recommended 
package of care within two weeks of referral. The 2016-17 rate was 85% completed within 2 weeks and 
the 2017-18 (up to October) stands at 78%.  Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) demand has increased 
significantly and some NICE complaint interventions, such as family intervention, are not being achieved. 
A Greater Manchester Mental Health review in to clinical models has proposed guidelines, such as 

Page 49



diverting referrals to community mental health teams instead of EIP, that when implemented, aim to 
reduce caseloads by 12%.

Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs) currently support people with two main types of approach: 
standard care (generally less complex caseloads); and Care Programme Approach (CPA) which may 
involve input from multi-disciplinary teams. In 2017 there were just under 16,000 service users for 
Salford CMHTs, a slight decrease on 2016 as users are being stepped down into primary care and the 
trust are proactively supporting people towards recovery.

The standard care caseloads for CMHTs have risen 25% between November 2014 and August 2017 
whereas the more complex CPA caseloads have reduced by 11%. Overall the caseloads have risen by 
12%.

Salford people accessing adult inpatient care support has declined by 16% between 2015 and 2017 due 
to a new mental health liaison service and more admissions being diverted to home-based treatment 
and other community mental health teams but the average length of stay has increased by 10 days (57 
to 67 days). This has been put down to problems in finding available and settled accommodation.

Looking at delayed transfers of care (DTOC) in the same period for Greater Manchester Mental Health 
(GMMH) Trust shows that the number of delayed days has increased by almost 250%. The primary 
reason for the increase has been housing where the individual is not covered by the NHS and 
Community Care Act. This data should be caveated by the fact that it covers all GMMH commissioned 
areas and not just Salford. GMMH also took over Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust in 
2016 which may account for some of the increase.

The number of Salford CCG based clients that have been placed in an out of area placement (OAPs) and 
the number of nights they stayed shows a significant increase over the last 3 years where both 
placements and bed days are increasing at the same rate.  It has been reported that this a wider Greater 
Manchester issue where a specific work stream is exploring out of area placements across GM with a 
view to making recommendations to address the challenge.

For the year up to January 2018 the majority of Salford CCG’s out of area placements (OAPs), which 
ended within the period, lasted less than two weeks (61.5%). However just over half of the active OAPs 
were placed over 100km away (53.3%). Inappropriate OAPs are where patients are sent out of area 
because no bed is available for them locally, which can delay their recovery. For the year up to January 
2018 Salford had 860 inappropriate OAP days which represented 91.5% of all OAP days over the period. 
As a rate per 100,000 of the total GP practice population the Salford value of 320.4 is lower than the 
England (377.8) and Greater Manchester (644.4) values but higher than the similar CCGs (258.1).

In 2016-17 there were 785 attendances at Salford Royal Emergency Department where suicidal thoughts 
were recorded. The majority of attendances were by men (469 or 59.7%) and overall the age band 25 to 
34 was the most common. These attendances were made by 559 individuals. Adjusting for Salford’s 
population structure then the age group 15 to 24 is significantly higher, both in terms of attendances 

Page 50



and individuals turning up, than the overall 15 to 64 rate. This is however driven by females as males 
aged 15 to 24 are not significantly different from their overall gender specific rate. For males the 
number of attendances by those aged 45 to 54 is significantly higher than the overall male rate. 
However as the count of individuals is not significantly higher this is likely due to the fact of one or two 
repeat attenders.

Key findings for mental health prescribing in Salford

 There has been an 8.6% increase since April 2015 in the amount of items distributed with the 
cost of these drugs increased by 5% over the period.  The increases in the number of items will be 
related to an increase in the population of Salford and the prevalence of certain conditions.  It is noted 
that some of the drugs are used to treat multiple conditions therefore it is not always easy to correlate 
the increase of a particular drug to the increase of a particular condition.

 Data shows the overall spend rate for mental ill health by Salford CCG was the 10th highest 
spend in the country in 2015-16 and a higher standardised rate than any of its comparators; the rate is 
standardised using weightings per 1,000 ASTRO-PU population.

 There has been a 10.9% increase since April 2015 in the amount of antidepressant items 
distributed however the cost of these drugs have reduced by 13.7% over the period. Salford had the 
12th highest spend in the country in 2015-16 and a higher standardised rate than any of its 
comparators.

 Both spend and items for CNS stimulants/ADHD distributed have increased at a steady rate over 
the reporting period with an increase of around 30% from April 2015. There have been increases in 
distribution as more 18+ year olds are remaining on treatment and are being diagnosed in adulthood.

 There has been a 16.4% increase since April 15 in the amount of items distributed for dementia 
however the cost of these drugs have reduced by 24.6% over the period. Generally the trend for 
prescribing dementia drugs is in line with the increased population who have a formal diagnosis of 
dementia coupled with the changes in prescribing guidance.

 There has only been a 3.1% increase since April 15 in the amount of items distributed for 
psychoses and related disorders. There is no firm evidence that indicates we have significantly increased 
prevalence of those conditions for which these drugs would be associated with. Salford has the 2nd 
highest standardised rate of spend on prescribing for psychoses and related disorders compared to its 
comparators and is also above the English average.

 Both spend and items for hypnotics and anxiolytics have been stable; spend (-3.8%) and item 
cost (-5.8%) have seen slight reductions over the reporting period. 

 Increases in prescribing for particular drugs may not be a consequence of increased incidence or 
prevalence in the population. Instead it could be due to a raised profile of certain conditions due to, for 
example, media coverage encouraging people to seek a diagnosis or a better level of knowledge 
amongst clinicians leading to a higher level of detection and therefore receiving treatment.

Could “social prescribing” and VCSE be part of the answer to the high level of medicine 
prescribing for mental health problems?

Page 51



 There are approximately 1,500 community organisations operating across the City, many of 
them operating with a turnover of less than £100,000 per annum or are ‘below the radar’ organisations 
which are not formally registered or incorporated.

 Of those VCSE organisations completing the State of the Sector survey and indicating that they 
worked within the health and social care sector, over half (54%) indicated that they were working in 
mental health. People with mental health problems comprised the main client group for 10% of 
organisations.

 A summary of key issues highlighted from VCSE engagement include supporting people who are 
homeless, reviewing crisis support, holistic approaches to care, reviewing IAPT provision and increasing 
choice, social prescribing and equal access to services.

 Service user feedback was undertaken visiting 22 groups in total and comprising approximately 
220 service users and carers.

 The feedback highlighted the appreciation of services such as the Adolescent Unit at Prestwich 
and Emerge but transition from children’s to adult’s services was seen to need improvement. There was 
also approval for the range of IAPT therapies available and the ease of referral but waiting times were 
too long. Waiting times between Salford Royal A&E department and Meadowbrook were also felt to be 
too long. Service users were unsure of where to turn to when feeling suicidal and thought that isolation 
was a key risk for suicide. For young people, social media and the attitude of others is particularly 
problematic in terms of increasing the risk of suicide. There was also a feeling that people with autistic 
spectrum disorders were not adequately supported and a general lack of understanding and awareness 
of autistic spectrum disorders by mental health practitioners.

 In addition to comments relating to must do areas from the Five Year Forward View service 
users also highlighted key themes such as social isolation, inpatient / hospital care and discharge and 
recovery planning. Both adults and children and young people felt they faced stigma and discrimination 
whether due to their own or loved one’s mental health condition. Both groups also felt frustration at 
being past from pillar to post and wanted an emphasis on prevention, particularly on social isolation and 
early support. However they did feel that services were under resourced.

 Staff engagement sessions were carried out across a range of services and organisations, 
including staff from the Council, Salford Royal Foundation Trust and Greater Manchester Mental Health 
Trust. Seven engagement sessions were undertaken along with an online survey to encourage individual 
responses.

 Staff highlighted topics such as employment support, the impact poverty has on homelessness 
and mental health and vice versa, the correlation between physical and mental health, the need to 
prioritise prevention, support for their own mental health, housing support issues and dual diagnoses – 
substance misuse and mental health.

Suicide Prevention

Page 52



Through the all age Salford Suicide Prevention Strategy (2017-2022),  all public sector partners in Salford 
are pledging our commitment to work together to address the devastating impact that suicide has on 
families and communities and ensure that suicide should always be considered an avoidable occurrence. 
This strategy highlights key high risk groups and contains pledges to support existing and new 
prevention and intervention initiatives that promote positive mental health and wellbeing. 

We have established excellent and unique relationships across key partners in Salford and though the 
multi-agency Salford Suicide Prevention Partnership we are working together to achieve common goals. 

Public Engagement

The Salford Suicide Prevention Strategy was informed by extensive engagement with people with lived 
experience of suicide.  During this engagement process, the personal journeys of those affected by 
suicide and the barriers individuals and families have experienced have been heard. This includes 
contact from front line emergency services, the Coroners Court as well as support services. These quotes 
below need to influence change so that those who are touched by suicide receive empathy, have a voice 
and receive sufficient levels of support.

 “We need to raise awareness of suicide prevention in order to tackle stigma – promote that it is 
ok (and right) to talk about our mental wellbeing.”

 “Listen to those who have experienced loss from suicide – we want to prevent others going 
through the pain we have. People helping people.”

  “It is challenging to find out what support there is and where – and then trying to access it .”
 “Although there are groups for bereavement, it would be good to prevent the act from 

happening.”
 “Most people don’t try and take their own life because they want to die; they just want support 

to live.”

The strategy identifies the following 6 key objectives

 Salford will achieve the ten pillars of a Suicide Safer Community
 Develop an awareness of suicide prevention and increase capacity of individuals and 

organisations to respond to and engage proactively with individuals in distress and individuals 
who are perceived to be at high risk of suicide.

 Provide effective support to individuals who have been affected by a suicide bereavement
 Build a wider partnership approach
 Align and / or incorporate the Salford Suicide Prevention Strategy with other strategies and 

programmes
 Making a difference by valuing the views and feedback of people who have been affected by 

suicide, staff and community groups

Sitting alongside the strategy is an action plan which details the range of actions that will be undertaken 
with the aim of preventing suicide, some of which are outlined below

 Explore and develop suicide prevention approaches that are targeted to males.
 Investigate and implement ways to support people who have little/ no contact with statutory 

healthcare or other support services and are known to have/ display known suicide risk factors.

Page 53



 Review policies in place across schools in line with Papyrus school toolkit.
 Work with community pharmacy to identify people that could be high risk and ensure they are 

equipped to offer and/or signpost to support.
 Six Degrees to work with existing peer support groups to agree referral and signposting routes for 

people bereaved by suicide
 Reducing access to means in line with the recommendations from the Annual Suicide Audit
 Work with construction workers in Salford to increase awareness of suicide prevention
 Strategic mapping of a small number of people’s journeys to understand opportunities to improve 

the system
 Expand the roll out of the Suicide prevention leaflets across Salford
 Work in line with the recommendations from the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 
 Review the training approaches undertaken across the Borough and develop a training ladder / 

approach for consideration by the partnership

Migration, ethnicity and mental health

 Migration into Salford has increased in the last three years with a total of 5,500 people moving 
into Salford. The majority is coming from international migration rather than from people moving from 
other areas of the UK. 97% of the migration is by people aged 17 to 28. Research tells us that migrant 
groups and their children are at greater risk of psychosis. Additional support for asylum seekers and 
refugees may be required based on their individual experiences.

 The 2011 Census estimated that 15.6% of Salford residents were from Black, Asian and minority 
ethnic groups (BAME). Applied to 2016 population estimates would equate to almost 40,000 residents. 
The most recent school census in 2017 would suggest that the children of Salford are even more diverse 
with 26% identifying as being from an ethnic group other than White British. The 2011 Census identified 
that 33% of the residents in Broughton were BAME whilst the 2017 school census highlighted that over 
half the children in Broughton and Ordsall were BAME. Research tells us that people of Black Caribbean 
or Pakistani origin are more likely to experience serious mental illness than other ethnic groups. 
Although not entirely comparable the school census identified that 2.3% and 5.0% of Salford school 
children were South Asian (Pakistani, Indian and Bangladeshi) and Afro-Caribbean (Black African and 
Black Caribbean) respectively.

 20% of the adult Salford population is estimated to smoke, a rate that is significantly higher than 
England (15.5%) and Greater Manchester (18.2%). Smoking is relatively high in women when compared 
to England, Greater Manchester and nearest neighbours. 48.7% of people registered with a Salford GP 
with a recorded diagnosis of serious mental illness are reported to smoke. Again this figure is 
significantly higher than England (40.5%). Tobacco smoke is the single greatest cause of preventable 
illness and health inequality in England and although smoking prevalence is declining in the general 
population, smoking among those with a mental health condition has remained stable. This high 
prevalence of smoking is likely to be responsible for much of the reduction in life expectancy among 
people with serious mental illness. 

 Salford had a significantly higher directly standardised rate of alcohol related hospital 
admissions in 2015-16 than England and Greater Manchester. Hospital admissions for mental and 

Page 54



behavioural disorders due to alcohol were also more than double the England standardised rate. In 
2016-17 there were 525 new presentations to alcohol treatment services. Regular consumption of 
alcohol has been shown to affect the chemistry of the brain, increasing the risk of depression. Mental 
health problems can also cause people to self-medicate with alcohol increasing their consumption. This 
leads to a destructive cycle as the increased drinking leads to decreased mental health. Increased 
consumption of alcohol is also often liked to wider physical health and social needs such as self-harm, 
unemployment, deprivation and poverty, housing issues, crime and family breakdown.

 There an estimated 1,200 opiate users in Salford whilst there were 806 people in treatment for 
opiate use in 2016. 24.7% of users in specialist drug misuse services were concurrently receiving 
treatment for mental health services for reasons other than substance misuse. As with alcohol, drug use 
is associated with wider social harms such as crime to fund drug use, gang violence, unemployment, 
homelessness and family breakdown. It is important to provide coordinated services for people with co-
existing mental health and substance misuse issues that address their wider health and social care needs 
as well as other issues such as employment and housing. Empathy and respect are vital as people with 
co-occurring conditions are often stereotyped and stigmatized.

Housing and mental health

 Homeless applications in Salford have increased threefold between 2009-10 and 2016-17. The 
rate is double the England rate and the 2nd highest in Greater Manchester. There was a 63% increase in 
the number of rough sleepers in Salford on the previous year in 2016. 1 in 15 households are 
overcrowded in certain wards of Salford according to the 2011 Census. There are strong associations 
between poor housing and mental health problems. Insecure poor quality housing causes stress, anxiety 
and depression and exacerbates existing mental health conditions. 19% of adults living in poor quality 
housing in England have poor mental health outcomes. Stable, good quality housing is a protective 
factor for mental health and can be a vital element of recovery.

Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust (GMMH)

GMMH is by far the leading provider of NHS specialist mental health services to Salford’s people.

They have recently issued a strategy for 2019-24.  Highlights include:

Vision: Working together to improve lives and support optimistic futures.

Values: To inspire hope; to work together; to be caring and compassionate; to value and respect; to be 
open and honest.

Strategic objectives and related programmes:

 Work with service users and carers to achieve their goals by delivering high quality care: through 
quality improvement; improve outcomes; deliver safest care; integrate care around the person; 
best care.

Page 55



 Create an outstanding place to work, ensuring staff feel valued and are supported to reach their 
potential: through recruitment and retention, outstanding place to work; transforming the 
workforce; outstanding leadership and management.

 Continuously improve services for users through research, innovation and digital technology.
 Work in partnership with others to improve wellbeing and challenge stigma: through service 

users, communities, VCSE, integrated care, public sector, trusted partnerships.
 Be a sustainable, well-led organisation that delivers social value: through being financially 

sustainable and well-governed; safe, effective and supportive environments; productivity and 
delivering social value. 

Quality headlines for the GMMH are:

1. Service user and carer experience: listening to and acting on feedback
2. Promoting recovery: improving outcomes through the delivery of recovery-focussed, positive 

and safe services
3. Dementia: enhancing the quality of life of people with dementia and older people with 

functional illness
4. Physical health: improving assessment and treatment and promoting health improvement
5. Personality disorder: developing a framework for working with people with personality disorder
6. Care plans: improve the quality and effectiveness od service user care plans

In the three years since this Locality Plan was first written, GMMH has considerably strengthened its 
collaboration with the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector.  That includes 
prevention, recovery, resilience, raising awareness and reducing stigma. It has also started to bridge the 
gap between primary and secondary care, for example the High Impact Primary Care (HIPC) mental 
health teams, and the “Lambeth model” (a more responsive early impact collaborative).

1.4.2 Learning disability

Salford has made significant improvements in supporting people with learning disabilities in their 
local community and to be active citizens, taking part in their neighbourhoods and having 
fulfilling lives.  We also recognise the importance of reducing the health inequalities faced by 
people with a learning disability. 

There has been a great deal of focus on Learning Disability in the past few years prompted by 
the “Six Lives” report and “Winterbourne” scandal, which has led to the Transforming Care 
Programme. 

So, as far as local citizens are concerned their priorities are:      

1. Making a Contribution – having friends/relationships, employment options/support, being 
part of the local community, having meaningful lives

2. Person Centred – using Person Centred Planning and bespoke commissioning including 
early support and all-age services/transition

3. Being Safe – including positive risk taking and justice system
4. Housing/Homes – quality and choice of homes
5. Good Health – taking care of their own health and accessing mainstream health services

Page 56



6. Communication & Advocacy – receiving information and the opportunity to have their say

These priorities are similar to those developed as part of a Greater Manchester Learning 
Disability strategy.  This plan aims to make sure people with learning disabilities are valued and 
reduce the inequality faced by people with learning disability: including health, housing, 
employment, education, support, justice and relationships. 

Vision

Our vision is that Salford is a city where people with learning disability have access to early, 
appropriate and person centred support that allows them to live good, meaningful lives.  People 
with learning disabilities should have access to all the same services and opportunities as anyone 
else; be that in accessing the health system or being supported to have relationships and 
employment.

Public Engagement
 
Engagement is ongoing in learning disability.  Listening to People is the local forum, facilitated by 
a joint CCG/City Council engagement officer and held monthly.  Members of this group also sit 
on regional groups for both Greater Manchester and North West, and has representation at the 
annual self-advocates conference.

Objectives & Actions

In addition to targets around the transforming care programme (reducing inpatient beds and 
supporting more people in the community), Salford are adhering to the 10 Greater Manchester 
objectives, which also covers our local priorities:

Objective 1: Strategic Leadership 
 Strategic Leadership to support reductions in inequalities, who will be responsible for 

working with self-advocates, families and services to make change happen.
 Coproduction with self-advocates and their families.

Objective 2: Advocacy
 Support more people with a learning disability and their family/friends to have the 

confidence and skills to speak up for themselves and their peers.
 To have an understanding of different types of advocacy and what is available to people.

Objective 3: Bespoke Commissioning
 Bespoke support and commissioning – designed with me, for me.
 High quality, value for money, effective support options.

Objective 4: Good Health

 Consistent and quality annual health checks for everyone with a learning disability aged 
14yrs+.

 Learning Disability Mortality Reviews (LeDeR) carried out and findings used to improve 
services to positively impact on the health of people with a learning disability, and prevent 
premature deaths.

Page 57



 Improve access to mainstream health services, , including mental health services, 
developing reasonably adjusted health and social care pathways and services

 STOMP - reduce the use of anti-psychotropic medication
 Improve cancer services and experiences for people with Learning Disabilities and 

improve the uptake of the national cancer screening programmes.

Objective 5: Belonging not Isolation
 Ensuring that that those who wish to develop or maintain friendships/relationships are 

supported to do so

Objective 6: Homes for People
 Improved housing options/choices for people
 Expansion of shared lives offer

Objective 7: Employment
 Support for people with learning disabilities who wish to obtain paid employment, and 

support for employers to achieve this.
 Focus on employment in transition

Objective 8: It’s everyone’s job / Workforce
 Ensuring that we have a skilled workforce, both within community teams, and services we 

commission.

Objective 9: Early Support
 Ensuring people are referred assessed and diagnosed early to ensure that the right 

support is put in place.
 Ensuring the right support is put in place at the right time – listening to people and their 

families to shape this support.

Objective 10: Justice System
 Ensuring that offenders are treated fairly and are supported to not reoffend; and victims 

have a voice and support.

1.4.3 Cancer: current work to improve cancer early diagnosis

Salford’s figures for the proportion of patients diagnosed with cancer at stage four is high for a 
number of reasons and links to deprivation and health inequalities within Salford’s diverse 
population.  Salford CCG’s Cancer Plan focuses on the entire pathway for Salford patients accessing 
cancer services. Key themes of the plan include:
Improving Early Diagnosis.  

Salford CCG and Salford City Council launched a lung health check pilot in September 2019 to 
improve early-stage detection of lung disease (including lung cancer). The free health checks are 
starting in Walkden, in a community setting, and are available to people aged 55 to 74 who are 
smokers or ex-smokers. The pilot will then continue through each area of Salford within the next 

Page 58



18 months.

Salford CCG is working closely with Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (SRFT) to put in place 
cancer rapid diagnostic centres (RDCs), building on the successful pilot of a mini-RDC in Oldham. 
The RDC will play a critical role in helping Salford meet increasing diagnostic demand, reduce 
diagnostic delays and deliver an enhanced patient experience for patients referred with 
symptoms that could indicate cancer.

The CCG has supported evidence-based “best-timed pathway” projects for improving the 
diagnosis of three types of cancers - prostate, lung and colorectal. These chosen types are 
common cancers where diagnostic problems and variation are most marked. These projects aim 
to reduce hospital visits for tests, and cancer to be diagnosed at least 10 days earlier.

Salford CCG has started using the Faecal Immunochemical Test (FIT) as a part of their bowel 
cancer screening programme and is currently working with SRFT for extension of the FIT to low-
risk symptomatic patients in Salford. The test is easy to use and can spot early signs of cancer.

 
Improving Prevention

In 2018 there were 39,000 smokers in Salford (20% of adults). The smoking population in Salford 
has steadily fallen since 2014 but remains higher than the national figures. Currently, Salford is 
in the process of developing a new tobacco control plan working with the Salford Tobacco Harm 
Reduction Group to collectively implement actions for reducing tobacco-related harms in the 
city. Both the CCG and Salford City Council’s public health team are committed to reducing these 
numbers further and are working with SRFT with the CURE (Conversation, Understand, Replace, 
Expert & Evidence Based Treatments) project. The term ‘CURE’ has been specifically chosen to 
‘medicalise’ tobacco addiction and move away from the stigma of a lifestyle choice to disease 
treatment. The CURE project will contribute to the GM and locality ambition to reduce smoking 
prevalence by supporting smokers who are admitted to hospital to quit. The allocated funding 
from GM Cancer to support the implementation of CURE is for a period of 12 months.  The 
funding is non-recurrent and any future funding will be based upon successful evaluation of the 
project delivered in 2020/21 to inform long term arrangements.

Salford City Council’s public health team is supporting the ‘Answer Cancer’ programme (funded 
by Greater Manchester Health & Social Care Partnership), which aims to increase the uptake of 
cervical, breast and bowel screening across the city by raising awareness of the screening 
programmes. Answer Cancer will be specifically working with marginalised and targeted 
populations where the uptake is lowest.

Skills development for Salford Clinicians

Salford CCG is currently focusing on improving the performance of cancers diagnosed at an early 
stage and has been working with Salford GPs to improve their knowledge and understanding of 
early signs and symptoms of cancer.  To improve training uptake and better access for GPs, 
Salford CCG is developing plans to introduce ‘Group Style’ training sessions for GPs.  The CCG 

Page 59



held an educational workshop for GPs in May 2019 and aim to undertake further upskilling 
sessions to support practitioners in detecting cancers at an earlier stage. The CCG is also jointly 
working with Cancer Research UK to improve awareness of cancer symptoms through 
completion of Gateway ‘C’ training.  Additional work includes training delivered for Practice 
Cancer Champions, to build awareness of cancer symptoms for non-clinical GP practice staff 
resulting in improved patient experience and early detection.

Commissioning (Performance Improvement and Monitoring)

Reduced waiting times contribute to improving outcomes for patients. However, patients 
presenting with late-stage cancer, a reduction in waiting time will have little impact on outcome 
compared to the benefit of earlier presentation when the signs and symptoms of cancer are first 
noticeable. The conversion rate from referral to cancer diagnosis is relatively low, so for many 
people reduced waiting times can help reduce the period of anxiety before they receive a 
negative diagnosis.
The last update in August for 2019/20 performance shows that Salford has achieved four of the 
nine National standards. The performance 2-week wait standard for urgent referrals and breast 
symptoms has significantly reduced in the recent months. Breast symptomatic two week wait 
performance was 27.7% in August against the 93% target. This has been largely due to capacity 
issues due increased demand for providers as a result of service closures.
The CCG works closely with providers across Greater Manchester and colleagues at Salford Royal 
to improve performance around these targets. Assurance has been sought from providers on 
their plans put in place to improve capacity and manage the issue of increased demand, 
particularly for breast and skin services.

Salford CCG is working to analyse breaches on the 62 day pathway and will work
with providers to improve access to services for Salford patients. 

Living With and Beyond Cancer

The CCG is works in partnership with Macmillan Cancer Support and Salford Royal to provide 
care for patients recovering from cancer. The work focuses on reducing variation of care in GP 
practices by providing advice and guidance and upskilling frontline staff at practices. This also 
enables joint working between primary care and secondary care to ensure patients get 
consistent support when recovering from cancer.

Cancer workshop: an example of co-production

During 2019 a workshop was convened to review existing actions within the current 2019-20 
Business Plan to understand if these are adequate for delivery and achievement of the required 
performance targets.

Overall, the group felt that current actions were reasonable and had the potential to help 
performance, but with constraints such as:

 Having limited influence over providers and associated CCGs
 The impact of changes, consolidation and service closures at Greater Manchester level
 Need for better assurance measures for improving service delivery and performance

Page 60



The group also felt that the current identified actions alone would not improve performance for 
staging, one-year survival and mortality, but added these.

 As we now are an integrated system, it would be beneficial to look at measures across the 
whole pathway rather than the CCG specific performance measures i.e. uptake of HPV 
immunisation for one. 

 To shift the focus from being reactive to pro-active, including the introduction of more 
preventative approaches.

 Undertake an audit of practices to understand the factors resulting in late presentations. 
Current proposed work with SRFT to be added to the existing plan. The concern is about 
practices challenging the need for such an audit. 

 Exploring the possibility of including the cancer late presentations indicator into Salford 
Standards, asking for GPs to audit their own records and lessons learnt. This will be followed 
by a social marketing campaign in Salford to raise awareness, once we have better 
understanding of the factors resulting in emergency presentations and/or late diagnosis.

Cancer Screening

Breast screening – Women in England who are aged 50 to 70 and registered with a GP are 
automatically invited for screening every 3 years.  The programme is commissioned by NHSE, and GP’s 
have the responsibility to support the programme with local uptake.  Wythenshawe Hospital, 
Nightingale Centre is the provider for Salford, they invite patients for screening and then informs the 
GP in batches of those who didn’t attend.  GPs are encouraged to contact those patients to attend for 
screening

Cervical screening – All women who are registered with a GP are invited for cervical screening at the 
GP practice.

 Aged 24.5 to 49 years – every 3 years
 Aged 50 to 64 years – every 5 years

Bowel Screening - Screening is offered to men and women aged 60-74 years as the risk of bowel 
cancer increases with age. Men and women are invited to be screened every 2 years. Bolton Royal is 
the provider for Salford (SRFT couldn’t accommodate the service).

1.4.3 Diabetes: emphasis on prevention

Previous Locality Plan:
Salford was identified as a demonstrator site for tackling type-2 diabetes. The programme aimed to 
focus on the identification, recruitment, intervention and engagement of patients at risk of 
developing diabetes.  This was delivered through a supportive behaviour change and lifestyle 
interventions programme. 

The digital pilot ran for 12 months and Salford was successful in recruiting patients to the 
programme with good results, however NHS England decided to commission a face to face provision 
and this has now been contracted to run for 3 years (August 2019 – July 2022).

Page 61



What we have heard and learned (from public and provider engagement)
In Salford we found that younger patients were happy with digital provision as this fits in with their 
lifestyle, i.e. access on-line outside of work hours.  Older people like the ‘classroom’ approach joining 
in with other patients with the same issues.

On that basis a face to face (F2F) provision has been commissioned with a small element of digital 
for those in extreme cases.  It is too early to evaluate this F2F programme.

What has changed?
The digital only pilot has ceased, to be replaced with a F2F programme run by a different provider.  
There is a small digital add-on offered in certain circumstances where patients absolutely cannot 
attend F2F.

What we are currently doing 
An assessment of the extent to which we are already delivering against the area in the LTP - building 
on the last three years of implementation, and any resource required.
As the new service is commissioned by NHS England we are governed by their policy.  The CCG’s role 
is to ensure engagement from GP practices in making referrals to the service in order to maximise 
the number of slots available for the funding provided.  
It is expected that people will make some lifestyle changes after taking part in the prevention 
programme and continue to do so after they have completed all sessions, thus reducing their risk of 
diabetes and its complications.

The service will be reviewed in three years’ time by NHS England to assess its success, with a view to 
re-commissioning.

What will help (enablers, drivers, digital, better care, financial highlights
Good marketing with primary care making them aware that this is a ‘free’ service to the CCG 
enabling patients to embark on a lifestyle change.  

Feedback from the provider back to primary care to demonstrate how their patients are benefitting 
from the service along with the success it may bring.

What impact and outcomes do we expect to see in 1 year and 5 years?
More patients should be at reduced risk of developing type 2 diabetes, thus improving their health 
and well-being, reducing the need for medication, and reducing the risk of the disease and its 
complications.

Most patients have the opportunity to be offered a referral to the service over the next three years.  

Diabetic Eye Screening (DES) Screening - The UK National Screening Committee (UK NSC) recommends 
annual diabetic eye screening for persons on the programme register who:

Page 62



 are aged 12 years and over
 have a diagnosis of diabetes mellitus (excluding gestational diabetes)
 have perception of light in at least one eye

1.5 Active older age
Currently in Salford there are more than 35,000 people aged 65 or older and this number is set to rise. 
Whilst many live active lives and bring a valuable resource to the city others have complex health and 
wellbeing needs. The life expectancy for a man living in Salford is 75.5 years and for a woman is just over 
80.1 years. These life expectancies are both below the England average.

By 2024, more than one in four people will be over 60 and our longer lives are one of society’s greatest 
achievements. But while many already enjoy a good later life, others risk ill health, poverty and 
loneliness.

A significant proportion of health and social care expenditure in Salford relates to older people (in 
excess of £100 million per annum), which will increase substantially as the population becomes older.

In terms of where older people live in Salford:
 The largest concentrations of people aged 65+ years are located in: Eastern Pendlebury, Swinton 

North and Walkden South. 
 There is a cluster located where the wards of Weaste & Seedley, Claremont and Eccles meet. 
 Boothstown & Ellenbrook and Worsley show also fairly high percentages of 65+ populations. 
 Central and southern Worsley have the highest concentration of people aged 85+ years. 
 The most deprived areas for older people are Broughton, Langworthy, Irwell Riverside, Ordsall 

and Eccles.

Salford was ranked the 18th most deprived local authority (out of 353) in England according to the 2010 
Index of Multiple Deprivation. Salford is therefore challenged by having a more deprived population 
than many areas of the UK. This results in our population becoming less healthy earlier, almost older 
earlier, in terms of morbidity, so having more long-term conditions and illnesses compared to other 
people the same age in less deprived areas, meaning they have more complex needs in terms of health 
and social care support and for a longer period of time.

Page 63



Age Friendly Cities 

The World Health Organisation (WHO) provided an Age Friendly Model to help places around the world 
look at their communities in a structured way, considering all the different aspects that affect our lives. 
It’s not just about Cities, it’s about age friendly places - our streets, neighbourhoods and communities.

Salford started using the World Health Organisation model back in 2014. Salford’s City Mayor publicly 
signed up to the World Health Organisation programme in 2015 committing Salford and its partners to 
an older people led plan for change. 

An older person network has been established and meets quarterly attended by on average 60 older 
people to oversee the development of the visions into actions).  Each year Salford celebrates the work of 
older people as part of International Older Persons Day. 

Inside the visions circle in Diagram –- shows the 8 domains of the WHO’s Age Friendly Cities and 
Communities model. The outer visions (outside of the circle) were developed by the Salford Older 
People who have been regularly consulted across all areas of the Borough. 

Age Friendly Salford’s 4 Visions and the 8 WHO domains.

Page 64



Malnutrition and dehydration

Older people often have long term care needs (frequently associated with chronic health conditions). 
Older people are frequently socially isolated, with a poor quality of life. A third of recent arrivals to 
hospitals and care homes are already malnourished (or at risk) 

Salford Malnutrition Task Force were successful in securing GM Transformation funding to build on the 
Salford Paperweight armband model in other areas of GM. Building on the learning from Eat well 
sessions and the work taking place across other areas of GM during 2019 the work will bring both 
elements together in Salford to deliver the Eat, Drink and Live Well project which aims to raise 
awareness about the risks and signs of malnutrition and dehydration and create opportunities to bring 
older people together to learn about eating well in later life and sharing food together to help reduce 
loneliness.

Consultation with older people identified that they do not always eat well as they grow older either 
because they have less appetite or they do not feel they wish to cook for just themselves when they 
have been used to cooking for others. The Malnutrition work has helped to develop older residents’ 
knowledge of what is eating well in later life alongside sharing food together. A key message is little and 
often and fortifying food is better than supplements. Each session finished with a nutritionally balanced 
and fortified sharing lunch. 

Falls prevention 

Alongside Salford Community Leisure’s Postural Stability and Step Up support, a programme of 
awareness raising and learning for older people to manage their own health and wellbeing.  Six Steps to 
preventing falls provided the universal interventions element of the falls programme to increase 
knowledge and skills of older people to help them reduce their own and those them may know risk of 
falls, which are caused by non-medical causes such as home hazards, ill-fitting or inappropriate 
shoes/slippers and lighting especially at night time where there are continence issues. 

The material and training session was co-design with Salford older people and a package of learning 
which is both age friendly and focused on key health outcomes of falls prevention and behaviour change 
was developed.  

The Falls Prevention training has been delivered by the Salford Together Development Worker and has:
 Engaged with over 300 people aged between ages of 30-89 years of age. 
 Delivered Falls Prevention Training across 7 areas of Salford Langworthy, Swinton, Broughton, 

Little Hulton, Eccles and Cadishead and  Walkden 
 Worked in partnership with Citywest housing and Salix homes to deliver the 6 steps to 

preventing falls training in sheltered housing schemes across the city including: Eccles, Swinton, 
Little Hulton, Irlam and Cadishead and Walkden

 Delivered training in a variety of community venues including: Libraries and community centres.

The Salford Together Development Worker is currently working with Salford Community Leisure to 
deliver the six steps sessions as part of the final postural stability class

Page 65



Employment 

 Over 50’s in employment. Many people get made redundant at 50 and never work again, 
despite trying for years. GM are encouraging employers to invest in and continue to train and 
employ people well into their 60’s. 

This is a GM resource which goes in to detail on this. 

https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2017-
11/Addressing%20worklessness%20and%20job%20insecurity%20amongst%20people%20aged
%2050%20and%20over%20in%20Greater%20Manchester.pdf

In October 2019, Public Health England and The Centre for Ageing Better issued the following consensus 
statement, which encapsulates Salford’s vision for healthy older age.

Putting prevention first and ensuring timely access to services and support when needed. 
Everyone should have the opportunity to live, work and age in the conditions that support good health – 
good quality work, financial security, safe and secure housing and flourishing communities. Evidence-
based interventions targeted at an individual level like strength and balance classes, smoking cessation 
support, and treatment for alcohol dependence need to be complemented by population-level policies 
across government, for example food 
marketing and reformulation. As well as this, people should from an early age be encouraged through 
education, awareness-raising and empowerment to have control of their own health. If people 
experience a decline in their health and functional ability, we want to ensure they have timely access to 
high quality health, care and rehabilitation services and to personalised support and adaptations that 
will help them remain independent. A person’s changing needs should not be a barrier to maintaining or 
improving health and being able to continue to do the things that they value. 

2. Removing barriers and creating more opportunities for older adults to contribute to society. We 
want to provide workplaces that support health at work, create flexibility in roles if needed, and recruit, 
develop, promote and retain staff of every age. We want to implement policies and practices that 
support unpaid carers. And we want an inclusive approach to supporting older adults to volunteer, 
including opportunities for older people to provide mentoring and peer support. There should be a focus 
on extending opportunities to remain engaged with creative, learning and cultural activities as we age. 
We want to remove barriers to participation by providing more flexible opportunities for engagement 
and access to affordable transport, and by ensuring people’s contributions are valued and that they are 
supported to develop new skills. 

3. Ensuring good homes and communities to help people remain healthy, active and independent in 
later life. Poor housing can contribute to and exacerbate many long-term health conditions. We want to 
improve the quality of our existing mainstream housing stock and future-proof new homes, ensuring 
they are built to be accessible and adaptable. We also want more diverse housing options that meet the 
needs of older adults across all tenures – home ownership, social housing and the private rented sector. 

Page 66

https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2017-11/Addressing%20worklessness%20and%20job%20insecurity%20amongst%20people%20aged%2050%20and%20over%20in%20Greater%20Manchester.pdf
https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2017-11/Addressing%20worklessness%20and%20job%20insecurity%20amongst%20people%20aged%2050%20and%20over%20in%20Greater%20Manchester.pdf
https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2017-11/Addressing%20worklessness%20and%20job%20insecurity%20amongst%20people%20aged%2050%20and%20over%20in%20Greater%20Manchester.pdf


With a growing proportion of older private renters, we want to improve conditions in the poorest 
quality private rented accommodation and identify ways of supporting low income owner-occupiers to 
access funds to repair and improve their homes. To support people to remain connected as they age, we 
want to ensure the provision of accessible transport links and good quality green spaces, maintain 
services and facilities as close to people’s homes as possible, and adopt a range of community-centred 
approaches that support and encourage community participation among people of all ages. 

4. Narrowing inequalities in years of life lived in good health between richer and poorer people, 
between different population groups and between different areas of the country – focussing efforts on 
those most at risk. Ageing is inevitable but how we age is not. Collectively, we need to act across the 
lifecourse to ensure that everybody has the same opportunities to achieve a good education, good 
work, financial security, a decent home, and to develop and maintain connections to family, friends and 
a supportive wider community. These are the protective factors that underpin good mental and physical 
health and that help people develop and maintain resilience throughout their lives. Those who have not 
built up this resilience are more disabled by their environments – such as poor housing – in later life. 
Alongside this, we want to ensure that health and social care services are timely, appropriate and 
accessible to the whole population, irrespective of wealth or geographical location. 

5. Challenging ageist and negative language, culture and practices wherever they occur, in both policy 
and practice. Language and imagery that stereotypes people in later life as feeble, not fit for work, 
lonely and incapable, or not deserving of health treatment ignores the huge diversity of backgrounds, 
experience and ambition of the millions of people who are older. We should see a reflection of that 
diversity and a more realistic and representative picture of later life that values ageing and older people. 
We want to shift the conversation to one which celebrates and recognises the successes and benefits of 
an ageing population. 

1.5.1 Mental health in older age

The Salford population aged over 65+ is estimated to grow 39.4% between 2017 and 2035 to over 
50,000 residents. The majority of the population growth within this broader age group is driven by 
the very old as those aged 85 to 89 and 90 and over are forecast to increase by 70% and 88% 
respectively. This population growth is greater than projections for Salford’s nearest neighbours 
(37.3% increase) but lower than both Greater Manchester (39.9%) and England (43.7%).

Applying the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014 estimates of common mental disorders to the 
Salford population shows that there are potentially 3,700 older adults with a mental health 
problem. This is likely to be an underestimate given that these are rates for all England and Salford 
has more potential risk factors for mental health illness than on average. The disorders not 
otherwise specified are the most prevalent followed by generalised anxiety disorders in women.

There was an average of 2,000 people aged 65+ registered with a Salford GP in contact with mental 
health services at the end of each reporting period between May 2016 and January 2018. A 
potential of at least 1,700 older age people not receiving treatment is therefore possible. Using the 

Page 67



April 2017 GP practice list to estimate CCG populations Salford had an average rate of just over 550 
per 10,000 65+ registered population. The Salford rate is consistently significantly higher than all 
three comparators; England by an average of 45%, Greater Manchester by an average of 35% and 
similar CCGs by an average of 21%.

The number of people with a recorded diagnosis of dementia aged 65 and over in Salford has 
remained around 1,900 in 2017-18. This represents just over 5% of the Salford GP practice 
population aged 65 and over. Although a higher than average value can be representative of better 
detection within a CCG, Salford has a significantly higher concentration than Greater Manchester 
(4.7%), similar CCGs (4.7%) and England (4.3%).

The current position at quarter 3 in 2017-18 for the estimated dementia diagnosis rate is 88.7% 
which is 22.0 percentage points above the England target of two thirds. It is also 9.1, 11.4 and 20.4 
percentage points above the similar CCG, Greater Manchester and England averages respectively. In 
the 12 months up to January 2018 the Salford value has been significantly higher than all three 
comparators in each month. In fact, the estimated dementia diagnosis rate in Salford is greater than 
all other local authorities within the North-West of England in 2017.

The NHS England Dementia Prevalence Calculator estimated that in Salford in March 2015 the 
estimated proportion of dementia cases that were classed as mild was 55%, moderate 33% and 
severe 12%. Applying these proportions to the number of people estimated to have dementia in 
December 2017 indicates that 1,250 people have mild dementia, 740 have moderate dementia and 
280 have severe dementia.

Latest figures at February 2018 show Salford had 55% (909) of 65+ year olds registered individuals 
living at home with dementia; whilst 45% (728) are living in a care home.  It is noted that some 
people have no residency status added and a data verification exercise is on-going to address this.

Salford had the highest directly standardised rate per 100,000 for emergency admissions of 
dementia amongst its similar CCGs and Greater Manchester. Salford’s value (5,514) was significantly 
higher than England (3,482) and 13 of the CCGs within the similar or Greater Manchester cohort.

Loneliness is a key risk factor in the mental health of the elderly. Age UK has mapped the risk of 
loneliness in the UK and ranked each neighbourhood within England. Applying their data to the 2016 
mid-year population estimates that there are 16,000 adults aged 65+ living in the most deprived 
national quintiles in respect to the risk of loneliness. This represents 44% of the 65+ Salford 
population. The ONS have also predicted loneliness based on the 2011 Census and place Salford as 
being the 16th highest local authority (of 326) in terms of risk of older adults being lonely.

Adult Social Care (ASC) data indicates that 40% of the people diagnosed with dementia are 
supported in either a residential or community setting, which in turn is 22% of the total number of 
people supported by adult social care services in Salford.

Page 68



There are 239 people receiving Home Care and 58 people living in Extra Care who are recorded as 
living with dementia and are being helped to maintain independence. This indicates that 
independence promoting ASC services are being applied to meet the needs of people living with 
dementia in their own home.

There were 740 referrals to IAPT services for those aged 65 and over in Salford in 2016-17. As a rate 
per 1,000 of the registered population (20.2) this was significantly higher than nationally (9.0), the 
similar CCGs (9.9) and Greater Manchester CCGs (13.8). However Salford had a lower proportion of 
referrals that actually entered treatment than their comparators. The proportion completing 
treatment in Salford (42.5%) was significantly lower than England (59.2%) and the similar CCGs 
(57.7%) but was not significantly different to the Greater Manchester average (46.9%). The 
proportion who reliably improved after completing treatment in Salford (62.2%) is similar to the 
England rate (67.9%) but is significantly lower than Greater Manchester CCGs (69.7%) and similar 
CCGs (74.2%).

1.6 Later older age and dying well

“The beginning of the end: Ella’s story”: as told to a Salford Councillor by her family, in 2019.

This is a true story about a system that, despite the caring attitudes of individual staff, still sometimes 
lets down our most vulnerable citizens.

Ella died aged 101. 

She had enjoyed a full, active, sociable life in accommodation that catered for independent living. 
Supported by her four children.  Her mind remained sharp and she enjoyed reading novels, a weekly 
magazine and doing crosswords.

One night in February 2019, four months before she died, she fell getting out of bed and broke her right 
hip.  She was admitted to hospital and successfully operated on the following evening.  Two weeks later 
she was ready for an NHS rehabilitation centre.  The expectation, conveyed to her, was that she would 
be home within three weeks.  Treatment would revolve around physiotherapy to restore strength, 
balance, and above all, confidence.

Reality was different.  Due to physio shortages there was no physio at weekends, and due to ward 
shortages Ella’s activities of daily living were often done for her, including being wheeled around instead 
of practicing walking.  Family offered to do more but rules on risk prevented this.  It was a largely 
sedentary experience, with social contact chiefly at meals.  Ella’s mood, agility and strength began to 
deteriorate at an accelerating rate.  

Unusually for her, Ella sank into depression.  She fell again getting out of bed at night and was 
incontinent on the floor.  She later said the care staff were more frightened of a complaint than her 
welfare.  No more bones were broken but old arthritis of the spine was aggravated and pain became a 
dominant symptom.

Page 69



At the three week deadline Ella was too fragile to go home.  Nights were the worst for pain and anxiety, 
and the sense of loneliness in an unfamiliar environment made them worse.  A crash mat had been 
placed beside her bed.

Ella never got home.  A morphine drip was commenced for symptom relief and, six days later with her 
family at her bedside, Ella took her last breath on 8th July 2019.

Ella’s family shared this account, abridged here, with their local Salford councillor so that other might 
reflect.  The following are some of the lessons for a planning document like this:

 Recognising frailty and preventing falls remains a priority.
 Rehabilitation is every bit as important as surgery and requires commensurate staffing
 Physical and emotional deterioration are powerful hazards to older people admitted to hospital
 Compassion is every bit as important as effective surgery and medicine
 When death is inevitable, it should be recognised and managed sympathetically and openly, as a 

celebration of a fulfilled life and as preparation for loved ones left behind.

End of Life and Palliative Care

Previous Locality Plan:  End of life has not been included before

What we have heard and learned (from public and provider engagement)
The most recent national survey of bereaved people (VOICES, 2016) survey demonstrates:

 75% of bereaved people rate the quality of end of life care for their relative as outstanding
 69% of people rate hospital care as outstanding, excellent or good; care homes 82%, hospice 

care 79% and care at home 79%
 Ratings of poor quality of care are higher for those living in deprived areas
 33% report that the hospital services did not work well together with GPs and community 

services
 86% of people understood the information provided by healthcare professionals but 16% 

said they did not have time to ask questions
 74% of respondents felt hospital was the right place for the patient to die despite 3% of 

respondents stating patients wanted to die in hospital

What needs to be done 

In order to provide a seamless palliative care service, providers must be able to:
 Identify people with a life-limiting and progressive illness who are in their last year of life
 Ensure more people are offered the opportunity to record their dying wishes in a care plan
 All clinical teams to keep an electronic shared record which can be accessed by primary 

care, the hospital and community
 Ensure people are cared for and die in the place of their choice
 Improve the patient and carer experience, i.e. symptom control, decision making, co-

ordination of care and knowing how to ask for help and support

Page 70



 To ensure specialist palliative care help and support is available 24/7 in all settings

In order to deliver on these aims, a specialist trained workforce will need to be in place providing 
support 24/7 where possible.

What will help (enablers, drivers, digital, better care, financial highlights
Access to face to face care by specialist teams outside of routine working hours, by replicating the 
service available Monday to Friday to extend to weekends and on bank holidays.

Better shared (electronic) record keeping that can be accessed by all interested parties. 

What impact and outcomes do we expect to see in 1 year and 5 years?
More patients will be seen, cared for and die in a place of their choice.  By extending the provision of 
palliative care to cover evenings, weekends and bank holidays admissions could be avoided and 
people will have access to the right specialist treatment in order to manage their last year of life as 
much as possible where they choose to be.  

Shared electronic record keeping i.e. EPaCCS, will ensure all parties with an interest in caring for the 
patient will have up to date clinical information available at the point of access.

Facilitated and rapid discharge will ensure patients achieve their preferred place of death. 

A competent fully trained workforce in place to deliver specialist end of life and palliative care to 
patients who are in their last year of life.

Salford Royal in conjunction with St Ann’s Hospice are currently piloting a two year enhanced specialist 
palliative care service which is replicating the care, support and advice given Monday to Friday at 
weekends and on bank holidays.  

Early indications and in-house evaluations have shown that admissions are being prevented by having a 
face to face specialist team on hand to see patients at weekends/bank holidays in their own home or 
care home.  These additional members of staff that have been recruited through the pilot are also on 
hand and visible more in the hospital and are able to facilitate rapid discharges to ensure patient’s 
wishes are being achieved.

Page 71



A physician’s plea

(By Dr Abid Mohiuddin MD, published in the New England Journal of Medicine, 326:16,1091, 1992.)

If found in a sanitized room

In a twilight zone

Away from home and loved ones

Amongst kindly strangers

Uniformed and devoted

With my heart fluttering 

And my breath gasping

Nearly over the bridge

Having been sent for

And all far beyond

I wish I could say

Do not poke and tug at me

Pump air and break my ribs

Prolonging death, delaying life

For I want to leave myself behind

So let me, in peace and passion

Cross the river to a distant shore

Into the open arms of my beloved.

Page 72



1

Chapter 2 Neighbourhoods, communities and 
environment

2.1 General introduction
This chapter is expanded in this refreshed plan because of the feedback we have received.  

People identify not just by their age group, as in the previous chapter, but also by where they live 
(“neighbourhoods”), or by shared interests such as ethnicity, religion or care needs (“communities of interest”).  

Broadly, there are two ways that statutory agencies describe populations.  The first is by where people live: 
resident population.  The second is by which GP practice they belong to (or which hospital, school or service 
they use): registered population.  It is of interest that, after taking into account ebbs and flows, the GP-
registered population of Salford is about 30,000 greater than the resident population.  This report recognises, 
but cannot describe in detail, the considerable “churn” as people move house within the city or outside, or who 
travel in and out on a daily basis for work, education and leisure.

This is the chapter where “place” is dominant, as a focus for discussion on tackling the underlying threats to 
wellbeing, as well as the environment, sustainability and climate change.  The natural world is important to 
health and wellbeing.  A City that is made up of 60% green space has a duty to protect the environment.  It could 
be argued that birds, insects, mammals and even the plants are “residents of Salford” and deserve full measure 
of attention and protection in all our planning. 

This chapter is also where the Locality Plan refreshes its emphasis on the strengths of communities and the role 
of individuals and groups to protect and enhance wellbeing.  This matters not only to the charities and 
voluntary, community and social enterprises (VCSE) operating at local level but also to other providers of health 
and social care where the thrust of national policy is “prevention”, “personal care”, “care closer to home” and 
greater use of technology. 

There are many ways in which neighbourhoods could be described and mapped, and this Plan cannot cover 
them all, but for simplicity and continuity five areas have been chosen which relate to deliver of community 
services and the new Primary Care Networks.

These are:

 Eccles, Winton, Irlam and Cadishead
 Walkden, Little Hulton, Worsley and Boothstown
 Swinton and Pendlebury
 Broughton and Irwell Riverside
 Ordsall, Claremont and Pendleton

In each of the five primary care networks (PCNs) there is now an identified clinical lead and three key objectives 
to arise from networking in this way

 Extended opening hours and range of GP special interests for local people

Page 73



2

 Greatly enhanced “social prescribing” through the existing community connectors and the incoming link 
workers.

 Reducing professional isolation and facilitating shared learning and good practice

Page 74



3

Listening and responding

From Healthwatch, and from public discussion, we learned that some key phrases we use have the following 
meanings to local people: 

 “Prevention” includes not only addressing the causes of ill-health or other need before it starts, but also 
rapid access to assessment and advice so the individual can reassert control before it gets worse.

 “Personalisation” predominantly means continuing joint decision making, not simply handing back 
control.

 “Care closer to home” predominantly means care in one’s own home, not just at a facility closer than 
the hospital.

 “Technology” is of greatest use where it allows personal dialogue with the caring services and rapid 
connection to the doctor or other care giver; not just a passive source of information or generic decision 
algorithms for diagnosis and treatment – in other words the feedback we received was that technology 
works best where there is a live, competent and caring human at the other end.

Harnessing community strengths takes many forms and is supported by many groups and organisations.  Some 
significant examples feature in the locality profiles below.  Notable among the contributors are: VCSE, larger 
charities such as Age Concern, the Health Improvement Service (largely commissioned and provided in-house by 
Salford Council), and Salford Community Leisure (supported by a £1m grant from the Council, but otherwise 
largely self-funding).  They supplement the commissioned services of Salford Together – a consortium of primary 
care, community services, mental health and primary care from the NHS, social care from the Council, and 
volunteer input from Salford VCSE.

2.2 What are the benefits of greenspace to health?

Salford contains a rich and diverse range of parks, open spaces, rivers and canals with a large and significant part of the city 
being made up of green space. This includes over 30 parks and recreational grounds, two country parks, six local nature 
reserves and many play areas for people of all ages to enjoy. This provides a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of 
the people who visit them, whether for walking, taking part in other physical activity, socialising, events or to simply use the 
facilities provided.

In recognising the relationship between health and green / blue space that affects the quality of life of our residents and for 
people across the Greater Manchester region, Salford Council seek to ensure that everyone has good access to all types of 
high quality green space.  

With five Green Flag awarded parks, which is the benchmark national standard for publicly accessible parks and green 
spaces, six local nature reserves and over 20 public parks offering a wide range of activities there is a lot to be proud in 
what Salford offers across the area. Some of the more recent developments and successes include:

● Cutacre Country Park- Providing a major new outdoor recreation facility of around 40 hectares in Salford and 
extending into the neighbouring district of Bolton.  Former surface mining areas are in the process of being 
restored to provide new and improved wildlife habitats and recreation facilities including lagoons, ponds, 
footpaths and other landscape features.

● Castle Irwell- Salford’s second flood storage basin is near to completion to increase the level of protection from 
the River Irwell. New community sports pitches will be made available within the flood storage basin and a new 

Page 75



4

wetland and recreation area has been created at the northern end of the site.  Footpaths and a new cycleway have 
been enhanced within the site with a restored bridge crossing and new access points.

● Peel Park- Salford’s oldest park, and one of the oldest nationwide, is undergoing a complete renewal funded by 
the Parks for People grant from the Heritage Lottery Fund.  The enhancements include heritage interpretation, 
rediscovered paths and walks, new play areas, a new ranger’s office and formal gardens.  The park will host and 
promote different event and activities whilst creating a linked destination with Salford Museum and Art Gallery.  

● West Salford Cycle Network- The creation of this network links Bridgewater Way, Port Salford Greenway and the 
loop lines and is the ideal location to promote walking and cycling. It is host to a wide range of activities.

Good quality natural landscape in urban areas can positively affect how people feel. It can reduce stress and sadness, lift 
mood and make people feel better. The benefits of both green and blue space (open water, rivers and canals), and the 
mechanisms by which they work, are varied. Some are the physical benefits from green infrastructure, for example 
improved air quality, less noise pollution and reduced risks from flooding or heat-waves. There are also the benefits to 
active users of these spaces, whether that’s physical recreation or through children interacting with nature. Importantly it is 
the impact on mental wellbeing, social networks and sustainable communities that some of the strongest evidence is 
emerging in that green space can improve health, specifically:

● Mental health and wellbeing-  People who live in the areas within cities and towns that have more green space 
have better mental health- lower levels of mental distress and higher wellbeing. Anxiety and depression is lower 
and mood and self-esteem benefits of ‘green exercise’ appear greater than other forms of exercise

● Life expectancy- Living in communities within walking distance of green space is associated with a significant 
increase in the life expectancy of senior citizens (independent of age, sex, marital status, function status, 
socioeconomic status)

● Physical Activity- High levels of ‘greenery’ in a neighbourhood are associated with adult physical activity levels 
three-times higher than areas without. Participation by children in physical activity is greatest in areas with access 
to recreational facilities and schools. Conversely, poor quality green spaces partly explain lower levels of physical 
activity in areas of socioeconomic deprivation

● Self-rated Health- There is growing evidence that a positive association exists between having access to local green 
space in a small area or even around a residence and a person’s perceived general and mental health. 

● Weight management - High levels of ‘greenery’ in a neighbourhood is associated with a 40% reduction in risk of 
being overweight and obese among adults. With the NHS spending over £6bn on overweight and obesity related 
ill-health green space is one of the solutions to reducing the prevalence of obesity.

● Cardiovascular health- Access to green space is associated with reduced blood pressure and cholesterol. Whereas 
living further from green space is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.

● Health inequalities- Overall health inequalities are lower in areas with the greatest access and exposure to green 
space. Improving green space can also promote social cohesion by allowing groups from different social 
backgrounds to interact.

Page 76



5

● Climate change - Investing in active travel networks and green space can reduce carbon emissions and improve air 
quality. With growing pressure to improve our air quality Salford is well placed to start making a difference.

The potential to reduce the cost of healthcare on our NHS services is substantial when related to some of the above areas 
of ill health. For example, Public Health England report that the NHS in England spent an estimated £6.1bn on overweight 
and obesity related ill health in 2014/15. The wider societal costs are estimated at £27bn and therefore failing to address 
the challenge posed by just the obesity epidemic will continue to place an even greater burden on NHS resources.

What does this mean for the Locality Plan?

Continued investment and regeneration for the future is enabling further improvement and development of our green 
space to take place to create some inspiring new places that will have regional and national appeal and associated health 
benefits for our city: 

● RHS Bridgewater Garden- RHS Garden Bridgewater at Worsley New Hall covers a vast 154 acres.  It is the RHS’ fifth 
national garden and will create a new high profile asset for the city and region. The Garden will attract an 
estimated 700,000 visitors per annum by 2029, making it the second largest RHS garden both in size and by visitor 
numbers and will build on our visitor economy strengths as well as the popularity of horticultural attractions 
nationally. The first phase of the new Garden is scheduled to open in June 2019 with four further phases planned 
to be completed thereafter. Over time and subject to funding the site will include the restoration of the acclaimed 
Nesfield terraced gardens, a new glasshouse on the former Worsley New Hall and a new Horticultural College and 
Learning Centre. This will forge links with regional educational bodies to run higher level RHS courses, showcase 
horticultural science, offer new apprenticeship and student programmes and links with schools and universities. 

From a health perspective RHS Bridgewater Gardens will help deliver better health outcomes by focusing on health 
priorities and offering a wide range of activities good for general health specific health conditions.  For example, 
offering a therapeutic garden and personal green space for individuals and health groups.  RHS has established a 
social prescribing project, the first of many anticipated, being evaluated by the University of Salford.

● City Forest Park- Seeks to connect our urban areas and city by providing a high quality landscape within the 
northern part of the Irwell Valley in Salford and extending into Bury. The area is rich in biodiversity and is roughly 
the same size and scale as Central Garden in New York and the largest public green space in our region. The area is 
underused but holds enormous potential to create a natural space for culture and the arts by regenerating the 
entire site. With over 160,000 people living within a one mile radius it can benefit local communities, as well as 
bring widespread positive economic and social impact.

● Bridgewater Canal masterplan – Over £7 million will have been invested in improvements to the Bridgewater 
Canal from 2010 – 2019, making it one of the largest single investments in the city’s green infrastructure over the 
last few years. By 2019 4.9 miles of towpath will have been upgraded to create a pedestrian and cycle friendly 
route linking a diverse range of communities to wider greenspace, schools, key employment and leisure 
destinations including Manchester City Centre.

In addition, significant investment has gone in to upgrading the infrastructure of local parks adjacent to the canal, 
upgrading paths, managing woodland, installing seating, signs, way-finding and interpretive installations. A five 
year programme of activities and events is currently in place until 2019 encouraging learning about the canal and 
providing local residents with opportunities to be involved. Over 5,300 volunteer hours have been dedicated to the 
project already helping with the upkeep.  Usage of the canal as a leisure asset has already increased dramatically 

Page 77



6

since the towpath and greenspace improvements and the regeneration of Worsley Delph. The final phase of the 
public realm elements of the masterplan are due to open in 2019 and will complete the canal’s regeneration, 
significantly increasing its use. 

● The Local Plan will replace the adopted Unitary Development Plan, to set out how Salford should develop up to 
2035. The plan has specific health policies and a theme of health running through it. It identifies land allocations 
for particular uses or protective designations, sets out the main policies that will be used to determine planning 
applications, and provides support for key infrastructure and the protection of the city’s important environmental 
assets as well as what is expected and encouraged in new developments. Upon completion of the Local Plan, it is 
the intention to prepare a Green Infrastructure Strategy to provide a comprehensive approach to new 
developments and our existing infrastructure and how it relates to the people of Salford.  

● Greenspace Strategy Supplementary Planning Document – Supplements policies and guidance from the city 
council’s development plan related to the local recreation standards, public health, design and development with 
the aim of protecting and improving open spaces. A related open space chapter identifies the sites contributing 
towards each of the local recreation standards and site specific proposals for refurbished and new facilities. 

● Green City Programme- Comprehensive four year regeneration programme designed to set the ambition, identify 
the opportunity and deliver Green Infrastructure (GI) within the city.  The programme seeks to create a step-
change in the in the way GI is delivered in the city by creating a bold structure and statement of intent; pioneering 
new standards for tree planting and Sustainable Urban Drainage.  The schemes will create environmental, social 
and economic benefits as well as improving air quality and help to attenuate flood risk. 

● Salford Population Health Plan- Is developing in line with the GM document objectives so decisions can be made 
locally about how best to spend the £6 billion devolved budget in order to bring the greatest, fastest improvement 
to the health and wellbeing of our population. It recognises the explicit links between the environment we live and 
the health of the local population as part of the locality plan.  The opportunity to ensure that green space is 
recognised as a community asset and potentially has a role in social prescribing and helping prevent disease as well 
as improve symptoms of those with long term conditions, in particular mental health will be captured in the final 
plan. The focus is on people and communities, both place-based and where people share a common identity or 
affinity, have a vital contribution to make to health and wellbeing. We aim to put people and communities at the 
heart of what we do, concentrating on what is most important to them and what strengths exist naturally in the 
places we serve.

● New Health Care Models- The creation of the Salford Together partnership and one integrated care organisation 
(ICO) marks it as one of the first councils in the country to completely join-up all adult social care services with NHS 
health services and create a new organisation to deliver them. An important aspect of which is to encourage self 
care and develop an effective programme of social prescribing to various community based activities. High quality 
green space is an essential component of this programme of work as identified in the abovementioned population 
health plan. 

Page 78



7

VCSE highlights

Salford has a strong and vibrant VCSE sector. There are 1,513 VCSE organisations in Salford, 77% of which are 
working to improve people’s wellbeing, health and care.  69% are very small, with an annual income of £10,000 
or less.  14% are social enterprises.  79% had at least one source of non-public funds, demonstrating that they 
bring additional resources into the Salford care networks.  But many exist hand-to-mouth on non-recurring 
funds: 43% have less than 3 months of running costs in reserves.  

The sector is supported by 46,500 volunteers, giving a total of 115,400 hours each week.  Sector growth and 
increased capacity over the last 5 years has been supported by Salford CVS, whose role as a sector leader has 
been crucial in the development of strong and productive relationships between the VCSE and public sector in 
Salford. The contribution of volunteers in the VCSE sector is valued at £104.4 million each year and the sector as 
a whole had an income of £165 million in 2014/15.  

With that level of funding and capacity there were 2.4 million interactions over the year.
.
Salford is at the forefront in Greater Manchester of effective public sector partnerships with voluntary, 
community and social enterprise organisations (VCSEs). This has had many benefits for the city, for example in 
the recent development of the Social Value Pledge, in the promotion of the Living Wage Campaign and in the 
response to the December 2015 floods. 

The Salford VCSE Manifesto highlights the ongoing contribution that VCSE organisations can make in Salford and 
challenges partners to continue to engage with and invest in the sector so that local people and communities 
can help to address the challenges and embrace the opportunities of the future as equal partners. This 
manifesto has been developed by VOCAL VCSE Leaders – a forum facilitated by Salford CVS. 
Salford’s Locality Plan describes the key part that the VCSE sector will play in its delivery including the role that 
the sector has in extending the ‘reach’ of services into neighbourhoods and communities; as well as the 
innovative asset and community based approaches that are used.

In the summer of 2017, Salford launched its VCSE Strategy, which describes the position and role of the sector in 
Salford in terms of how it supports and benefits local people, delivers services and influences city-wide policy 
and strategy. The Strategy has a City-wide focus and includes the relationship that Salford CVS and the VCSE 
sector has with Salford City Council and NHS Salford CCG. 

The VCSE Strategy is built around the 6 Pillars of the Salford VCSE Manifesto which highlights the ongoing 
contribution that VCSE organisations can and do make in Salford; as well as challenging partners to continue to 
engage with and invest in the sector so that local people and communities can help to address the challenges 
and embrace the opportunities of the future as equal partners in the effort to improve the health and wellbeing 
of Salford people. 

These 6 Pillars have also been used to provide structure for the Collaboration Agreement, and are:
 Involve
 Include
 Collaborate

 Value
 Invest
 End poverty and inequality

Page 79



8

Operationally, the Salford Compact underpins the relationship between the statutory sector and the 
VCSE sector in Salford, with the aim of improving communication and understanding and strengthening 
our collective capacity to work together to improve the quality of life for Salford citizens.

Since the last version of the Locality Plan, and in support of its outcomes, a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) has been agreed between the VCSE sector in Salford and the partner 
organisations in Salford Together.

Significant features of the MoU are:

Joint commitment:

An inclusive approach

Development of alliances

Recognition of community and individual assets

Shared ambition:

To provide the best services and support for the people of Salford

Co-design those services

Maximise the talent, reach and social value of the VCSE sector activity for the benefit of 
the people of Salford.

Principles:

Prevention, early help and intervention

Person-centred; doing with not for; self-care and independence

Co-created and asset-based; just enough support when needed.

Commitments:

Involvement of VCSE in decision-making bodies and partner organisations in supporting 
infrastructure 

Inclusion and community engagement, drawing on lived experience for planning and 
evaluation

Collaboration and co-production in preventative and holistic care, with shared high 
standards, data sharing and procurement, recognising that “small is beautiful and one 
size does not fit all”.

Adding value, to wellbeing of both the carer and the cared for, social value to the 
community and economic value to the City.

Sustained and sustainable investment into prevention, and the infrastructure, human 
capacity and training required for a thriving VSCE sector.

Anticipated results:

Page 80



9

Salford people living healthier lives

Improved self-care and resilience in local communities and communities of interest

Increased provision of community-based care and support

Reduced reliance on primary and secondary care

A more efficient, effective, high quality health and social care system

Wellbeing Matters

Since the last version of this Plan was written Salford VCSE has led a significant transformational 
programme of work under the heading of “Wellbeing Matters”.  The three work streams were;

 Social prescribing
 Capacity-building in the VCSE
 Adding social value

This work was supported by a £1.12 million grant over two years from the Greater Manchester Health 
Service and Care Partnership.  Salford now has a new infrastructure that links statutory caring services 
to VCSE activities.  The focus is on personal and community-centred approaches (PCCA) at all ages, 
looking at strengths and assets (“glass half full” and “can do” attitude).

Accountability is through Salford CVS and the Salford Social Value Alliance.

“Wellbeing matters” now provides an opportunity to embed PCCA through behavioural change, high 
quality volunteering, informal support networks, evidence-based and evaluated models of working 
(largely through partnership with Salford University), and with added social value as an extra benefit.

Delivery commenced in December 20018, with a target of 2,400 social prescribing referrals in two years.  
“Community Connectors” are  the precursor of “link workers” hearalded in the NHS Long Term Plan 
coming on stream shortly.  226 organisations provide healthy activities.  135 new volunteers have been 
recruited.  38 projects received “micro grants” to get started.  Pledges of 10% added social value are 
integral to all grants. 

75% of referrals came from GPs and a further 8% from practice nurses.  There was an even spread of 
referrals from ages 19 to 84, and a few more from either side of that range.  The largest reasons for 
referral were mental health and social support (31% for each) with physical health and diet close behind.

Evaluation is being carried out by the University of Salford using qualitative as well as quantitative 
methods (narrative as well as numbers).  So far 80% of referrals have evaluated as “positive”, with even 
higher ratings for user satisfaction with the experience.

Highlights of the evaluation are as follows.  The wellbeing matters programme provides a personalised, 
holistic approach that considers wellbeing as well as health.  It addresses “what matters to people” 
rather than “what’s the matter with people”.  GP referrals were slow at first but now reach desired 
levels.  Simply giving people time and space to be listened to emerged as a big benefit.  Support to 
community-based groups was a key strength.  Co-location of community connectors in GP offices 
improves relationships, take-up and outcomes.”

Page 81



10

Economic evaluation was provided by the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES).  Their findings 
included these:

 25% improvement in social isolation
 19% improvement in self confidence
 13% improvement in physical activity
 23% improvement in happiness
 18% improvement in neighbourhood belonging. 

Key recommendations from Wellbeing Matters are:

 To extend the funding and make it secure: contracts rather than grants.
 More support and training for the volunteer workforce.
 Sufficient, sustainable administrative support and infrastructure.
 Continued investment in evaluation and sharing the learning.

2.5 Salford Community Leisure 
One of the “anchor” organisations, providing stability and a foundation for further development, is 
Salford Community Leisure (SCL).  It is part-funded by the Council via the public health grant, but the 
bulk of its income comes from grants, generous benefactors and donations, and membership 
subscriptions.   It recently successfully bid for £690,000 from Sport England and Swim England.

Its mission is to: “improve health and wellbeing, increase community involvement, develop education 
and skills and help enrich the environment.”

It is thriving, but needs to constantly raise income and grow its community engagement.  Leisure centre 
membership rose by 6,000 (13%) last year. The provision of cafes to leisure centres and libraries has 
encouraged social interaction and participation and thereby potentiated the other “ways to wellbeing” 
beyond simple physical activity.  As a community-based and community-supported set of facilities it is a 
vital part of the health and wellbeing landscape and helping to reduce inequalities.

SCL in numbers and facts:

 Annual loans of books in hard copy and digital have passed the 500,000 mark last year (digital 
40,000), including to 84 schools and several older people’s homes.

 Over 300 fitness sessions operate each week.  These are so popular, as groups gel around a cup 
of coffee afterwards, that consideration has to be given to “step-down” and keeping the group 
going under their own steam, with only light touch from the leisure centre.  Two new walking 
groups have been established and there are bespoke pain reduction programmes.

 More than 2,300 people with long-term conditions have participated in exercise programmes
 Fitness and resilience programmes now apply pre-operatively for planned surgery or cancer 

therapy (“pre-hab”)
 More older people using Clarendon Leisure Centre for walking football and bowls
 Swinton and Pendlebury leisure centre, in partnership with Salford Royal Hospital staff, offers 

fitness sessions for children following injury

Page 82



11

 Helly Hansen Water Centre offers sessions to people with disability
 Over 7,000 children were helped to learn to swim
 9 Salford swimmers gained sports scholarships to US universities
 Over 1,000 residents acquired digital skills via 50 courses
 Broughton leisure centre has introduced female-only swimming sessions for culturally sensitive 

groups and increased participation by 22%.
 Swinton Library has a reading hub for children with visual impairment
 9,700 children under the age of 5 participated in literacy support and story-time sessions, with 

over 200,000 book loans.
 Salford University hosted the Salford Children’s Book Awards
 In Weeste and Seedley there were 137 street-based activity sessions aimed at ypung people and 

reducing antisocial behaviour while providing a route to employment.  The youth alliance 
recruited over 100 volunteers aged 14-25 (200 hours).

 Partnership between libraries and mental health professionals led to an increase of 34% in loans 
of self-help books.

 Free holiday activities including a meal have been offered in 
 Libraries and museums support dementia-friendly initiatives including films and heritage
 100 people have been through the “Change your weigh” weight reduction plan.
 Over 2,500 children learned to play a musical instrument
 14 exhibitions at museums and galleries over the year have showcased arts and crafts.
 In partnership with the Royal Horticultural Society two horticultural course for 30 people were 

held
 200 people attended small business start-up support in libraries
 All leisure centres run on green energy suppliers
 6 leisure duty managers completed apprenticeship courses (the first such in England); 2 team 

members became “digital eagles”.

2.6 Transforming Social Care

[To follow]

2.7 Transforming Primary Care
Current ownership and management of the public sector estate is complex. In the NHS, buildings are 
owned and managed by NHS Trusts, Foundation Trusts, GPs, Community Health Partnerships, private 
landlords, NHS England and NHS Property Services. To ensure best use is made of the existing estate an 
NHS estates GM Delivery Team has been set up and works closely with colleagues from across the Public 
Sector to deliver a One Public Estate approach to property management. The Locality Asset review is a 
key part of this approach.

Page 83



12

There are currently 53 GP practices in Salford. There are also 34 dental practices, 33 Opticians and 59 
pharmacies.

The response to this locally is informed by Greater Manchester’s (GM’s) devolved governance 
arrangements and in Salford, GM transformation monies have been used to develop three programmes 
of work to support primary care through:

 GP Online services (booking/cancelling appointments, ordering repeat prescriptions, viewing 
your GP record & clinical correspondence. e-consultations are also in development)

 7 day extended access hubs which offer access to general practice in the evening and at 
weekends resulting in an additional 50,000 appointment slots per year for patients across 
Salford

 Workflow optimisation through training for admin staff and care navigators to support patients 
to access the most appropriate services and professionals, reducing inappropriate demand on 
general practice.

In addition, GP Excellence Funds are available in GM to enable struggling practices to access support to 
review and develop their services.

Access to primary care remains a live issue in Salford, and the CCG has in place initiatives to address 
capacity and reduce waiting times in general practice as summarised below. It is however important to 
recognise that GP practices are independent contractors.

The table below summarises the planning for future requirements, to 2035, for primary care clinical 
delivery rooms and community care delivery rooms. The report identifies a headline indicative 
requirement for 84 additional rooms across the city. 

Through the CCG’s Strategic Estates Group there is an ongoing appraisal process of the city’s healthcare 
services and estate. This is reflected in the city’s Locality Asset Review. Some of the proposals and 
options currently being taken forward through this process are identified in the table at the end of this 
section.

Page 84



13

The identification of the specific needs of the city’s growing population and the best way to serve them 
is therefore a continually evolving process and there will also be opportunities to address additional 
capacity requirements through the more efficient use of the existing healthcare estate and new 
methods of access and delivery. The city council will continue to work with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group to help inform their future planning and to ensure that the potential demands arising from new 
development can be taken into account.

Infrastructure Proposal Where When

Primary Care Delivery of a new Little Hulton Healthcare Hub 
in Little Hulton

Little Hulton, 
Longshaw Drive

Completion 
Autumn 20201

Primary Care Short term expansion of existing GP facilities to 
provide 4 additional clinical rooms.

Salford Quays Completion 
2019

Primary Care Utilise additional available clinical space within 
Sorrel Bank Medical Practice, Langworthy

Langworthy Short term

Primary Care Options being considered for a new healthcare 
hub in Lower Broughton

Lower 
Broughton

TBC

Primary Care Options being considered for a multi-
stakeholder hub including health services

Irlam and 
Cadishead

TBC

Primary Care Consider ability of health care provision in 
Worsley and Boothstown, alongside Little 
Hulton Hub, to meet future demand

Worsley and 
Boothstown

TBC

Primary Care Longer term options appraisal of available 
capacity and service delivery in Ordsall and 
Claremont

Ordsall and 
Claremont

TBC

Salford Primary Care Together

The creation of Salford Primary Care Together, the local GP federation, has created significant 
opportunities to transform local GP services.  To date, various primary care innovation, workforce, 
urgent care and extended access services have been trialled via SPCT.  The transfer of core primary care 
contracts for the care of approximately 15,000 patients to SPCT has also created new opportunities. 

Salford Together is described in more detail in chapter 3, section 3.4, as one of our key “enablers” in the 
workforce.

The Salford Standard

 The Salford Standard, a standard of care across commissioned in nearly all GP practices in 
Salford, investing significant amounts of money to increase staffing levels and resources. 

 The Salford Wide Extended Access Pilot service commissioned from Salford Primary Care 
Together; providing additional pre-booked primary care appointments between 6.30pm – 8pm 
each weekday and between 9.30-12.30 on Saturday/Sunday mornings, from five Neighbourhood 

Page 85



14

Hubs. Each hub is expected to provide an additional 9,916 primary care appointments per year, 
equating to 49,580 additional primary care appointments across Salford per year.

 Implementation of a Primary Care Workforce Strategy, as the availability of trained GPs and 
practice nurses is a national problem that impacts upon practices providing adequate services.

 Investing in primary care estates, as providing adequate appointments is contingent upon 
practices having sufficient space and fit for purpose buildings.

 Supporting the development of Salford Primary Care Together, a GP provider organisation that 
will support practices across Salford to collaborate and drive greater efficiencies.

 Supporting GP practices with initiatives to improve quality and efficiency, e.g. the introduction 
of ‘care navigators’ to support patients to access the most appropriate services and 
professionals. This should have the result of reducing inappropriate demand on general practice.

2.8 Transforming Secondary Care

The main secondary care provider for Salford is Salford Royal Foundation Trust, based in Eccles, and its 
scope embraces community services in health centres, gateways and peoples’ homes across the city. In 
addition, some secondary care is delivered from sites outside of Salford but within Greater Manchester.

In 2012, the Salford Royal Hospital completed a £200 million redevelopment to improve the facilities and 
environment at the hospital site. Two further proposals have now been submitted as planning applications 
which will provide an intermediate care unit (ICU) and an acute receiving centre (ARC).

 The ICU will provide a purpose-built facility to provide support for patients for a short time 
to aid patient recovery and increase independence. Intermediate care can help patients 
remain at home, recover after a fall, an operation or an acute illness and return home more 
quickly after a hospital stay. The ICU will provide home and bed-based services, crisis 
response and reablement. The ICU will offer these services with a 60-bed unit of single beds 
and bed bays including a gymnasium, treatment rooms, therapy garden and reception area. 
The ICU will also provide suitable staff facilities, utilities and waste facilities.

 The ARC will offer the highest level of emergency response care to patients from Greater 
Manchester in need of urgent surgical intervention. The building will provide space for 
specialist trauma care and rehabilitation within a safe, secure and restorative environment.

Estimating and meeting future demands

The changing nature of healthcare provision and the associated demands on the hospital estate are the 
subject of ongoing planning by the NHS Foundation Trust. As part of Salford Together care model 
vanguard, the hospital is linked into the wider assessment of demands on health infrastructure discussed 
earlier in this section.

Future plans for the hospital are made in the context of wider assessments of need undertaken in 
partnership by care commissioners and providers. There is an ongoing process of planning around the 
hospital estate and expansion proposals are currently underway.

Page 86



15

Dentistry

NHS England is responsible for commissioning all dental services on behalf of the NHS including 
specialist, community and out of hours dental services. 

There are 34 dental practices in Salford. 

The majority of dental services are provided by general dental practitioners (GDPs) in private practices. 
Most provide both NHS and private treatments. As private businesses dentists can choose where they 
work and therefore new provision may not necessarily correspond with unmet need. 

Initiatives such as Salford’s Family Friendly Dental Practice Scheme, which promotes measures to tailor 
and improve dental services to suit families, can help to improve the accessibility of dental treatment for 
some.

NHS buildings 

What has been achieved since the last plan was published?

 The Little Hulton scheme has progressed to financial close, as an innovative venture between 
Salford Primary Care Together as head tenant and the Manchester Pension Fund as provider 
of the capital funds.  Construction has commenced and the new building is expected to be 
operational by autumn 2020.

 Detailed design work has commenced on the new Lower Broughton Health Centre, following 
a feasibility study and health planning work, with good engagement from primary and 
community care.

 A feasibility study has been completed for the Irlam and Cadishead neighbourhood, which 
has identified a potential site for a new hub for health and social care.  There has been 
extensive engagement with stakeholders from primary and community care, neighbourhood 
management, voluntary sector and local councillors.

 Specialist antenatal services have been relocated from the Salford Royal site to Lance Burn 
Health Centre.  This has enabled provision of services closer to patients, improved the 
utilisation of the health centre and released space on the Salford Royal site to allow for the 
service changes related to Healthier Together.

 Part of Ordsall Health Centre has been refurbished to provide accommodation for the new 
Quays practice.  This is a two year pilot to trial a new model of primary care in an area of 
Salford experiencing significant population growth.

 A Locality Asset Review has been undertaken of all public sector assets in Salford, as part of 
a Greater Manchester wide review.  Baseline data was collected, capacity modelling 
undertaken to analyse the existing estate and service provision against current and projected 
population (taking into account the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework), and a number of 
opportunities identified and scored against strategic priorities.

 A masterplanning exercise is being undertaken at the Salford Royal site.

Page 87



16

 Plans have been developed for a new Intermediate Care facility on council land, funded by 
the council’s prudential borrowing facility.

 Six facet surveys have been undertaken in all premises where primary care is delivered, 
regardless of ownership, to assess condition and suitability.

 The CCG has appointed an Estates Project Manager to liaise with providers on operational 
estates issues and improve utilisation.

What is the current position with regard to estate in Salford to support wellbeing, health 
and care across Salford?

 The Salford locality has a number of high quality buildings from which health and care services 
are delivered, and is planning for a further three hubs in Little Hulton, Lower Broughton and 
Irlam and Cadishead.  

 A six facet survey of all premises revealed that out of 44 premises surveyed, 32 were of a 
good or acceptable functional suitability, and 12 were less than adequate at that time.  Since 
then, there has been investment in one of the practice premises and a further three are 
scheduled for replacement with new schemes.

 The Locality Asset Review revealed that for most Salford neighbourhoods, overall there was 
capacity within primary care to cope with future population increases, although the capacity 
did not necessarily correlate with the anticipated demand pressure in some areas.  There is a 
known deficit in extra care facilities in Salford of at least 97 places within this planning period.

What are the key plans/areas of work for estates going forward?

 Following the completion of the Locality Asset Review, six facet surveys and detailed 
discussions with the neighbourhoods and stakeholders, the Salford Locality Estate Strategy 
will be refreshed during 2019/20.

 The CCG will be relocating to the Civic Centre during spring 2020.  This will not only mean a 
significant reduction in running costs, but lead to better partnership working as part of the 
integrated commissioning arrangements.

 An ongoing assessment of the estate capacity of the Ordsall and Claremont neighbourhood 
will be required as this is the area mostly affected by population increases in Salford.  An 
extension to the Blackfriars practice is planned and the pilot Quays practice will illustrate the 
impact of an alternative model of primary care on the primary care estate and inform future 
estate development.

 The CCG will investigate digitisation of patient records as a means to releasing scarce estate 
capacity for clinical use.

 Plans for expansion (of the Gill practice) and premises relocation (of the Limes practice) in 
Walkden will be progressed following completion and approval of the business case.  This will 
enable the practices to better meet demand and ensure the estate is fit for purpose for delivery 
of the additional services expected within the Long Term Plan for primary care.

 Business cases will be developed for the hub schemes in Lower Broughton and Irlam and 
Cadishead to ensure these areas are served by high quality premises similar to those in other 
areas of Salford.

Page 88



17

 The CCG will be embarking on a programme of utilisation improvement and cost avoidance 
across the Salford community and primary care estate, as a key element of the Salford Best 
Value programme.  The CCG proposes to create a facility to enable ‘live’ monitoring of all 
sessional bookable rooms across the Salford CCG area via the permanent placement of 
utilisation sensors and the application of Resource Scheduler software.  All live data could 
then be mapped by GM Mapping to provide a planning tool for commissioners which will 
enable the efficient roll out of new clinical services. In addition, a new post of Estates Project 
Officer is proposed to address the many operational aspects of estates management and 
utilisation and service planning support.

2.9 Transforming Community Based Care 
The August 2017 Locality Plan for Salford set out an aim for primary care to become the focal point 
of out of hospital and integrated care, built around natural communities. The table below sets out 
the transformation priorities that were highlighted in the 2017 plan and provides a summary of 
progress against these priorities.

Transformation Priority Progress
Improve access to primary care services, 
including improved opening at weekends and 
the evening and supporting the delivery of 7 
day access to health and
social care

NHS Salford CCG has commissioned the Salford 
Wide Extended Access Pilot (SWEAP) to deliver 
an additional 46,525 primary care 
appointments per annum. These appointments 
are delivered from 5 neighbourhood hubs, 
Monday – Friday 18:30 – 20:00 and Saturday – 
Sunday 09:30 – 12:30. The pilot is due to end 
on 31st March 2020 and the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee is due to make a 
decision regarding the longer term provision of 
SWEAP towards the end of 2019. There have 
been some operational difficulties with the 
provision of SWEAP, but these will be 
considered in the evaluation of the service and 
addressed in any future commissioning 
decisions.  

Facilitate opportunities for practices to work in 
a federated way with each other or with other 
services, where this is expected to improve 
patient experience or
be efficient in terms of cost or workforce

Examples of federated working implemented to 
date include:

- Incentives for general practice (via the 
Salford Standard) to work together to 
achieve improved outcomes for 
patients

- Commissioning of the neighbourhood 
integrated pharmacists where practice 
based pharmacists support GP practices 
on a neighbourhood footprint

Develop a working relationship with primary 
care provider organisations in order to identify 

The establishment of Salford Primary Care 
Together, the local GP federation, has created 

Page 89



18

opportunities to contract for primary care 
based services at scale,
rather than at individual practice level

opportunities for the CCG to commission 
various primary care services at scale to 
support innovation, workforce strategy, urgent 
care redesign and extended access to primary 
care.

Invest in the workforce to increase capacity and 
capability and by building a primary care 
development and education programme

The implementation of the Primary Care 
Workforce Strategy has resulted in the 
establishment of new roles within GP practices 
in Salford as well as attracting GPs from outside 
the area. Education and development 
programmes developed and delivered by 
Salford Primary Care Together (SPCT) are 
supporting the increased competency and 
consistency of clinical skills of staff working in 
primary care across Salford. These 
achievements will act as a sound foundation for 
the development of a more flexible and cost 
efficient workforce working to deliver patient 
centred services across the emerging Primary 
Care Networks and the Integrated Care System. 
Key highlights include:
• 12 Advanced Practitioners (APs) fully 
trained in primary care in Salford, qualified and 
now in post in Salford
• A further 13 APs in training across 13 
practices in Salford
• 4 GP Clinical Fellows recruited from 
outside Salford and pilots in place to support 
portfolio working
• 30 Health Care Assistants trained and 
qualified with a Care Certificate Plus 
• 40 training courses delivered by SPCT in 
17/18 with a total of 558 attendees. 82.5% of 
courses rated as good or excellent. 
• An initial 24 Physician Associates 
supported with training placements during 
2017/18 with ongoing placements now 
established 
• Neighbourhood Practice Pharmacists 
Service operational and embedded within 
practices 
• Care navigation and clinical 
correspondence being rolled out across all 
neighbourhoods in Salford to support workflow 
optimisation

Incentivise practices to more pro-actively 
identify and manage individuals with, or at risk 
of, illness and improve the quality of provision 

In 2016/17, NHS Salford CCG launched the 
Salford Standard; a series of incentivised quality 
standards for general practice in Salford. The 

Page 90



19

in primary care Salford Standard includes the identification and 
effective management of patients with and at 
risk of illness, including asthma, heart disease 
diabetes, and osteoporosis. In 2018/19 31,959 
(81%) of patients with a diagnosed long term 
condition had an annual review. This was an 
increase of 4% on the previous year and a 28% 
increase from 2016/17. The standards included 
have and will continue to be developed to 
reflect the needs of the local population to 
improving health outcomes.

The Salford Standard also incentivises GP 
practices to participate in Multi-Disciplinary 
Groups (MDGs). MDGs provide a forum for 
multi-specialty professionals to proactively 
discuss those people identified as at risk of 
worsening health and urgent hospital use. They 
also provide a broader focus on prevention and 
signposting to community services. MDGs focus 
on the 9% of the population who need more 
supported help to maintain their independence 
at home and improve their wellbeing. 

Work with all providers of physical health, 
mental health and social care services, to 
develop and invest in out of hospital services, 
delivered where appropriate at
a neighbourhood level

Ongoing transformation and innovation 
programmes have led to significant investment 
in out of hospital services, many of which are 
operated on a neighbourhood level. Examples 
include the introduction of MSK First Contact 
Practitioners, 2 neighbourhood acute home 
visiting services and a cardiology hub.

Invest in high quality community premises and 
improved technology to enable primary care to 
be the hub of out of hospital care

Premises
Since 2017, key pieces of work have been 
undertaken which sought to improve the 
quality of community premises. The focus was 
to understand all of the public estate across the 
city. The key pieces of work that have been 
undertaken are:-
1. 2017 - 6 facet surveys across the whole 
GP estate in Salford (aiming for all premises to 
be in good condition).
2. 2018 - Locality Asset Review (LAR) 
which identified 721 public assets across 
Salford.

The LAR in particular has provided an essential 
foundation for future planning and 
development of the estate. Taking in all known 
data, including the results of the 6 facet surveys 

Page 91



20

and the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework’s estimates of future population 
and therefore potential growth in demand for 
health and social care, the LAR identified 
opportunities for estates rationalisation (i.e. 
increased utilisation of buildings and disposal of 
premises which are no longer fit for purpose).  

Compared with other localities in Greater 
Manchester, the condition of the estate in 
Salford is generally good. The provision of 5 
Community Health Partnership buildings 
ensures quality provision across most of the 
city. In the remaining small number of pockets 
where some services are being provided from 
substandard premises, the roll out of a capital 
project to provide new or newly refurbished 
integrated hubs in Little Hulton (on site – due 
to complete autumn 2020), Irlam and 
Cadishead (estimated 2021), and Lower 
Broughton (estimated 2023) will largely address 
this issue.

Technology
In the last three years, we have joined local 
NHS and local authority networks to enable all 
staff to access GOVROAM. This means that all 
health and social care staff can work remotely 
at any site. In addition to this, all PCs in general 
practice are being upgraded to Windows 10 
and network connections are in the process of 
being expanded and renewed. 

 

What has changed?

GP Contract Framework

In January 2019, NHS England and the British Medical Association published ‘A five-year framework 
for GP contract reform to implement The NHS Long Term Plan’.  This framework sets out a number 
of commitments for changes to the GP contract starting from April 2019, through to March 2024.  

A key commitment was that by July 2019, all of the population in England would be covered by 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) as an essential building block of integrated care systems, with general 
practice taking the leading role. In Salford, 5 PCNs have been established on the same footprints as 

Page 92



21

the historic neighbourhood working arrangements (Broughton; Eccles & Irlam; Ordsall & Claremont; 
Walkden & Little Hulton; and Swinton). This will enable PCNs to build upon the work that has already 
been undertaken to work in collaboration in neighbourhoods. 

Greater Manchester Transformation Funding

In 2017, the CCG entered into the Primary Care Reform Programme Investment Agreement, which 
secured a £3 million investment to run until the end of March 2021. The funding was provided in 
order to support:

- Provision of 7 day access
- The training of care navigators and medical assistants in general practice
- Provision of online consultation software

-

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Chapter 3 Innovation and enablers

3.1 Innovation, research and evaluation
The scale of transformation necessary to deliver the ambition outlined within this plan is a 
considerable challenge that will require widespread innovation, enhanced use of technology and a 
commitment to research. Our existing partnerships, our relationships with academic organisations and 
most importantly our integrated IM&T system, mean that Salford is uniquely placed within Greater 
Manchester to be a test bed for innovation and research. The NHS constitution requires that research 
is seen as core NHS business and states that every patient should be offered the opportunity to engage 
in research. High quality research underpins advances in health and care and should be used to 
influence the commissioning of evidence based services.

Innovation across the health, social care and voluntary sector is supported through an innovation fund 
created by NHS Salford CCG. This has enabled creative ideas to be tested and has resulted in the 
development of new services. NHS Salford CCG and Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust also have an 
integrated research department based at SRFT in partnership with Manchester University

Salford is one of the partners and stakeholders in the research organisations that have signed up to 
Health Innovation Manchester (HInM) and continue to be the lead CCG for research activity in primary 
care in Greater Manchester. This provides a platform for all organisations involved in research and 
innovation across Greater Manchester to work collaboratively supporting the transformation of health 
and care services.

Salford is also home to AQUA, whose core purpose is to provide an innovation hub for Salford partners 
(CCG, City Council, GM West Mental Health Trust, University of Salford and Salford Royal) to improve 
health and care services delivered to Salfordians. Haelo’s expertise is in three areas: i. collaboration – 
bringing together teams from across the health economy to improve pathways of care using 
improvement science and incubating new delivery models; ii. capability building – ensuring that the 
workforce in Salford are equipped with the tools and techniques they need to improve in their local 
settings; iii. communication and knowledge management – managing and sharing knowledge about 
how to make improvement happen using innovative social media, film and digital platforms.

Transformation priorities over the next 5 years are:

 Build on ground-breaking work on integrated health data systems to extend it to the whole of 
Greater Manchester. This will enable better care (by providing more joined-up information to GPs 
and hospitals) and potentially help identify new ways of treating diseases.

 Improve the ability to use personalised medicine, with more targeted treatments for those 
who will benefit most from them. For example, this could involve developing new medicines to 
treat specific groups of patients or targeting existing treatments more effectively.

 Enhance the testing of new medicines or treatments to enable those with the biggest positive 
impact to be identified and introduced into routine clinical practice across the whole of Greater 
Manchester as quickly as possible, maximising the patient benefits.

Page 95



 Digital solutions will aid our vision to provide the safest health and care in the Country and there is 
an opportunity to combine different technologies, changing the way we work to transform care 
delivery to improve population health.

The services and programmes which will deliver these priorities include:

 Use enhanced informatics as a critical foundation to underpin system change, and provide 
rapid access to large sections of the population as a test bed for innovation and research.

 Develop a city-wide research and innovation strategy to underpin our locality plan
 Establish a Research and Innovation Forum that will ensure a collaborative and consistent approach 

enabling us to work with HInM.

NHS Salford CCG continues to work closely with the NIHR CRN to promote the benefits of participating in 
research. In 2018/19 Salford CCG was the leading CCG in Greater Manchester with a 21.4% increase in the 
number of NIHR studies from 14 in 2017/18 to 17 studies in 2018/19.  The numbers of residents recruited 
to primary care research trials rose by 617% in 2018/19 to 1,262 and demonstrate a system-wide 
approach to research. Ensuring that more clinical research is taking place in primary care settings is 
essential to delivering the best possible research for some of the most common health challenges faced 
by commissioners. With a key focus of the NHS Long Term Plan around improving out of hospital care and 
services, the direction of travel is around treating more patients in the community rather than in hospital 
settings - closer to their homes - and this can facilitate improving participation in primary care research.

In June 2019 the Salford Research and Innovation Forum was established to ensure a collaborative and 
consistent approach enabling us to work with HInM. The aim is to develop a city-wide research and 
innovation strategy to underpin our locality plan. Partners included NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning 
Group, Salford City Council, Salford Royal Foundation Trust, Greater Manchester Mental Health Trust, 
University of Salford and HinM. This forum will also share strategic priorities for innovation for each 
organisation and consider whether there were a set of common priorities that could become a collective 
focus for innovation across the Salford locality. The principles that underpin these priorities are:

 Exploiting the use of technology and digital innovation
 Partnership working - Developing links between health and social care and external 

organisations that are looking to test and evaluate innovative solutions in this field
 Neighbourhood working 
 Inclusion of vulnerable and hard to reach groups

Our Salford CCG priorities for research and innovation include:

 Population Health: 
o Early cancer diagnosis – uptake of screening
o Prevention – Immunisation/vaccination

 Safety Improvement: 
o Medicines safety (particularly Antimicrobial Resistance)
o Safer Care Homes
o Data intelligence for Safety

 Social Value & Engagement:

Page 96



o Reducing environmental impact
 Workforce Development:

o New roles in primary care

3.2 Carers – the great enablers
 
A carer is someone of any age who supports, unwaged, a relative, partner or friend who due to physical 
or mental illness, disability, frailty or addiction could not manage without that support.   

Carers play a vital role in our communities and caring is a fundamental part of family life.  But carers are 
too often unseen, their role comes with responsibilities and complex emotions, and they themselves 
frequently need support and respite.

As we deal with an ageing population and longer life expectancies, more than ever we need to support 
people to live in their own homes and communities for as long as possible.  Carers are a key partner in 
making this happen

Salford’s All Age Carers’ Strategy is a joint strategy between Salford City Council and Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group, outlining how we intend to support young carers and adult carers.   It embraces 
the work that has been done across Greater Manchester developing the Carers’ Charter and the Carer 
Exemplar model.

The former Locality Plan identified the following priorities for Carers in Salford:
• Supporting those with caring roles to identify themselves at an early stage, recognising the 
value of their contribution, and involving them in the design and planning of care packages
• Enabling those with caring responsibilities to meet their learning and employment potential
• Personalised support for carers and those they care for, to have a family and community life
• Supporting carers to be mentally and physically well
• Protecting young carers from the impact of caring

Our new priorities are these:
 Salford is now in the last phase of running the pilot to offer a carers support service located at

Salford Royal Hospital (the on-going Enhanced Carers Pilot), offering bespoke support to carers 
at points of crisis. The pilot has also successfully identified new carers. This project will be 
reviewed and with a commissioning decision made in 2019/20.

 Support for working carers has been highlighted through the work of Greater Manchester and 
there will be a role for the Carers Steering Group to oversee and monitor developments in this 
area to ensure that paid working carers are being supported.

 Carers are asking for a wider range of peer support, mentoring and befriending networks and 
informal support options.  These would be best delivered through a community resource model, 
across a neighbourhood area, making best use of community assets, technology andsocial 
media. Commissioners should draw on, and invest in, neighbourhood community assets for 
carers.

Results of consultation

Page 97



Our vision is a ‘carer friendly’ city where the diversity of our carers is recognised and key partners from 
health and social care work together to ensure that a carer’s wellbeing is maximised through appropriate, 
flexible and accessible support offering the right support at the right time.   

The Salford Carers’ Strategy has been developed through a steering group with broad representation of 
local health and social care providers, a number of local voluntary sector organisations and Healthwatch 
Salford. 

The strategy has been informed by extensive engagement work hearing the lived experience of carers 
across Salford who told us the following: 

 “Explore other ways of reaching out to carers who are too “bogged down” with stress and often 
exhausted to look out for themselves.”

 “GP’s surgeries should give out more information and signpost.  Some are very good but others 
not so good.”

 “We need a central point of contact to either ask for help, raise questions or sign posting to the 
right service.”

 “Some teachers don't know about me being a young carer and don't really understand why 
sometimes I can’t get as much work done.”

 “In my school we’re not allowed phones, which worries me a little bit as I can’t check on my mum 
throughout the day.”

 “More provision and support with planned respite is needed, especially for holidays.”
 “I’d like to know where to turn when difficulties arise.”
 “The support gave me my life back. I realised it wasn’t all about caring for my partner. I applied 

for a Carer’s Personal Budget and I bought a tablet with it. I went on a computer course that the 
support service got me on.“

Objective & Priorities

Drawing on information from partners and input from carers, the strategy outlines priority areas of work, 
gaps in current provision and recommendations to improve support for carers in Salford.  The strategy 
outlines the key areas of work identified below that will inform the action plan of this strategy:

 Identification of carers – in order to reach more carers 
 Carers assessments  - to increase the number of assessments and take a strength based approach
 Carer’s Personal Budgets/Direct Payments – to increase choice and control of care service offer
 Respite and breaks – to provide a more flexible and reliable offer
 Locality based support model – to develop peer support community networks
 Better access to support groups – to ensure services are closer to people’s homes
 Young carers & young adult carers – including better support for them in schools and a new 

standard for GPs to identify young carers. 
 Professionals that are carer aware and knowledgeable of local services
 Carer’s pathway – to enable timely and appropriate access to the right professionals 
 Better access to training for carers 
 Support for carers in Secondary Care – across mental and physical health in hospital services
 Working carers - implement best practice outlined in the GM ‘working Carers toolkit’
 Communication strategy – to raise the profile of carers in Salford

Page 98



3.3 Workforce
Aim: to enable a suitably skilled workforce and working conditions in order to achieve 
transformation and new ways of working.

Background: 

Our locality plan sets out our approach to improve health and wellbeing across the city and 
remove health inequalities and address unmet need in Salford.  Workforce transformation 
is a key enabler to developing a highly skilled, flexible workforce across the Salford system 
to provide integrated services delivered closer to home. This will require the development 
of new roles and new ways of working to transform traditional workforce and models of 
care. Additionally, ppopulation projections are set to rise with new housing development 
sites identified across the city over the next 10 years that are predicted to attract a changing 
demographic of people to the city. A significant increase in health and social care workforce 
will be required locally and this will need to be responsive to these changing demographics. 
This will require a continued focus on testing and adopting new roles to support the skill 
mix changes required to address the disparity between demand and capacity and to 
consider these roles at a system level rather than within individual organisations. As well as 
increased demand, the system will need to manage the increased complexity and co-
morbidities of an ageing population. There is therefore a significant challenge ahead to 
ensure the availability of a suitably skilled workforce across all areas of the Integrated Care 
System to achieve the service transformation required to meet the need of Salford’s 
expanding and ageing population.

Achieving these aims is compromised by chronic workforce shortfalls across many parts of 
the system. Consequently, there will need to be an ongoing focus on attracting people to 
work in health and care by widening participation and ensuring high quality support for 
training places.  Staff then need to be retained by offering them rewarding jobs in a positive 
culture that supports ongoing career progression and upskilling, including leadership 
development. As the Greater Manchester Model of Unified Public Services is implemented, 
the workforce will need to evolve and support the wider principles of public service reform 
and this is likely to require changes in culture as well as how different parts of the system 
integrate. These principles include:

 Geographical alignment (place-based and asset focused)
 System wide leadership and accountability
 One workforce (breaking down traditional barriers across sectors and 

organisations)
 Shared financial resource
 Shared programmes, policy and delivery
 Tackling barriers and delivering on devolution

Page 99



To deliver this unified vision all elements of the workforce will need to develop in 
partnership with other public services. This will afford opportunities for the whole system 
to benefit from greater resources available in some of our larger organisations to support 
system wide organisational and workforce development.

What have we already achieved?
 Adoption of the real Living Wage by many key partners and small businesses across the city, 

with the majority of organisations (10 of the 13) represented on the Salford Health and 
Wellbeing Board now accredited Living Wage employers (an increase from  4 in 2016) 

 Establishment of the Salford Skills for Business Fund – developed by Salford's public and 
private sectors, this trailblazing new fund is investing in apprenticeship training within small 
to medium-sized organisations to help create more quality and sustainable apprenticeship 
roles for Salford residents thus widening access and participation

 Establishment of a Locality Workforce Transformation Group- providing strategic oversight of 
workforce transformation across the locality with a focus on the health and social care workforce 
for adults and children. The group is coordinating the delivery of a strategic plan that is aligned 
with the needs of the local population and in accordance with the overarching GM workforce 
framework. 

 Adoption of the GM Carers Charter 
 Adoption of the GM Continuity of Service Protocol
 Salford Employment Charter with over 100 organisations across Salford now signed up to 

support the standards 
 Pilots around place based working and integrated teams to promote culture change and 

delivery of care closer to home
 Strong co-production utilising feedback from Salford residents to understand how people 

want services to be delivered and hence the workforce required to support this (e.g. 
Healthwatch surveys)

 Strong partnership working established with local HEIs, HEE and GMHSCP
 Testing, evaluation and embedding of new roles (e.g. Clinical Pharmacists in Primary Care, 

Advanced Practitioners, Early Help Practitioners, School Coordinators)
 Leadership programmes in place across all organisations with access to GM programmes also 

available  
 Development of the Digital Skills Academy and working with partners to improve the digital 

capability across the City 
 Engagement with GM recruitment and retention initiatives
 Appointment of a key strategic post to lead the implementation of the unified public service 

model

Transformation Priorities:
 Maximise diversity, access and participation ensuring this includes young people in Salford by 

further expanding and embedding apprenticeships and other routes to health and care, as 
well as supporting the skills development of existing staff  

 Expand the workforce and the proportion of roles delivering community based care
 Review and maximise the contribution of the non-registered and social care workforce 

(carers) through the delivery of a focused action plan to address the issues faced by this 

Page 100

https://www.salford.gov.uk/jobs-skills-and-work/apprenticeship-support/salford-skills-for-business-apprenticeship-fund/why-have-a-fund/


workforce
 Promote and support the role of unpaid carers in Salford 
 Use workforce data to drive the development of new roles and skill mix changes across the 

system
 Develop a shared culture of co-production and place-based, asset focused working across a 

unified public service

3.4 Salford Together

Salford Together is a partnership formed between the City Council, Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG), Salford Royal and Greater Manchester West Mental Health NHS Foundation Trusts, working 
closely with General Practice that has a shared vision, leadership and individual track record of 
delivering excellence. Its Vanguard work aims to extend the existing programme of integration for 
older people to the entire adult population, with integrated care and services deployed on an asset 
based approach through a Salford-wide locality model. These changes will be enabled and supported 
through the creation of an Integrated Care Organisation, bringing together responsibility for adult 
health and social care provision through a prime provider model. Importantly, this will operate 
within the context of a much more integrated care system, underpinned by collaborative decision-
making, whole-system transformation and the co-commissioning of services. Given the need to 
significantly improve outcomes, this will require innovation and experimentation - testing different 
model of care and funding across the health and social care economy. 
Furthermore, significant ongoing work streams are ongoing around the “Salford Standard” for 
Primary Care which will include incorporating and localising standards from the Greater Manchester 
community based care standards, in order to improve the quality of provision in primary care; as 
well as our aspiration that general practice will operate on a larger scale, possibly on a federated 
basis at neighbourhood level, and will work in a more integrated way with other services, with 
general practice being at the hub of local communities and networks of services.

What we have heard and learned (from public and provider engagement)

Key findings of ‘The Big Health and Social Care Conversation’ – run July-Sept 2017 were:
 The vast majority of people (more than 90%) were receptive to the idea of change around more 
community/home based services 
 They understand the strain on current services – something needs to change 
 People resonate with the idea of maximising their own or their dependents’ independence by 
taking more self-care responsibility 
 Salford Together partners need to build and maintain trust with Salford people as transformation 
plans develop in the future 
 Consistency of future care for service uses/patients is key

Providers believe that this approach is the right one to take. It is easier to resolve an issue if 
everyone is working towards the same aim.

Page 101



What has changed?
Acute care collaboration vanguard has now ended.

Integrated Care Organisation formed and is now embedded.

As of 1st April 2019 Salford CCG and Salford City Council expanded their integrated commissioning 
arrangements. These arrangements allow us to commission approximately £600m of health and 
social care services together for the people of Salford, covering adults, children, public health and 
primary care services. The Salford Shared Commissioning Function has governance arrangements in 
place and will be testing and revising these throughout 2019/20. This is a time of great change for 
Salford and we will be embedding the new ways of working. The agreement is for 5 years (1 April 
2019 to 31 March 2024) with the possibility to extend this by a further 5 years.

What needs to be done 

We will continue to build on the work we have done to date to integrate all health and care services 
across Salford.

This year we are bringing five core neighbourhood groups together to provide leadership for the 
delivery of neighbourhood health and care integrated working. This includes Community Nurse, GP, 
Social Worker, VCSE lead, Mental Health lead and AHP Lead and will work with each PCN to identify 
priority areas for each neighbourhood and work together to make improvements. Each 
neighbourhood has an identified VCSE anchor organisation to ensure that the sector is considered 
when priorities are developed and projects are scoped. Our plan is to embed a social value approach 
to achieve wellbeing outcomes across the VCSE, businesses and health / social care system. To 
progress this work the Advancing Quality Alliance (AQuA) have been commissioned to a leadership 
development programme from June 2019. The three key aims of the work are:
● to deliver better health and social care outcomes for people 
● improve the experience of service users and their carers  
● make better use of limited resources

Over the next five years we will continue to have an integrated approach to strategic and 
operational planning ensuring that services continue to be clinically-led, locally owned and 
financially balanced.

What will help?

 The existing pooled budget and integrated governance structure.
 Better Care Fund forms part of the integrated budget.
 The transformation monies we have received will help in 2019/20.

 The existing, long standing willingness to work as a whole system across the locality is the 

Page 102



greatest enabler we have. Shared vision for Salford.

What impact and outcomes do we expect to see in 1 year and 5 years?
Year 1 -5
● to deliver better health and social care outcomes for people 
● improve the experience of service users and their carers  
● make better use of limited resources

3.5 Better Care

Organisational boundaries across Salford are being broken down to deliver care that is person 
centred and proactively co-ordinated across different settings and providers alongside a much 
greater emphasis on enabling people to enjoy a healthy and active life within their communities, 
reducing the demand for health and care services. Our approach will seek to use standardisation and 
a reduction in variation to drive increased effectiveness and efficiency. 
Over the next 5 years, communities will have greater control over the services they use – including 
health and care. Working together we will transform communities from ‘recipients of services’ to 
‘owners’ of their health system playing a vital role in designing and implementing new services and 
models of care described in this section. This cannot be achieved without a bolder ambition on the 
role of data and digital technology enabling patients and citizens to manage their health and 
wellbeing, such as the use of digital apps which empower patients and support care professionals in 
the development of new approaches to medicines and treatments. Complimenting improved access 
to information and integrated patient records we will deliver 24 hour, 7 day services across the 
range of primary, secondary and social care services so that whenever and wherever patients access 
services, those caring for them we be able to easily access comprehensive, accurate and timely 
information. Urgent care will be transformed to standardise and improve the quality of life 
threatening emergency care with Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust the lead provider for major 
trauma services across Greater Manchester. And, elective care services will be streamlined to drive 
efficiencies and improvements to clinical pathways supported by proactive management of long 
term conditions including mental health and dementia to ensure hospital services are used 
appropriately. 
In Salford, we have already made significant progress over the last 3 years through the ‘Better Care 
Fund’ and Integrated Care Programme for Older People investing in an improved health and social 
care system. This transformation has changed the way that services are both paid for and delivered 
to drive improvements in quality, access, outcomes and experience for elderly and vulnerable 
people. Working together with communities we will grow the integrated care programme and build 
a joined-up system for everyone, shifting care wherever possible from hospital settings to a home or 
community, when safe to do so, promoting self-care and independent living. 

What has changed?

Page 103



The shared care record is now in place.

A number of services have been piloted and are currently being evaluated. Decisions on the future 
commissioning of these services will be made in the coming months and could potentially change 
the shape of health and care delivered in Salford.

What needs to be done 

Salford is nearing the end of a programme of work trialling new services funded by transformation 
monies. This year we will be moving towards having recurrently funded services which will 
incorporate or take the place of new and existing services. New and established services are being 
evaluated and reviewed in ‘bundles’ e.g Community care, Urgent care. Following these evaluations 
will be made on the configuration of services going forward and these will be implemented from 
2020/21.

In 2021/22: implement new services and decommission the services that will be superseded.  We 
need to agree quality, performance and outcomes measures and monitor them

We want to continue to reduce local health inequalities and unwarranted variation, focus on 
prevention and drive innovation in health and care.  We want to ensure that our population can 
access appropriate care, closer to home.

What will help?

Existing pooled budget and integrated governance arrangements.

The existing, long standing willingness to work as a whole system across the locality is the greatest 
enabler we have. Shared vision for Salford.

What impact and outcomes do we expect to see in 1 year and 5 years?

By working more closely together and making joint commissioning decisions, we believe we can:
● ensure the coordinated and proactive care essential to achieve improved population health 
outcomes
● protect ever scarcer resources – ensuring we can protect front line services for the benefits of 
residents (our joint approach to investment in adult social care, through a pooled budget and single 
integrated commissioning team, has already protected at least £20m of social care services in the 
city every year)
● ensure all services experienced by Salford residents are seamless and systems work well together 
to deliver quality, safety and outcomes, as nearly all patient journeys involve a mixture of elements 
from voluntary, social, primary, community, secondary and specialist care
● enhance the opportunity for both democratic and clinical involvement in a wider range of 
decisions
● act with a single voice to ensure influence at and benefits from Greater Manchester level work are 
strong
● reduce bureaucracy

Page 104



A number of the initiatives being evaluated work on a neighbourhood footprint. The evaluations will 
lead to future commissioning decisions and will ensure that each neighbourhood as equivalent 
access to health and care.

3.6 Integrated Care

As of 1st April 2019 Salford CCG and Salford City Council expanded their integrated commissioning 
arrangements. These arrangements allow us to commission approximately £600m of health and 
social care services together for the people of Salford, covering adults, children, public health and 
primary care services. The Salford Shared Commissioning Function has governance arrangements in 
place and will be testing and revising these throughout 2019/20. This is a time of great change for 
Salford and we will be embedding the new ways of working. The agreement is for 5 years (1 April 
2019 to 31 March 2024) with the possibility to extend this by a further 5 years.

The Salford Standard is a well embedded quality programme and has been running for a number of 
years.

Salford Primary Care Together is now in place.

The Neighbourhood Integrated Practice Pharmacists (NIPP) team is now in place to ensure every 
CCG member practice has clinical pharmacists input on a regular basis. 

5 PCNs are in place across the locality neighbourhoods and these became official organisation from 
1st July 2019. Each has a clinical lead and an allocated budget.

Ambition:
1. Reduce emergency attendances and admissions for adults and older people
2. Reduce permanent admissions to care homes
3. Reduce demand for planned hospital care
4. Improve quality of life for users and carers
5. J crease the proportion of people who feel supported to manage own condition
6. Increase satisfaction with care & support provided
7. Increase flu vaccine uptake
8. Increase proportion of people that die at home/in usual residence/preferred place of dying
9. Improved estimated diagnosis rate for dementia
10. Medicines optimization

What needs to be done?

Salford is nearing the end of a programme of work trialling new services funded by transformation 
monies. This year we will be moving towards having recurrently funded services which will 
incorporate or take the place of new and existing services. New and established services are being 
evaluated and reviewed in ‘bundles’ e.g Community care, Urgent care. Following these evaluations 

Page 105



will be made on the configuration of services going forward and these will be implemented from 
2020/21.

What will help?

 Pooled budget and integrated governance arrangements.

 The existing, long standing willingness to work as a whole system across the locality is the 
greatest enabler we have. Shared vision for Salford.

3.7 Salford City Council – Financial framework 

Our vision is to create a better and fairer Salford and to provide the best possible quality of life for the 
people of the city. We want to make a real difference to the lives of Salford people, and to achieve this 
vision, we've identified our eight key priorities, which we've called the Great Eight. These key priorities 
guide us in allocating resources and developing our plans. They are also supported by the council’s core 
values: pride, passion, people and personal responsibility, which underpin what we do and the way we 
work. 

The revenue budget forms part of the council’s overall strategic planning framework. It provides the 
means whereby the council’s overarching vision and priorities are delivered and which, in turn, are 
supported by each service group’s service and performance plans. 

This strategic planning framework informs proposals for the realignment of the council’s resources, 
guided by the Great Eight, and designed to provide: 

 sufficient resources to deliver effective safeguarding and to protect the most vulnerable 
residents, 

 integrated services, including between health and social care, to provide early help to families 
with complex needs, reducing future demand for expensive specialist services, 

 clear focus and increased efficiency in provision of city wide universal services, with an 
increased focus on intelligence-led decision making and commissioning

 a more sharply-focussed development, strategic planning, housing, and regeneration capacity to 
support growth and job creation, 

 new models of delivery for both front-line services and back office functions, 

 the development of a flexible workforce equipped with the competencies, skills 
and culture to meet our needs in the future. 

Page 106



The 2020/21 budget will be approved by council in February 2020 which will incorporate 
changes relating to the council’s settlement published in December 2019 and any 
required savings in order to achieve a balanced budget position.  In order to provide 
indicative figures the approved 2019/20 budget allocation is set out below.

Service group area 19/20 approved net budget 
(£000)

People – Children’s (including contribution to 
integrated commissioning fund)

 86,019

People – Adults (including contribution to integrated 
commissioning fund)

 63,774

Place  46,692
Service Reform  11,464
Public Health (including contribution to integrated 
commissioning fund)

 20,497

Precepts & Charges, Capital financing and Central 
expenditure and income

(23,205)

Total 205,241

The council will receive a one-year settlement from government for 2020/21 followed by a multi- year 
settlement from 2021/22.  It is well documented that the council has had to make spending reductions 
during the period of austerity, £211m to 2019/20, which has impacted upon the budgets held by service 
areas.  Future funding will depend upon a number of changes to local authority financing to be 
introduced in 2021/22 including a government spending review, the outcome of the fair funding review, 
a business rates reset and changes to business rate retention levels.

In order to provide an insight into how budgets are allocated to meet health and wellbeing objectives it 
is useful to draw out certain elements of council budgeted expenditure for example:-

- Culture and Leisure Services £6.8m gross expenditure including funding contributions to 
partners such as Salford Community Leisure to provide sporting and cultural facilities and 
activities.

- Grounds and Parks £3.2m gross expenditure
- Environmental Health Public Protection services £2.2m gross expenditure 
- Housing support including homelessness services and 

These are examples only with many other areas of the council’s budget contributing either directly or 
indirectly to better health and wellbeing outcomes for the community. 

Page 107



Salford City Council - Capital investment strategy

The capital strategy defines and outlines the Council’s approach to capital investment and is 
fundamental to the financial planning process. It aims to ensure that: 

 Capital expenditure contributes to the achievement of the “Great Eight” priorities within the 
strategic plan 

 An affordable and sustainable capital programme is delivered 

 Use of resources and value for money is maximised 

 A clear framework for making capital expenditure is provided 

 A corporate approach to generating capital resources is established 

 Access to sufficient long term assets to provide services are acquired and retained 

 Borrowing to fund invest to save or self-financing proposals is also a realistic proposition, 
provided a business case is made that savings through efficiency or income can meet the capital 
financing costs of the borrowing. 

 An appraisal and prioritisation process for schemes is robust 

Growth is a key priority for the city, of which regeneration is at the heart of the council’s priorities and a 
major driver for delivering the council’s economic growth agenda. The ability to influence and achieve 
economic growth in the city defines the council’s priorities for capital investment. 
In the next 5 years, based on the current development pipeline, £4 billion private sector investment into 
Salford is expected with 18,000 new houses and 1.6 million of employment floor space developed. 
Salford’s exceptional level of growth is forecast to continue at more or less the equivalent rate of the 
past decade with: 
- An extra 20,000 residents living in the city 
- Over £5 billion GVA growth, 
- An additional 15,000 jobs 

That in turn will generate some significant amounts of income to the council in New Home Bonus 
(subject to any future changes to the scheme), £80 million in council tax and £120 million in business 
rates over the next decade.  The Quays, the Western Gateway and Salford City Centre, are the focus for 
investment, economic growth and job creation in the city, poised to deliver 40,000 new homes and 
40,000 new jobs by 2040. 

Regeneration
Careful targeting of the council’s resources can stimulate other investment to promote the regeneration 
and economic growth of the city and better services. 
There are a significant number of projects underway or planned that will have major long term impact 
on the city, creating new employment, training opportunities and industries of the future. Current 
developments include MediaCityUK, Port Salford, New Bailey, Middlewood, Greengate and RHS 
Bridgewater sitting alongside new development opportunities such as the Salford Crescent and 
University Masterplan. 

Page 108



Transport
Significant and continued economic growth is creating significant transport and infrastructure challenges 
for Salford, but by meeting these challenges head on with commitment and creativity, transport and 
infrastructure can be an engine for economic growth whilst helping us achieve carbon reduction targets 
and improve the quality of life for everyone in Salford. Significant government transport and 
infrastructure funding is devolved to Greater Manchester and we are working closely with TfGM, other 
districts, the GM LEP and other partners (network Rail and Highways Agency) to ensure that our 
priorities are understood, embedded in the wider GM programme and that our funding needs are met.

Schools
The Education Asset Management Plan (AMP) sets out the need to provide high quality education in 
accommodation that stimulates a learning environment for school pupils and members of the 
community. The council’s capital programme for schools is largely driven by government funding 
initiatives to address increasing demand for pupil places within the city and capital maintenance grant to 
improve primary school conditions. 

Health and Social Care 
The small amount of capital funding received from government grants is applied through the capital 
strategy with the aim of improving life chances and promoting the independence of people in Salford. 
There is a whole system approach towards health and social care in partnership with users and carers, 
Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS Trusts, the voluntary sector, independent providers and others to 
shape services across all areas. 

Environment 
The capital strategy is targeted at supporting the regeneration of the city, promoting health and 
wellbeing through the Parks for People strategy, addressing national targets with regards to waste 
management and recycling, meeting health and safety requirements in cemeteries and crematoria, and 
providing investment in the sustainability of key heritage, community assets and services. 

The council’s capital strategy includes funding schemes using external grant and contributions, 
unsupported borrowing and through an invest to save approach.  In recent years the council has set a 
target cap for unsupported borrowing of £20m with support above the cap being considered on an 
exceptional basis and it is anticipated that this approach will continue in future years.  For illustrative 
purposes the funding of the approved 2019/20 capital programme is set out below. 

Funding source Value (£)
External resource  
Grants
Contributions

  34.166
    1.989

Internal Resource  
Invest to save 
Unsupported borrowing

  38.608
  30.919

Total resources 105.682

Page 109



3.8 Salford CCG Financial plan 

Baseline
The previous iteration of the Salford Locality plan predicted a financial gap of £65m (by 2020/21) 
under the “do nothing” scenario.  The previous locality plan did not include children’s services 
and assumed one off national funding to offset the financial pressures. If the plan is adjusted 
for these items, the revised locality position would result in a £84m financial gap in 2020/21.  
This is outlined in Table 1 below. 

Table 1: Original Salford Locality Financial Position: Do Nothing Recurrent Gap

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Salford CCG £16 £6 £2 -£2 -£2 -£2
Salford City Council £0 £0 -£14 -£17 -£18 -£23
Health and Social Care Gap £16 £6 -£12 -£19 -£20 -£25

Salford Royal -£9 -£16 -£26 -£35 -£46 -£54
Greater Manchester Mental Health £2 -£1 -£2 -£2 -£4 -£5
NHS Provider Gap -£7 -£17 -£28 -£37 -£50 -£59

Original Total Locality Gap: Do Nothing £9 -£11 -£40 -£56 -£70 -£84

The CCG and Council have entered into an Integrated Commissioning Partnership 
arrangement from 2019/20 which includes the majority of Health, Social care (adults and 
children’s) and Public Health services. The latest five year financial plan that underpins 
this Partnership Agreement highlights a financial gap for 2020/21 of £13m which rises 
to £32m by 2023/24.  

In addition, Salford’s main NHS providers of healthcare, Salford Royal NHS Foundation 
Trust (SRFT) and Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS foundation Trust (GMMH), 
have undertaken an assessment of their financial projections over the forthcoming 
years.  These NHS providers are forecasting a £39m financial gap in 2020/21 rising to 
£61m by 2023/24.  Table 2 sets out the latest financial position for the locality.  

Table 2: Latest Salford Locality financial Projections: Do Nothing Recurrent Gap

Page 110



2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£m £m £m £m

Health and Social Care Gap (CCG and 
Council Combined) -£13 -£19 -£26 -£32

Salford Royal -£37 -£44 -£52 -£59
Greater Manchester Mental Health -£2 -£2 -£2 -£2
NHS Provider Gap -£39 -£46 -£54 -£61

Original Total Locality Gap: Do Nothing -£52 -£65 -£80 -£93

Finance Achievements
The original locality plan predicted a do nothing recurrent financial gap of £84m by 2020/21 and 
projected that this gap would be closed if all of the identified projects delivered the planned levels of 
financial efficiencies.  The latest 2020/21 position is projecting a £52m gap. The locality has therefore 
achieved over £30m financial efficiency over the five year period 2016/17 to 2020/21.

The original level of ambition was for providers to achieve a 2% year on year efficiency target. This 
proved particularly challenging with around half of this delivered on a recurrent basis.

In addition, the locality plan assumed that some of the community based transformation projects 
would deliver reductions in hospital activity.  Some of the projects took longer to implement and 
therefore their impact was not fully delivered during the timeframe of the original locality plan.   
Whilst there have been some evidence of positive impact, such as unplanned emergency activity in the 
hospital remaining fairly static over this time frame, the schemes did not deliver a reduction in 
unplanned hospital activity. 

Financial Challenges 2020/21 to 2023/24
Whilst the £93m gap is for the Salford Locality, each of the sectors within Salford faces different financial 
challenges.

• Salford CCG- the financial health of the CCG is relatively strong. The CCG has managed to 
generate a non recurrent surplus in previous years which has been carried forward to enable 
investment in service transformation.  It is projected that there will non recurrent funding 
available in 2020/21 to test new model to address both the financial gap and the areas 
where Salford is behind on outcomes for the population. The financial allocations for 
future years are subject to change 

• Salford City Council- the total funding for the council has reduced significantly over recent 
years.   The recent funding settlement for local authorities for 2020/21 is a one year only 
settlement.  Whilst initial indications are that this funding settlement is better than previously 
anticipated, it is only a one year settlement and there are still savings required next year and 
beyond.   The future years’ funding settlement has yet to be announced and is subject to a 
national review of the allocation formula. The total savings required from the services within 

Page 111



the Integrated Commissioning arrangements are around £4.4m each and every year (£18m 
by 2023/24), there is a budget pressure in 2019/20 of around £8m and in addition, costs are 
expected to rise by £6m over that time frame.  These areas combined give a £32m predicted 
recurrent financial gap on the commissioning budgets if no action is taken.

• Salford NHS Providers- NHS providers continue to face significant financial challenges. The 
tariff income is predicted to increase by circa 1.3% year on year yet pay and price increases will 
continue to grow by circa 2.4% per annum. Therefore, there is an implied efficiency target for 
providers to achieve 1.1% cost reductions each year to maintain their current financial position.  
Given that SRFT will have an opening deficit in 2020/21, it is aiming to deliver a cost reduction 
and efficiency programme of around 2% in order to get back into financial balance by 2023/24

In light of the above financial challenges facing each of the sectors in Salford, it is imperative that 
Salford locality works together to achieve the service transformation outlined in the locality plan. This 
is not only to achieve the population health and wellbeing outcomes that the population deserves but 
also to ensure financial sustainability for the locality.

Methodology and Assumptions

In constructing the financial plan for Salford Locality, a number of assumptions have been made. This 
plan is the recurrent financial plan for the locality, based on the do nothing option. This scenario has 
not yet built in any impact of the service changes identified in the locality plan.  High level assumptions 
are as follows:

• CCG funding allocations have been announced for the first two years 2020/21 to 2021/22 
with indicative allocations received for the last two years of the funding settlement 2022/23 
and 2023/24. The final two years’ allocations are therefore subject to change

• CCG growth funding has been targeted at out of hospital care (community, primary care and 
integrated care), in line with the CCG’s service strategy

• CCG has achieved current year and future year cost improvement/efficiency savings within the 
financial plan

• Assumed continuation of council funding reductions in future years. The assumed reduction 
incorporates Local Government Association (LGA) predictions for core council funding 
reductions, future public health funding reductions and reductions in specific grants (New 
Homes Bonus). Additional funding in relation to Better Care Fund and flexibility to increase 
council tax by 2% for Adult Social care have been built into the revised funding assumptions.

• The implications of the 2020/21 council funding settlement have not yet been factored into the 

Page 112



financial plan and the flexibility to increase council tax for adult social care in future years 
have not been built into the revised funding assumptions.  These are subject to further 
discussions and decsions

• Assumed cost pressures in council expenditure for pay inflation and specific amounts added 
for implications of implementing the living wage.

• The NHS provider position assumes average tariff increases of 1.3% each year over the next 5 
years with pay and price increases of 2.4% each year. Therefore there is an assumed efficiency 
savings requirement of 1.1% each year for NHS providers.

Financial Impact of Delivering the Locality Plan

The impact of delivering and investing in the priority areas identified in the locality plan has been 
assessed and closes the financial gap within Salford locality. The table below shows that that £72m of 
the 2023/24 locality gap could be closed based on current plans and schemes that have already been 
identified. 

Table 3: Closing the Gap
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£m £m £m £m
Baseline Position: Do Nothing Locality Gap -£52 -£65 -£80 -£93

Impact of Best Value: Children's Redesign £6 £6 £6 £6
Impact of Best Value: Adults Transformation £5 £5 £5 £5
Impact of All other Best Value Schemes £2 £4 £4 £9
Impact of Provider Efficiencies and Reform £12 £25 £39 £52
One Off Funding for Providers (Provider Sustainability Funding) £10
Impact of Interventions £35 £40 £54 £72

Remaining Gap: Recurrent Locality Shortfall After 
Interventions -£17 -£25 -£26 -£21

Whilst significant work has been undertaken to date to identify opportunities and schemes that will 
help to address the locality’s financial challenge, the full financial gap has not yet been closed.  
Closing the financial gap in full will be predicated on:

• the service models delivering the expected outcomes.  The service redesign programmes for both 

Page 113



children’s and adults’ services are predicated on additional investment in community services which 
will reduce demand on out of area placements or hospital activity. 

• the ability of providers to achieve year on year efficiency savings: The financial model has 
assumed that providers will be able to achieve c ost improvement savings each and every 
year over the next 4 years, which amounts to circa £52m of savings. As organisations move into 
detailed planning for 2020/21, more detail is expected on savings proposals and therefore 
Salford locality will be better placed to understand the likelihood of delivering against this 
ambition.

• Non recurrent funding requirements: In order to deliver recurrent financial savings, there 
needs to be some non recurrent investment in order to invest in alternative models of care, 
to double run both the old and new care models and to give time to release costs. Additional 
funding has been set aside and agreed for the children’s model of care and the extension of the 
adults’ transformation projects. 

The locality plan is ambitious, as it needs to be, to meet the scale of the outcomes gap and the financial 
challenge facing the locality. Clearly more work is required over the coming months to articulate 
detailed schemes to deliver this level of ambition. The financial model and assumptions underpinning 
the Salford locality plan will continue to be refreshed in light of this information and presented back to 
statutory Health and Social care organisations.

Where Salford CCG’s money went, by setting and disease groups

Collectively the CCG and the Council spend around £602m on health and care services in Salford. 
This is shown in detail in Appendix 1 where the expenditure has been categorized between 
health related service category and also split between primary, community based care and 
hospital care. 

In relation to health related conditions, the table below summarises the split location, showing 
55% of spend is delivered in a hospital setting.  Furthermore, more is spent on urgent care 
services in the hospital that planned care.

Emergency 
Care

Planned 
Care

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
£77,692 £86,358 £114,094 £83,915 £362,059
21.5% 23.9% 31.5% 23.2% 100.0%
21.5% 23.9% 100.0%

Primary 
Care

Hospital Care
Community 
Based Care

Grand 
Total

54.7%

Total Health Related 
Spend

Page 114



The ambition of the locality plan is to, over time, change the profile of spend to ensure more is 
spent on primary and community based care and less reliance on emergency hospital based 
care. 

Appendix 1: Breakdown of spend by service category and split between 
primary, Community and Hospital

Emergency 
Care

Planned 
Care

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Infectious Diseases 1 £770 £17 £3,263 £916 £4,967
Cancers and Tumours 2 £1,184 £191 £2,090 £7,636 £11,101
Disorders of Blood 3 £258 £45 £1,292 £2,045 £3,640
Endocrine, Nutritional and Metabolic Problems 4 £8,022 £1,304 £1,605 £1,954 £12,886
Mental health Disorders 5 £3,336 £39,568 £19,704 £0 £62,608
Problems of Learning Disability 6 £0 £30,247 £63 £0 £30,310
Neurological 7 £2,630 £1,491 £9,917 £4,432 £18,470
Problems of Vision 8 £791 £695 £224 £8,483 £10,193
Problems of Hearing 9 £36 £1,133 £96 £630 £1,895
Problems of Circulation 10 £5,349 £3,076 £10,181 £5,111 £23,717
Problems of the Respiratory System 11 £5,738 £1,981 £12,959 £5,779 £26,457
Dental Problems 12 £7 £0 £27 £11 £45
Problems of the Gastrointestinal System 13 £3,904 £3 £8,667 £9,723 £22,298
Problems of the Skin 14 £2,261 £154 £2,547 £4,869 £9,830
Problems of the Musculoskeletal System 15 £1,446 £2,002 £2,128 £18,509 £24,085
Problems due to trauma and injuries 16 £492 £277 £12,333 £3,257 £16,359
Problems of genitourinary system 17 £1,909 £2,493 £4,365 £7,823 £16,590
Maternity and reproductive health 18 £312 £626 £18,962 £504 £20,404
Conditions of neonates 19 £13 £0 £626 £80 £718
Adverse effects and poisoning 20 £1 £0 £3,002 £1,898 £4,902
Healthy individuals 21 £182 £1,055 £43 £255 £1,535
GP contracts £39,050 £0 £0 £0 £39,050
Sub-Total Spend on Conditions £77,692 £86,358 £114,094 £83,915 £362,059

21.5% 23.9% 31.5% 23.2% 100.0%
21.5% 23.9% 100.0%

Social care needs 22 £0 £138,274 £1,597 £63 £139,934
Miscellaneous Other 23 £7,220 £80,523 £10,212 £1,911 £99,867
Grand Total £84,913 £305,155 £125,903 £85,889 £601,860

Service Category

Hospital Care
Primary 

Care
Community 
Based Care

Grand 
Total

54.7%

Interesting observations on NHS investment (accepting the limitations of data; excluding social care 
costs)

 One pound in every six spent in healthcare is on mental health (our main theme in 1.4 – living 
well).

Page 115



 We spend more on mental health alone than the three “killer diseases” contributing to life 
expectancy profiled in 1.1.4 – cancer, circulatory diseases and respiratory diseases, put 
together.

 Our second biggest area of spend is learning difficulty
 We spend 5 times as much on vision problems as hearing problems.
 Problems of the musculoskeletal system (bones, joints and muscles), excluding those due to 

acute injury, cost more than any one of the medical conditions such as gastrointestinal, 
respiratory, circulatory system or cancer.  (Back ache was profiled in 1.1.4 also).  So, along with 
mental health, aches and pains are severely life-limiting, even if they are not directly life-
shortening.

 The amount spent directly on prevention (“healthy individuals” by the NHS is very small, though 
this needs to be balanced against the spend the Council and VCSE contribute.  Assuming no 
significant real growth in resources, that proportion can only grow if we shift investment from 
treatment,  A good place to look would be switching some medicines prescribing (£40 million a 
year) to social interventions, where safe and effective.  Another area would be unplanned 
hospital care, eg inappropriate attendances at A&E, or preventable diseases associated with 
lifestyle.

Page 116



Chapter 4  Improving quality, managing risks 

4.1 Improving quality

Previous Locality Plan:
Our aim was:
To be the safest healthcare system in the country, commissioning and providing high quality 
health services and care that enable our population to live longer healthier lives. 

Our intentions were to:
 Work with providers to secure improvements in the quality, safety and safeguarding of 

commissioned services 
  Ensure that patients experience of using services is captured and used to drive 

improvements 
  Develop a culture where the potential for harm is actively considered, processes are 

embedded for early identification of risks and mitigation strategies implemented to 
minimise any adverse impact on people using services 

  Develop a culture of evidence based commissioning and decision making that utilises 
research evidence, innovation and knowledge translation 

Achievements:
The CCG implemented the actions arising from the 2015/18 Quality & Safety Strategy and a 
refreshed integrated strategy in conjunction with Salford City Council was agreed in 2018.  This 
considered national and local drivers in relation to the quality of health and social care services.

The Safer Salford programme established in 2015 which involved all partners  has resulted in 
improvements in safety being delivered across the health and care system.  The focus of this work 
has been on:

 Safer handover
 Safer Medicines 
 Safer Care Homes 

Measurable improvements have been delivered in all 3 areas.  Information is outlined on the Safer 
Salford website  http://safersalford.org/

We are now able to demonstrate evidence of  quality & safety improvement through the following 
measures:

 An increase in the percentage of Salford providers with a CQC Rating of Good or Outstanding
in Safe Domain  from 83% in March 2018 to 86% in March 2019.

 An increase in the percentage of Salford providers with an overall rating of Good or 
Outstanding from 80% in March 2018 to 84% in March 2019.

 Salford Standard average performance for GP practices improved from 86.3% in 2017/18 to 
88% in 2018/19

Page 117

http://safersalford.org/


An infographic highlighting other achievements is attached (appendix 1)

Significant improvements in the quality of care delivered by Salford Care homes as evidenced by 
reduction in the percentage of care homes rated as Requires Improvement or Inadequate by the 
CQC  as outlined below

Further information on care homes improvement can be found here

http://safersalford.org/salford-care-homes-excellence-programme/  

Working with Healthwatch Salford on the Care Homes programme has resulted in feedback from 
service users and families being incorporated into the improvement work which illustrates how 
we have used people’s experience to drive improvement.
Current context
A refreshed integrated  Quality and Safety Strategy approved in 2018 which outlines how we will 
continue to drive improvements is being implemented (insert link)
A review of the Safer Salford programme and priorities is part of this work.  Revised priorities to 
continue to drive improvements in safety will be agreed by senior leaders from organisations 
across Salford.  It is expected that they will include:

 Continued support to care homes 
 Continued focus on improving medicines safety
 Re-focus of safer handover work to support the interface between hospital and care 

homes
 Improvement work targeted at supporting vulnerable adults 

The programmes will be agreed and finalised by Q3 and implementation will begin in Q4
Any implications arising from the recently published NHS Patient Safety Strategy  will be 
considered as part of this work

What we have heard and learned (from public and provider engagement)

In the development of the 2018 Quality Strategy feedback was sought from members of the 
Citizens Panel on the areas for improvement.   Strong support for improvement programmes 

Page 118

http://safersalford.org/salford-care-homes-excellence-programme/


highlighted was received.  In particular improving the safety of medicines, improving handover, 
reducing variation in quality of care provided by GPs and care homes 
The Safer Salford programme has been developed collaboratively with partners in SRFT, Primary 
Care, GMMH, City Council and the CCG.  

What has changed?
Local and national changes were considered in the development of the integrated Quality and 
Safety Strategy.   Integrated commissioning arrangements have resulted in a more collaborative 
approach to quality assurance and quality improvement.  
The principles of quality assurance and improvement underpin all aspects of service delivery and a 
consistent approach will be taken forwards through the new commissioning governance 
arrangements.
Partnerships between commissioners and providers in relation to quality improvement are well 
established and will continue to mature through the Safer Salford programme 
The recently published NHS Patient Safety Strategy underpins our local approach to patient safety 
across the system and includes a focus on medicines improvement as well as supporting safety 
improvement in GP practices.  These are key elements outlined within our local quality and safety 
strategy.  The introduction of a new Patient Safety Incident Response Framework, medical 
examiner roles, patients as safety partners and multi-agency learning are highlighted and we will 
adopt a collaborative approach to implementing any emerging guidance through our Safer Salford 
partnership.

What needs to be done 
 Continue to implement the actions outlined in the quality strategy (year 2 plan in place)
 Continue with Care Homes improvement work (links to NHS LT plan aspirations around 

care homes 
 Translate learning from care homes work into home care sector
 Refresh Safer Salford programme – include a focus on vulnerability/frailty – getting things 

right first time for this cohort of people.  Use learning from LeDeR 
 Continue to embed safety culture across the system – link with requirements of the 

national safety strategy
 Innovation to improve safety
 Continue with medicines safety work 
 Embed new safeguarding arrangements
 Continued focus on quality in primary care and reducing variation 

CCG recurrent resources already allocated for implementation of the quality and safety strategy.  
Support  sourced from Haelo (now AQUA) to drive forward improvement programmes, will 
continue to review priorities and refresh each year

Continuous Improvement Cycle

Page 119



Continuous improvement is a gradual never-ending change which is focused on increasing the 
effectiveness and/or efficiency of an organisation to fulfil its policy and objectives. It is not limited to 
quality, but improvements in business strategy and performance, patient or customer satisfaction, 
employee and provider relationships – all can be subject to continual improvement. Put simply, it means 
‘getting better all the time’.

Continuous improvement processes will allow the GMHSCP team to uncover problems and determine 
ways to fix them. Through careful analysis, the team can see how individual tasks impact on the 
Partnership’s overall business objectives. It the GMHSCP teams work closely together, implementation 
issues can also be resolved as a part of the continuous improvement effort and mobilisation of the Risk 
and Issues Management Framework.

As part of the implementation of this framework, the PMO has committed to ensuring continuous 
service improvement by:

 Lessons learnt and good practice being highlighted.

 Training, coaching and masterclasses to improve approach of risk and issues management.

 Annual review of ‘risk appetite’ with SMT.

Continuous quality improvement: by sector

Page 120



Primary Medical Care
Primary medical care is provided to Salford residents by 45 GP practices across the city. Responsibility 
for commissioning primary medical services is delegated to NHS Salford CCG from NHS England.

Quality Assurance
Quality assurance processes are in place to monitor a range of national and local indicators that are 
collated into a dashboard. Oversight of performance in relation to GP practices is provided by the 
Primary Care Quality Group (PCQG). This group is chaired by the CCG’s Medical Director and reports 
regularly to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC). Where issues are identified in relation 
to practice performance, actions taken include:
• Supportive visits from various teams within the CCG
• Liaison with the Local Medical Committee to seek support
• Letters and/or visits from the Medical Director in conjunction with commissioners
• Contractual notices
• Escalation of concerns in respect of individual GPs to Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 
Partnership (GMHSCP).  GMHSCP is also responsible for the investigation of complaints about GP 
practices; the CCG’s Chief Accountable Officer and Medical Director receive copies of the complaint 
replies. Follow up in respect of individual complaints is undertaken by the Medical Director with the GP 
practice if required. Themes and trends are collated and shared at the PCQG.

Information contained within the primary care dashboard includes:
• CQC inspection ratings
• National GP Patient Survey
• Performance against the national Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF)
• Performance against the Salford Standards
• Safeguarding information
• Prescribing data

Regular quality assurance visits are undertaken to GP practices and include members of the quality team 
as well as GP representatives on the Governing Body.

During 2019 Healthwatch Salford undertook a project to gain feedback on the experience of people 
using services provided by GP practices. The report and recommendations were reviewed and are being 
taken forwards by the PCQG.

GP practices are encouraged to report, investigate and learn from untoward incidents by logging them 
on a central reporting system. Themes in relation to practice incidents reported are collated and shared 
with the PCQG. This system also allows GPs to report incidents relating to other providers, which is used 
as a source of intelligence as part of their quality assurance processes.

Adult Services

Page 121



Salford Royal Foundation Trust (SRFT)
SRFT directly provides the following:
• Acute hospital services
• Specialist hospital services
• Intermediate Care services
• Community services for both adults and children
• Public Health commissioned services
• GP Out of Hours and the Care Homes Medical Practice
• Adult Social Care Assessment and Support Planning

As well as being the provider of Adult Social Care Assessment and Support Planning, SRFT also manage 
the Adult Social Care supply chain which comprises around £60m of provision including Home Care, Care 
Homes, Extra Care, Supported Tenancies, Day Care and Respite Care.

Quality Assurance

A wide range of information that provides insight into the quality of services directly provided by SRFT is 
routinely reviewed and scrutinised.  The contract with SRFT includes a requirement for regular quality 
meetings as well as contract meetings to discuss finance and performance. The Quality and Outcomes 
meeting with SRFT is chaired by the CCG’s Director of Quality and Innovation and includes 
representatives from the CCG, City Council and SRFT. In addition to this formal quality meeting, 
commissioners are invited to a range of SRFT’s internal assurance committees to gain oversight of 
quality issues. These include:
• Executive Quality and People Experience Committee
• Serious Incident Oversight Group
• Patient Experience Collaborative
• Mortality Review Group
• Falls and Pressure Ulcer Steering Group

As well as the meetings outlined above commissioning managers and clinicians are involved in meetings 
with clinical and managerial service leads from SRFT in relation to specific services.  Quality visits and 
walk-arounds provide an opportunity for commissioners to directly observe service delivery, talk to 
service users and staff involved in delivering care. Formal quality visits to SRFT services are scheduled on 
a quarterly basis and members of the CCG’s quality team regularly attend the monthly senior nurse 
walkarounds conducted by SRFT’s senior leadership team.
NHS Constitutional Measures
There is a suite of national performance indicators that providers are expected to achieve which are 
clearly outlined within their contract.3 Monthly reporting on these indicators is included within the 
contracts meeting with SRFT and internally to the Commissioner Service and Finance Group. Indicators 
that relate to urgent care performance (e.g. A&E 4 hour standard) are reviewed in detail at the system-
wide Urgent and Emergency Care Delivery Board which is chaired by the CCG’s Deputy Chief 

Page 122



Accountable Officer (CAO). Indicators that relate to scheduled care (e.g. cancer waiting time targets) are 
discussed in detail at the Scheduled Care Board, chaired by the Deputy CAO.

Where quality issues are identified and where there is any failure to meet constitutional performance 
standards, the Trust is expected to share their improvement plans which will be monitored through one 
of the groups outlined above. Other contractual sanctions including the issuing of breach notices or
withholding of payments can be used if required. 

Quality Information

The information outlined below provides a high level overview of some key metrics in relation to SRFT

Measure Rating Comment
CQC Inspection Outstanding Published August 2018

 CQC Inpatient survey 2018 Positive outlier in 1 domain
 Not an outlier in 10 domains
 Negative outlier in 0 domains

Care Homes

There are 44 care homes within Salford, providing residential care, nursing and
residential care, continuing health care, specialist care for people with Learning Disability and specialist 
mental health care.  Responsibility for monitoring the quality of services provided by care homes sits 
with the Integrated Care Organisation (ICO), Salford CCG, Salford City Council and Greater Manchester 
Mental Health (GMMH). Services are regulated by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). A Care Homes 
Quality Improvement Network (QIN) was established in September 2017 that brought together all local 
stakeholders involved in working with care homes to:
• Share intelligence in relation to the quality of services provided by care homes
• Where quality issues are identified ensure that action plans are developed and
monitored
• Provide a network of quality improvement support to care homes

Quality Assurance

A range of information is reviewed to provide an overview of the quality of services provided to 
residents in care homes. This includes local intelligence from regular reviews of individual clients that 
are placed within these facilities. Discussion at the QIN meeting allows stakeholders to share this 
information on a monthly basis maintaining system-wide oversight.
Quality visits and walk-arounds have been undertaken to a number of care homes over the past two 
years, as well as Enter and View visits completed by Healthwatch Salford. The individual reviews 

Page 123



undertaken by nurse commissioners and social workers provide an opportunity to talk to residents and 
families about their experience and directly observe care delivery.

Where quality issues are identified the following actions are taken:
• Care home providers are expected to develop action plans that are monitored
• Support can be offered as necessary from a range of professionals
• Meetings scheduled between relevant commissioners and care home managers to track progress 
against plans
• Action plans to monitor any CQC identified concerns are included in this process and have involvement 
of other members of the QIN as necessary
• CQC can issue formal breach notifications that require immediate action to be taken
• Placements can be suspended if required
• Contractual sanctions may be taken if necessary

Quality Information

Over the past 2 years significant progress has been made in supporting care homes in improving the 
quality of care provided as evidenced by their CQC ratings. 

Domiciliary Home Care
During 2018/19 a new contract and service specification was applied to the Home Care market and four 
Home Care providers secured that contract. The service specification was developed through an 
‘experienced based co-design’ engagement process that drew upon the experiences and views of people 
who were involved in the service. This led to the development of a set of person-focused standards and 
a set of ethical service and workforce requirements.

Representatives from the ICO hold monthly quality meetings to discuss the contracted home care 
providers who are assessed against contract key performance indicators. Electronic Call Monitoring 
(ECM) Data is used to monitor the following areas:
• Punctuality
• Consistency of Staff
• Missed visits
• Actual visit time against commissioned time.

This information is returned monthly alongside a performance pro-forma which the providers complete 
which includes information on:
• Complaints
• Safeguarding
• Workforce statistics including recruitment and retention information

There is an agreed Adult Social Care priority for 2019/20 to develop a system-wide quality assurance and 
improvement approach for home care that builds on the learning from the Care Homes Quality 

Page 124



Improvement Network. This work will support the development of quality reporting to commissioners 
through the CCG Quality and Outcomes group about Adult Social Care provider performance.

Mental Health

Our main provider of adult mental health services is Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation 
Trust (GMMH). The Trust provides inpatient, outpatient and community mental health services as well 
as drug and alcohol services for the Salford population. GMMH also provide the mental health adult 
social care assessment and support planning service, which sees SRFT Adult Social Care staff seconded 
to GMMH who then undertake statutory Care Act duties on behalf of Salford City Council though a 
Section 75 agreement. A Section 75 Monitoring Group (comprising SRFT and GMMH operational 
colleagues along with the Assistant Director of Integrated Commissioning) has recently been established 
to provide additional assurance and oversight.

Quality Assurance

A wide range of information that provides insight into the quality of services directly provided by GMMH 
is reviewed and scrutinised.  Governance arrangements for oversight of GMMH are part of multi-lateral
arrangements with Manchester, Bolton and Trafford CCGs. The contract is monitored across this GMMH 
footprint, reporting to a Joint Executive Steering Group.
• Contract and Finance
• Service Development
Quality visits to individual services are scheduled and provide an opportunity for commissioners to talk 
to services users and staff as well as directly observing care provision. Feedback from the visits 
undertaken is discussed at the commissioning meeting and any actions arising as a result of the visit are 
agreed. A mental health dashboard is collated and shared at the GM Quality Board that benchmarks GM 
mental health providers across a range of indicators; this information is used as part of the quality 
assurance process.

Individual placements

Some individuals with mental health needs require specialist residential or nursing placements due to 
the nature of their condition. Where this is the case the needs of the individual are reviewed and 
matched with an appropriate provider. Regular review of the care provided to each individual is 
undertaken by a mental health care co-ordinator or nurse commissioner. This includes seeking out the 
views of the patient, their family and staff involved in their care. CQC inspection ratings of individual 
providers are considered as part of the quality assurance process. Some of these placements will be 
outside Salford therefore communication with local commissioners in respect of any quality information 
that they hold forms part of the assurance process.

Learning Disability

Page 125



The Learning Disability (LD) team is employed by SRFT as part of the Integrated Care Organisation (ICO). 
They provide an assessment and care planning function to clients with a learning disability securing 
appropriate services on their behalf, these include:
• Supported accommodation
• Placement within care homes
• Community based care
• Specialist hospital placements

Services commissioned for clients with a learning disability are quality assured via contracts 
management in the ICO, CQC ratings are monitored and concerns are shared as part of the GM Flexible 
Purchasing System arrangement. Performance data from the contracts management is reported to the 
Learning Disability and Autism Strategy Group.

The LD team undertake annual reviews of individuals that are in receipt of services which provides an 
opportunity to get feedback from clients, their family and staff providing care. There is also a rogramme 
of work ongoing with family carers with a view to establishing some peer reviews of services to obtain 
intelligence on some of the softer outcomes.

Oaklands Independent Hospital

Oaklands Hospital is operated by Ramsay Health Care UK Operations Limited. The hospital has 17 
inpatient beds; the hospital provides planned surgery, outpatients and diagnostic imaging. In 2018/19 
94% of the activity performed by Oaklands was on behalf of the NHS. NHS Salford CCG is the lead 
commissioner for the contract and as such is responsible for ensuring that this is monitored robustly.

Greater Manchester Hospital and Community Providers

Salford residents may access health services provided by other hospital and community providers across 
Greater Manchester (GM). Commissioners in other localities have quality assurance processes in place 
to monitor these providers in a similar way to those outlined above.
The quality team within NHS Salford CCG has relationships with colleagues in similar roles within other 
CCG’s and can raise any issues that are identified to them. In addition to this direct contact there is a 
Greater Manchester Quality Board that meets on a bi-monthly basis which creates the opportunity for 
information to be shared and issues discussed.

Children’s Services
Childrens Social Care

There is a comprehensive system of quality assurance undertaken within Children’s Social Care led by 
the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit. This includes a detailed programme of:
• Multi-agency thematic audits
• Direct observation of practice

Page 126



• Multi-agency focus groups to explore learning

Detailed reports and action plans from these activities have led to positive changes in practice and 
commissioning of bespoke training, such as critical analysis training to improve the quality of 
assessments.

Performance information is regularly scrutinised at monthly performance monitoring group meetings 
and this has informed the priorities for auditing activity. This group, with attendance from colleagues in 
the CCG, also maintains effective overview of the performance improvement plans that result from 
quality assurance activity.

Quality Information

Salford Social Care Services was inspected on the 8th – 12th October 2018 by Ofsted and was assessed 
as “good” in all areas.

Individual placements for children

Placements for Looked After Children (LAC) are undertaken by the Placement Finding Team which is 
based within the commissioning function of Children’s Services. The team of experienced commissioners 
has responsibility for commissioning all Ofsted registered children’s homes and fostering provision 
which is not delivered by the Local Authority (LA) and also commission unregulated 16+ semi and 
independent living services (SaILS).  The team hold a portfolio of contracted SaILS provision and are 
responsible for contract management. These services are accessed by our most vulnerable young 
people; looked after children, young people leaving care and 16/17 year olds who present as homeless 
to the LA.

Commissioning of placements is subject to a rigorous quality assurance (QA) process before a placement 
is agreed; regulated provision is Ofsted inspected, desk top QA process scrutinises statutory 
documentation, highlights trends and themes e.g. missing from home, notifiable incidents. A thorough 
and accurate referral is screened by commissioners to ensure providers can match the needs of the child
appropriately.

Commissioning Managers visit all provision which has not been used before or not used recently. This is 
a thorough vetting visit which includes sight of statutory documents and recordings to identify what the 
provider has recorded in their self-assessment and also an opportunity to triangulate what is 
documented with evidence in the home.

For regulated provision, we try to place in children’s homes or with foster agencies which are rated good 
or outstanding. At times the best fit for an individual might be a Requires Improvement rated home. If a 
regulated provision has an inadequate Ofsted inspection a quality assurance process is immediately 
triggered in Salford.  Once a placement is commissioned the individual is reviewed by Commissioning

Page 127



Managers. This adds a further level of quality assurance and captures feedback from a range of 
stakeholders including child, young person and professionals involved in their life.

There is a robust and established collaboration across North West commissioners and more recently on 
a Greater Manchester footprint. On a formal level there is an information-sharing protocol which alerts 
commissioners to concerns or safeguarding incidents in any care provision whether regulated or 
unregulated. This is a very effective process with an opportunity for providers to respond.
Children’s home, foster and 16+ provision is commissioned through contracted framework 
arrangements. Providers have been subject to a full tender process which has been moderated by 
experienced commissioners and procurement colleagues. Service specifications are co-produced with 
care experienced people and social work colleagues.

Contracted provision in Salford is subject to quarterly monitoring meetings and data is captured on a 
range of outcomes including quality, service user feedback, occupancy, referrals, unmet need and social 
value.

Universal Children’s Health Services:

The 0-19 service was re-procured in 2017 and is now a combined integrated service which includes 
Family Nurse Partnership, Health Visiting and School Nursing, the aim of the combination of services was 
to provide capacity across the life course with skill mix of teams and integration within localities. SRFT is 
the provider of this service. Contract monitoring meetings are held on a six week basis where 
information is monitored against the National Specification with local additions.
Performance is submitted to Public Health England and discussed as part of the contract monitoring 
meeting. An annual report is presented to the Children’s Leadership Team and elected members about 
the service. This includes information on:
• Service audits,
• Key Performance Indicators
• Service outcomes
• Thematic reviews
• The results of observations of practice
 
Paediatric Health Services
SRFT is the provider of the following children’s services:
• PANDA Unit
• Paediatric Out Patient Services
• Community Nursing Service
• Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy
• Speech & Language Therapy
• Looked After Children (LAC) Nursing

Page 128



Services provided include community clinics and home visits. Information on the performance of these 
services is shared at the Quality and Outcomes meeting where detailed presentations have been 
received to give an overview of the quality of service provision.

Salford commissioners have a regular programme of service reviews. Following a review and any re-
specification of a service, the commissioner meets regularly with the service provider for a period to 
ensure that the new specification and associated Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are embedded.

Continuing Health Care services for Children are provided by SRFT’s Children’s Community Nursing Team 
(CCNT). The CCG’s Continuing Healthcare Team oversee these arrangements and monitor service 
provision to individuals. Regular monitoring meetings are held with the CCNT to discuss progress with 
individual cases.

The joint Care Education and Treatment Review (CETR) process also provides a monitoring function for 
individual packages of care provided for children and young people; historically these have focused 
specifically on LD and Autism. There is a robust process that has been held up as an example of good 
practice across GM. This process includes a dynamic support register which identifies individual whose
package of care may be at risk. These are assessed at a weekly MAP – Multi agency panel the vast 
majority of issues and challenges are dealt with by the current panel structures. In Salford it is 
recognised that there are a small number of children and young people with complex needs who do not 
fall into the Autistic Spectrum or learning disability definition, the local process has extended to include 
these individuals.

Mental Health Services for Children
Over the past 2-3 years, Salford CCG and Council have worked together to review services and 
strengthen monitoring arrangements for children and young people’s mental health services. We have 
established integrated governance arrangements to oversee and support this programme of work 
through a ‘Thrive’ Project Oversight Group, co-chaired by the CCG clinical Lead for Children and Young 
People and the Council’s Assistant Director of Nursing and Wellbeing. The Thrive Project Group meets 
quarterly and oversees the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) transformation and 0-
25 Thrive joint delivery plan. 

The CAMHS quarterly monitoring reports include:
• A dashboard summary
• Salford services monthly KPIs
• All Services KPIs
• Salford Difficulties and Diagnoses report
• Narrative reports from all Heads of Service

Manchester Foundation Trust (MFT) is the main provider of CAMHS for Salford children. Other providers 
of mental health services for children include 42nd Street which is a charitable organisation 
commissioned to provide support to young people with their emotional well-being and mental health 

Page 129



through counselling, psycho-social support and group work.  The service provides a quarterly monitoring 
report with detailed analysis and narrative about their services and outcomes. There is a separate 
monthly performance meeting for the Integrated Community Response Service (ICRS) pilot, for which 
42nd Street are the lead provider. In addition to local monitoring arrangements there is a Greater 
Manchester (GM) approach to data and performance which is reported regularly via the GM Future In 
Mind (FIM) CAMHS Commissioners Group.

Maternity Services

In July 2018 a Joint Maternity Assurance Group (MAG) was established that included representatives 
from Salford City Council’s Public Health team and the CCG. The MAG has worked with a GP clinical lead 
to identify a set of indicators from the existing national and regional monitoring mechanisms to seek 
assurance on the quality of services delivered to Salford women. The set of indicators below were
chosen and are now regularly reviewed:

Indicator Reporting
 Booking data Quarterly
 Smoking rate at time of booking and delivery Quarterly
 No. of women delivered Quarterly
 No. of live births at any gestation Quarterly
 No. of stillbirths Quarterly
 No. of operative vaginal deliveries Quarterly
 No. of elective LSCS Quarterly
 No. of emergency LSCS Quarterly
 No. of 3rd & 4th degree tears Quarterly
 Apgar scores
 % women with Continuity of Carer Quarterly
 Significant events and learning Quarterly
 Ingleside data Monthly
 Patient experience-National Survey of Women Annually

To support the new reporting mechanisms a bespoke dashboard has been
developed featuring all of the identified indicators. The dashboard allows the MAG to
interrogate and make assumptions on the data at provider and in some cases CCG
level. This will be monitored on a quarterly basis, and any issues fed through the
relevant meetings between commissioners and individual providers.

4.2 Quality Assurance Framework

Page 130



The quality assurance framework describes our approach to monitoring and assuring quality in all our 
commissioned services and it specifically applies to all commissioned NHS and Independent Providers. 
The process describes a structured approach to the steps taken in response to increasing risk and 
reducing assurance. However, where a significant event or serious failing is identified a Risk Summit 
should be called urgently.

The three domains of quality: patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience will be
monitored through routine internal contractual processes, clinical governance structures and
external sources such as CQC, TDA, Monitor, peer reviews, national surveys etc. Providers are required 
to have their own quality monitoring processes in place and through the duty of candour and the 
contractual relationship they have to provide information and assurance to commissioners and 
regulators and engage in system wide approaches to improving quality.

Stage 1) Routine Quality Assurance Monitoring
Routine Monitoring includes the following quality metrics:

Patient Safety Indicators include: monitoring of HCAI, safeguarding vulnerable children and adults, 
patient safety incidents, never events, complaints, mortality rates, workforce numbers, skills and 
training.

Clinical Effectiveness Indicators include: The implementation of the National Institute of Clinical
Excellence guidance, delivery of CQUINS, key performance indicator monitoring, learning from audit and 
peer reviews and using benchmarking resources such as the Hospital Guide referral rates, pathway 
compliance and NHS health checks to improve clinical outcomes.

Page 131



Patient Experience Indicators include: Patient reported outcomes measures, Friends and Family test, 
patient survey results, respecting privacy and dignity, eliminating mixed sex accommodation monitoring, 
complaints monitoring, CQC inspection results, access to services, patient advisory and liaison service, 
health watch etc.

Stage 2) Routine Quality Assurance Meetings
Commissioners and providers will be involved in a number of meetings where quality should be the key 
priority and focus of those meetings. For example monthly quality review meetings are a contractual 
requirement and this gives opportunities for quality monitoring and assurance to be gained. It is 
important that lead clinicians are involved in these meetings to enable a full and comprehensive 
discussion around quality.
Other meetings include areas such as District Infection Control meetings, Root Cause Analysis, Local 
Intelligence Network, Clinical Networks, Safeguarding Board meetings Emergency Planning, Case 
management reviews etc.

Stage 3) Enhanced Quality Surveillance Measures
Commissioners should work closely with providers in ensuring processes are transparent in how we gain 
quality assurance. This may involve being invited to join provider governance and patient safety 
meetings. Clinician to Clinician meetings, Commissioning joining provider inspection visits, patient safety 
walk rounds and targeted quality assurance visits. The duty of candour placed on all providers should 
support this process as they will be required to be open and transparent.

Stage 4) Enhanced Quality Review
The Quality Review Process is enacted when risk is increasing and assurance reducing and it may result 
in a number of stages dependent on the provider’s ability to provide assurance that any quality issues 
can be resolved quickly. This process can involve the following:
• Quality Review meetings
• Single Item Quality Surveillance Group meetings
• Rapid Response Reviews
• Risk Summits

Where there are quality concerns identified or the level of assurance is insufficient a Local Quality
Review meeting is held with commissioners, regulators and other agencies i.e. Health watch to share 
intelligence and determine if the proposed actions by the provider give the appropriate level of 
assurance. To aid decision making it is advised that a provider quality risk profile is developed and 
agreed at this meeting.  Where assurance is not gained then a Single Item Quality Surveillance Group 
meeting will be called involving the commissioners’, regulators and the provider to enable the provider 
to present their actions to address the quality concerns in a timely manner.  The quality risk profile 
should be shared with the provider prior to the meeting to enable the provider to input into the profile 
as they may have new information that will support and add to the information gathering. If assurance is 
gained at this meeting then a decision to step down the process to enhanced or routine levels of 

Page 132



surveillance should be made.  If assurance is not gained at this stage the next step is a rapid review visit 
or a risk summit if there are significant risks that the provider is unable to deal with effectively.

4.3 Major risks to this Locality Plan, and their mitigation
(Table to follow)

4.4 Oversight and control
(To follow)

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Chapter 5 Summaries, strategic alignments and 
milestones
Salford Locality Plan – [life stage] Plan on a Page

Recent achievements Local picture – current 
strengths 

Local picture – population 
need 

i.e. local assets, current key 
services

i.e. from data and engagement 
feedback

Transformation priorities

Improvement aims Action in 2020/21
i.e. milestones, measures, how we will know we have 
succeeded

Page 135



5.1 The City Mayor’s “great eight” priorities

5.1.1 Tackling poverty and inequality

5.1.2 Education and skills

5.1.3 Health and social care

5.1.4 Economic development

5.1.5 Housing

5.1.6 Transport

5.1.7 A transparent effective organisation

5.1.8 Social impact

5.2 The NHS long term plan priorities

5.3 Starting well – milestones

5.4 Living well – milestones

Page 136



5.5 Ageing well – milestones

5.6 Neighbourhoods, communities and environment – milestones

5.7 Improvement and enablers – milestones

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Information   

12 November 2019 

Report of: Peter Brambleby, Interim Director of 
Public Health

Date of Paper: 12 November 2019

Subject: Indices of Deprivation 2019

In case of query 
Please contact:

Gordon Adams, Public Health 
gordon.adams@salford.gov.uk
0161 603 4178

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)
Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

To inform the Board of the findings of the 2019 Indices of Deprivation. To include detail on 
Salford’s position, the variation in level of deprivation across the city and the drivers of 
change including health.

Further explanatory information required

Page 139

Agenda Item 8

mailto:gordon.adams@salford.gov.uk


 

                                                          

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

It provides evidence on the extent and change 
in health deprivation across Salford. This 
evidence can be used to attract and target 
resources to areas with highest levels of health 
deprivation need.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

None identified

WHAT EQUALITY RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

None envisaged

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

None

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

None

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

None

Footnote:

Members of XXXXX (NAME OF MEETING) will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no amendments 
are possible.

Page 140



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought 

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



Briefing shared with Salford City 
Mayor and Cabinet 7 October 2019

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 141



Indices of Deprivation 2019

1. Executive Summary

The latest Indices of Deprivation was published by the Ministry for Housing Communities 
and Local Government on 26 September 2019. The Indices give a picture of the level of 
relative deprivation across England. Data is provided at small area level and can be 
aggregated to local authority level. There are seven domains of deprivation which are 
combined to give an overall picture of multiple deprivation. 

Salford has seen a worsening of its rank since the previous release moving from 22nd most 
deprived in 2015 to 18th most deprived in 2019. Currently 76,000 Salford residents (30%) 
live in areas of high deprivation.

The Health Deprivation and Disability domain was one of two domains under which Salford 
improved its rank. Salford remains one of the most health deprived areas of the country, 
ranking 12th most deprived local authority (from 7th in 2015). All four indicators contributing 
to this domain saw an improvement.

Across Greater Manchester all local authority areas saw a worsening of national rank, with 
the exception of Manchester, which improved by 1 place. Within Greater Manchester there 
was no change in the ranking between the 10 authorities, with Salford remaining 3rd most 
deprived district. 

2. ******* Arial 12

2.1 Arial 11 

3. *******

3.1

4. *******

4.1

5. *******

5.1

6. *******

6.1

Page 142



7. Recommendations

7.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

 Note the contents of the report.

Name: Gordon Adams
Job Title: Strategic Intelligence Manager, Salford City Council

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Deprivation Rank
The average score over all 150 
small areas in Salford puts it as

18th
most deprived

local authority in England, out 
of 317 LAs.

Intelligence Briefing: Indices of Deprivation 2019

1. Summary:
 Salford is the 18th most deprived local authority area in England (out of 317) compared to 22nd 

most deprived in 2015. Most other areas with Greater Manchester also have a worse rank and 
Salford remains the third most deprived district in the city region.

 There are 76,400 people (30.4%) who reside in a highly deprived area of Salford, compared to 
71,200 people (29%) in 2015. However not everyone living in an area of high deprivation will 
themselves be highly deprived.

 Further, 10,500 residents of Salford live in areas of extreme deprivation. These areas are mainly 
concentrated around Langworthy, Irwell Riverside, and Broughton in Central Salford with 
smaller pockets in Little Hulton and Winton wards. 

 Some parts of the city have seen a positive change in deprivation with the biggest relative 
improvement in the areas around Salford Quays, Trinity Way to Salford Central Station and the 
eastern end of Regent Road.

 The areas with the biggest relative decline in deprivation are Parr Fold in Walkden South, the 
western part of Worsley and the area around Adelphi Street in central Salford.

 The IMD is made up from 7 domains of deprivation. At the domain level the biggest decline has 
been in the Crime domain (down 57 places to 16th most deprived). The greatest improvement 
for Salford has been in the Health domain (up by 5 places to 12th), and the Employment domain 
(up 4 places to 30th) relative to other local authorities

2. Introduction

The Indices of Deprivation 2019 (IoD2019) is a suite of outputs based on 39 separate indicators at a 
small area level. These are combined into a single measure called the Index of Multiple Deprivation 
2019 (IMD2019). This release is an update on the IMD2015, 
using the same approach and model with the most recent data 
available. However for a significant proportion of indicators the 
latest data is several years old, with some using data from the 
2011 census.

The IoD2019 includes the IMD2019 as well as seven domains of 
deprivation See figure 4. Whilst these cannot be used to 
determine the absolute level of deprivation in an area, it is 
possible to use the IoD2019 to compare relative deprivation 
across small areas or local authorities, or to compare relative 
deprivation over time. Given its focus, the IoD is less accurate 
when comparing areas with low levels of deprivation than those with high levels.

Across England there are 32,844 small areas, known as Lower-layer Super Output Areas or LSOAs, 
with 150 of them in Salford. Each of these LSOAs in given a deprivation score and they are ranked 
based on those scores, where 1 is the most deprived. 

Figures for all the LSOAs with each local authority are also combined and ranked to determine the 
relative level of deprivation for each. There are a number of ways to determine a local authority’s 
deprivation ranking (see Table 1), however the headline measure is based on the average deprivation 

Page 145



score for all the LSOAs in an authority. On this measure Salford is the 18th most deprived local authority 
area in England, out of 317.

3. Results

3.1. Deprivation in Salford and Greater Manchester

 Between 2004 and 2015 Salford improved its deprivation rank with each new issue of the IMD. The 
2019 IMD ranks Salford as 18th most deprived local authority a worsening of 4 places. Nine out of 10 
Greater Manchester LAs have seen a worse rank in 2019 than 2015, the exception being Manchester, 
which improved from 5th to 6th most deprived LA. 

There are five different rankings for each 
local authority. The most widely used 
(Rank of average score) takes the 
deprivation score for all the LSOAs in each 
local authority and averages them. These 
average scores are then ranked. On this 
headline measure Salford is 18th most 
deprived. 

Another useful measure looks at the proportion of LSOAs within each local authority that sit within the 
most deprived decile, or most deprived 10% of LSOAs. In Salford 45 out of 150 LSOAs (30%) are 
amongst this decile. This is the 19th highest figure in England. Despite an increase from 43 LSOAs 
(28.7%) in 2015, Salford’s ranking on this measure has got better by 3 places (from 16th most deprived) 
due to other areas worsening more.

Table 1: Ranking positions of Greater Manchester authorities in the 2019 IMD with change since 
2015

Manchester 2 -1 6 -1 5 0 2 -1 13 -2
Rochdale 17 8 15 1 20 -3 19 2 25 -6
Salford 20 7 18 4 19 -3 21 1 20 -4
Oldham 29 22 19 15 16 11 18 11 22 6
Tameside 23 11 28 13 40 10 28 12 45 7
Bolton 47 16 34 17 31 9 26 9 34 9
Wigan 97 7 75 9 53 13 54 14 50 6
Bury 110 18 95 23 82 3 85 21 64 25
Stockport 154 23 130 16 90 1 117 16 58 20
Trafford 209 7 191 8 125 29 150 10 124 19

change2019 rank 2019 rank 2019 rank 2019 rank 2019 rankchange change change change

Rank of average rank Rank of average score
Rank of proportion of 

LSOAs in most deprived 
10% nationally

Rank of extent Rank of local 
concentration

(Change is based IMD2015 rebased to 2019 geographies consisting of 317 local authorities.)

The order of the 10 LAs within Greater Manchester remains unchanged since 2015, with Manchester 
most deprived and Trafford least deprived. Bury has seen one of the largest changes in England its 
deprivation ranking, worsening by 23 places to 95th most deprived. Across the country there have been 
a number of notable trends, first among these is the relative improvement of authorities in London.  

Page 146



3.2. Deprivation at LSOA level in Salford

The maps below (fig. 1) show the level of deprivation across Salford along with the change since 2015. 
Areas of highest deprivation are shown in dark red. These are clustered around Pendleton, Brindle 
Heath and Lower Broughton in central Salford and Little Hulton in the North West. There are smaller 
pockets elsewhere including parts of Eccles, Irlam and Higher Broughton.

Some parts of the city have seen a positive change in deprivation with the biggest relative improvement 
is at Salford Quays, Trinity Way to Salford Central Station and the eastern end of Regent Road. Much 
of Irlam and Cadishead are relatively less deprived than in 2015. This is explored in greater detail in 
section 6 below. 

Figure 1 Map of IMD rank (2019) and change (2015 to 2019), Salford

Page 147



3.3. Nearest Neighbour Comparison

The image, right (fig. 3), shows how Salford compares with 
other similar areas. This is the group of Salford’s nearest 
statistical neighbours (as determined by CIPFA). The four 
place decline in national rankings from 22nd to 18th most 
deprived has resulted in Salford worsening by one place in this 
list. Amongst this group of 16 five have improved their national 
ranking, ten have worsened and one has not changed. Our 
nearest neighbours with the biggest relative improvement are 
from the Midlands (Coventry ranked less deprived by 24 
places, Derby 12 places and Wolverhampton 7).  

     

4. Population by decile 

The table below shows how many small areas (LSOAs) and residents are in each of the 10 national 
deciles, with a comparison to the 2015 IMD. Almost 17,000 more people are living in the most deprived 
two deciles than in 2015. Some of this will be due to population growth, however most is due to seven 
more LSOAs moving in to the second decile.

Table 2: Change in population by Decile in Salford 2015 to 2019
Number 
of LSOAs

Population 
count

Population  
%

Population 
change

Population 
change %

Percentage 
point change

45 76,449 30% 5,236 7% 1 pp
(43) (71,213) (29%)

28 48,491 19% 11,596 31% 4 pp
(23) (36,895) (15%)

13 22,482 9% -4,504 -17% -2 pp
(15) (26,986) (11%)

19 31,545 13% 2,961 10% 1 pp
(17) (28,584) (12%)

11 18,247 7% -5,832 -24% -3 pp
(15) (24,079) (10%)

12 19,838 8% -966 -5% -1 pp
(13) (20,804) (8%)

5 7,737 3% -1,102 -12% -1 pp
(6) (8,839) (4%)

6 8,867 4% 1,015 13% 0 pp
(5) (7,852) (3%)

6 9,022 4% -1,796 -17% -1 pp
(7) (10,818) (4%)

5 8,654 3% -890 -9% 0 pp
(6) (9,544) (4%)

150 251,332 100% 5,718 2%
(150) (245,614) (100%)

4

Decile
Most 

deprived 1

2

3

Total
Figures in bold relate to the 2019 Index of Multiple Deprivationm (IMD). Beneath those, in grey, are the equivalent figures 
for the 2015 IMD. The latest population figures available at LSOA level are for 2017, these have been applied to the 2019 
IMD. Population estimates for 2015 have been used for the 2015 IMD.

5

6

7

8

9
Least 

deprived 10

Page 148



5. Domains of Deprivation

The seven domains that make up the overall IMD are shown below. These domains are weighted with 
greater weight given to the Income and Employment domains (22.5% each), followed by Education and 
Health (13.5% each) with the remaining three each accounting for 9.3%. 

Salford has improved on two domains, Employment (4 places better at 30th) and Health (5 places better 
at 12th), but declined on four and unchanged on Income. The largest change was a 57 place decline to 
16th most deprived on the Crime domain. 

Figure 4 Rank and Change by Domain of IoD2019

A more detailed look at the domains with the largest level of change is given in section 7 below.

6. Change since IMD2015 at LSOA level

England is split into 32,844 small areas (called LSOAs) these are ranked by deprivation and grouped 
into 10 equally sized deciles. The first decile, or most 
deprived 10% of LSOAs is described as ‘highly deprived’. 
In Salford 45 (30%) of 150 LSOAs are in this decile. This 
is an increase from 43 in 2015, however due to large 
changes in other areas, at the LA level Salford has 
improved its ranking on this measure from 16th to 19th 
most deprived. 

Overall 107 (71%) of LSOAs are in the same decile band 
as they were in 2015. At a national level there was more 
change, with 65% remaining unchanged. The chart (fig. 5, 
right) shows the percentage of LSOAs within each decile 
are in the same decile as they were in 2015. 

The table below shows the direction and extent of the 
change in decile for the 150 LSOAs in Salford between 
2015 and 2019. The blue boxes along the main diagonal 
are those LSOAs that are unchanged since 2015. Overall 
seven LSOAs moved to a less deprived decile and 36 to 
a more deprived decile. This includes three LSOAs that 
moved more than a single decile, all were at the less 
deprived end of the scale.

The size of each box is proportionate to 
the weighting given to each domain in 
the overall IMD score

Page 149



Table 3. Change in Decile for Salford 150 LSOAs between IMD2015 and IMD2019

The map below (fig 6) shows the distribution of deprivation across Salford. Areas of high deprivation 
(most deprived 10%) and extreme deprivation (most deprived 1%) are also shown. The most deprived 
parts of the city are mainly concentrated around Langworthy, Irwell Riverside, and Broughton in Central 
Salford with smaller pockets in Little Hulton and Winton.

Fig 6 Salford Index of Multiple Deprivation score by decile
 

Areas of Salford within the most 
deprived 10% nationally

 
Areas of Salford within the most  
deprived 1% nationally

7. Domain Level Change

Each of the seven domains of the IoD2019 are made up of several indicators. Domains are weighted 
differently (see Section 4 above) and within the domains the indicators are given different weight. These 
indicators combine data for one or more years, using the latest data available. However for several 
indicators the latest data available is several years old, including 2011 census figures. As part of 
IoD2019 publication some indicator values have been published. Preliminary analysis of those with the 
largest change is given below.

Page 150



7.1. Crime

The Crime domain measures the risk of personal and material victimisation at a local level. It accounts 
for 9.3% of the overall IMD score. The data used for this domain combines the rate per thousand 
properties for burglary, with the rate per thousand residents (2017 estimate) plus non-resident 
workplace population (taken from the 2011 census) for violence, theft and criminal damage over the 
years 2016/17 and 2017/18. Violence and criminal damage were weighted higher than burglary and 
theft. 

Every LA within Greater Manchester was ranked as more deprived on the Crime domain in 2019 than 
it was in 2015. The change ranged from 9 place worse in Manchester to 68 in Bury. Salford was 57 
places worse at 16th most deprived in England. The chart below (fig 7) shows the change in the Crime 
domain for all LAs in selected Police Force Areas (PFAs) in England. Local authorities to the right of 
the zero line have improved. London authorities have become relatively less deprived in terms of crime 
since the IoD2015. Within the North West all Greater Manchester and Merseyside LAs have become 
more deprived.

Given Salford's recent growth, there are concerns that the ‘at-risk population’ is a significant undercount, 
in both resident and workforce number for large parts of the city. The consequence is that the per-1000 
crime rate would be too high.

Figure 7: Change in Rank in Crime Domain for LAs in Selected Police Force Areas 2015 to 2019

Improvement in rankDecline in rank

The 2019 IoD bases the crime score on recorded crime over two years (2016/17 – 2017/18) while the 
2015 IoD on 2013/14 crime data, which aligns closely with the time period over which Greater 
Manchester Police in particular have improved crime recording. Between 2016/17 and 2017/18 for 
example, recorded crime rates rose by 27% in Greater Manchester compared to 5% in London and 
12% in England & Wales. 

Monthly crime data supplied to GMCA by Greater Manchester Police indicates that historic rises in 
recorded crime have slowed, with rates stabilising and beginning to fall over the last year, which would 
not be reflected in the 2019 IMD.  While many forces are still seeing significant rises in recorded crime 
over the past year (from 2017/18 to 2018/19), Greater Manchester is now one of only four police forces 
in England & Wales that have seen a fall in recorded crime rates according to Home Office statistics 
and has closed the gap with the national average by 23%.  Over the same time period, rates of recorded 
crime have risen by 7% across England & Wales, and 5% in London.

The maps below (Fig 8) shows LSOA level deprivation for the Crime domain in Salford and the change 
since 2015. Parts of Walkden South, Worsley and Pendlebury have seen the biggest changes however 
the largest area with high crime scores is in central Salford, with smaller areas in Barton, Weaste, 
Walkden North and Little Hulton. 

Page 151



Analysis of the data provided by MHCLG suggests that if the values for the Crime domain had remained 
unchanged since IMD2015 (with no other changes), Salford would have a rank two places better at 20th 
most deprived in 2019.

Fig 8: Index of Deprivation Crime Domain at LSOA level in Salford, Rank and Change
Rank (2019) Change (2015 to 2019)

 

7.2. Education, Skills and Training
The Education, Skills and Training domain measures the lack of attainment and skills in the local 
population. It is further split into two equally weighted sub-domains representing ‘flow’ (Children’s sub-
domain covering educational attainment, attendance and participation in further and higher education) 
and ‘stock’ (Adult Skills sub-domain). The domain rank for Salford is 44th, a worsening of 17 places 
since 2015. 

The Adult Skills element is based on 2011 Census data, and is therefore unchanged since the previous 
IoD in 2015, so any change will be due to the flow element, those indicators in the Children’s sub-
domain. This sub-domain contains uses new data for entry into higher education and a combined 
measure including educational attainment at Key Stage 2 (KS2) and Key Stage 4 (KS4) and secondary 
school attendance. However the IoD2019 only published scores for one indicator, Entry into higher 
education, for which Salford worsened its position from 118th to 107th most deprived between 2015 and 
2019. It is unlikely that this change is sufficient to account for all the change in this domain.

Educational attainment (KS2 and KS4) and attendance data isn’t provided as part of the IoD2019. 
Separate data published by the Department for Education shows that Salford isn’t an outlier at KS2, 
KS4 performance is below average but the gap has not widened, whilst unauthorised secondary 
absence has increased in recent years and is approximately 50% higher than the national average.

The Merlin Road area in North West Irlam is the most deprived part of Salford by the Education domain. 
Areas around Pendleton, Little Hulton and Higher Broughton are also deprived under this measure. The 
biggest change has been in Ordsall where 2 LSOAs (around Trafford Road and South Langworthy 
Road) have seen a sizeable decline. Conversely 3 areas saw a big improvement, Blackfriars / Trinity 
Way, the area around Patricroft Recreation Ground and Folly Lane. 

Analysis of the data provided by MHCLG suggests that if the values for the Education domain had 
remained unchanged since IMD2015 (with no other changes), Salford would still have a ranked 18th 

Page 152



most deprived in 2019. However if both Crime and Education domain scores had remained unchanged 
since IMD2015 Salford would likely have been ranked 21st most deprived authority in England.

Fig 9: Index of Deprivation Education, Skills and Training Domain at LSOA level in Salford, Rank 
and Change

Rank (2019) Change (2015 to 2019)

7.3. Health Deprivation and Disability
The Health Deprivation and Disability domain is one of two domains that has seen Salford improve 
its ranking. The improvement of 5 places to 12th most deprived is welcome given the level of health 
deprivation across the city, however it remains the domain where Salford ranks worst. All indicators 
within this domain improved, with the biggest change in the mental health indicator measuring ‘Mood 
and Anxiety Disorder’, derived from prescribing data, in-patient hospital episodes and suicide data (but 
no longer benefits data). Without the improvement in the Health domain Salford could have ranked as 
low as 13th most deprived local authority.

The charts below show the distribution of small areas in the Health domain in 2015 and 2019. Both 
years show most of the city is at the deprived end of the scale, shown by a peak to the left of the image. 
That peak is higher in 2015, meaning more areas at the most deprived end of the scale. In 2019 there 
is a shift towards the less deprived end. The smaller charts show the indicators behind this domain. 
The changes are biggest in the indicators Mood and anxiety disorders and Years of potential life lost.

Page 153



Fig 10: Index of Deprivation Health Deprivation and Disability, Density Plot Comparing Deprivation 
in Salford in 2019 and 2015

Health and Disability Domain Health and Disability Indicators

 

 Fig 11: Index of Deprivation Health Deprivation and Disability at LSOA level in Salford, Rank and 
Change

Rank (2019) Change (2015 to 2019)

7.4. Other domains
Detailed analysis of the remaining five domains of deprivation is underway. A summary of initial findings 
is given below.

A decline in rank for the Living Environment domain (14 places worse to 94th most deprived) is due 
to the indicator measuring rented property (both socially rented and privately rented) meeting the 

Page 154



Decent Homes Standard. Figures for small areas are modelled estimates under which Salford has seen 
an improvement in almost all parts of the city. However the improvement is less than that seen 
elsewhere, particularly London authorities, hence the worse rank.

Salford’s best performance out of all seven domains of deprivation is on the Barriers to Housing and 
Services domain, despite a 7 place decline to 218th most deprived. This domain includes indicators 
measuring distance to key services as well as homelessness and housing affordability measures.

The Employment domain, along with Health, saw a positive change in rank. Salford improved by 4 
places to 30th most deprived local authority area. This domain contributes 22.5% to the overall IMD, the 
highest share, along with Income. Due to the staged introduction in Universal Credit, data for the 
Employment domain is taken from 2015-16. It is based on recipients of out-of-work benefits during this 
period.

Income deprivation is measured using uptake of income related benefits. There was no change in rank 
(from 24th most deprived) in this domain.

8. Next Steps
 Work with colleagues within Salford and across GM to better understand the findings of the 

IoD2019 in more detail and how they relate to other analysis, data and trends.
 The IoD2019 will be key to understanding changes in local need and will considered as part of 

needs analysis, including the review of the Poverty Strategy.
 The data and context from the IoD2019 will be shared, including through Ward Profiles.

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report SEND Strategy 
Date 12.11.19
Contact Officer Cathy Starbuck 

1.     Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? - Relevance of this report to 
the priorities of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated 
working

The SEND Partnership Board, formerly the 
Children’s and Families Board, reports annually to 
the Health and Well Being Board

Health and Wellbeing Board’s duties 
or responsibilities in this area

The board has overall responsibility for the Part 3 of 
the Children’s and Families Act 2014 which places 
duties on local authorities and other services in 
relation to both disabled children and young people  
and those with Special Educational Needs. 

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address - what 
action is needed from the Board and 
its members?

The Health and Wellbeing board is asked to approve 
this SEND Strategy.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around 
this issue?

The SEND Partnership board has a comprehensive 
plan for internal and external communication 
following approval of the strategy.

2.     Introduction 

This strategy has been developed by the SEND Partnership board, in consultation with 
stakeholders, including children, young people and families

3.     Key issues for the Board to consider

The board are asked to approve the strategy. 

4.     Recommendations for action 

The recommendation is that the Health and Wellbeing board approve the SEND strategy. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 9



2

5.     Contextual information 

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Cathy Starbuck   Assistant Director (Education, Skills and Work)

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – Children with Disabilities, 
January 2018

STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED:  See JSNA

THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY: SEND Partnership Board, 0-25 
Programme Oversight Group, 0-25 Advisory Board and Children’s Commissioning Committee

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: This SEND strategy strengthens the 
approach to supporting this cohort of young people and builds on the previous SEND strategy that 
was in place.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  Low

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Delivery of this strategy will be met by budgets within Dedicated 
Schools Grant, High Needs Block funding and core budget alongside other partnership budgets 
such as the CCG and schools. 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: None

HR IMPLICATIONS: None

Page 158



SEND STRATEGY 2019/21

Every child and young person 

aged 0-25 with SEND will 

achieve their full potential

June 2019

P
age 159



Priority How will we know?  Some examples

They are as healthy

and safe as possible 

• Improved physical and mental health

• More children and young people have health and care needs met in 

a timely way at the right place at the right time

Achieve the best

education outcomes 

they can 

• Children and young people attend the right provision at the right time 

which is of good quality

• All children make good progress

Be as well equipped 

for adult life as they 

can be

• Children have the fullest opportunities to participate, living happy, 

purposeful lives 

• More young people in education , employment and training post 16

Have a sense of 

belonging and value 

• Evidence of effective participation of young people individually and 

strategically 

• More children living, being involved and educated in their community 

Have aspirations and 

opportunities to 

achieve them 

• Young people’s visibility in city events

• Children and Young people have a voice and opportunity to 

influence

• All children, families and professionals have the highest aspirations

O-25 Vision

We want all children and young people with 

SEND in Salford to achieve their potential 

P
age 160



our vision…

Every child and young person aged 

0-25 with SEND will have the fullest 

opportunity to be happy, healthy 

and achieve their full potentialP
age 161



SEND IN SALFORD

7,200 (18%) 
Salford children 
and young people 
receive support 
with their special 
educational needs 
and disabilities

Salford has the 
highest incidence of 
SEND in Greater 
Manchester; 2nd in  
the North West and 
6th highest in England

Salford has the third 

highest level of issuing 

EHC Plans in the North 

West (behind Manchester 

& Lancashire)

There has been a 
significant rise in the 
number of EHC Plans 
issued in Salford

113

176

406

2015

2016

2017

8.7%

22.9%

0.6%

0.3%

17.6%

33.9%

1.0%
0.8%

SpLD

MLD

SLD

PMLD

SEMH

SLCN

HI

VI

Primary – SEND by primary need

18.2%

15.2%

3.9%

14.4%

11.6%

2.9%

14.4%

11.6%

2.8%

SEND Support Total Plans

Salford

North West

England

Total with EHCP (2017)

P
age 162



SEND IN SALFORD

% New EHC Plans  issued within 20 weeks

£31.5

high needs 

funding with 

over 90% 

going towards 

supporting 

provision

Significant 

pressures on 

high needs 

budget   

426
requests for EHC 

assessments were 

made in 2017. Of 

these 92 (21.6%) 

were refused

1.9%
of those agreed 

to assess were 

refused an EHC 

Plan 

£1.6m  
extra supports 

children with 

disabilities through 

short breaks, respite 

and complex care

63.6% of  2018 EHC Plans 
are mainstream 
(40% in England)

36%
of EHC Plans are 
in special schools 
(35% in England)

7.1% of EHC Plans 
are delivered in 
independent special 
schools compared to 
3.9% nationally

16.2%

49.5%

94.6%

65.7%

80.1%

58.6%

64.9%

2016 2017 2018

Salford

North West

England

P
age 163



Key Features 
of Best SEND 
Practice in 
Salford 

Culture, 
Leadership & 
Management

Accurate 
identification 

Use of 
expertise 

Reflective use 
of evidence 

based 
interventions

Monitoring of 
Progress

01

02

03

Personalisation

04
05

06

Communication

and 

Collaboration 

07

P
age 164



Culture, Leadership and Management

• 0-25 – happy, healthy lives and achieving their full potential

• Equity of access

• Clear strategic vision for SEND provision & outcomes across all agencies 

• We know ourselves well, we are aware of our areas for development and strive for 

continuous improvement e.g. use of JSNA

• All children to achieve their full potential , SEN children’s rights – equity of access,  

• Enabling high aspirations 

• Committed supporting need in the widest sense , culture of seeking advice proactively 

• Utilising Family wealth and person centred approaches 

• Outcomes focused 

• Embrace integration and innovation

• Shared leadership of SEND across the whole workforce  Policy and SEN Information 

published

• Culture and ethos that actively welcomes and engages parents and carers of children 

and young people with SEND

• Proactively analysis of data workforce to have appropriate training and are 

experienced and knowledgeable on SEND policy and practice

• Effective and transparent use of funding and resources

01

P
age 165



Accurate Identification 

• Skilled workforce and clear pathways to enable identification of need 

in its broadest sense 

• Committed to accurate assessment of need and continuous review 

• Leaders work to support professional curiosity and accurate, early 

identification (in collaboration) 

• Strategic overview  to inform provision and service planning as 

identified in the JSNA 

• Patterns of need to be  analysed effectively and used to support 

development/ effective support and provision 

• Effective listening with parents to inform early and accurate 

identification

• A range of diagnostic assessments to be  available to support 

accurate screening for SEND

• Identifying unmet need and providing a timely,  

appropriate response

02 

P
age 166



Use of expertise

• Parents key member of Strategic board

• Involvement of parents and children as experts, lived experience and in development of 

pathways 

• Broad approach to social care utilising the whole workforce from children’s services from 

experienced social workers and early help practitioners 

• Effective and innovative use of voluntary sector

• Quality assured Health advice to 100% EHC assessments

• Integrated commissioning and delivery to  meet speech and language and communication 

needs 

• A range of professionals  who are knowledgeable about SEND so that capacity is not just 

concentrated amongst a few

• Our in house offer complemented by Commissioned expertise as needed 

• High quality expertise that used in collaboration, used in a timely way, readily available , 

proactive and responsive to need

• Collaboration of professionals /CPD

• Clear processes of how families, children and young people can access  range of 

support appropriate to their needs , in a timely manner to meet their needs 

• Avoid the crisis and be proactive 

• SEND work across Greater Manchester

03

P
age 167



Personalisation

• Individually tailored packages of high quality support that address the 

whole range of needs, leading to personalised outcomes 

• The workforce have thorough understanding of children and young 

people’s  holistic needs and what is important to them 

• High expectations in terms of children and young people’s progress, 

achievements and outcomes

• Children and young people are supported to develop independence 

and transition smoothly between settings and into adulthood

• Understanding and celebrations of children and young people’s 

strengths, abilities and successes rather than just needs and barriers

• Children and young people’s and families treated as partners, with their 

contributions respected  & valued and the role of wider family in children 

and young people’s success fully appreciated

• Enabling choice and control by use of innovative approaches  

04

P
age 168



Reflective  use of evidence based interventions

• Implementing a needs led approach, utilising the ‘thrive 

approach’ with clear common goals 

• Interventions chosen for a specific purpose – linked to 

assessed needs, outcomes and measures of success

• Interventions recognise the full lived experience at home, 

school and the community.

• Effective co ordination  of interventions – focus, delivery and 

desired outcomes all being clearly understood

• Strong processes for monitoring progress and impact

• Skilled and knowledgeable workforce

05 

P
age 169



Monitoring of progress

• Timely statutory reviews with contributions from all key 

partners that hear the voice of the child and the family 

• Clear systems of accountability for progress of pupils with 

SEND through person centred reviews at transition

• Ability to identify and respond when progress isn’t as 

expected and appropriate escalation

• Use of independent, advice and support with effective 

mediation

06

P
age 170



Communication and Collaboration

• Common language

• All workforce, children and young people  and families 

effectively share information 

• Effective, trusted and supportive relationships

• Making every contact count

• Strong communication with Salford Parent Voice

• Reflective learning from case reviews

• Everyone who is working with child or young person is 

focused on the same goals

07

P
age 171



Our Strategic Priorities 

Our priorities have been developed as a result of 

engagement with parents/ carers, children and 

young people, and with professionals, schools and 

services.

They are also supported by energised leadership 

and partnerships, and informed by good data and 

needs analysis.

P
age 172



The four priority areas for children and 

young people with SEND are…

Clear communication and participation with children, young people 

and their families 
Children’s needs are identified, interventions are put in place which are reviewed 

regularly and place the child and family at the centre by  personalising  planning 

04

03

02

01

Sufficient range of Quality Provision 
Plan sufficient services and provision to enable children, young people and their 

families to feel supported and included within the local community. Effective use 

of resources to maximise outcomes.

Clear pathways and better outcomes
Lead and co-ordinate multi-agency pathways, including planning ahead for smooth 

transitions to achieve positive outcomes for individual children and their families. 

Clear focus on creating  opportunities that are fulfilling and meet personal aspirations.

Early identification, assessment and planning
Children’s needs are identified, interventions are put in place which are reviewed 

regularly and which  place the child and family at the 

centre by  personalising  planning 

P
age 173



Priority areas and key actions
Clear pathways and better outcomes

Co-produce a reinvigorated and clearly defined  graduated approach to SEN Support

Develop an outcomes framework to inform the effectiveness of education, health and 

care provision for SEND which is linked to quality assurance processes. 

Publish clear pathways showing how parents and young people access particular services 

e.g. neuro,  healthcare, short breaks, personal budgets

Describe and publish clear pathways out of the EHC process focussing on entry into 

employment, further education, supported internships,, community involvement, accessing 

adult services and independent living. 

16-25 EHC Plans focus on Preparation for Adulthood outcomes 

Sufficient range of quality provision

To review the continuum of provision including the quality assurance of enhanced 

resources 

To maximise impact of SEN Capital Fund to enhance the existing estate

To open the new special free school for autism and distressed behaviours by 2022

To develop an exemplar blueprint for a fully integrated special school.

Strengthen the use of SEND data in ‘conversations’ to include progress, attainment, 

exclusions, attendance & financial. 

P
age 174



Early identification assessment and planning

Implement a SEND profile framework for schools and setting to self assess SEND provision 

Ensure all annual reviews are considered and decisions issued within statutory timeframes 

Improve the quality of EHC Plans through a comprehensive quality assurance process that is 

owned by partners.

Learning from cases and training around what constitutes early identification, quality 

assessment and planning. 

To describe the pathways and quality assurance process for Annual Reviews to incorporate 

health and social care contribution 

Clear communication and participation with children, young people and their families

Share outstanding practice between partners and parents including joint forums, networks 

and social media 

To hold regular opportunities for parental engagement, in collaboration with Salford Parent 

Voice and other groups to ensure wide reach 

Further promote the Local Offer and check that the information is visible across Salford eg. 

Gateways, schools, early years settings. 

Measure parent and child satisfaction on SEN Support and Annual reviews of EHC Plans. 

Create consultation routes for children and young people with SEND which are meaningful 

and result in direct feedback ‘you said, we did’ . 

P
age 175



Key Measures of Success

• Increase the number of EHC assessments finalised within 20 weeks 

• Increase attendance at school for all children with SEND  

• Reduce the number of exclusions for children with SEND 

• Improve education outcomes at  all key stages; 

Early years, Key Stage 2, Key Stage 4 and 5

• Increase the number of children with SEND who are in Education, 

Employment and Training post 16

P
age 176



Any feedback, comments or queries 

please email 

specialeducationalneeds@salford.gov.uk   

P
age 177



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Creating a real Living Wage City
Date 12 November, 2019
Contact 
Officer Chris Dabbs (Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce)

1. Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? - Relevance of this report to the 
priorities of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated working

In the Locality Plan for Salford, the 
partners on the Health and Wellbeing 
Board commit to:
 securing for the people of our city a 

good education and decent jobs
 system and wider enablers, including 

social value
 maximising adoption of the real Living 

Wage and the best possible working 
conditions for our workforce across the 
city

 working towards: introducing the real 
Living Wage; becoming accredited 
Living Wage Employers; incorporating 
the real Living Wage within procurement

 working with partners to ensure that 
jobs being created in Salford have the 
highest employment standards, such as 
working towards or paying the real 
Living Wage 

Health and Wellbeing Board’s duties or 
responsibilities in this area

 Improve health and well-being across 
the city and remove health inequalities.

 Social Justice and tackling inequality - 
everyone should get a fair chance to 
succeed in Salford.

 Prevention and early intervention 
throughout life - we will stop problems 
occurring in the first place wherever we 
can. (Board terms of reference).

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address - what action 
is needed from the Board and its 
members?

Actions recommended:

1. To welcome and support the action 
being taken by Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group to spread the 

Page 179

Agenda Item 10



2

real Living Wage in primary care.

2. To note and welcome the accreditation 
as Living Wage employers of several 
Salford-based providers of social care.

3. To note that all but two members of 
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board 
are accredited Living Wage Employers.

4. To fulfil the Board’s agreement in 
March 2017 work towards Salford 
becoming a real Living Wage health 
and well-being system, by encouraging 
and supporting those members that 
are not yet accredited Living Wage 
employers to:
 pay all staff (both directly employed 

and sub-contracted) the real Living 
Wage

 become accredited Living Wage 
Employers with the Living Wage 
Foundation by 2021 at the latest

5. To note the formation of the Salford 
Living Wage City Action Group, and to 
endorse Salford’s application for Living 
Wage City status from the Living Wage 
Foundation under its Making Living 
Wage Places scheme.

6. To include specific commitments on 
the real Living Wage in the refreshed 
Locality Plan that is being developed, 
including with regard to the Greater 
Manchester Good Employment Charter 
and the Salford Living Wage City 
action plan.

7. To request the Salford Social Value 
Alliance to continue to monitor 
progress with the real Living Wage in 
Salford, and report to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on progress in 
autumn 2020.

What requirement is there for internal or 
external communication around this 
issue?

Publish the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
progress on the real Living Wage and 
publicise the actions it has agreed.

Page 180



3

2. Introduction 

2.1 Fair Society, Healthy Lives

Fair Society, Healthy Lives (The Marmot Review, 2010) recognises that:
1. Reducing health inequalities is a matter of fairness and social justice.
2. There is a social gradient in health – the lower a person’s social position, the 

worse his or her health. Action should focus on reducing the gradient in health.
3. Health inequalities result from social inequalities. Action on health inequalities 

requires action across all the social determinants of health.
4. To reduce the steepness of the social gradient in health, actions must be 

universal, but with a scale and intensity that is proportionate to the level of 
disadvantage.

5. Action taken to reduce health inequalities will benefit society in many ways. It will 
have economic benefits in reducing losses from illness associated with health 
inequalities.

6. Reducing health inequalities will require action on six policy objectives, including: 
to ensure a healthy standard of living for all. As a priority, this requires a 
minimum income for healthy living for people of all ages.

2.2 Economic performance and inequality

The Greater Manchester Economic Forecasting Model suggests that Greater 
Manchester is set to see both output and employment growth over the next decade. 
The GMFM-2017 baseline forecast shows Gross Value Added (GVA) growing at 
1.7% per year up to 2035, broadly comparable to the UK average (1.8% per annum). 
This is equivalent to an additional £23.9 billion of economic activity in Greater 
Manchester’s economy in 2035 (measured in constant 2013 prices), with GVA rising 
to a total of £81.7 billion. Total employment is forecast to grow at 0.5% per year in 
Greater Manchester, slightly faster than the UK average (0.4%), equating to a net 
increase of 141,200 employees from 2015 to 2035. 

Poverty in Greater Manchester:
 In 2013-2014, 620,000 people in Greater Manchester were in poverty. More than 

half (390,000) were working age adults, 180,000 were children, and 50,000 were 
over pension age.

 According to the English Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2019, the local authority 
areas in Greater Manchester with the highest proportion of neighbourhoods in the 
most deprived 10% nationally are:
o Manchester (43.3% - increase from 40.8% in 2015)
o Oldham (30.5% - increase from 22.7% in 2015)
o Salford (30.0% - increase from 28.7% in 2015)
o Rochdale (29.9% - increase from 28.4% in 2015)

 The largest clusters of very highly deprived LSOAs, ranking in the top 1% 
nationally, are in north and east Manchester, Oldham and Salford.

Changing geography and disparity of growth and deprivation:

There is a picture of improvements in the centre of the city-region coupled with little 
change or deterioration in outer areas. 

Page 181



4

The overall improvement on the English Indices of Multiple Deprivation seen in 
Greater Manchester has largely been driven by Manchester. Salford has also seen 
reductions as has Trafford, with both these areas also seeing increases in the 
proportions of least deprived neighbourhoods. This is also the pattern for Wigan.

There are persistent differences between social and demographic groups in their 
access to the labour market:
 Particular groups tend to have consistently lower employment rates, including 

disabled people, carers, people from some black and minority ethnic communities 
(especially those with Pakistani or Bangladeshi heritage), younger people and 
older people.

 This situation may be worse in Greater Manchester than the UK average.
 Limited access to employment translates to some extent into higher poverty risks 

for many of these groups.

When they do obtain employment, such groups are more likely than others to be paid 
below the real Living Wage.

Wages in Greater Manchester:

Greater Manchester has a diverse economy, in part because much of the growth in 
employment and output has occurred in low wage and low productivity sectors.

Significant gaps in qualification levels and employment rates still exist between 
Greater Manchester and the national average, and parts of the economy remain 
entrenched within lower skill, lower productivity and lower wage activity.

Wages have fallen by 6.6% in real terms between 2006 and 2016: the average 
worker in Greater Manchester still earns 81p an hour less in real terms than in 2006. 
The gross median annual wage for full time workers living in Greater Manchester was 
£26,800 in 2018, compared to £29,570 in the UK as a whole; and the gap in wages 
between GM and the national average has widened over the decade.

Overall pay levels and salary growth in Greater Manchester lag behind UK averages. 
Workers in the city-region earn on average around 10% per hour less than the UK 
median. Salary growth between 2013 and 2018 in Greater Manchester was 7.8%, 
compared to 9.4% across the country. The real value of the annual median wage in 
Greater Manchester in 2017 was around £1,500 less than in 2008.

19% of jobs in Greater Manchester were paid less than two thirds of the national 
median wage in 2017; a higher proportion than in better performing UK urban areas 
(London, 10%, and Bristol city-region, 16%), but lower than in most comparator city-
regions (20-24%).

The proportion of jobs offering low pay fell in eight Greater Manchester districts 
between 2012 and 2017 and did not increase in the other two. The proportion of local 
jobs that were low paid in 2017 was highest in Rochdale (26% in 2017) and lowest in 
Manchester and Salford (14%).

The majority of Greater Manchester’s low earners work in just three sectors: retail 
and wholesale (27%), hospitality, tourism and sport (21%) and health and social care 
(15%).

Page 182



5

The majority (58% in 2017) of low paid workers in Greater Manchester are women; a 
lower proportion than the UK average and comparator UK city-regions. The 
proportion of single parents in Greater Manchester who were low paid in 2016-18 
(33%), however, was higher than the UK average and those of comparator city-
regions. It was also higher than among adults in other types of Greater Manchester 
household.

A higher proportion of black workers (33%) in the city-region was low paid than their 
Asian (27%) and white (21%) counterparts in 2016-18, although the number of 
people in the latter group (215,000) far exceeded those for Asian (20,000) and black 
(15,000) workers.

31% of Greater Manchester workers with qualifications at GCSE level or below were 
low paid, similar to the national average (30%). The proportion of graduates in 
Greater Manchester who were low paid in the same period (10%), however, was 
marginally higher than in most comparator city-regions.

Research by the Resolution Foundation on progression out of low pay, found that a 
third of people who were on low wages in 2012 were still on low wages four years 
later. This proportion varied from city-region to city-region with Greater Manchester in 
the middle of the pack.

2.3 Living Wage

The real Living Wage is an hourly rate set independently and updated annually. It is 
calculated by the Resolution Foundation and overseen by the Living Wage 
Commission, based on the best available evidence about living standards in London 
and the UK. This is based on detailed research of what households need in order to 
have a minimum acceptable standard of living.

The UK Living Wage is set annually by the Living Wage Foundation and is £9.00 per 
hour (outside London) from 5 November, 2018. The new Living Wage rate will be 
announced on 11 November, 2019, for implementation within six months. Employers 
choose to pay the real Living Wage on a voluntary basis and can become accredited 
by the Living Wage Foundation.

Distinct from the real Living Wage, the ‘national living wage’ for all workers aged over 
25 was introduced by the Government in April 2016. This is effectively a premium on 
top of the National Minimum Wage rate, while the current National Minimum Wage 
for those under the age of 25 still applies.

The rates from 1 April, 2019, are:
 £8.21 per hour - 25 years old and over
 £7.70 per hour - 21-24 years old
 £6.15 per hour - 18-20 years old
 £4.35 per hour - 16-17 years old
 £3.90 per hour - apprentices under 19, or 19 or over who are in the first year of 

apprenticeship

The Low Pay Commission has a remit to review annually the ‘national living wage’, 
as well as the minimum wage, and to recommend any increases. The rate changes 

Page 183



6

every April. The Government asked the Commission to ensure that the ‘national 
living wage’ reaches 60% of median earnings by 2020. That would be likely to take it 
above £9.00 per hour.

For the purposes of this report, the ‘real Living Wage’ means the Living Wage as 
calculated for and overseen by the Living Wage Foundation.

2.4 Real Living Wage in Salford

Intelligence Analysis at Salford City Council (June 2019) has found that:

It is estimated that the number of jobs in Salford offering below the real Living Wage 
is growing by approximately 2,000 per year, but this is not wholly representative of 
residential employment as many residents are employed within other local authority 
areas (such as Trafford Park). For the UK as a whole, it is estimated that of nearly 
300,000 additional employees every year, 265,000 (88%) are earning below the real 
Living Wage (a growth in this proportion of +0.6% per year). The local model 
suggests that, while the number of Salford residents paid below the real Living Wage 
growing at a similar rate to the national average (+0.6% per year), there is also a 
similar increase in Salford residents earning above the real Living Wage. However, 
because there are a lot more earning above the real Living Wage in total, this results 
in the overall proportion of people earning below the real Living Wage increasing:

Proportion by year and average yearly growth
Salford U.K.

2015 2018 growth 2015 2018 growth
below real 
Living Wage 39.2% 40.9% +0.59% 

(+3.3k) 28.9% 30.7% +0.60% 
(+265k)

above real 
Living Wage 60.8% 59.1% -0.59% 

(+3.0k) 71.1% 69.3% -0.60% 
(+33k)

This suggests an average yearly growth in employment paid above the real Living 
Wage of around 3,000 people per year. The majority of this can be linked to a similar 
rate of population growth in and around Ordsall. This is largely based on young 
professionals (many having recently attended a local university) renting newly 
developed apartments. Some are initially employed on rates below the real Living 
Wage, while others are self-employed, often operating in the ‘gig economy’. In both 
cases, the rate of wage growth is fairly quick, and there is a high degree of turnover. 
Population growth in Ordsall is so large that it is also home to the largest increase in 
numbers of people paid below the real Living Wage, with one-third estimated to be 
living in Ordsall and Langworthy, despite the overall proportion reducing:

Proportion earning below the real Living Wage by year and average yearly growth 
by neighbourhood

2015 2019 growth
Claremont and Weaste 34.1% 35.7% +1.5% (+0.2k)
East Salford 45.0% 48.3% +2.5% (+0.0k)
Eccles, Barton and Winton 39.6% 41.7% +1.8% (+0.4k)
Irlam and Cadishead 37.2% 39.9% +2.4% (+0.3k)
Little Hulton and Walkden 43.2% 44.8% +1.3% (+0.6k)
Ordsall and Langworthy 45.3% 44.9% -0.3% (+1.3k)
Swinton and Pendlebury 37.4% 40.3% +2.6% (+0.2k)

Page 184



7

Worsley and Boothstown 22.6% 22.1% -0.8% (+0.1k)

Elsewhere in the city, where population growth is not at the same level, there are 
several factors at play which can affect estimated proportions paid below the real 
Living Wage. In East Salford, there has been an above average increase in the 
proportion, although this is linked to a highly transient population and decreasing 
numbers of working age and/or economically active residents, so numbers have 
remained similar. In Worsley and Boothstown, the proportion has decreased despite 
a small increase in numbers, largely because there has been a bigger increase in 
those earning above the real Living Wage. Elsewhere, particularly in the outer 
suburbs, numbers and proportions are increasing. There is the same theme 
throughout the country, with much of the increase linked to a decline in suburban 
unemployment, and older workers taking low paid jobs in order to supplement, or 
bridge gaps to, pension payments.

2.5 Salford’s commitments to the real Living Wage

Within Greater Manchester, Salford has taken the lead on the real Living Wage, with 
the then City Mayor signalling in 2013 the intention for Salford to end poverty pay and 
to become a real Living Wage City. This commitment has been continued by the 
current City Mayor, having previously chaired Salford’s Living Wage Partners Group.

Salford is already committed to “continue to champion for the wider adoption of the 
[real] Living Wage … as a minimum, with the ambition for Salford to become a ‘Living 
Wage City’.” A stated key measure of success is to “increase the number of Salford 
employers paying the Living Wage (as determined by the Living Wage Foundation).”1

Salford is also seeking to actively tackle poverty. “Our vision is for a fairer and more 
inclusive Salford where everyone is able to reach their full potential and live 
prosperous and fulfilling lives free from poverty and inequality.” Its strategy for 
tackling poverty aims to focus action by focusing collective action across three 
themes:2
1.Supporting people who are struggling in poverty now.
2.Preventing people from falling into poverty in the first place.
3. Influencing the Government and other national organisations to get a better deal 

for Salford people.

Under the second theme of preventing people from falling into poverty, Salford has 
stated that “Through our Employment Standards Charter, we are committed to do all 
we can to encourage businesses and organisations based in Salford to pay the real 
UK Living Wage … as a minimum (regardless of age), with a clear ambition for 
Salford to become a truly ‘Living Wage City’.”3

As part of its 10% Better campaign, the Salford Social Value Alliance4 has committed 
to:
 10% more employers paying the real Living Wage

1 Salford Employment and Skills Strategy 2017–20
2 No One Left Behind: tackling poverty in Salford. A joint strategy (2017)
3 No One Left Behind: tackling poverty in Salford. A joint strategy (2017)
4 https://www.salfordsocialvalue.org.uk/

Page 185

https://www.salfordsocialvalue.org.uk/


8

 using as an indicator of the proportion of employee jobs paid less than the real 
Living Wage in Salford

In line with the 10% Better campaign, it has previously been agreed that that the two 
key performance indicators for the real Living Wage in Salford should be:
 the number of Salford residents paid at least the real Living Wage [against an aim 

of increasing this by 10% between 2017 to 2021 – an extra 1,570 people]
 the number of accredited employers based in Salford paying the real Living Wage 

[against an aim of increasing this by 10% between 2017 to 2021 – an extra 2 
employers accredited]

Salford is one of the ten boroughs of Greater Manchester, which has committed that: 
“The leadership and management programmes provided by Greater Manchester 
partners will be complemented by a new Greater Manchester Good Employment 
Charter and plan for the ‘foundational economy’, to improve productivity, wages and 
job quality in all sectors.”5

The Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter is a voluntary membership and 
assessment scheme, led by Greater Manchester Combined Authority, which has 
been created to help deliver good jobs with opportunities for people to progress and 
develop, along with a thriving and productive economy. Membership of the Charter 
requires employers to demonstrate a commitment to excellent practice in seven key 
employment characteristics. One characteristic is: working towards paying a real 
Living Wage (set at the level recommended by the Living Wage Foundation).

There are 38 organisations based in Salford – in the public, private and social sectors 
– that are Living Wage Employers accredited with the Living Wage Foundation, with 
a significant additional number going through accreditation and/or already paying the 
real Living Wage to their employees.

There are at least another 13 accredited Living Wage employers with branches or 
operations in Salford. These include large businesses, Greater Manchester Chamber 
of Commerce, and several Greater Manchester-level statutory bodies.

3. Key issues for the Board to consider

3.1 Living Wage: Stating the Case

Research by the Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce to review the available 
evidence surrounding the business case for paying the real Living Wage (The Living 
Wage: Stating the Case, November 2016) found that:
 Across all the available evidence, three main areas in which paying higher wages 

can have a significant beneficial impact are evident: productivity; ease of 
recruitment; and staff retention.

 The evidence is almost entirely supportive of the idea that paying higher wages 
can improve production and quality, although the long-term nature of the benefits 
make them harder to quantify against the immediate cost increase. Wider 
beneficial economic spill-over effects have been observed following pay increases 
in select cases.

5 Greater Manchester Local Industrial Strategy (2019)

Page 186



9

 Organisations in traditionally low-paid, low-skilled and high staff-turnover sectors 
such as retail, health and social care, bars and restaurants, etc., will likely face 
relatively larger wage bill increases and have less scope to absorb such increases 
than sectors such as IT, banking, finance and construction.

 Sector also determines how prices are likely absorbed. Some sectors have scope 
to increase prices, whilst others may have to remove inefficiencies or reduce the 
number of staff or hours worked.

 Paying the real Living Wage means an increased wage bill for those organisations 
with low-paid workers, and due to the vast differences between business models 
the real Living Wage may not be practical for many organisations, so no blanket 
statement of endorsement can be made.

 If, after careful consideration, a particular organisation has adequate scope for 
paying higher wages, the evidence overwhelmingly suggests it is beneficial to do 
so.

3.2 Health Inequalities and the real Living Wage

Health Inequalities and the Living Wage (health equity briefing 6, UCL Institute of 
Health Equity, September 2014), commissioned by Public Health England, found that 
the evidence shows that insufficient income is associated with worse outcomes 
across virtually all domains of health, including long-term health and life expectancy. 
It is associated with a greater risk of limiting illness and poor mental health including 
maternal depression. Children who live in poverty are more likely to be born early 
and small, suffer chronic diseases such as asthma, and face greater risk of mortality 
in early and later life.

The negative health effects of living on a low income can be caused by material 
factors (the inability to afford the items necessary for a healthy life) and/or 
psychosocial factors (such as ‘status anxiety’).

The Institute for Health Equity concluded that adopting the real Living Wage has 
been shown to improve psychological health and well-being among employees and 
increase life expectancy. It is also associated with significant improvements in self-
rated health, depression, alcohol consumption, activity-limiting illnesses and a fall in 
mortality.

As major employers, statutory agencies can lead by example by paying at least the 
real Living Wage to all directly employed staff and, where appropriate, to all sub-
contracted staff. As major purchasers, statutory agencies can also help to implement 
the real Living Wage through procurement from their suppliers, including through 
innovative application of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.

3.3 Salford Health and Wellbeing Board position – 2015

At its meeting on 21 July, 2015, Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board resolved to:

1. endorse the evidence about the [real] Living Wage produced by the Institute for 
Health Equity; and support the principle that adopting the [real] Living Wage 
improves health and well-being

2. acknowledge the [real] Living Wage and its benefits within the Board’s strategy 
and locality plan

3. (each member) consider working towards:

Page 187



10

 introducing the [real] Living Wage;
 becoming an accredited Living Wage Employer; and
 incorporating the [real] Living Wage within its procurement
whilst acknowledging the constraints of national pay bargaining and review bodies

4. receive a report on member responses in respect of the issues in (3) above at a 
future meeting of the Board

3.4 Locality Plan for Salford

Amongst the outcomes stated in the Locality Plan for Salford are:
 Start Well: I am a young person who will achieve their potential in life, with great 

learning, and employment opportunities.
 Start Well: I am as good a parent as I can be.
 Live Well: I lead a happy, fulfilling and purposeful life.
 Age Well: I am an older person who is looking after my health and delaying the 

need for care.

At all stages of the life course, therefore, local people would benefit from the 
application of the real Living Wage.

Within the Locality Plan for Salford, the partner agencies state that “Our commitment 
is to ensure our residents can take advantage of the new opportunities in Salford, to 
secure for the people of our city a good education and decent jobs, whilst the City 
undergoes real growth, continues to attract ongoing investment, development and 
regeneration. We know that these are all key determinants affecting the health and 
wellbeing of our residents.”

The Locality Plan states that its implementation plan “seeks to make the required 
savings and efficiencies across the health and social care budget … through a 
number of system and wider enablers, including … Social Value:”
 Economic Growth and Employment – including an acknowledgement by Salford’s 

Health and Wellbeing Board of the wellbeing and health impacts of paying the real 
Living Wage.

Under Enabling Transformation, the Locality Plan identifies within its enabling 
programme to streamline back office support across public sector organisations this 
transformation priority:
 Explore introduction of the real Living Wage; becoming an accredited Living Wage 

Employer; and incorporating the real Living Wage within its procurement.

Similarly, under its enabling workforce programme - to enable a suitably skilled 
workforce and working conditions in order to achieve transformation and new ways of 
working - the Locality Plan identifies for an emerging workforce and organisational 
development strategy for various organisations across the city this key strand:
 Employment conditions: We will utilise evidence about the real Living Wage 

produced by the Institute for Health Equity in work to maximise adoption of the real 
Living Wage and the best possible working conditions for our workforce across the 
city, in order to improve health and well-being.

The programme to deliver this workforce priority is described as:
 Whilst acknowledging the constraints of national pay bargaining and review 

bodies, each member of the Health and Wellbeing Board will work towards:

Page 188



11

 introducing the real Living Wage;
 becoming an accredited Living Wage Employer; and
 incorporating the real Living Wage within its procurement

Furthermore, with regard to Prevention, the Locality Plan for Salford identifies within 
the programme on wider determinants of health and wellbeing to work with partners 
to reduce the harmful impact of the social, environmental and economic conditions in 
which people live on their health and wellbeing this transformation priority:
 To recognise the importance of ensuring that the jobs that are being created have 

the highest employment standards, such as working towards or paying the real 
Living Wage.

Two high-level assumptions stated as being used to construct the Salford Locality 
financial plan is:
 Assumed cost pressures in council expenditure for pay inflation and specific 

amounts added for implications of implementing the real Living Wage.
 The NHS provider position assumes average tariff increases of 0.5% each year 

over the next 5 years with pay and price increases of 2.5% each year.

3.5 Inclusive Economy Strategy for Salford

Early work has started on the development of an Inclusive Economy Strategy for 
Salford. It is anticipated that this Strategy will emphasise the role that key ‘anchor’ 
institutions can take to build and retain wealth locally through the promotion of the 
real Living Wage, progressive commissioning and procurement processes, and 
building on the wider aspirations of Salford’s Charter for Employment Standards.

3.6 Salford Health and Wellbeing Board position – 2016

In line with the Locality Plan for Salford and in light of the survey results, on 15 
November, 2016, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed, in principle, to:

1. support the principle that adopting the [real] Living Wage reduces inequalities 
and improves health and well-being at all stages of the life course;

2. support efforts to encourage all employers in Salford (in statutory, commercial or 
social sectors) to pay all staff at least the [real] Living Wage, by promoting the 
business case for the [real] Living Wage and leading by example;

3. work towards becoming a [real] Living Wage health and well-being system, using 
evidence about the business and health cases for the [real] Living Wage to 
encourage and support all member organisations to pay all staff (both directly 
employed and sub-contracted) the [real] Living Wage, and to become accredited 
Living Wage Employers, within workforce and organisational development 
strategies;

4. commit that contracts when started or renewed will be at the [real] Living Wage 
rate, supported by development of collective guidance and shared experience of 
incorporating the [real] Living Wage within procurement of services, goods and 
works, and by financial plans incorporating any implications, drawing on the most 
effective practice within and outside Salford;

5. promote through the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership the 
implementation of the [real] Living Wage in both employment and procurement;

Page 189



12

6. request the Salford Social Value Alliance to monitoring progress with the [real] 
Living Wage in Salford, and report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
progress in autumn 2017

Note: For clarity, within these actions, the ‘real Living Wage’ means the Living Wage 
as calculated for and overseen by the Living Wage Foundation.

The Board also agreed to set up a Living Wage task and finish group to:
 explore the enablers and barriers to the actions above
 how these might be used and overcome, and within what timescale

3.7 Salford Health and Wellbeing Board position – 2017

The Health and Wellbeing Board reviewed progress in March 2017 and, in line with 
the Locality Plan for Salford, agreed to:

1. support the principle that adopting the real Living Wage reduces inequalities and 
improves health and well-being at all stages of the life course;

2. work towards Salford becoming a real Living Wage health and well-being system, 
using evidence about the business and health cases for the real Living Wage to 
encourage and support all member organisations on the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to:
 pay all staff (both directly employed and sub-contracted) the real Living Wage
 become accredited Living Wage Employers with the Living Wage Foundation 

by 2021 at the latest
3. support efforts to encourage all employers in Salford (in statutory, commercial or 

social sectors) to pay all staff at least the real Living Wage, by leading by 
example and also promoting the business case for the real Living Wage in other 
sectors of the local economy, including the wider health and social care system 
in Salford;

4. develop collective guidance and shared experience of incorporating the real 
Living Wage within procurement of services, works and goods, drawing on the 
most effective practice within and outside Salford, with the aim that contracts 
when started or renewed in the future will be at the real Living Wage rate;

5. promote through the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership the 
implementation of the real Living Wage in both employment and procurement;

6. request the Salford Social Value Alliance to monitor progress with the real Living 
Wage in Salford, and report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on progress in 
autumn 2017

The Health and Wellbeing Board received an update report at its meeting in October 
2017.

3.8 Salford Health and Wellbeing Board position – 2018

The Health and Wellbeing Board reviewed progress in September 2018 and, in line 
with the Locality Plan for Salford, agreed to:

1. note the further progress made on the real Living Wage, with more than 75% of 
the Board’s members now being accredited Living Wage Employers;

2. request the Living Wage Task and Finish Group continues its work on the real 
Living Wage in Salford;

Page 190



13

3. request major procuring agencies in health and social care in Salford to identify 
at least one provider within their supply chain that would be open and likely to 
become an accredited Living Wage employer;

4. endorse the exploration of the development of collective guidance on 
incorporating the real Living Wage within procurement of services, works and 
goods, including the use of contractual levers;

5. support Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership on making 
progress on the real Living Wage in health and social care across Greater 
Manchester, from the perspective of health and social care integration;

6. request the Salford Social Value Alliance to continue to monitor progress with the 
real Living Wage in Salford, and report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
progress in spring 2019

3.9 Progress on implementing the real Living Wage 

Since the previous report to the Health and Wellbeing Board in September 2018, the 
Living Wage Task and Finish Group has continued to make progress on the actions 
above.

The Health and Wellbeing Board’s work over the past four years was recognised in in 
June 2019 with the presentation to Unlimited Potential of the Against All Odds 
Industry Award at the national Living Wage Champion Awards 2019, run by the 
Living Wage Foundation.

Salford becoming a real Living Wage health and well-being system by 2021.

Following a change in the constitution of the Health and Wellbeing Board, there have 
been 13 member organisations since 1 April, 2017. The current positions reported for 
each of them are:

 Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce
 Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service (as part of 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority)
 Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust
 Greater Manchester Police
 Healthwatch Salford
 Salford City Council
 Salford Clinical Commissioning Group
 Salford CVS
 Salford Primary Care Together

Accredited Living 
Wage Employers

 University of Salford

This means that a majority of ten (76.9%) of Salford Health and Wellbeing Board 
members are accredited Living Wage Employers. This compares to only four (44.4%) 
of the Board’s then nine member organisations being accredited Living Wage 
Employers in 2016.

Furthermore, while Salford Strategic Housing Partnership itself is not an employer, 
some (but far from all) social housing providers are accredited Living Wage 
Employers: ForHousing (and Liberty Group); Salix Homes (which was the first 
accredited Living Wage Employer in Greater Manchester, in June 2012); Symphony 
Housing Group; Windsor Albion Co-operative; and Your Housing Group.

Page 191



14

The current position of the other two Board members is:

Greater Manchester Health 
and Social Care 
Partnership

Initial high level scoping at Greater Manchester level, 
with more to be done with NHS employers and other 
associated bodies. From mid-2018, consideration has 
been given to how to make progress on the real 
Living Wage in health and social care across Greater 
Manchester, from the perspective of health and social 
care integration. A meeting on 25 June, 2019, 
explored this further, with potential priorities identified 
as prioritising NHS trusts, and engaging with the 
Strategic Workforce Board at GMHSCP.

Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust

Following the national NHS pay deal in 2018, all 
employees in the Northern Care Alliance (including 
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust) are paid above 
the real Living Wage. It is the Board’s policy to retain 
‘hotel services’ in-house, leading to a decision to 
return contracted-out domestic services across the 
Pennine Acute Hospitals to an in-house service.

An introduction was made in August 2018 between 
the Northern Care Alliance and the Living Wage 
Foundation for specialist support on introducing the 
real Living Wage and becoming an accredited Living 
Wage employer, including with regard to any 
remaining contracted-out staff. Further contacts on 
this with the Alliance have been attempted.

Despite this activity, Salford Royal NHS Foundation 
Trust is still not an accredited Living Wage employer.

The Board may also wish to note the position with regard to larger provider 
organisations in Salford:
 Aspire for intelligent Care and Support - accredited Living Wage Employer; winner 

of the Beyond the Living Wage Champion Award in the national Living Wage 
Champion Awards 2019, in recognition of its leadership role in tackling in-work 
poverty and improving the well-being of employees, going above and beyond the 
Living Wage rate.

 Oaklands Hospital (owned by Ramsay Health Care UK) - not accredited; although 
there was a positive discussion by Salford Clinical Commissioning Group with the 
General Manager on 5 October, 2017, there has been no progress by the hospital 
since.

 Salford Community Leisure - accredited Living Wage Employer from November 
2018.

Only one in ten GP practices have previously paid all their staff the real Living Wage. 
In order to access additional funding they will need to meet the Salford Standard, a 
set of requirements for commissioning additional services from GPs. Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group has said to GPs that, from April 2019, demonstrating action 
towards paying the real Living Wage will be one of those requirements. Three GP 
practices, Chapel Medical Centre in Irlam, the Gill Medical Centre in Walkden, and 
Poplars Medical Centre in Swinton, are now accredited Living Wage employers.

Page 192



15

There are also at least ten smaller providers operating in Salford that are accredited 
Living Wage Employers: 42nd Street; Being There; Gaddum Centre; Helping Hands; 
Home Instead Senior Care (Salford and Worsley); LGBT Foundation; Pathways CIC; 
Start Inspiring Minds; Survivors Manchester; and Unlimited Potential.

Promoting the business case for the real Living Wage to all employers in Salford.

In addition to the agencies mentioned in the section above, there is already a range 
of other organisations based in Salford from all sectors that are accredited Living 
Wage Employers, including: Anchor Removals ltd.; Broughton Trust; Carbon 
Creative; Caritas Diocese of Salford; Citizens Advice Salford; Coffee4Craig; 
Fletchers Engineering; Geoffrey Miller Solicitors; Mettler-Toledo Safeline ltd.; 
Moorepay ltd.; No Drama; Peel Outlets Management; Salford Unemployed & 
Community Resource Centre; SRO Solutions; Thermatic Maintenance; Vita Skills 
ltd.; and Zymurgorium.

There are other accredited Living Wage Employers with branches in Salford, 
including Barclays Bank, Lloyds Bank, Nationwide Building Society and Santander 
UK.

The cross-sector Salford Social Value Alliance aims to use social value to make a 
10% improvement across 11 social, economic and environmental outcomes for the 
benefit of Salford and its people. With regard to the real Living Wage, the 10% Better 
campaign aim is that, by 2021, there will be 10% more employers paying the real 
Living Wage (at least 1,570 more Salford people paid the real Living Wage).

The Salford Living Wage City Action Group was formed in July 2019, which replaced 
the Living Wage Task and Finish Group. Its aim is to secure Living Wage City status 
under the Making Living Wage Places scheme run by the Living Wage Foundation. 
The scheme seeks to celebrate employers and community leaders’ willingness to go 
even further than their own accreditation – for the benefit of their local community 
and economy. The overall objective is to increase the number of workers earning the 
real Living Wage by promoting Living Wage accreditation locally. 

The first meeting on 30 July, 2019, was chaired by the City Mayor and attracted 25 
participants from: the local authority; major private sector champions; other large 
‘anchor’ employers; VCSE sector champions; small and medium enterprise; 
employer networks; and trade unions.

Research into the local low pay landscape has been done, which has been used to 
inform a clear and ambitious Living Wage City action plan for 2020-2022, with a 
focus on increasing the city’s performance against these impact measures:
 the number of accredited Living Wage employers whose main base is within the 

City of Salford
 the number of people lifted above the real Living Wage who are employed or 

contracted by accredited Living Wage employers whose main base is within the 
City of Salford

 the proportion of jobs in Salford employed by accredited Living Wage employers 
whose main base is within the City of Salford

Page 193



16

This Living Wage City action plan was submitted to the Living Wage Foundation in 
October 2019, with the aspiration of Salford becoming England’s first designated 
Living Wage City.

Real Living Wage within procurement of services, works and goods.

For statutory bodies, the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 applies when a 
statutory body procures the provision of services, or the provision of services 
together with the purchase of hire of goods or carrying out of works, that is subject to 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. The Act requires the procuring body to 
consider, at the pre-procurement stage, how procurement could improve the social, 
economic and environmental well-being of the relevant area, and also to consider 
how in conducting the process of procurement, the commissioner might act with a 
view to securing that improvement.

For statutory bodies, the European Commission has confirmed that any mandatory 
requirement on contractors, as part of a public procurement process or public 
contract, to pay their employees a Living Wage set at a rate higher than any 
minimum wage set by or in accordance with law (that is, the UK’s National Minimum 
Wage or ‘national living wage’) is unlikely to be compatible with EU law.

It is, however, possible to encourage contractors to pay the real Living Wage, where 
relevant to the delivery of a contract. It could, for example, be stated as a standard.

Initial information and advice has been obtained from the Living Wage Foundation 
about effective practice in incorporating the real Living Wage within procurement of 
services, works and goods. This includes exemplar practice from the commercial 
sector.

Both Salford CCG and Salford City Council are seeking to incorporate the real Living 
Wage into commissioning, under the Public Services (Social Value Act) 2012. It has 
been agreed to explore the development of collective guidance and shared 
experience of incorporating the real Living Wage within procurement of services, 
works and goods, including the use of contractual levers. This will include a review of 
legal advice, in the light of experience of statutory bodies elsewhere in England.

Promotion of the real Living Wage through the Greater Manchester Health and Social 
Care Partnership.

There was initial high level scoping at Greater Manchester level, with more to be 
done with NHS employers and other associated bodies. From mid-2018, 
consideration has been given to how to make progress on the real Living Wage in 
health and social care across Greater Manchester, from the perspective of health 
and social care integration. A meeting on 25 June, 2019, explored this further, with 
potential priorities identified as prioritising NHS trusts, and engaging with the 
Strategic Workforce Board at Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 
Partnership. 

Monitoring and reporting on progress with the real Living Wage in Salford.

As part of its 10% Better campaign, Salford Social Value Alliance continues to 
monitor progress with the real Living Wage in Salford.

Page 194



17

Intelligence Analysis at Salford City Council has explained that, to monitor city-wide 
progress on the real Living Wage, a file from Experian is received once a year that 
codes every household in Salford to one of 66 UK types based on several factors, 
including a range of directly observed financial data. To create a model, these 
household codes are used in conjunction with other data such as age (the biggest 
factor in wage rates), as well as the suite of average income and affordability figures.

Intelligence Analysis had indicated that they will update the model on a yearly basis, 
but that it may be best to project the expected yearly change for future years and 
then monitor the observed change after a few years, as they will be able to 
demonstrate actual change in small areas more accurately.

4. Recommendations for action

In line with the Locality Plan for Salford, the Health and Wellbeing Board agrees:

1. To welcome and support the action being taken by Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group to spread the real Living Wage in primary care.

2. To note and welcome the accreditation as Living Wage employers of several 
Salford-based providers of social care.

3. To note that all but two members of Salford Health and Wellbeing Board are 
accredited Living Wage Employers.

4. To fulfil the Board’s agreement in March 2017 work towards Salford becoming a 
real Living Wage health and well-being system, by encouraging and supporting 
those members that are not yet accredited Living Wage employers to:
 pay all staff (both directly employed and sub-contracted) the real Living Wage
 become accredited Living Wage Employers with the Living Wage Foundation 

by 2021 at the latest

5. To note the formation of the Salford Living Wage City Action Group, and to 
endorse Salford’s application for Living Wage City status from the Living Wage 
Foundation under its Making Living Wage Places scheme.

6. To include specific commitments on the real Living Wage in the refreshed 
Locality Plan that is being developed, including with regard to the Greater 
Manchester Good Employment Charter and the Salford Living Wage City action 
plan.

7. To request the Salford Social Value Alliance to continue to monitor progress with 
the real Living Wage in Salford, and report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
progress in autumn 2020.

Note: For clarity, within these recommendations, the ‘real Living Wage’ means the 
Living Wage as calculated for and overseen by the Living Wage Foundation.

5. Contextual information

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Page 195



18

 Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (2017), The Living Wage: core 
principles and global perspectives – 
http://www.accaglobal.com/content/dam/ACCA_Global/Technical/sus/pi-living-
wage-core-principles.pdf

 Bloomer E. (2014), Health Inequalities and the Living Wage (health equity 
evidence review 6, UCL Institute of Health Equity) - 
www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/health-inequalities-and-the-living-wage

 Bloomer E. (2014), Health Inequalities and the Living Wage (health equity briefing 
6, UCL Institute of Health Equity) - www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/health-
inequalities-and-the-living-wage

 Centre for Research in Social Policy (2014), Uprating the out-of-London Living 
Wage (Loughborough University) - 
www.lboro.ac.uk/research/crsp/mis/thelivingwage/

 Coulson A. and Bonner J. (2014), Living Wage Employers: evidence of UK 
business cases (University of Strathclyde) - 
http://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/BAR_LivingWageReport%20croppe
d%2021%2001.pdf

 D’Arcy C. and Finch D. (2016), Calculating a Living Wage for London and the rest 
of the UK (Resolution Foundation) - http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/wp-
content/uploads/2016/10/Living-wage-calculations.pdf

 Davies A. (2016), The Living Wage: Stating the Case (Greater Manchester 
Chamber of Commerce) – 
http://www.gmchamber.co.uk/system/attachments/1538/original.pdf

 Durcan D. (2015), Local action on health inequalities. Promoting good quality jobs 
to reduce health inequalities (Public Health England, UCL Institute of Health 
Equity) – http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/local-action-on-
health-inequalities-promoting-good-quality-jobs-to-reduce-health-inequalities- 

 Heery E, Nash D. and Hann D. (2017), The Living Wage Employer Experience 
(Cardiff Business School) – 
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/722429/The-Living-Wage-
Employer-Experience-Report.pdf 

 Hunter P. (2018), The local Living Wage dividend: an analysis of the impact of the 
Living Wage on ten city regions (Smith Institute) – http://www.smith-
institute.org.uk/book/the-local-living-wage-dividend/

 Johns M., Raikes L., Hunter J. (2019), Decent Work. Harnessing the power of 
local government (IPPR) - https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/decent-work

 Lawton K. and Pennycook M. (2013), Beyond the Bottom Line: The Challenges 
and Opportunities of a Living Wage (IPPR and Resolution Foundation) - 
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/wp-
content/uploads/2014/08/Beyond_the_Bottom_Line_-_FINAL.pdf 

 Living Wage Commission (2016), Closing the Gap. A Living Wage that means 
families don’t go short - http://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/Closing the 
gap - final report of the Living Wage Commission.pdf

 Living Wage Foundation (2018), Life on Low Pay - 
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/LWF%20Life%20on%20Low%20P
ay%20Report_0.pdf

 Living Wage Foundation (2019), Living Wage Places Toolkit - 
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/LWP%20Low%20Pay%20Local%
20Actions%20Report.pdf

Page 196

http://www.accaglobal.com/content/dam/ACCA_Global/Technical/sus/pi-living-wage-core-principles.pdf
http://www.accaglobal.com/content/dam/ACCA_Global/Technical/sus/pi-living-wage-core-principles.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/health-inequalities-and-the-living-wage
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/health-inequalities-and-the-living-wage
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/health-inequalities-and-the-living-wage
http://www.lboro.ac.uk/research/crsp/mis/thelivingwage/
http://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/BAR_LivingWageReport%20cropped%2021%2001.pdf
http://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/BAR_LivingWageReport%20cropped%2021%2001.pdf
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Living-wage-calculations.pdf
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Living-wage-calculations.pdf
http://www.gmchamber.co.uk/system/attachments/1538/original.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/local-action-on-health-inequalities-promoting-good-quality-jobs-to-reduce-health-inequalities-
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/local-action-on-health-inequalities-promoting-good-quality-jobs-to-reduce-health-inequalities-
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/722429/The-Living-Wage-Employer-Experience-Report.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/722429/The-Living-Wage-Employer-Experience-Report.pdf
http://www.smith-institute.org.uk/book/the-local-living-wage-dividend/
http://www.smith-institute.org.uk/book/the-local-living-wage-dividend/
https://www.ippr.org/research/publications/decent-work
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Beyond_the_Bottom_Line_-_FINAL.pdf
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Beyond_the_Bottom_Line_-_FINAL.pdf
http://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/Closing%20the%20gap%20-%20final%20report%20of%20the%20Living%20Wage%20Commission.pdf
http://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/Closing%20the%20gap%20-%20final%20report%20of%20the%20Living%20Wage%20Commission.pdf
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/LWF%20Life%20on%20Low%20Pay%20Report_0.pdf
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/LWF%20Life%20on%20Low%20Pay%20Report_0.pdf
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/LWP%20Low%20Pay%20Local%20Actions%20Report.pdf
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/sites/default/files/LWP%20Low%20Pay%20Local%20Actions%20Report.pdf


19

 London Economics (2009), An independent study of the business benefits of 
implementing a Living Wage policy in London – 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor/economic_unit/docs/living-wage-benefits-report.pdf 

 Marmot M. et al. (2010), Fair Society, Healthy Lives: strategic review of health 
inequalities in England post-2010 - www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-
society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review

 Robinson B. et al. (2015), The Living Wage: an economic impact assessment 
(KPMG) - 
https://www.kpmg.com/UK/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/
PDF/Issues%20and%20Insights/kpmg-living-wage-report-2015.pdf

STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED:
 Locality Plan for Salford (2016) – http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan
 Lupton R., Rafferty A. and Hughes C. (2016), Inclusive Growth: opportunities and 

challenges for Greater Manchester, Manchester: Inclusive Growth Analysis Unit, 
University of Manchester

 Salford City Mayor's Charter for Employment Standards - 
http://www.visitsalford.info/locate/citymayorsemploymentcharter.htm 

 Salford City Partnership (2017) – Salford Employment and Skills Strategy 2017-
2020 (2017) - 
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/documents/Employment_skills_strategy_2017-
20_web_-_final_(web_version).pdf

 Salford City Partnership (2017) – No One Left Behind: tackling poverty in Salford – 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/390192/no-one-left-behind-tackling-poverty-in-
salford.pdf

 HM Government / Greater Manchester Combined Authority (2019) – Greater 
Manchester Local Industrial Strategy – https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchesters-local-industrial-strategy/

 Greater Manchester Combined Authority (2019) – Greater Manchester Good 
Employment Charter – https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-
do/economy/greater-manchester-good-employment-charter/

THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY: 
 Salford Social Value Alliance - Living Wage Task Group

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 
There has not been a community impact assessment completed locally.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 
There are costs to employers of implementation of the Living Wage, primarily 
associated with increased wage bills, though these will vary by sector and employer. 
It does, however, lower staff turnover and absenteeism, increase productivity, 
improve organisational reputation and raise staff motivation and morale, with 
associated cost savings for employers.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: None.

Page 197

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor/economic_unit/docs/living-wage-benefits-report.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
https://www.kpmg.com/UK/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/PDF/Issues%20and%20Insights/kpmg-living-wage-report-2015.pdf
https://www.kpmg.com/UK/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/PDF/Issues%20and%20Insights/kpmg-living-wage-report-2015.pdf
http://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/salford-locality-plan
http://www.cities.manchester.ac.uk/igau/research/reports/
http://www.cities.manchester.ac.uk/igau/research/reports/
http://www.visitsalford.info/locate/citymayorsemploymentcharter.htm
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/documents/Employment_skills_strategy_2017-20_web_-_final_(web_version).pdf
http://www.partnersinsalford.org/documents/Employment_skills_strategy_2017-20_web_-_final_(web_version).pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/390192/no-one-left-behind-tackling-poverty-in-salford.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/390192/no-one-left-behind-tackling-poverty-in-salford.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchesters-local-industrial-strategy/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchesters-local-industrial-strategy/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-good-employment-charter/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-good-employment-charter/


20

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
There are costs to employers of implementation of the Living Wage, primarily 
associated with increased wage bills, though these will vary by sector and employer. 
It does, however, lower staff turnover and absenteeism, increase productivity, 
improve organisational reputation and raise staff motivation and morale, with 
associated cost savings for employers.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS:
There are implications in incorporating the Living Wage within procurement, 
wherever legal, including through application of the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012. Legal advice has been obtained by Salford City Council on these.

HR IMPLICATIONS:
Adopting the Living Wage for all employees should lower staff turnover and 
absenteeism, increase productivity, improve organisational reputation and raise staff 
motivation and morale.

Page 198



1

Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Greater Manchester Health and Justice Strategy
Date 5 November 2019
Contact Officer Jeannette Staley, Head of Community Safety, Salford City Council

Hannah Dobrowolska, Director of Corporate Services, NHS Salford CCG

1.     Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? - Relevance of this report to 
the priorities of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated 
working

For Board member awareness of this work and 
emerging strategy.

Health and Wellbeing Board’s duties 
or responsibilities in this area

To be aware of inter relationship between the health 
and justice agendas.

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address - what 
action is needed from the Board and 
its members?

To be aware that this strategy is under development 
at a Greater Manchester level.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around 
this issue?

Communication will be managed at this stage at a 
Greater Manchester level.

2.     Introduction 

2.1 Poor health is something that impacts both victims of crime and offenders. From learning 
disabilities to drug addiction to poor mental health, there are a surprising number of health 
problems that make you more likely to be a victim of crime or an offender. So Greater 
Manchester has decided to become the first city-region in England to develop a Health and 
Justice Strategy.

2.2 The aim of this strategy is to improve the health of people who are already in the criminal 
justice system, or who are at risk of entering it – either as a victim or offender. The aim is 
that this will reduce the risk of some people becoming a victim, and prevent others from 
getting involved in crime.

2.3 A vision and a set of priorities for Greater Manchester’s Health and Justice Strategy have 
been developed. Consultation on this was undertaken through October with regard to how 
we improve the support we give to vulnerable people who come into contact with the criminal 
justice system in Greater Manchester.

Page 199

Agenda Item 11



2

2.4 The feedback collected from people during this consultation will be used to shape the 
delivery plan for the Greater Manchester Health and Justice Strategy.

3.     Key issues for the Board to consider

3.1 Role the Health and Wellbeing Board and its members should take in this agenda.

4.     Recommendations for action 

4.1 Justice partners in Salford are largely aware of this, as has been through the Greater 
Manchester Police and Crime Panel, and the details of the consultation were shared locally 
for them to respond to.

4.2 The critical timeframe for us in Salford will be once the Strategy has been adopted, and 
there will be expectations of local response, both of Greater Manchester programmes but 
also that we integrate ways of working into our local arrangements.  Critical will be the 
relationship between police, justice, community safety and mental health. Locally there are 
conversations with Greater Manchester Policy about elements of their reform programme 
and how / when they will be implemented in Salford 

4.3 The first steps locally will be a briefing for our Lead Member(s), following which we plan to 
organise a briefing and co-design session with key partners to support implementation.  This 
may be a joint session between the Community Safety Partnership and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board type partners within Salford. This can focus on implementation and the 
Salford response.

5.     Contextual information 

CONTACT OFFICERS:

Jeannette Staley, Head of Community Safety, Salford City Council
Hannah Dobrowolska, Director of Corporate Services, NHS Salford CCG (author of cover paper)

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Draft strategy attached.

STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED: 

Included within draft strategy.

THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY: 

Wide range of organisations and individuals as part of the consultation.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

Considered at Greater Manchester level as part of the draft strategy. 

Page 200



3

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  

Considered at Greater Manchester level as part of the draft strategy.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Considered at Greater Manchester level as part of the draft strategy.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Considered at Greater Manchester level as part of the draft strategy.  Will be considered at Salford 
level as part of implementation planning.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS:

None identified to date.

HR IMPLICATIONS: 

None identified to date.

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Working Draft

Greater Manchester 

Integrated Health and Justice Strategy

Page 203



2

Foreword – to be developed following socialisation and public consultation 
processes.  JR and BH to co-sign

Page 204



3

Executive summary

The purpose of this first Integrated Health and Justice Strategy for Greater Manchester is to 
inform and enhance the way in which we understand and address the health, care and 
criminal justice factors that can lead to life-long poor physical and emotional health, and 
reduced life-expectancy, for people who are seen in the criminal justice system, as offender 
or victim.  

The benefits of focusing on addressing the social and health inequalities experienced by this 
group of often vulnerable people will be seen at an individual level – in the form of 
improved physical and mental resilience, healthy relationships, reintegration in community 
life and the avoidance of first or repeat offending or victimisation - and at a community 
level, reduced health inequalities, lower crime rates, and safer and more cohesive 
communities.      

Increasing national focus on effective healthcare for the victims of abuse and sexual 
violence, and offenders in the prison estate, provides a backdrop for the development of 
this Greater Manchester city region approach, alongside local needs assessments and 
strategic review work.  

Greater Manchester’s long-standing ambition as a city region has been to take greater 
control of its own destiny.  Health and social care and now justice Devolution are enablers 
to achieving that.  Integrating and reforming public services is the key to breaking down 
service silos and moving towards a preventative approach which serves residents and 
communities better.  This strategy emphasises and embraces this vision of public service 
reform.

The engagement work that has fed into the development of the strategy has pointed 
towards an initial strategic focus on three particularly vulnerable groups – children and 
young people, vulnerable and marginalised female victims of domestic abuse or sexual 
violence and people with a learning disability, autism and communication disorder. 

The strategy introduces two key concepts that offer the potential to transform the way that 
public services in Greater Manchester, across all sectors, identify, engage with and support 
some of the most vulnerable people living in our communities.  The first is the idea of 
adopting a public health informed approach to health and justice strategy, policy and 
delivery.  This is intended to stimulate a more preventative model of identification and 
support for victims and offenders, with an explicit aim of intervening earlier to reduce the 
likelihood of offending or being victimised.  In practice, this means using data and 
intelligence to understand this typically vulnerable population of children, young people and 
adults and the complex reasons that have led them to be in contact with the criminal justice 
system. 

What works to support and address the health, care and wider social needs of people in 
contact with the criminal justice system is currently an evolving field, and the delivery 
programmes identified in the strategy will no doubt add to this relatively narrow evidence 
base.  However, there is broad acknowledgement that the application of trauma-led 

Page 205



4

practice is especially important in supporting this population of children, young people and 
adults, as many victims and offenders have a history of challenging life experiences including 
abuse.  Moving to a position where public services regularly and consistently use more 
therapeutic practices, which recognise the impact of previous trauma or difficult life 
experiences, is the second concept introduced through the strategy.  

It is important to recognise that there are already a number of well-established public and 
VCSE sector services across Greater Manchester whose purpose it is to improve the health 
and wellbeing of people seen in the criminal justice, such as the Sexual Assault and Referral 
Centre (SARC), the Women’s Support Alliance services and wider victim support services.  
Whilst Greater Manchester is leading the way nationally with new, jointly commissioned 
service models i.e. Integrated Healthcare in Custody and wider Liaison and Diversion, there 
is scope for greater alignment and collaboration across Greater Manchester around the 
needs of this population group, not only across health and justice provision, but across 
mainstream services and professional domains.  

This strategy and the delivery plan in particular reflects this combination of existing 
development work and new health and justice ambitions and priorities, with a view to 
bringing greater strategic coherence to both programmes of work, and eventually bringing 
them together as one.  As well as seeing the emergence of a more consistent, whole system 
approach to health and justice in Greater Manchester within the first 5 years of the strategy, 
a further success factor will be tangible evidence of health, social care, Voluntary, 
Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector and criminal justice services providing more 
trauma-informed, collaborative care and support to this population group, with a stronger 
emphasis on prevention and earlier intervention.  In due course, this should manifest in 
better health and wellbeing and reduced offending and reoffending.

This first Integrated Health and Justice Strategy for Greater Manchester therefore provides 
both a case for change and a platform for improvement and development in health and 
justice intelligence, commissioning and service provision through its delivery plan.            

Page 206



5

CONTENTS

1. Why focus on health and justice?

a. Our opportunity in Greater Manchester
b. Defining the case for change
c. Risk factors associated with contact with the criminal justice system
d. National and international policy and evidence
e. Greater Manchester evidence and insight
f. Benefits of violence reduction in human and system costs

2. Whole-system leadership for health and justice

3. Overview of specialist health and justice provision in Greater 
Manchester

4. Rationale for strategic focus on particular groups

5. Health and justice strategic framework and priorities

6. Delivery and resource planning 

Page 207



6

1. Why focus on health and justice?
 

a. Our opportunity in Greater Manchester

The 2016 devolution of responsibilities for health and social care brought to life through 
‘Taking Charge’ Plan, and the 2019-2021 justice devolution agreement, create an 
opportunity for Greater Manchester to innovate and integrate public policy and services in 
the field of health and justice.  Devolution has created a framework to do this, enhanced by 
a new Greater Manchester integrated public services model and reform principles which 
emphasise prevention, people and place.  Together these act as enablers for change, but 
they are also helping to stimulate a shared understanding of the health needs and health 
inequalities of a population group who have traditionally been ‘seen’ separately by public 
services.  Focusing our collective efforts specifically on the health needs of people in contact 
with the criminal justice system, or at risk of entering it, is a new approach for the city 
region, and it presents a chance to deliver high-impact change in the medium to long-term 
for some of our most marginalised and vulnerable children, young people and adults.  

The emphasis throughout this strategy is to integrate policy and services relating to health 
and justice, including the development of innovative approaches to support people who can 
often become stuck in a cycle of exclusion, vulnerability, offending, victimhood or 
exploitation.  In line with a shared ambition in Greater Manchester to invest in preventative 
approaches, the strategy focuses on the need for earlier identification of risk factors and 
health and care needs, as well as appropriate interventions and support.  

Address ‘upstream’ determinants 
e.g.  ACE, Troubled Families 

Programme, Truancy, Youth Offending, 
Liaison & Diversion, Drug & Alcohol 

dependence, unemployment etc.
REDUCE OFFENDING / VICTIMHOOD

Address ‘downstream’ determinants e.g. 
support recovery from drug/alcohol 

dependence, address mental health problems, 
ensure access to primary care, support 

through training, education, employment, 
housing etc.

SUPPORT REHABILITATION, RECOVERY & 
REDUCE REOFFENDING

b. Defining the case for change 

The founding premise of this strategy is that health and wellbeing of people in contact with 
the criminal justice system, as a victim or an offender, is a shared responsibility of local 
authorities, CCGs, NHS healthcare providers, the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 
Partnership (GM HSCP), the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) and criminal 
justice services.  This is because the majority of people that have been a victim of crime, or a 

Page 208



7

perpetrator, live in and are part of our local communities and it is in a community setting 
that health, wellbeing and resilience can be best supported and improved.  

In fact, many more offenders are supervised in the community than in secure custody, and 
the majority of custodial sentences are relatively short at 12 months or less. 1  This means 
most custodial sentences allow for a relatively limited opportunity for the health and wider 
care and support needs of offenders to be identified and addressed, before they return to 
their communities.  

In addition, the transitional period of returning to the community after a prison sentence is 
known to carry significantly increased risks to physical and mental health, including 
premature death, and reoffending. 2  Identifying and supporting the health, care and wider 
social needs of offenders, as well as victims of crime, whose multiple and complex needs 
may not always be recognised, is regarded to be a major factor in rehabilitation and 
recovery.

However, poor physical and mental health amongst victims and offenders is also attributed 
in part to the priority and value that individuals place on their own health, with vulnerable 
people often not accessing health and care support in proportion with their needs, leading 
to pronounced differences in life course health and life expectancy.  Whilst health 
inequalities are often driven by socio-economic disadvantage and poorer opportunities and 
life chances, amongst children, young people and adults who come into contact with the 
criminal justice system, it is common to see a further layer of complexity which increases 
the risk of exposure to criminality or victimhood.  These risk factors include: 

 complex and traumatic personal histories and relationships, which may also include 
abuse and exploitation; 

 enduring mental health and/or substance misuse issues; 
 learning disabilities, autistic spectrum disorders and communication disorders; and 
 gender, in particular women and girls. 

This combination of risk factors can lead to entrenched health inequalities, which then 
negatively impact upon personal resilience and reinforce vulnerability, meaning that people 
in contact with the criminal justice system are some of the most marginalised, vulnerable 
and health-deprived population groups in any community.  

In the case of victims of interpersonal violence or harm, there is an opportunity to improve 
identification and specialist support, initially through mainstream health and care provision.  
Victims of violence, including domestic abuse and sexual abuse or exploitation, are more 
likely to be seen in a healthcare or social care context, so for many victims the route to 
accessing help and support is typically outside of the criminal justice system.  Existing 
examples of this in Greater Manchester include the independent domestic and sexual 
violence advocates and the GP-based IRIS domestic abuse referral programme.  

1 Balancing Act, published by Revolving Doors Agency 2013
2 As 1

Page 209



8

A focus on health and social care needs in a criminal justice context justice therefore has the 
potential to:

 increase identification of people affected by interpersonal violence or abuse; 
 improve the health, wellbeing and resilience of people seen in the health and justice 

context; 
 reduce health inequalities in a locality; 
 reduce the risks associated with offending or becoming a victim of violence or harm; 

and
 reduce offending and reoffending rates.  

The associated opportunity is to use this strategy to reinforce and enhance a shared 
understanding of the interaction of complex risk factors that can lead to acts of crime and 
exploitation or becoming a victim of it, and, develop a more attuned and integrated public 
service response to addressing and mitigating the effects of those risk factors.   

c.    Risk factors associated with contact with the criminal justice system 

The risk factors associated with offending behaviour and victimhood range from individual, 
relationship and situational factors, to wider social norms, inequalities and determinants, 
including access to education, housing and work.

However, the evidence suggests that some risk factors may have a more pronounced effect 
by inherently increasing vulnerability to violent crime, offending and being a victim of abuse. 
These risk factors include: adverse childhood experience; psychological trauma; having a 
learning disability; and having autism.  Whilst multiple factors combined may increase the 
risk of entering the criminal justice system e.g. factors commonly associated with socio-
economic disadvantage and social exclusion, some factors may create a context in which the 
risk of violence or harm is normalised e.g. trans-generational family violence. 

Page 210



9

The Liaison and Diversion team jointly worked with a health care professional to screen a 
female juvenile in custody.  On screening it was identified that the young woman appeared to 
be the victim and had bruising and a bite mark to her body.  She disclosed how her mother 
and sister were treating her at home and this information was shared with the arresting 
officer and the allocated social worker. This changed the police process and how she was 
treated and viewed in police custody. The allocated social worker came to custody to offer 
support to the girl and make appropriate arrangements to safeguard her.  The approach taken 
by the team empowered the girl and supported her to voice what was happening to her at 
home and follow-up steps were taken to ensure she is protected in the community. 

On a routine visit by one of the Custody 
Detention Officers, a detainee was found 
to be ‘breathing oddly’ in his cell.  The 
duty health care professional was 
requested and immediately attended the 
cell. The man was not breathing as 
expected and this had not been apparent 
on initial detention, although he was 
under the influence. The health care 
professional started treating the man 
promptly and requested an ambulance as 
a heroin overdose was suspected.  The 
initial ambulance response was a 
Category 2 but the health care 
professional soon advised that a recall 
was needed as the man’s condition was 
deteriorating.  This was then upgraded to 
a Category 1.  When the Rapid Response 
Paramedic arrived, the team-working 
with the on-scene health care 
professional resulted in effective action 
and the man made a full recovery.

A Community Support Navigator attached 
to the Liaison and Diversion service was 
working with a man on bail for an alleged 
offence. He was homeless, had poor 
personal hygiene and seemed very low in 
mood.  During several months of working 
together, which included encouragement 
and motivational support to make positive 
changes, he accepted referrals and 
attended all his appointments with 
support.  From initially being very low in 
mood, he now reports feeling much better 
and the working relationships with the 
Community Support Navigator is a very 
positive one. Whilst he was homeless, the 
service headquarter was used as a c/o 
address which allowed him to receive his 
NHS card and bus passes.  He received 
temporary support from a church project 
for homeless men over the winter period 
called ‘Street Angels’ and until shared 
supported accommodation had been 
secured.  All criminal charges have been 
dropped and no further action has been 
taken against him.

Many of the strategic interventions recommended by the WHO (see page 12-13) focus on 
protective factors or provision which evidence suggests may mitigate some of these risk 
factors.  The following case studies from existing services in Greater Manchester exemplify 

Page 211



10

effective responses to various presenting risk factors. 

Page 212



11

d. National and international policy and evidence 

The national context for health and justice 

In the UK over the period 2013-14, a series of structural and policy changes took effect in 
the delivery of local and national public health provision, the rehabilitation of offenders and 
the National Probation Service.  Public Health England (PHE), The Probation Chiefs 
Association or PCA and the Revolving Doors Agency (a specialist national charity) responded 
to these changes by collaborating to produce a briefing paper called Balancing Act: 
addressing health inequalities among people in contact with the criminal justice system.

The briefing highlighted that male and female offenders and ex-offenders are an often-
overlooked group who disproportionately experience poor physical and mental health, who 
commonly engage in high-risk behaviours and whose needs are often multiple and complex.  

In the intervening period since the publication of Balancing Act, the Revolving Doors Agency 
has published Rebalancing Act in January 2017.  The primary message of Rebalancing Act is 
that a whole-system, integrated response is the only solution to supporting people with 
multiple, complex social needs and circumstances, and that addressing people’s needs in 
this way will give rise to wider social and community benefit – what they refer to as a 
‘community dividend’.

One example of this is breaking the pattern of offending, abuse or psychological trauma that 
can sometimes be ‘passed’ between generations of the same family e.g. domestic abuse 
reducing the likelihood of poor mental health amongst wider family members, supporting 
effective parenting and caring, meaning that children are less likely to become ‘looked after’ 
by the state due to concerns about safeguarding.  An example of this in Greater Manchester 
is the success of the Women’s Support Alliance in reducing offending rates amongst women 
offenders, by tackling the issues that have contributed to offending which often include 
coercive and/or physically abusive relationships.       

However, Rebalancing Act acknowledges that working in the arena of health inequalities 
with people who often have complex and multiple health, care and social needs is 
challenging and whilst our understanding of the characteristics and needs of this population 
group is improving, our understanding of what works to reduce the health and social 
inequalities they experience is less well-developed.

Health care in the criminal justice system

NHS England also published its Strategic direction for health services in the justice system: 
2016-2020, covering the provision of care for men and women in all custodial settings (pre, 
during and post-custody).  The strategic priorities include:

 A radical upgrade in early intervention 

Page 213



12

 A decisive shift towards person-centred care that provides the right treatment and 
support

 Strengthening the voice and involvement of those with lived experience
 Supporting rehabilitation and the move to a pathway of recovery
 Ensuring continuity of care, on reception and post release, by bridging the divide 

between healthcare services provided in justice, detained and community settings
 Greater integration of services driven by better partnerships, collaboration and delivery

Following on from this, NHS England then published its strategic direction for sexual assault 
and abuse services - Lifelong care for victims and survivors: 2018 – 2023, which highlights:  

 Strengthening the approach to prevention
 Promoting safeguarding and the safety, protection and welfare of victims and survivors
 Involving victims and survivors in the development and improvement of services
 Introducing consistent quality standards
 Driving collaboration and reducing fragmentation 
 Ensuring an appropriately trained workforce

Most recently, the NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 reinforces the importance 
of access to health and social care for the vulnerable young people and adults seen in the 
criminal justice system.  It also makes specific references to national pilot schemes including 
the Community Service Treatment Requirement (CSTR) programme and RECONNECT.  The 
CSTR enables courts to require people to participate in community treatment, instead of a 
custodial sentence, whilst RECONNECT is a care after custody service which works with 
people before they leave prison to assist the transition to health and social care community-
based services. 

These national strategies set out expectations for the way healthcare needs to evolve for 
offenders in custody and victims and survivors.  Similarly, this Greater Manchester Health 
and Justice Strategy creates a set of priorities for improving access to health and care 
provision for offenders, ex-offenders and the victims of abuse and sexual violence living in 
our Greater Manchester communities.  As the work to develop the strategy has progressed, 
it is clear that many of the principles expressed in the national strategies are equally 
relevant to offenders, and victims of violence and abuse, living in the city region.

Violence reduction as a public service and population health goal

The World Health Organisation (WHO) has been advocating for better awareness about 
violence as a public health issue, and the multiple effects of violence on health and 
wellbeing, since the publication of its first World report on violence and health in 2002.  It 
has developed an ‘ecological framework’ as a way of understanding the factors that 
influence violence, showing the interaction of multiple factors that can lead to violent 
behaviour and it is regarded to be a sound basis for understanding the issue.  

Page 214



13

In 2010 WHO published a series of evidence briefings on violence prevention, in which it 
advocated 7 main strategic interventions, based on a review of the available international 
evidence.  They are listed below with some examples.

WHO strategic interventions Examples of practical support / services that show 
emerging evidence of effectiveness:

(1) increasing safe, stable and 
nurturing relationships between 
children and their parents and 
caregivers

Programmes that provide parental support and 
family approaches / therapies which focus on 
attachment, family bonds and healthy relationships 
often in the Early Years e.g. Family Nurse 
Partnership, Triple P, Incredible Years PreSchool.

Multi-component approaches e.g. Multi-systemic 
therapy (an intensive family therapy which 
addresses multiple issues) and Sure Start 
programmes are also thought to have a positive 
effect.

(2) developing life skills in children 
and adolescents 

Programmes that address life, social and emotional 
skills and competencies e.g. Incredible Years Child / 
teacher programmes, Training Promoting 
Alternative Thinking Strategies (PATHS)

(3) reducing availability and Programmes that offer brief interventions and 

Page 215



14

harmful use of alcohol longer-term treatment for problem drinking, 
including psychotherapeutic interventions such as 
CBT.  Reducing alcohol sales has also been linked to 
reducing violence.

(4) reducing access to guns, knives 
and pesticides

Programmes that directly target youth in gangs e.g. 
as in USA and Glasgow

(5) promoting gender equality School-based programmes that address gender 
norms and attitudes and issues of gender-based 
power and control 

(6) changing cultural norms that 
support violence

Programmes that address dating violence and 
sexual violence amongst young people by 
challenging social and cultural norms

(7) victim identification, care and 
support

Programmes that aim to identify victims e.g. 
through screening and referral alongside 
interventions such as advocacy for victims of 
violence e.g. IRIS domestic violence intervention, 
and psychosocial interventions which address 
psychological trauma

The evidence-base for what works to support vulnerable and marginalised people whose 
needs cut across health, care and the criminal justice system is still an emerging field in the 
UK, but current evidence and insight indicates that the style, aims and responsiveness of 
support may be as important as the focus of the intervention.

Some characteristics of positive support include 3:

3 Based on Greater Manchester analysis of common themes drawn from multiple evidence sources used to 
develop the strategy 

Page 216



15

Greater Manchester is one of several regions to have adopted a public health informed 
approach to violence reduction and has established a Violence Reduction Unit (VRU).  This 
VRU is a dedicated, co-located, multi-agency team including representation from across 
policing, health, local authorities, schools and the voluntary sector. These partners will work 
together to tackle violent crime and its underlying causes, by identifying the drivers of 
serious violence locally and developing a coordinated response to tackle them. 

Greater Manchester has modelled elements of its approach on the Scottish Violence 
Reduction Unit (SVRU), which has been operating since 2006. Other UK regions, including 
the West Midlands Violence Prevention Alliance and the Cardiff Model for Violence 
Prevention, have adopted approaches designed to understand and predict the prevalence, 
types and causes of violence within a community and take steps to address those issues 
through co-ordinated multi-agency action. 

In developing its approach to violence reduction, the new Greater Manchester Serious 
Violence Action Plan will be informed by the most up to date evidence in the field and 
expertise in criminology, through a collaboration with Manchester Metropolitan University 
(MMU) academics.

Page 217



16

e. Greater Manchester evidence and insight

Local research

Understanding in depth the health and care needs of the offender population and the 
victims of violence and abuse is a relatively new arena of public policy and service delivery 
for public health and criminal justice teams, but the same principles apply as for other 
population health work:

 understand the needs of the population of interest;
 identify health-related risk factors and their causes; and 
 intervene in ways that reduce the exposure to or offer protection from the 

detrimental effects of those risk factors.   

Work has already been completed that will support the development of this strategy and 
advance our understanding of the needs and characteristics of people in contact with the 
criminal justice system in Greater Manchester. These include:

 A Greater Manchester Criminal Justice System Health Needs Assessment (CJS HNA) 
(2018)

 An independent Health and Criminal Justice Strategic Commissioning Review (2018)

There are also a number of pieces of victim-focused research and insight which have been 
undertaken by Greater Manchester partners working to support victims of domestic and 
sexual violence which inform this strategy.  They are:

 A Health Needs Assessment of the population served by the St Mary’s Sexual Advice 
and Referral Centre (SARC), which summarises the characteristics and needs of the 
people who have used the service, in particular multiple attendances 

 The Voice of Survivors Research: Hearing Women for Change – conducted by MMU, 
MASH and Manchester Rape Crisis

All 4 documents are available separately and a collated summary of their main insights has 
fed into the development of this strategy.   Overall, local insight and research is consistent 
with national and international findings which point towards a range of complex often 
interrelated factors that increase an individual’s vulnerability to contact with the criminal 
justice system, including poor physical and mental health, and lifestyle factors including 
smoking, drug and alcohol use, alongside previous life experiences which may have been 
traumatic or challenging.

These Greater Manchester specific research and insight exercises tell us that:

PLACEHOLDER FOR RELEVANT GREATER MANCHESTER STATISTICS REGARDING THE 
POPULATION GROUPS OF INTEREST WITHIN THE STRATEGY.

Page 218



17

For example:

 reoffending rates amongst women, 
 common features of health needs amongst young offenders, 
 rates of special education need amongst young offenders, 
 rates of people with a learning disability or learning difficulty or autism in the prison 

population, or recorded as a victim of crime or interpersonal violence
 associations between being a victim of domestic abuse / sexual violence and wider 

health concerns, 
 suicide rates amongst offenders and former offenders

THIS WILL BE DESIGNED AS AN INFOGRAPHIC IN THE FINAL DESIGNED STRATEGY

Additional insight from health and justice focussed workshops

Several workshops were hosted as part of the stakeholder engagement for the development 
of the strategy.  Some of these were general, whilst others focused on specific issues and 
groups, including children and young people, vulnerable and marginalised women, and 
people with learning disabilities and autism.

The feedback at the workshops reinforced many of the messages from the evidence above. 
Discussions at the children and young people’s engagement event in particular drew 
attention to the additional vulnerability associated with having a learning disability, having 
autism, and/or having difficulties communicating, and their presentation amongst young 
people in contact with youth justice services.

Based on this Greater Manchester-specific evidence, and reinforced by wider national and 
international sources, this first integrated health and justice strategy for Greater 
Manchester has a strong focus on the groups of people in our communities who appear to 
be at an increased risk of violent crime and abuse.  This might be because of characteristics 
which seem to increase vulnerability to criminality or victimhood, such as gender or having a 
learning disability/autism/communication issue, or, because evidence and insight suggests 
that intervening earlier to reduce the risks associated with offending behaviour is the most 
effective approach e.g. focusing on identifying and supporting potentially vulnerable 
children and young people.

f. Benefits of violence reduction in human and system costs

Page 219



18

The WHO reports that although the economic case for a focus on interpersonal violence 
prevention isn’t currently well-developed4, ‘the provision of treatment, mental health 
services, emergency care and criminal justice responses are some of the direct costs 
associated with violence.’  The need for additional and sometimes intensive support from 
public and voluntary services including health, social care and criminal justice services, for 
both victims of violence and offenders, is self-evident but largely unquantifiable.  

Individuals, and their families, bear the most serious consequences of interpersonal violence 
including sometimes life-long effects on behaviour and health, including5:

Acute physical injury or disability Lacerations, fractures, brain / major organ injury, 
burn and scalds

Mental health and behavioural 
effects

Alcohol and drug abuse, depression and anxiety, 
post-traumatic stress disorder, suicidal thoughts or 
behaviour, eating and sleep disorders, smoking
unsafe sex

Sexual and reproductive effects Unintended pregnancy, pregnancy complications, 
gynaecological disorders, chronic pelvic pain,
HIV and other sexually transmitted infections

Chronic disease Arthritis and asthma, cancer, cardiovascular 
diseases, diabetes, kidney problems, liver disease

 

In Rebalancing Act The Revolving Doors Agency also put forward the concept of a 
‘community dividend’ which points to the wider societal benefits of addressing the health 
inequalities associated with crime, violence and offending, because of the extended impact 
on the families and communities who surround and support offenders and victims.

‘The community dividend model suggests that by addressing the health needs of those in 
contact with the criminal justice system there can be positive effects on the wider 
population.  People in prison or those in their friendship, family and social networks also 
disproportionately experience wider societal health and social inequalities – they often come 
from under-served populations and return to those communities when their immediate 
involvement in the criminal justice system has ended. Therefore, meeting the health needs of 
people in contact with the criminal justice system can help to achieve reductions in crime, 
reduce offending and improve the individual’s health.’ 6

4 WHO Global Status Report on Violence Prevention (2014)
5 Based on findings of WHO Global Status Report on Violence Prevention (2014)
6 Rebalancing Act 2017, p. 12

Page 220



19Page 221



20

2. Whole-system leadership for health and justice

This strategy will be delivered by a wide variety of public service partners in the statutory 
and VCSE sectors and the implementation of the strategy will reinforce and complement a 
series of existing Greater Manchester-wide programmes, including programmes in support 
of:

 Gender based abuse and domestic violence
 Serious Violence Action Plan
 Learning Disability
 Autism
 Mental Health
 Substance Misuse

Alignment and integration with other Greater Manchester-wide strategies will be essential 
to achieving improvements in the field of health and justice. These programmes of work 
include:

 The Greater Manchester Children’s Plan
 The Children and Young People’s Health and Wellbeing Framework
 The Justice and Rehabilitation Devolution memorandum of understanding
 The White Paper on Unified Public Services for the People of Greater Manchester
 Standing Together – The Police and Crime Plan
 Our People, Our Place – the Greater Manchester Strategy

Alongside identifying what we plan to do differently in Greater Manchester to reduce health 
inequalities and improve life chances for victims and offenders, the strategy also sets out 
how the conditions will be created for professionals and practitioners to improve what they 
currently do and the way they do it.

In considering what is needed to create an environment in which colleagues are informed, 
equipped and supported to improve practice, the aims of the strategy are to: 

• Highlight the risk factors, health vulnerabilities and health inequalities experienced by 
offenders, ex-offenders and the victims of personal violence

• Provide clarity on the existing evidence base (and its limitations)

• Advocate the introduction of trauma-informed practices proportionately across the 
workforce which emphasise the strong association between adverse childhood and life 
experiences and victimhood / offending - and collaboratively identify the resources to 
deliver high-quality workforce development  

• Inform integrated, whole system public health approaches to violence reduction with an 
emphasis on early help, early in life and stimulate Greater Manchester partners to work 
towards delivering this collaboratively

Page 222



21

• Create a clear account of ‘health and justice’ for mainstream health, care and criminal 
justice services, using and sharing data and intelligence, so that vulnerable and 
marginalised people are better identified and appropriately supported

• Acknowledge the complexity of working where health and justice issues intersect and 
explore with localities and partners how to develop and share best practice across 
Greater Manchester and learn from each other, in the short and medium term

• Understand how current organisational practices and processes may need to change to 
facilitate more effective early identification and intervention of vulnerable children, 
young people and adults, within organisations and between them e.g. assessment and 
referral practices 

• Emphasise collaboration amongst commissioners and providers in order to improve the 
accessibility and quality of support for this population group

A whole-system approach to Family Justice

Family Justice is a branch of the Health and Justice agenda which pursues the provision of 
integrated support for vulnerable families engaged in the criminal justice system. Its 
purpose is to ensure that services make decisions together which promote the holistic 
wellbeing of the whole family.

The internationally recognised principles of Family Justice are:

• Safety Focused: Increase safety, promote healing, and foster empowerment through 
services for victims and their children.

• Victim-centred: Provide victim-centred services that promote victim autonomy.
• Survivor-driven: Shape services to clients by asking them what they need.
• Relationship-based: Maintain close working relationships among all 

collaborators/agencies.
• Offender-accountability: Increase offender accountability through evidence-based 

prosecution strategies and/or evidence-based treatment programs.
• Transformative: Evaluate and adjust services by including survivor input and evidence 

based best practices.
• Culturally competent: Commitment to the utilisation of culturally competent services.
• Empowered: Offer survivors a place to belong even after crisis intervention services are 

no longer necessary.
• Kind-hearted: Develop an approach that values, affirms, recognizes and supports staff, 

volunteers, and clients7.

In Greater Manchester, the principles of Family Justice are well-aligned with the broader 
ambitions set out in our approach to unify public services within a single, coherent and 
effective model. More specifically, integrated, place-based teams working within some of 

7 EFJCA, ‘About the Family Justice Centers’, https://www.efjca.eu/centers

Page 223

https://www.efjca.eu/centers


22

Greater Manchester’s neighbourhoods present an opportunity to deliver a Family Justice 
approach to resolving the needs of – and in some instances this is already the case. 

Colleagues from the Centre for Mental Health were asked to review emergent place-based 
initiatives already being delivered in Greater Manchester and found that they demonstrated 
“the ready capacity to deliver” on the principles of Family Justice. 

Page 224



23

A place-based team in Holts and Lees draw on support from probation services. This 
provides an enhanced way of working with ex-offenders and their families in a local 
setting. In one particular example, the probation worker was aware that it was highly 
likely one of her clients would receive a custodial sentence of up to 6 months.

This offender expressed concern about the impact his sentence would have on his 
family and home as he was the sole tenant for his two-bedroom property, and he was 
the main claimant for all their benefits. The probation worker brokered a relationship 
with the place-based team who supported the offender to complete a deed of 
assignment to put the tenancy in joint names and, once sentenced, a place-based 
front-line worker was immediately available to support his girlfriend to apply for 
welfare benefits in her own right. The team also offered ongoing support to the 
family whilst the offender completed his five-month sentence.

When released from prison, the offender stated to the probation worker that for the 
first time he felt he was being released into a much stable environment where 
historically his life would have been much more chaotic and would have led to him re 
offending.

Page 225



24

Feedback from Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service (HMCTS) from the three 
sitting magistrates on a particular day extended their praise for the Liaison and 
Diversion worker in ensuring that a male defendant received help and assistance for 
his problems. The defendant was asking the court to sentence him to custody for a 
minor offence so he could receive help and he had committed the offence 
deliberately in the belief it was the only way for him to get help.  Thanks to the 
persistence shown by the Liaison and Diversion worker, the defendant was released 
from custody with support in place and a much more positive outlook on his future. 

3. Overview of specialist health and justice provision in Greater Manchester

Greater Manchester already has a strong record of accomplishment in health and justice, 
which includes ambitious collaboration between commissioners in health and policing. 
Building on national developments in health and justice provision, Greater Manchester has 
already developed a number of exciting and unique initiatives. The common feature of 
these services is a shared approach to commissioning, which recognises the interconnection 
between mitigating health needs, reducing demand on services, and improving the lives of 
Greater Manchester’s citizens. This strategy will seek to build on learning from the health 
and justice services which it has established in recent years. 

Among our successes in bringing together health and justice to date, with some examples of 
effectiveness, are:

 Integrated Healthcare in Custody and Wider Liaison & Diversion – this service 
simultaneously delivers the traditional aspects of custody healthcare and the liaison 
and diversion offer rolled out across England in recent years. The integration of 
these services at the point of commissioning was nationally unique. By unifying 
them, Greater Manchester has been able to enhance the scale of health support 
which is available to individuals with issues relating to physical or mental health, or 
substance misuse, when they come into contact with the criminal justice system. 
They are also able to ensure that these vulnerabilities are better supported when 
individuals return to the community – reducing the likelihood of re-offending in the 
long-term.  This service is present in all police custody suites across Greater 
Manchester, and in our magistrates’ and crown courts.   

 Mental Health Tactical Advice Service (formerly Control Room Triage) – this service 
was commissioned in the context of the ever-increasing burden placed on frontline 

Page 226



25

A resident contacted Greater Manchester Police (GMP) expressing thoughts about 
stabbing someone.  She also referred to hearing voices and having recently used illicit 
substances. GMP officers attended the home address and contacted the mental 
health tactical advice service via the telephone. The officers said they felt able to 
manage and support the woman at her home address and they were not concerned 
that she was an immediate threat to others.  However, because she presented with 
mental ill health and had expressed an intent to harm others, consideration needed 
to be given to appropriate follow-up measures.

The advice service consulted the woman’s health care records and were able to see 
that she had a diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia and that she was being supported 
by her local community mental health team. The service provided the officer at the 
scene with these background details and then contacted her community mental 
health team to see if they could respond to her needs and so that GMP might 
withdraw.  Together it was agreed that community mental health would prioritise 
seeing the woman that day and her psychiatrist planned to visit her at home.  This 
collaborative approach enabled a prompt response which offered the most 
appropriate support to meet the woman’s needs, avoiding unnecessary escalation.   

police by mental ill health in the wider population. This service situates a team of 
mental health practitioners, including representation from all three of Greater 
Manchester’s mental health providers, within the police control room. This team 
provide frontline police officers with real-time advice on live incidents that are 
mental health-related, allowing for enhanced critical risk management and more 
appropriate outcomes. This team’s ability to advise on the needs of every mentally ill 
member of the public presenting to the police in Greater Manchester gives them a 
reach which surpasses that of other similar street triage schemes in England.

 Sexual Assault and Referral Centre (SARC) - Saint Mary’s Sexual Assault Referral 
Centre provides a comprehensive and co-ordinated forensic, counselling and 
aftercare service to men, women and children living in the Greater Manchester and 
Cheshire area who have experienced rape or sexual assault, recently or in the past. 
Partners from NHS England and GMCA work together to commission forensic 
support services and aftercare respectively as part of one service.

Page 227



26

Greater Manchester is also home to a range of complementary services which contribute to 
our wider health and justice offer. These services are each commissioned by individual 
commissioners within locality footprints. Achieving the priorities in this strategy will mean 
seeking guidance and partnership from stakeholders involved in commissioning and 
delivering these services, and other key services in Greater Manchester.

 Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) - IRIS is a general practice-based 
domestic violence and abuse (DVA) training support and referral programme.  It is a 
collaboration between primary care and third sector organisations specialising in 
DVA.  An advocate educator is linked to general practices and based in a local 
specialist DVA service. It is aimed at women who are experiencing DVA from a 
current partner, ex-partner or adult family member. IRIS also provides information 
and signposting for male victims and for perpetrators.  IRIS is currently 
commissioned in Manchester and Bolton.

 Independent domestic abuse/sexual violence advocacy – Independent domestic 
abuse advocates (IDVA) or sexual violence advocates (ISVA) who take referrals from 
a wide range of services where people have been identified as the victim of domestic 
or sexual violence.  Advocates support victims of abuse to make the right decision 
for them, from reporting experiences to the police to offering support, advice, 
information and advocacy through the criminal justice process.

 Women’s Support Alliance – The Women’s Support Alliance is made up of the 
providers who deliver nine women’s centres across Greater Manchester. These 
services are commissioned to support women offenders and reduce re-offending 
across the city region. Each women’s centre has a bespoke offer, and some support a 
wider cohort of vulnerable women who are at risk of entering the criminal justice 
system, taking account of complex need.

 Existing support in youth justice services – many of Greater Manchester’s existing 
statutory, multi-disciplinary youth offending teams (YOTs) already include offers of 
support for the health needs of young offenders, and other young people at risk of 
first-time entry into the criminal justice system. YOTs take a holistic approach 
towards young people and the issues they face, identifying and managing the risks 
they pose to themselves and to other people, and reducing the likelihood of them 
re-offending in the future. These risks often include health vulnerability or 
underlying and sometimes undiagnosed conditions as a driver of crime.

 The Greater Manchester Autism Consortium - providing forensic autism assessment 
and wider support to teams supporting people with autism across Greater 
Manchester. A commitment to ‘make Greater Manchester autism-friendly’ was set 
out in Andy Burnham’s mayoral manifesto. Early in 2019, a strategy was launched 
which seeks to establish Greater Manchester as the first autism-friendly city region 
in the UK.

Page 228



27

Diane aged 57 attended Victim Support shortly after reporting to the police that she 
was sexually abused by a family member between the ages of 9 and 14.  Diane had 
kept this a secret all of her life, believing she was the only victim. It was only when 
her sister made a disclosure at a family event that she realised the full extent of the 
situation. 

After successfully hiding the abuse for all her life, her disclosure had a dramatic effect 
on her health and wellbeing - she struggled to physically talk, her sleep was badly 
affected, and her physical health also deteriorated.  Diane attended Victim Support 
for face to face sessions on a regular basis, and these were reinforced with phone 
contact in between.  She was also referred to an ISVA and a counsellor.

Diane needed help understanding the legal and court process alongside intensive 
emotional support to come to terms with the abuse she had suffered, which included 
help practising wellbeing techniques to independently manage her levels of stress, 
anxiety and anger.  With support, she was gradually able to process the event and 
understand the full nature of the abuse.  This included discussing some aspects of the 
crime with her own family, which had initially been a severe cause of distress for her.

Diane’s video evidence was so powerful that the offender, now aged 82, was advised 
to plead guilty on the first day of the trial and was sentenced to 9 years in prison. It 
was also revealed that the offender had previous convictions for similar offences.

 Services that are funded by the Ministry of Justice (MOJ) victim grant - these grants 
enable services to provide support locally to victims of crime and focus on enabling 
them to cope and recover.  The MOJ categories of need provide a framework against 
which progress and outcomes can be monitored, including documenting support 
provided through the criminal justice system.

Part of the remit of the Greater Manchester Deputy Mayor is to deliver services for 
the victims of crime.  Each of Greater Manchester’s localities has a local victim 
support service offer, commissioned in line with that locality’s population and their 

needs.

Page 229



28

4. Rationale for strategic focus on particular groups

The emphasis on particular priority groups in the strategy has been informed by a range of 
sources including, in particular, international evidence from WHO; national reports such as 
Beyond the High Fence which represents the voices of people with a learning disability or 
autism in the criminal justice system; Rebalancing Act; the independently conducted 
Greater Manchester Health and Criminal Justice System Strategic Commissioning Review; 
and the stakeholder engagement process.

The three groups that the strategy will focus on initially are:

 Children and young people up to age 18, however, where young adults have additional 
vulnerabilities this could extend to age 25;

 Marginalised female victims of domestic abuse and/or sexual violence;
 People with a learning disability, autism or a communication disorder.

WHO8 reports worldwide that women, children and elderly people experience the greatest 
non-fatal consequences of physical, sexual and psychological abuse and that the resulting 
negative health consequences of violence disproportionately affect women and children 
across the life-span.  The independent Strategic Commissioning Review also recommended 
that pathways of support for marginalised and vulnerable women, and children and young 
people in contact with the criminal justice system, would be a constructive focus from a 
Greater Manchester strategic commissioning viewpoint.

Although specific data about the impact of violence and abuse in childhood is not available 
at a Greater Manchester level, the Crime Survey for England and Wales (2016) published a 
specific report on the effect of violent or abusive relationships in childhood. 9 Data from the 
Crime Survey showed that 51% of adults who were abused as children (under the age of 16) 
experienced domestic abuse in later life, suggesting a strong correlation between 
psychological, physical or sexual abuse, including witnessing abuse in childhood, and later 
abuse in adulthood.  This supports a case for early intervention and prevention of violence 
and harm in childhood as an end in itself, but also as a way of reducing the risk of lifetime 
abuse.   

There is also growing awareness that people with a learning disability, learning difficulty, 
autistic spectrum disorder and communication issues are disproportionately represented in 
the criminal justice system, but in apparent contrast, their needs are often not recognised 
until after the fact.  Beyond the High Fence10 captures the experiences of people with 
learning disabilities and autism in the criminal justice system, creating a shared narrative of 
life before, during and after prison or hospital.  In Greater Manchester, it is thought that 
people with a learning disability or autism are significantly under-reported across criminal 
justice system data compared to national estimates, suggesting that the true extent of the 

8 WHO Global Status Report on Violence Prevention (2014)
9 ONS: People who were abused as children are more likely to be abused as an adult: Exploring the impact of 
what can sometimes be hidden crimes.
10 Beyond the high fence - From the unheard voices of people with a learning disability, autism or both – 
Pathways Associates and NHS England (2019)

Page 230



29

issue is masked, which in turn may indicate low rates of early identification of people with 
learning, autistic spectrum and communication issues in contact with the criminal justice 
system. 

For additional context, Greater Manchester-specific insight associated with the strategy 
priority groups is provided here.

 One third of the young people on Greater Manchester Youth Offending Services’ 
(YOS) caseload have substance misuse issues

 28-35% of young people on the Greater Manchester Youth Offending Service (YOS) 
caseload have special educational needs, whilst 23-51% have recognised speech, 
language and communication needs

 Between 76-83% of women who have been assessed by a Greater Manchester 
Women’s Centre have mental health issues

 55% of women who have accessed Greater Manchester Women’s Alliance 
Partnership services have a child under 18

 25% of women who have accessed Greater Manchester Women’s Alliance 
Partnership services have a physical health issue

 Over 50% of the women who go to the Greater Manchester Sexual Assault and 
Referral Centre (SARC) have a history of domestic abuse

 Repeat attenders at the Greater Manchester Sexual Assault and Referral Centre 
(SARC) are typically female and have a background mental health problem, a learning 
disability, have suffered domestic abuse or are a child

Page 231



30

When Adam was first seen by the Youth Justice team case worker, she suspected that he had 
ADHD.  The CAMHS nurse undertook an assessment, carefully and with sensitivity, to enable 
him to participate in the process. He developed a trusting relationship with the CAMHS 
worker which was instrumental in him attending the appointment for his formal assessment 
where he was diagnosed with ADHD.  The CAMHS nurse then supported him to get his 
prescriptions which led to a marked improvement in his behaviour when he took his 
medication.

Work continued with Adam to build on and strengthen the factors that would reduce the 
likelihood of him behaving anti-socially or offending again.  The participation of Adam’s family 
was crucial, but they were very angry with him because of his offending, so his case manager 
worked with the family to help to change their perspective and understand how they could 
help their son.  During this process Adam’s mental health was discussed, and he was later 
assessed as suffering from long-standing depression and was prescribed medication.  Adam 
felt this helped him, particularly reducing his feelings of anger and frustration. 

The following case studies exemplify some of the issues faced by the groups of vulnerable 
children, young people and adults this strategy is initially focusing upon, and successful 
strategies to support their health and social needs.

Page 232



31

Sarah was referred to the Women’s Centre by her Offender Manager after receiving a 
community sentence for assault.  She initially identified substance misuse, benefit and 
relationship issues and an unstable lifestyle as the things she needed support with. 

The Women’s Centre worked with her to address immediate needs to:

 maintain her tenancy and furnish it,
 to provide advice, support and advocacy regarding social services involvement with 

her children,
 to receive food and clothes donations, 
 liaise with probation staff to prevent breach of the Community Order,
 engage with drug and alcohol services, and
 provide support to address self-harm issues.

It took some time to build a trusting relationship and after a period of disengagement Sarah 
returned to the service, disclosing that she was suffering domestic violence and trauma from 
an abusive childhood.  Through ongoing work over several months, with the support of her 
key workers Sarah was able to have more positive discussions with social care regarding her 
children, increasing her access to them with a view to them returning to her full-time care. 
This became possible because her lifestyle had become more settled, including having suitable 
accommodation and there were no concerns about substance misuse being an ongoing 
problem.  She has also become more aware of the coercive nature of some of her 
relationships. 

A vulnerable 8-year-old child, who was living in a household where there was frequent 
domestic abuse, arrived at a new school displaying some extremely violent and disturbing 
behaviour towards other pupils and staff.  The school is a trauma informed school and instead 
of approaching the child with traditional sanctions for disruptive and threatening behaviour, 
the child was supported with interventions that recognise the effects of adverse childhood 
experiences (ACEs).  The child was allocated a 1-1 worker and also given access to a “calm 
room”.  Accompanied by some 1-1 therapeutic support this meant that the child’s disruptive 
and often violent episodes at school reduced from around 6 per month to nil, over the course 
of 6 months.  Without these intensive trauma-informed interventions, it is likely that the child 
would have been permanently excluded, at significant cost to both the child and the school.  

Page 233



32

5. Health and justice strategic framework and priorities

Whole system change requires a holistic framework which addresses prevention and risk 
reduction, integrated care and support for victims and offenders, and facilitates system 
change through effective use of data and resources.

Across Greater Manchester there have already been ambitious new developments in the 
field of health and justice such as the Integrated Healthcare in Custody and Wider Liaison 
and Diversion Liaison function and Mental Health Tactical Advice Service (formerly Control 
Room Triage).  This strategy is an opportunity to realise greater strategic coherence, 
unifying existing provision and learning with the new activities and priorities identified in 
the strategy. 

Developing this strategy has highlighted a series of existing activities and programmes 
within the health and justice arena that have strategic importance, alongside the 
recognition of additional or new issues which represent an opportunity to transform 
practice by focusing attention on whole system and integrated responses to health and 
justice issues.  The strategy therefore incorporates:  

• Priorities reflecting new strategic objectives, with the potential for high impact 
system change in the medium to longer-term, initially up to 5 years; and

• Existing and ongoing strategic developments which are likely to be delivered over 
the next 1-3 years

Resilience is a common theme throughout the strategy and the intention is that this 
approach will, over a 5-year period initially, consolidate existing practice whilst building 
knowledge, increasing expertise, identifying barriers to progress and create resilience at a 
system level that will provide the foundations for increased strategic integration across 
health and justice provision in Greater Manchester.   

   

New strategic priorities 

The new strategic objectives that have been identified and prioritised during the strategy 
development process are:

Prevention

1. Introduce a public health approach to violence reduction across public service provision, 
with a focus on children and young people at increased risk of committing anti-social or 
criminal activity

2. Work with schools, youth justice and children and young people’s services to develop 
upstream, targeted interventions that reduce the risk of first-time entry to the criminal 
justice system 

Page 234



33

3. Building on the work with the Women’s Alliance Partnership, extend provision to reach a 
wider cohort of vulnerable women who are at risk of victimisation or committing 
criminal activity, and, strengthen health care pathways between existing services

Intervention

4. Develop best practice approaches and pathways that appropriately identify and support 
offenders and victims of violence or exploitation who have a learning, autistic spectrum 
or communication/speech and language issue

5. Agree a standardised health improvement model with the NHS and youth justice teams 
that targets and addresses health vulnerability in this group of young adults

6. Work with partner organisations to promote and embed the principles of Family Justice 
within the strategic direction and operational delivery of unified public services in 
Greater Manchester

Enablers/Systems

7. Develop a long-term, sustainable approach to commissioning services that deliver 
specialist healthcare and therapeutic support to offenders and the victims of crime, 
agreeing common quality standards for Greater Manchester   

8. Collaboratively develop workforce training and development programmes that promote 
insight into trauma, abuse, learning disability and communication disorder presentation 
and how to identify and support these issues effectively

9. Establish more consistent approaches to service user engagement in the design and 
delivery of specialist health and justice services

Existing health and justice work programmes

The 9 existing programmes that are underway (or are in planning) that will set the 
immediate strategic direction of health and justice provision in Greater Manchester for the 
next 1-3 years are:

1. Improve the identification of health needs and support for young offenders and victims 
who may face barriers to accessing services through the newly established Collaborative 
Commissioning Network

2. Enhance the Greater Manchester-wide system of crisis care to ensure the most 
appropriate response and reduce the likelihood of re-presentation for those individuals 
who present to the police in a state of mental health crisis 

Page 235



34

3. Further develop the Greater Manchester Integrated Custody Healthcare and Wider 
Liaison and Diversion Service to identify and address the mental & physical health needs 
of children and young people

4. Work with NHSE commissioners to address continuity of care for people on reception 
and post release from prison by agreeing clear communication, transition and service 
pathways.

5. Review the current model and commissioning of Independent Sexual Violence Advisor 
(ISVA) provision across Greater Manchester, assessing its impact and outcomes against 
service user feedback and self-reported needs 

6. Explore with locality commissioners the scope for developing a city region model for 
improving the primary care response to sexual and domestic violence and abuse, such as 
the evidenced based IRIS general practice programme.

7. Recommissioning the SARC pathway to address the variation in access to sexual violence 
support services identified in the health and justice health needs assessment 

8. Use data and intelligence available across the health and justice interface to enable 
earlier and more focused intervention, establish data sharing protocols that support this 
approach and develop a consistent set of indicators which can track progress against 
health and justice strategic aims and outcomes

Page 236



35

6. Delivery and resource planning 

A separate delivery plan accompanies the strategy, which provides greater detail on the 
proposed implementation of the new and existing work programmes set out above.   

Because the strategy identifies several new and developmental programmes of work, some 
of which are intended to be achieved over a period of up to 5 years, the implementation of 
some programmes necessarily includes the identification of resources and/or the 
development of business cases to potentially secure funding.  The existing programmes of 
work are largely funded from existing resources and do not depend on business case 
development to move forward, however, the more ambitious medium to longer-term work 
captured in the new priorities will need new and, in some cases, substantial funding to 
deliver systemic change in practice. 

Activities which will take place in support of the priorities contained in this strategy broadly 
fall into three categories:

1. Activities which can be achieved within existing resources, including by reprioritising 
within existing human and financial resources

2. Activities which require moderate investment that could be achieved through joint 
commissioning at a Greater Manchester level and/or already have an associated funding 
stream, but this could also involve decommissioning/budget reallocation. 

3. Activities which require new and significant funding and for which a business case will be 
developed collaboratively

This table summarises in brief the resource position for each programme.  

New priorities Summary resource position
1 Introduce a public health approach to 

violence reduction across public service 
provision, with a focus on children and 
young people at increased risk of 
committing anti-social or criminal activity

Funded from in-year Home Office 
funding to March 2020.  Further 
funding subject to Autumn CSR process

2 Work with schools, youth justice and 
children and young people’s services to 
develop upstream, targeted interventions 
that reduce the risk of first-time entry to 
the criminal justice system

Developmental work funded within 
existing programme capacity and 
resources.  Business case may be 
needed for implementation of any 
approaches to scaling-up best practice 
across Greater Manchester

3 Building on the work with the Women’s 
Alliance Partnership, extend provision to 
reach a wider cohort of vulnerable 
women who are at risk of victimisation or 
committing criminal activity, and, 

Strengthening healthcare pathways 
funded within existing resources.
Confirmation of future funding sources 
to increase service reach to be 
confirmed by December 2019.  

Page 237



36

strengthen health care pathways between 
existing services

Business case being made to GMCA 
Reform Investment Panel in 
September 2019.  

4 Develop best practice approaches and 
pathways that appropriately identify and 
support offenders and victims of violence 
or exploitation who have a learning, 
autistic spectrum or 
communication/speech and language 
issue

Initial developmental work and 
programme planning funded from 
existing resources.  Business cases 
needed for moderate to high levels of 
resourcing for commissioned 
support/capacity or implementation of 
agreed pathways.  Funded as resources 
become available.

5 Agree a standardised health improvement 
model with the NHS and youth justice 
teams that targets and addresses health 
vulnerability in this group of young adults

Developmental work funded within 
existing programme capacity and 
resources across multiple 
organisations.  Business case needed 
for implementation of best practice or 
scaled-up approaches.

6 Work with partner organisations to 
promote and embed the principles of 
Family Justice within the strategic 
direction and operational delivery of 
unified public services in Greater 
Manchester

Review work funded from existing core 
resources from GMCA and GM HSCP

Need for further implementation 
resources not yet clear

7 Develop a long-term, sustainable 
approach to commissioning services that 
deliver specialist healthcare and 
therapeutic support to offenders and the 
victims of crime, agreeing common quality 
standards for Greater Manchester  

Funded from existing core service 
resources and NHSE and SAAS funding 
(GM HSCP allocated)

8 Collaboratively develop workforce 
training and development programmes 
that promote insight into trauma, abuse, 
learning disability and communication 
disorder presentation and how to identify 
and support these issues effectively

Implementation resources not yet 
clear.  Task and finish group to identify 
options for implementation with a 
costed business case and report back 
to GMCA Reform Board

9 Establish more consistent approaches to 
service user engagement in the design 
and delivery of specialist health and 
justice services

Requires resources to be identified / 
agreed Autumn 2019, funded from 
existing developmental resources 
NHSE SAAS (GM HSCP allocated)

Page 238



37

Existing priorities Summary resource position
1 Improve the identification of health needs 

and support for young offenders and 
victims who may face barriers to 
accessing services through the newly 
established Collaborative Commissioning 
Network

Fully funded from NHSE (GMHSCP 
allocated) health and justice 
programme funding

2 Enhance the GM-wide system of crisis 
care to ensure the most appropriate 
response and reduce the likelihood of re-
presentation for those individuals who 
present to the police in a state of mental 
health crisis 

Funded from joint PCC, NHSE and CCG 
resources.
Funding for Mental Health Tactical 
Advice Service beyond March 2020 
under review

3 Further develop the GM Integrated 
Custody Healthcare and Wider Liaison and 
Diversion Service to identify and address 
the mental & physical health needs of 
children and young people

Funded from GMCA (PCC monies) and 
GMHSCP (NHSE budget.)
Accelerated implementation with 
specific posts to be sought from 
national NHSE health and justice team  

4 Work with NHSE commissioners to 
address continuity of care for people on 
reception and post release from prison by 
agreeing clear communication, transition 
and service pathways

Initial review and development stage 
funded from NHSE and GM HSCP core 
resources. Anticipate costs outside of 
this will be funded through NHSE 
associated programme budgets.

5 Review the current model and 
commissioning of Independent Sexual 
Violence Advisor (ISVA) provision across 
GM, assessing its impact and outcomes 
against service user feedback and self-
reported needs 

Fully funded within existing resources 
through NHSE SAAS development 
budgets (GMHSCP allocated) and via 
GMCA 

6 Explore with locality commissioners the 
scope for developing a city region model 
for improving the primary care response 
to sexual and domestic violence and 
abuse such as the evidenced based IRIS 
model in general practice.

Phase 1 review and development work 
funded within existing resources.  
Business case potentially needed for 
implementation by localities.

7 Recommissioning the SARC pathway to 
address the variation in access to sexual 
violence support services identified in the 
health and justice health needs 
assessment 

Fully funded by GMCA and GM HSCP 

8 Use data and intelligence available across 
the health and justice interface to enable 
earlier and more focused intervention, 

Fully funded through existing capacity 
in the GMCA research team’s 
population health function/analysts

Page 239



38

establish data sharing protocols that 
support this approach and develop a 
consistent set of indicators which can 
track progress against health and justice 
strategic aims and outcomes

Page 240



Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of report Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Consensus Statement on E-

Cigarettes  
Date 12th November 2019

Contact Officer Gillian Mclauchlan
Gillian.mclauchlan@salford.gov.uk 
0161 6076939

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Consensus Statement on E-Cigarettes 

Executive Summary 
In light of increasing nationwide use of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) and international 
media coverage on their use and harms, Salford Tobacco Harm Reduction Group have 
developed a consensus statement on e-cigarettes for the Health and Wellbeing Board. The 
purpose of the statement is to clarify perceptions about harms and benefits of using e-
cigarettes. It is aimed at both health professionals and the public.  

There are approximately 39,080 smokers in Salford. Whilst smoking rates in Salford have 
reduced from 27% of the adult population smoking in 2011 to 20% in 2018.  Salford has the 
highest smoking rates in Greater Manchester. This statement forms part of a whole system’s 
approach to Tobacco Control which is being developed for Salford. A paper on the approach 
will be brought to February’s Health and Wellbeing Board for discussion. 

Public Health England’s evidence review in 2019 showed that vaping e-cigarettes is less 
harmful to health than smoking tobacco and can help smokers to quit. There are still many 
unknowns about e-cigarettes, particularly risks related to their long-term use. They are not 
completely risk-free, but based on current evidence they have a lower risk than tobacco. 
The evidence suggests that E-cigarette awareness and experimentation among young 
people has increased.  

The statement outlines three key messages: 

1. Smokers in Salford have access to support to reduce and quit tobacco smoking 
completely. 

2. Access to e-cigarettes is controlled and monitored 
3. Pregnant smokers are strongly encouraged to quit smoking completely. 

This statement was developed Salford Tobacco Harm Reduction Group in collaboration 
with primary and secondary care clinicians. Membership of the Tobacco harm group 
include Salford City Council, Salford Commissioning Group, Salford University and Salford 
Royal Foundation Trust. 

Page 241

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Gillian.mclauchlan@salford.gov.uk
tel:01617933562


Salford Health and Wellbeing Board Consensus Statement on E-Cigarettes

The purpose of this statement is to clarify perceptions about harms and benefits of using 
e-cigarettes. It is aimed at both health professionals and the general public. Helping 
residents stop smoking is a high priority for Salford. Smoking is the leading cause of 
preventable death and disease in the UK. About half of all life-long smokers will die early, 
losing on average about 10 years of life.

Smoking rates in Salford have reduced from 27% of the adult population smoking in 2011 
to 20% in 2018.  Fewer than 15% of the adult population in England are smokers. There 
are 39,080 smokers in Salford, this is the highest smoking rate in Greater Manchester. 
Smoking rates remain significantly higher in more deprived communities, those with 
mental health concerns and LGBT+ communities.

Evidence
The greatest benefits are achieved by stopping smoking completely. There is plenty of help 
at hand to help residents quit in Salford. E-cigarettes are becoming more popular and for 
many are a self-help aid to quitting smoking. Public Health England’s evidence review in 
2019 showed that vaping e-cigarettes is less harmful to health than smoking tobacco and 
can help smokers to quit1.  Nicotine is the addictive component of both types of cigarette, 
but conventional cigarettes contain additional harmful chemicals that are a significant risk 
to smokers and those around them.  

There is still a lot we do not know about e-cigarettes, particularly risks related to their long-
term use. Much of the evidence of harm is coming from the United States where the pattern 
of usage (including illicit additives) may be different from the UK where evidence of potential 
harm is less clear.  E-cigarettes are not completely risk-free, but based on current evidence 
they have a lower risk than tobacco. The evidence suggests that E-cigarette awareness and 
experimentation among young people has increased.  

Salford’s Key Messages are: 

1. We will ensure that smokers in Salford have access to support to reduce and quit 
tobacco smoking completely.  E-cigarettes can be a temporary support towards 
stopping smoking.  If smokers choose to buy an e cigarette they can use these 
alongside the quit-support and advice.  E-cigarettes will not be funded or provided 
by the quit-smoking service.

2. We will ensure that access to e-cigarettes is controlled and monitored carefully. 
The use of these products by children, young people or non-smokers will be 
strongly and actively discouraged.  E-cigarettes are regulated and are illegal to sell 
to those under 18 so we will ensure that this is enforced and monitored through 
Regulatory Services. 

3. We will ensure that Pregnant smokers are strongly encouraged to quit smoking 
cigarettes or e-cigarettes completely. 

4. This position will be kept under active review and will be updated in the light of any 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/vaping-in-england-an-evidence-update-february-2019

Page 242

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/vaping-in-england-an-evidence-update-february-2019


new evidence.

Created by Salford Tobacco Harm Reduction Group- membership include Salford City Council, Salford 
Commissioning Group, Salford University and Salford Royal Foundation Trust

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 245

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Locality Plan 
Highlight Report 

 
Salford Health and Wellbeing Board: 12th November 2019 

Progress for the period: Quarter 2 2019 /20 
 

Anthony Hassall 

P
age 247

A
genda Item

 16a



1. PREVENTION:  
Upgrading population health, 
prevention and self-care 

 

2. BETTER CARE:  
Transforming community based care 
and support and standardising acute 
and specialist care 

 

3. ENABLING TRANSFORMATION: 
Standardising clinical support and back office services 
and enabling better public services 

Locality plan governance and delivery programmes: 

1.1) Population Health 
1.2) Best start in life 
1.3) Wider determinants of health and 
wellbeing 
 

2.1) Quality of care 
2.2) Integrated Care system 
2.3) Transforming and standardising 
acute and specialist hospital care 
2.4) Hospital Group – Acute care 
collaboration 
2.5) Mental health and  learning 
disabilities 
 

3.1) Integrated place 

3.2) Integrated commissioning & streamlining support 

3.3) Information management and technology 

3.4) Estates 

3.5) Workforce 

3.6) Co-production and VCSE delivery 

3.7)Research and innovation 

3.8) Public engagement 

Salford Locality Plan Programmes 

P
age 248



PREVENTION:  Upgrading population health, prevention and self-care 

Key Highlights 

Population Health:  

• To address Lung Cancer: From 9 September 2019, the CCG in joint working with Salford Royal Foundation Trust has successfully 
commenced the Lung Health Check service for patients in Salford.   

• As a part of lung health checks, eligible members of the local population (people aged 55 to 74 who are smokers or ex-smokers) will be 
tested to diagnose COPD and lung cancer at an early stage.  

• In the 7 week period since launch, from 9 September 2019 to 24 October 2019,  

 5686 Lung Health Check Invitations have been sent out,  

 1276 appointments made with only 29 appointment DNAs.  

 354 CT scans were carried out with only 15 DNAs for scan appointments.  

• In addition, the health improvement service is supporting 39 patients to stop smoking as a direct result of the Lung Health Checks 
project, and have supported another 12 people to stop smoking, who had directly accessed the service which is located in the public 
area with prominent signage.  

• The work aims to improve lung cancer survival rates and provide advice and support to those identified as smokers and wish to quit 
smoking. The free health checks started in Walkden, in a community setting with plans in place to move to other neighbourhoods over 
time.  

• Improving Early Detection and Prevention: Salford CCG and Public Health are in process of reviewing and updating the cancer 
prevention objectives within the existing cancer programme plan to ensure actions are undertaken against the agreed objectives.  

• A joint internal workshop was organised in October to review and understand if the existing actions agreed within the current 2019-20 
Business Plan are adequate for delivery and achievement of the required performance targets. 

• The workshop resulted in positive outcomes with the group agreeing to introduce better assurance measures for improving service 
delivery and performance. One key agreed measure was the inclusion of a new KPI (Key Performance Indicator) in Salford Standard to 
audit patient’s pathway at GP practices for their patients that have died as result of cancer.  

• The audit will enable GPs to have a greater insight into their patient’s pathway, help in identifying the factors resulting in late 
presentations, and could significantly help the CCG in working with GP practices to improve early diagnosis.  

P
age 249



Best Start in Life: Implement Children’s Equipment pathway and explore options from GM Equipment review  
• Pathway in place and being rolled out - additional post agreed at the equipment store additional KPI's 

developed.  
• Wider GM All Age review underway this is focusing on wheelchairs - additional work still required regarding 

wider CYP equipment needs 
 

Wider determinants of health and wellbeing:  Development and delivery of the Year 3 Tackling Poverty Action Plan 
including the establishment of a second Poverty Truth Commission to inform future actions 
• The Year 3 action plan continues to be developed between partners.  
• Key highlights this quarter include:  

 the extension of the qualifying age under the current Care Leaver Council Tax Discount Scheme to a Care 
Leavers 25th birthday 

 Delivery of the city Healthy Holidays initiative which provides free or low cost food and activities for low 
income families during the summer holiday 

 Provision of 45 low cost funerals as part of the new Salford Residents Service.  
 The second round of the Poverty Truth Commission is also on track with the first workshop to recruit 

ambassadors  taking place in October. 
 

PREVENTION:  Upgrading population health, prevention and self-care 

Key Highlights 

P
age 250



Integrated Care System 
• Homecare monitoring information reviewed as planned in Q2.  
• Evaluation feedback programme (housing officer, enhanced care and urgent care team transformation 

projects) have been presented 
• New models of care - Partnership review groups to  scope and review services within bundles 
• CLAHRC evaluation of the SWEAP service to be submitted at the end of September 
• MSK CATS Single point of referral to be established, Business case in development.  

 
Major Trauma: Contract with selected PSCP and commence build programme. 
• Working within the Procure 22 national framework a principal supply chain partner (PSCP) was selected and 

awarded a contract in March 2019  to develop 'Guaranteed Maximum Price' (GMP) for the build.  
• The PSCP,  BAM Construction, are expected to  submit the 'GMP' to the Trust at the end of October 2019 and 

not September as previously reported.  
• The Trust is in discussions with Salford City Council (SCC) regarding  planning permission, with a date for 

review by the SCC for mid November 2019.  Planning permission is a pre-requisite for release of capital 
monies. Business case remains with DHSC in national approval process.  

• Contract award for build cannot be made until GMP agreed, planning permission approval received and 
approval by Treasury for release of funds.  
 
 
 

 

Key Highlights 
BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and support and standardising 
acute and specialist care 

P
age 251



Key Highlights 

BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and support and standardising 
acute and specialist care 

Transforming and standardising acute and specialist hospital care 
• HT - refreshed plan in place for programme that is now being implemented.   
• Workforce plans in place and recruitment strategy developed. 
• A proposal for a connected IM and T system has been approved by the Partnership Board but will need a 

funding source, as yet unidentified.     
• Clinical pathways for high acuity  and ambulatory care being discussed and led by clinicians.  Activity 

modelling refresh in development and  work will be completed in period.   
• MDT implementation has been challenging.   
• Capital bid - business case now with DHSC.  Design work continues and some risk undertaken to move build 

forward in advance of capital agreement.   
• Uro oncology – Continue to work towards delivering the GM Uro-oncology programme ensuring co-

dependent services are supported and aligned with the development of the GM Theme 3 Benign Urology 
plan. 

• GMOG now in place.  Priority services work moving to implementation phase.  Discussions taking place 
about development of shared service model for dermatology.  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 252



Key Highlights 

BETTER CARE: Transforming community based care and support and standardising 
acute and specialist care 

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities:   
• Perinatal IAPT - PIMH self assessment completed by all services.  
• GM specialist PIMH CMHT in place. PIMH attachment functions being explored by CYP commissioning and will 

be taken forward in line with the initial scoping / assessment of need that they are undertaking.  
• VCSE grants programme in place and second round is currently live.  
• Now aligned to the Living Well Programme.  
• Smaller grants allocated (3 grants) and large grants will be confirmed week ending 11th Oct. 

 
 
 

P
age 253



ENABLING TRANSFORMATION: 

Key Highlights 

• Integrated leadership approach in place, with clarity of role and monthly integrated leadership meetings.  

•  CCG CAO attendance at Salford City Council Corporate Management Team. 

• Agreement regarding co location of integrated leadership team within wider co location project. 

• Partnership agreement governing integrated fund in place from April 2019. 

• Partnership agreement includes risk share arrangements. 

• Integrated Health and Social Care neighbourhood teams in place  and co-located 

• Operating model in place for Integrated Teams and MDGs.  

 

Sustainability - Financial and Non-Financial 
• The CCG continues to remain on track to deliver a breakeven position as per the agreed control total, and is 

forecast to achieve all of its statutory duties and delivery of its QIPP schemes.   
• An amount of £4.5m has been returned to NHSE in order to assist in achievement of the GM wide position.   
• A mid year review will be undertaken following the end of Q2 to assess the CCG's position with regards to 

contingencies, investments, contract over performance and the running costs budget.  
 
 
 

P
age 254



Appendix A: Detailed Highlight 
Reports by Programme 

(as at Quarter 2 For queries contact: Emma Reid e.reid1@nhs.net )  
 
 
 

P
age 255

mailto:e.reid1@nhs.net


Locality: Salford SRO: Peter Brambleby Programme Lead: Reporting Period: Nov-19

Area RAG

Overall

Locality 

Finance 

(TF monies)

Delivery of 

Milestones

Delivery of 

Benefits

Locality Lead RAG Expected 

completion date

Progress towards programme objectives - Latest update

Gillian 

McLauchlan

2019-20 As part of the GM NHS health check pilot Salford has begun the roll out of a new of model of targeted NHS health checks in General Practice from the 1st April 2019.  The Salford model 

includes patient with a high QRISK2 score, vulnerable ethnicity groups or a diagnosed mental health condition making them more vulnerable to the risks of Cardiovascular disease.  GM 

are developing an electronic check that will be available in year 2 of the pilot for low risk patients. 

Work is underway to understand the mortality and morbidity from Cancer across the city. To address Lung Cancer, the CCG has approved the business case for a Lung Health check. 

This will use respiratory nurses in community clinics followed by a CT scan and investigation in SRFT. Discussions are on going with GM and MFT regarding surgical capacity. Next steps 

is to ensure adequate uptake of the programme and pathways are in place to deliver outcomes.  Salford Standard  CCG April 2019 The CCG has written the GP National Cancer 

Diagnosis Audit into the Salford Standard. The CCG is promoting the audit to Salford GPs to get a greater insight into a patient’s pathway in receiving a cancer diagnosis. The CCG is 

working to establish an effective data stream to understand emergency presentations at A&E which lead to the diagnosis of a cancer. The Salford Standard states that visits will be 

undertaken to practices with high numbers of emergency admissions. Uptake rates for cancer screening programmes have been on a downward trajectory. These are NHS E 

commissioned services so work is underway to identify evidence based interventions that can increase uptake. A working group has been established to work on projects to improve 

early diagnosis and prevention of cancer. 

Review of sexual health services completed. Proposals being developed to redesign the sexual health system - using neighbourhood model. 

Through the population health transformation funding, a neighbourhood approach to social prescribing is being developed. Led by CVS through the wellbeing being matters 

programmes. Recruitment taken place for 5 community anchor organisations and community connectors. Currently aligning existing community services.  

GM Drug and Alcohol strategy and implementation has been finalised. Salford baseline review completed on the 6 priority areas in the draft strategy, highlighting recommendations 

and areas to join up. Salford Plan is being developed based on the GM plan.  

Amit Gaokar 2019-20 Lung Health Check:

From 9 September 2019, the CCG in joint working with Salford Royal Foundation Trust has successfully commenced the Lung Health Check service for patients in Salford.  As a part of 

lung health checks, eligible members of the local population (people aged 55 to 74 who are smokers or ex-smokers) will be tested to diagnose COPD and lung cancer at an early stage. 

In the 7 week period since launch, from 9 September 2019 to 24 October 2019, 5686 Lung Health Check Invitations have been sent out, 1276 appointments made, and there were 29 

appointment DNAs. Subsequently, 354 CT scans were carried out with 15 DNAs for scan appointments. In addition, the health improvement service is supporting 39 patients to stop 

smoking as a direct result of the Lung Health Checks project, and have supported another 12 people to stop smoking, who had directly accessed the service which is located in the 

public area with prominent signage. The work aims to improve lung cancer survival rates and provide advice and support to those identified as smokers and wish to quit smoking. The 

free health checks started in Walkden, in a community setting with plans in place to move to other neighbourhoods over time. 

Improving Early Detection and Prevention: 

Salford CCG and Public Health are in process of reviewing and updating the cancer prevention objectives within the existing cancer programme plan to ensure actions are undertaken 

against the agreed objectives. An internal workshop was organised in October to review and understand if the existing actions agreed within the current 2019-20 Business Plan are 

adequate for delivery and achievement of the required performance targets. The workshop resulted in positive outcomes with the group agreeing to introduce better assurance 

measures for improving service delivery and performance. One key agreed measure was the inclusion of a new KPI (Key Performance Indicator) in Salford Standard to audit patient’s 

pathway at GP practices for their patients that have died as result of cancer. The audit will enable GPs to have a greater insight into their patient’s pathway, help in identifying the 

factors resulting in late presentations, and could significantly help the CCG in working with GP practices to improve early diagnosis. 

1.1 Population Health (Peter 

Brambleby)

1.1 Population Health (Peter 

Brambleby)

As part of the refresh work mentioned above Salford will consider how milestones will be delivered and monitored throughout the programme in 2020-21 and beyond; this will include how we measure the outcomes and benefits associated with our delivery plans.   

Salford is currently analysing available data to demonstrate outcomes and generate lessons.  The locality is confident that the expected benefits of the current locality plan continue to be delivered.

Emma Reid

Narrative

Salford is currently refreshing its locality plan inline with the NHS Long Term Plan and the GM Prospectus;  this work includes robust data analysis of outcomes / achievements, analysing lessons learnt, extensive programme of public and stakeholder engagement to provide insight and approval, co-production session with Health and 

Wellbeing Board members, and wider stakeholders.

An editorial group has been established that meets regularly to discuss progress on the draft plan.  A framework has been developed for the refreshed plan and a rough first draft will be taken to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 10th September 2019.  A final draft will be presented to the HWBB in November 2019 (subject to final 

amendments) prior to the GM deadline for submission  on 29th November 2019.  Final approval of the plan is expected in January / February 2020 once all governance channels have been satisfied across the Salford system.

This is the final year of the Transformation Fund for Salford locality. The total awarded to the Salford system was £18.2m over the past few years.  The locality is on track to fully spend this funding by the end of this financial year.

As mentioned above, Salford locality leads are currently focussed on refreshing their health and wellbeing strategy (locality plan) milestones for delivery in 2020-21 and beyond.  In order to satisfy  local reporting requirements Salford continues to provide updates on existing milestones (see below) which include activities that have carried 

over from 2018/19 along with some revised / new milestones for 2019-20.  However, it should be noted that a full review of 2019-20 milestones has not been undertaken due to the work required in planning for 2020-21.  A full set of revised milestones will be reported in this template once the new plan is approved.

Positive progress made since last update across all key programmes of work.  

Transformation Programmes Actions this reporting period

Review and improve the existing cancer early detection and prevention 

programme, and introduce measures to further improve early detection and 

prevention of cancer

Review and redesign approach to health checks

Finalise healthy city priorities - smoking cessation and obesity and city wide 

delivery plans with partners 

Review and redesign neighbourhood health improvement offer

Review and redesign sexual health services

Develop and deliver neighbourhood approach to social prescribing

Implement GM Alcohol and Drug Strategy requirements

P
age 256



Helen Dugdale 2019-20 Start Well – 66 schools now trained in Emotionally Friendly Schools with 17 in the process.  

- Integrated Health and Wellbeing, summer transitions programme delivered in partnership with iReach, 25 children attended. Young people have been signposted to existing provision 

outside of school resulting in uptake to the outside provision, carer feedback has been positive. 

- Solihull Antenatal training courses delivered to Early Help and Health Visitor Staff. Midwife is now in post and is engaging with Heads of Midwifery and other maternity providers.

- Emotionally Friendly Schools Accreditation, 7 Bronze accredited schools, 1 silver. 

- Early Intervention and Prevention SLCN – for 2679 children 2018-19, from initial assessment to last assessment there was a 20% reduction in children screening red & a 30% increase 

in children screening green. This early identification of need didn't cause an increase in referrals to Speech and Language Services. Children referred have specialist & complex 

presentations.

Live Well - Tier 2 Weight Management - last quarters reported figures (206 referrals) were from June 18 to June 19 not Quarter 1. They should have read Q1 64 referrals 01/04/2019 - 

30/6/2019.  In Quarter 2 42 referrals were received. Target is 150-170, per year. 37 have commenced, (35 waiting). The programme last for 3 months, so completion rates are minimal. 

A challenge has been keeping up with referrals numbers being much higher than planned, an additional part time nutritionist employed to support delivery.  

- Cancer Prevention/Lung Health Check work commenced in quarter 2, HIS are supporting 39 patients to stop smoking as a direct result of the Lung Health Checks project. In addition 

HIS have supported another 12 people to stop smoking, who were engaged due to being based in public area with prominent signage. Lung Health Check Invitations sent 1255, 

appointments made 588, appointment DNAs 11. Subsequent CT Scans 126, CT scan DNA’s 0. Overspend virtual using underspend from previous quarters and reprofiled. 

PCCA - Social Prescribing 454 referrals received for Q2, an increase of 67% on Q1. 901 people referred in total, with a 98% satisfaction rate. 42 practices refer via Elemental, 2 GP 

practices are not set up. The majority of referrals are more complex, therefore limited impact data due to a lack of cases being closed to date. A Programme manager has been 
Stephen Woods 2019-20 Implement Children’s Equipment pathway and 

explore options from GM Equipment review 

Pathway in place and being rolled out - additional post agreed at the equipment store additional KPI's developed. Wider GM All Age review underway this is focusing on wheelchairs - 

unclear on the progress – additional work still required regarding wider CYP equipment needs – this is to be raised at the GM Children and Maternity group.

Eejay Whitehead 2019-20 Implementation of  Better Births/ Pioneer 

Objectives

Personalised care & support planning (PCSPs) / choice offer – there is continued support to achieve the implementation of PCSPs and the choice offer locally.   A continuity team is in 

place at Ingleside and is actively working to increase activity levels.   In addition the  in-reach model has been implemented by PAHT since January and MFT and WHHT are working 

towards implementation, this will again increase activity levels at Ingleside. A  project team, including AQuA and NHSI, is currently scoping a case for change for a single point of access 

across the former Pioneer conurbation supported by NHSE resources, this will help to ensure that all women are offered the four choice options for birthing, including the midwifery-

led unit at Ingleside.  A Maternity Assurance Group has been established and data from Ingleside is closely monitored through this group.

Jon Stancombe 2019-20 The Year 3 action plan continues to be developed between partners. Key highlights this quarter include: the extension of the qualifying age under the current Care Leaver Council Tax 

Discount Scheme to a Care Leavers 25th birthday; delivery of the city Healthy Holidays initiative which provides free or low cost food and activities for low income families during the 

summer holiday; and provision of 45 low cost funerals as part of the new Salford Residents Service. The second round of the Poverty Truth Commission is also on track with the first 

workshop to recruit ambassadors  taking place in October.

Alison Burnett 2019-20 Work and Skills Integration Group (sub group of Skills and Work Board) being refreshed to include new ESF programmes and devolved Adult Education Budget (AEB). Specification for 

new GM Working Well (Specialist Employment) service has been developed and is currently out to the market.      

Francine Thorpe 2019-20 Driver diagram and aim statement agreed by handover group, including care homes and SRFT representatives, to improve quality and safety of handover. Three key areas highlighted 

(communication and information, patient and staff experience, process and resources) but limited engagement in tests of change from local discharge teams resulting in lack of 

progress – further work being undertaken to resolve level of engagement.

Sarah Cannon 2019-20 Homecare information has been reviewed as planned in Q2. Evaluations of Housing Officer, Enhanced Care and Urgent care team have been presented. CLAHRC evaluation of SWEAP 

was submitted at the end of Sept

Business case for single point of referral is in development. 

Mel Walters 2019-20 Working within the Procure 22 national framework a principal supply chain partner (PSCP) was selected and awarded a contract in March 2019  to develop 'Guaranteed Maximum 

Price' (GMP) for the build. The PSCP,  BAM Construction, are expected to  submit the 'GMP' to the Trust at the end of October 2019 and not September as previously reported. The 

Trust is in discussions with Salford City Council (SCC) regarding  planning permission, with a date for review by the SCC for mid November 2019.  Planning permission is a pre-requisite 

for release of capital monies. Business case remains with DHSC in national approval process. Contract award for build cannot be made until GMP agreed, planning permission approval 

received and approval by Treasury for release of funds.  

Jo Purcell / Matt 

Dixon

2019-20 HT - refreshed plan in place for programme that is now being implemented.  Workforce plans in place and recruitment strategy developed. A proposal for a connected IM and T system 

has been approved by the Partnership Board but will need a funding source, as yet unidentified.    Clinical pathways for high acuity  and ambulatory care being discussed and led by 

clinicians.  Activity modelling refresh in development and  work will be completed in period.  

MDT implementation has been challenging.  

Capital bid - business case now with DHSC.  Design work continues and some risk undertaken to move build forward in advance of capital agreement.  

Uro oncology – Continue to work towards delivering the GM Uro-oncology programme ensuring co-dependent services are supported and aligned with the development of the GM 

Theme 3 Benign Urology plan.

GMOG now in place.  Priority services work moving to implementation phase.  Discussions taking place about development of shared service model for dermatology. 

1.2 Best start in life (Charlotte 

Ramsden, Anthony Hassall)

1.2 Best start in life (Charlotte 

Ramsden, Anthony Hassall)

2.1 Quality of Care (Francine Thorpe)

1.3 Wider determinants of health 

and wellbeing (Charlotte Ramsden, 

Debbie Brown)

1.3 Wider determinants of health 

and wellbeing (Charlotte Ramsden, 

Debbie Brown)

1.1 Population Health (Peter 

Brambleby)

2.2 Integrated Care System (Tara 

Kearney, Karen Proctor, Judd 

Skelton)

Review of homecare monitoring information. 

Evaluation feedback programme (housing officer, enhanced care and urgent 

care team transformation projects) 

New models of care - Partnership review groups to  scope and review 

services within bundles

CLAHRC evaluation of the SWEAP service to be submitted to the CCG.

MSK CATS Single point of referral to be established.

2.3 Transforming and standardising 

acute and specialist hospital care 

(Chris Brookes, Jack Sharp, Karen 

Proctor) 

MAJOR TRAUMA

Major Trauma: Contract with selected PSCP and commence build 

programme.

2.3 Transforming and standardising 

acute and specialist hospital care 

(Chris Brookes, Jack Sharp, Karen 

Proctor) 

HEALTHIER TOGETHER

HT – Continue to develop detailed plans for workforce, engagement, IM&T, 

clinical pathways and ambulatory care to support implementation.

Monitor impact of new model of surgical ambulatory care across the NWS.

HT Capital – Contract with Principal Supply Chain Partner for the build and 

commence build programme at Salford.  Develop detailed plans for 

ambulatory care capital schemes at Wigan and Bolton.    

GM Uro-oncology – Continue to work as part of the GM Uro-oncology 

programme to agree and then deliver implementation plan, aligned with the 

development of the GM Theme 3 Benign Urology plan.

GM OG – Continue to implement new pathways and monitor impact.

Theme 3 and NWS – Continue to participate in GM Theme 3 and North West 

Sector Priority Services workstreams to agree Models of Care and business 

case proposals for each service.  

Develop integrated approach to quality assurance for children's and public 

health services 

Implement quality improvement project to address handover between 

hospital and care homes

Support the development, integration and co-ordination of existing and new 

GM /  local employment, skills and wellbeing services and programmes.    

Development and delivery of the Year 3 Tackling Poverty Action Plan 

including the establishment of a second Poverty Truth Commission to inform 

future actions

Start Well

Live Well

PCCA

P
age 257



Ed Parsons 2019-20 Largely due to capital funding it is now looking unlikely that a formal legal transactions can be completed by April 2020. We are now working with NHSI on  possible interim 

arrangements that could be agreed by April 2020.

Clare Mayo  2019-20 Perinatal IAPT - PIMH self assessment completed by all services. This is informing a development plan to improve PIMH access. GM specialist PIMH CMHT in place. PIMH attachment 

functions being explored by CYP commissioning and will be taken forward in line with the initial scoping / assessment of need that they are undertaking. 

VCSE grants programme in place and second round is currently live. This is now aligned to the Living Well Programme. Smaller grants allocated (3 grants) and large grants will be 

confirmed week ending 11th Oct. 

Kerry Thornley 2019-20 Perinatal IAPT - PIMH self assessment completed by all services. This is informing a development plan to improve PIMH access. GM specialist PIMH CMHT in place. PIMH attachment 

functions being explored by CYP commissioning and will be taken forward in line with the initial scoping / assessment of need that they are undertaking. 

VCSE grants programme in place and second round is currently live. This is now aligned to the Living Well Programme. 

Jacquie Russell 2019-20 Delivery of integrated neighbourhood working is focussed on developing pathways to connect the Early Help Family Hubs, emerging universal neighbourhood model, health 

neighbourhood teams, community connectors, and core neighbourhood services.  Discussions are underway to understand and map existing connections, and future opportunities

Hannah 

Dobrowolska

2019-20 Integrated Commissioning fund and governance arrangements in place from April 2019 with all four new governance groups having met as planned in 2019/20. Joint leadership group 

in place from Q2.  Co location planning including implementation of agile working ongoing with extensive staff engagement, colocation expected around April 2020.  OD/comms work 

ongoing through leadership and staff sessions.
Caroline Rand 2019-20 Salford has now joined the GM Integrated care record system. The data available is primary care and mental health. Social care data is being defined but there are delays due to the 

fact the Council is seeking to change their system. Evaluation report are being prepared and consultation with key stakeholders underway.  A citizen engagement event on digital is 

planned for 21st November 2019.
Elaine  Vermeulen 2019-20 New Little Hulton HC should progress to financial close in July 19, construction to take 12 months and operational in summer 2020.

Business case under development for the new Lower Broughton HC, two alternative sites under consideration.

Feasibility study nearing completion on facility for Irlam and Cadishead neighbourhood.

Satty Boyes 2019-20 NEED TO INSERT LATEST PLAN FROM SATTY - IN FOLDER

Alison Page 2019-20 This quarter has seen progress towards this objective, as follows: The action plan supporting the agreed VCSE Strategy 2018 - 2023, co-produced between Salford CVS, VOCAL VCSE 

Leaders Forum, NHS Salford CCG and Salford City Council continues to be implemented. The cross-sectoral steering group met this quarter (7th August), as planned, to follow up on the 

findings from a VCSE Commissioning Investment workshop which was held 5th August. This was attended by VCSE Leaders and included presentations on integrated commissioning 

arrangements from Anthony Hassall and Charlotte Ramsden and Peter Brambleby on the Locality Plan refresh, alongside Salford CVS presentations on VCSE Strategy and H&SC MoU 

strategies and implementation progress. This was followed up by a meeting with Salford Council on 19th August regarding integrating a VCSE Investment approach into their new 

Inclusive Economy Strategy. The Collaboration Task Force has however still to be established.

Kirstine Farrer 2019-20 1. QI fellows completed their year - reports due at IROG. 2. Academic Fellows commencing year 2 of their programme with University of Manchester. 3. Innovation Forum has met - 

new partnership with HinM, City Council, Salford University, SCCG and SRFT to deliver the innovation stocktake by Oct 2019. 4. SCCG is the top of the primary care division for 

recruitment into research studies. 5. Identified and prioritised the  

innovation topics for 2019/20 - the £1.5M locality call is live until the 4th Sept.

Claire Connor 2019-20 Pledges campaign being reviewed as part of Locality Plan refresh engagement. Ongoing delivery of Think! Why A&E campaign through social media, postcards designed and printed for 

self-care and pharmacy using THINK! Branding and refresh of healthcare information booklet for University of Salford students. Workforce wellbeing toolkit in design phase. Continue 

to encourage more dental practices to join initiative (now more than 50% joined). 

Maturity Assessment Due Next reporting period actions

7 Complete BAU n/a

7 Complete BAU n/a Proposals to widen the professions within the Integrated Teams to be considered

2 Design Mar-21 Proposals to change operating model are in progress

2 Design Mar-21 Proposals to change operating model are in progress

3.4 Estates (Charlotte Ramsden) Little Hulton HC scheme achieved financial close on 24 July.  District Valuer 

has provided valuations for the two alternative sites for the Lower 

Broughton scheme and negotiations will now progress with the council to 

secure the land for the scheme.  Feasibility studies completed for the 

Walkden and Irlam and Cadishead neighbourhoods.

3.5 Workforce (Francine Thorpe) Q2-Q4: Deliver year 1 priorities of the Primary Care Workforce action plan  

3.6 Co-production and enabling VCSE 

delivery (Alison Page)

Report following the work of a proposed Collaboration Task Force, set up to 

facilitate collaborative working across the public and VCSE sectors in Salford

3.7 Research and Innovation 

(Francine Thorpe, Debbie Brown, 

Kirstine Farrer)

Deliver year 4 priorities of Research and Innovation strategy

3.8 Public Engagement (Hannah 

Dobrowolska)

Continue to deliver appropriate use campaign using 'THINK! Why A&E' 

branding

Live Well - work with partners to deliver a plan to communicate and engage 

with stakeholders around One You - assisting with the delivery of the Salford 

Physical Activity Framework (delivering workforce wellbeing toolkit).

Start Well - continue to deliver tooth decay engagement, encouraging 

parents to increase dental care with children and encouraging dentists to 

become more child friendly

Age Well - evaluate vascular dementia prevention campaign.

SIR to include a social care   data feed

Sharing project evaluations to support ongoing strategy in line with GM 

LHCRE project

. Integration and co-location (estates) of H&SC at 

neighbourhood level.

.Clear neighbourhood operating model in place.

.Developing a robust intermediate tier service

2.4 Hospital Group - Acute care 

collaboration (Raj Jain)

Pennine Acute acquisition:

Finalising acquirer due diligence activities,  full report now being compiled 

from detailed subject specific DD findings

Much progress made on NMGH disaggregation of clinical and corporate 

services - over 100 workshops held with agreement reached in the  majority 

or areas.

2.5  Mental Health and Learning 

Disabilities (Charlotte Ramsden, Judd 

Skelton)

Further develop wider support for perinatal mental health to provide early 

intervention to improve attachment and bonding. 

Review of VCSE mental health grants programme. 

2.5  Mental Health and Learning 

Disabilities (Charlotte Ramsden, Judd 

Skelton)

Develop a self-advocacy offer for people with learning disabilities

Implement new LD supported employment pathway.

3.1 Integrated Place (Debbie Brown, 

Charlotte Ramsden)

Finalise city wide  'reform' board arrangements for Salford to oversee 

integrated place plans to include health, wellbeing and wider determinants

3.2 Integrated commissioning and 

support services (Charlotte Ramsden, 

Anthony Hassall)

Integrated Commissioning arrangements functioning well.  Formal 

consultation with CCG staff commenced regarding co location.

3.3  Information Management and 

Technology (IM&T) (Steve Dixon, Raj 

Jain)

LCO development 

LCO in place since July 2016, Leadership team established

Progress this reporting period

Integrated Health and Social Care neighbourhood teams in place  and co-

located

Operating model in place for Integrated Teams and MDGs. The maturity 

assessment is business as usual however there are proposals to change the 

model so rated as design

Intermediate care tier has been reviewed and proposals for redesign are in 

progress

. A single, accountable leadership model for the LCO

N:\Corporate 
Services\Planning 
and Performance\
07. GM HSCP\05. 

GM PMO\GM 
Locality Highlight 
reports\2019-20\

2019-20 Nov 
return\Updated 

Oct 19 Quarter 2 
1920 Primary Care 

Workforce 
Strategy Action 

Plan Update.docx

P
age 258



7 Complete BAU n/a Any future changes or transfers of services to the Salford ICO will be actioned as appropriate.

6 Evaluation Ongoing Continue to monitor and evaluate performance against agreed outcome metrics linked to the Local Incentive Scheme. Continue to review and refine how the Local Incentive Scheme 

works as well as consider any further currency developments. This will include reviewing any national guidance changes.

1 Scoping n/a

Maturity Assessment Due Next reporting period actions

7 Complete BAU n/a Agreement regarding co location of integrated leadership team within wider co location project.

7 Complete BAU n/a

7 Complete BAU n/a

6 Evaluation Ongoing Continue to monitor and evaluate performance against agreed outcome metrics linked to the Local Incentive Scheme. Continue to review and refine how the Local Incentive Scheme 

works as well as consider any further currency developments. This will include reviewing any national guidance changes.

1 Scoping n/a

Sustainability - Financial and Non-Financial 

The CCG continues to remain on track to deliver a breakeven position as per the agreed control total, and is forecast to achieve all of its statutory duties and delivery of its QIPP schemes.  An amount of £4.5m has been returned to NHSE in order to assist in achievement of the GM wide position.  A mid year review will be undertaken following the end of Q2 to assess 

the CCG's position with regards to contingencies, investments, contract over performance and the running costs budget. The schemes currently funded through Transformation Funds are being evaluated.  Not all of these schemes will require recurrent funding.  Those that require recurrent funding will be subject to full evaluation and a business case for investment- 

and any decision on recurrent funding will be taken through the commissioning decision making.  Recurrent funding will be considered and identified through the financial planning exercise in the locality.  Further work is required as to whether any of the additional recurrent funding in the GM STP funding is for localities to pick up the locality community based 

initiatives”

Any areas that require additional support 

2019/20 see's a continuation of the work completed in 2018/19 which saw 

Salford introduce a local incentive scheme linked to outcomes for bundles of 

care and system wide measures. This is worth £1m above contract income in 

2019/20.

Alongside this Salford CCG and SRFT have moved to new currency 

arrangements for emergency care which is the blended tariff and have 

blocked some outpatient follow up specialties.  

Nothing further to add, so not assessed. n/a- Cannot select 'none' for 

maturity due to dropdown 

Other - please add

Integrated leadership approach in place, with clarity of role and monthly 

integrated leadership meetings.  CCG CAO attendance at Salford City Council 

Corporate Management Team.

Partnership agreement governing integrated fund in place from April 2019.

Partnership agreement includes risk share arrangements.

.Progression towards payment reform and outcomes 

based contracting.

.A risk share agreement in place.

Achievements / Good practice to share

Other - please add

.Transferring services & contracts into the LCO -covering  

all population, all age.

.Developing an outcomes based contracting model

.A single integrated team and leadership function

.Process for agreeing a substantial pooled budget.

2019/20 see's a continuation of the work completed in 2018/19 which saw 

Salford introduce a local incentive scheme linked to outcomes for bundles of 

care and system wide measures. This is worth £1m above contract income in 

2019/20.

Alongside this Salford CCG and SRFT have moved to new currency 

arrangements for emergency care which is the blended tariff and have 

blocked some outpatient follow up specialties.  

Nothing further to add, so not assessed. n/a- Cannot select 'none' for 

maturity due to dropdown 

Progress this reporting period

Salford CCG has completed all planned transfer's of service provision to 

create the Salford Integrated Care Organisation, including Adult Social Care. 

There is currently no further plans to transfer any other services or 

contracts.

SCF development 

P
age 259



P
age 260


	Agenda
	5 To approve the Minutes of meeting held on Tuesday 10 September 2019. (Chair)
	7 Salford Locality Plan Refresh: Receive, amend 1st draft & distribute for comments (Peter Brambleby)
	Locality Plan Chapter 0   Contents, Foreword and Executive Summary
	Locality Plan Chapter 1 Stages of Life
	Locality Plan Chapter 2 Neighbourhoods, communities and environment
	Locality Plan Chapter 3 Innovation and enablers
	Locality Plan Chapter 4 Improving quality, managing risks
	Locality Plan Chapter 5 Strategic alignments and summaries

	8 Latest Indices of Multiple Deprivation (Peter Brambleby)
	Intelligence Briefing - Indices of Deprivation 2019

	9 SEND strategy (Cathy Starbuck / Geoff Catterall)
	SEND Strategy 2019-FINALv2

	10 Real living wage (Chris Dabbs)
	11 Health and Justice Strategy for Greater Manchester (Hannah Dobrowolska)
	Draft HJ Strategy full v10 5 Sept (003)

	12 Salford HWB statement on E-cigarettes (Gillian Mclauchlan)
	13 Letter regarding Salfordian Hotel (Councillor Gina Reynolds)
	16a Locality Plan Highlight Update

